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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 Name and Address 

 

The Issuer’s full corporate name is “Stina Resources Ltd.” and its addresses are as follows: 

 

Head Office and Mailing Address:  Suite 10 – 8331 River Road 

Richmond, British Columbia 

V6X 1Y1 

 

Registered and Records Office: 
 

Suite 1780, 400 Burrard Street, 

Vancouver, British Columbia  

V6C 3A6 

 

2.2 Incorporation 

 

The Issuer was incorporated pursuant to the Company Act (British Columbia) under the name “Stina 

Resources Ltd.” on December 8, 1986 with an authorized structure of 20,000,000 common shares without 

par value.  The Issuer transitioned pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 

(“BCBCA”) on June 23, 2005 under the same name with pre-existing company provisions applying to the 

Issuer.  Effective June 20, 2005, the Issuer altered its capital structure such that it consisted of an 

unlimited number of common shares without par value and without special rights and restrictions attached 

to such shares, and also resolved that pre-existing company provisions are no longer to apply to the 

Issuer. 

 

2.3 Inter-Corporate Relationships 

 

The Issuer does not have any material subsidiaries.  

 

2.4 Fundamental Change or Proposed Acquisition 

The Issuer is not requalifying in this Listing Statement. 

 

2.5 Non-Corporate Issuers and Issuer Incorporated Outside of Canada  

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer as it is a British Columbia company.  

 

3. General Development of the Business 
 

3.1 General Development 

 

The Issuer was incorporated under the laws of British Columbia on December 8, 1986. The Issuer was 

previously engaged in the health food and supplement products industry. In June 2005, the Issuer 

underwent a change of business to become a junior mining exploration company. Since that time, the 

Issuer’s objective has been to acquire, explore and develop mineral properties that have potential for 

production of mineral commodities. The Issuer entered into an agreement dated January 21, 2015 

whereby it acquired the right to earn a 50% interest, subject to a 2.5% net smelter royalty in 19 mining 

claims located in Nye County, Nevada, referred to as the “Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property”. The 

common shares of the Issuer are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange under the trading 

symbol “SQA” and shall be delisted from the TSX Venture Exchange upon the listing of the shares of the 

Issuer on the Canadian Securities Exchange.  
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All of the Issuer’s activities to date with respect to its interests in mineral properties have been of an 

exploratory nature. The objective of the Issuer is to develop mineral properties to a stage where they can 

be operated profitably. 

 

3.2 Significant Acquisition 

 

The Issuer has not completed an acquisition or disposition or proposed any significant probable 

acquisition or disposition for which financial statements would be required under National Instrument 41-

101.  

 

3.3 Trends 

 

As of the date of the Listing Statement, the Issuer plans to focus on its Bisoni McKay Vanadium 

Property, as described under the heading “Narrative Description of the Business” as well as any other 

projects it may acquire from time to time.  The financing and exploration and development of the Issuer’s 

properties are subject to a number of factors, including laws and regulations in the areas of taxation, 

environmental, permitting and others, hiring qualified people, and obtaining necessary services in 

jurisdictions where the Issuer operates.  The current trends relating to these factors are favourable but 

could change at any time and negatively affect the Issuer’s operations and business.  Please refer to 

“Narrative Description of the Business” for risk factors affecting the Issuer.  Other than as disclosed 

herein, the Issuer is not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events which are 

reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Issuer’s business financial condition or results of 

operations. 

 

4. Narrative Description of the Business 

4.1 General  

(1) Issuer’s Business 

 

The business objective of the Issuer is to identify, evaluate, acquire and explore mineral properties for the 

purposes of identifying a mineral resource deposit for the development of a mine or for the sale of the 

deposit or the Issuer to a senior mining company.  The Issuer’s primary activity is the exploration of the 

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in northern Nevada. 

 

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 

The Issuer entered into an option agreement with Vanadium International Corp. (the “Optionor”) dated 

January 21, 2005 (the “Option Agreement”) to acquire 50% of the rights to 19 mining claims covering 

392.6 acres, located in Nye County, Nevada, USA, called the Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property (the 

“Property”). In earning its initial 50% interest in the Property, the Issuer made cash payments totaling 

$250,000, issued 1,250,000 shares to the Optionor, and funded $700,000 of exploration activities. On July 

3, 2008 the Issuer issued an additional 800,000 common shares to the Optionor in a shares for debt 

arrangement to complete the initial 50% acquisition of the Property. 

The Issuer entered into an option exercise agreement with the Optionor dated effective March 19, 2008 

whereby it agreed to acquire the remaining 50% (for a total of 100% interest, subject to a net smelter 

return of 2.5%). In earning its remaining 50%, the Issuer issued an additional 1,995,600 shares at a 

deemed price of CDN $1.00 per share to the Optionor as payment of the US $2,000,000 purchase price 

(based on a deemed exchange rate of CDN $1.00: US $1.0022) to the Optionor as option payment for the 

remaining 50% of the Property.  

The Issuer now holds a 100% of the rights to 37 mineral claims on the property, subject to a 2.5% NSR in 

favour of the Optionor.  In the subsequent period (January 2013) directors of the Issuer elected to impair 
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the value of the Property $1,962,257 effective September 30, 2012.  Management’s review for indications 

of impairment primarily considered that the acquisition costs of the Property appeared non-recoverable in 

the current market.  The acquisition costs were primarily based on 3,245,000 common shares that were 

issued at an average cost of $0.78 per share.  At September 30, 2012, the shares would have been worth 

$0.18 per share.  During the Issuer’s fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, the Issuer recorded an 

impairment charge of $1,962,257 to decrease the carrying value of the Property based on market 

indicators.  In addition, the Issuer has not conducted a significant work program in four years.  No further 

impairment was required for fiscal year 2013 or to date. 

(a)  12 Month Business Objectives  

The Issuer has re-examined its objectives pertaining to the Property and decided the Issuer’s primary 

objectives over the next 12 months are as follows: 

 Complete Phase II of the recommended work program set out in the Technical Report. 

(b)  Significant Events/Milestones   

 

The following is a budget for a Phase II of the recommended work program included in the Technical 

Report totalling $51,000 to complete. 

 

ITEM COST 

a) Metallurgical pretest study  $6,000 

b) Control study of previous drilling (modify drill hole maps used in report 

Site visit, collect and ship samples) 

$41,000 

  

New resource calculations by Maptek $3,000 

Contingency  $1,000 

TOTAL (CANADIAN DOLLARS) $51,000 

 

(c) Total Funds Available 

 

The Issuer’s working capital as at September 9, 2015 is $61,010. 

 

(d) Principal Uses of Funds 

The Issuer intends to use the funds available as follows: 

Funds Available (as of September 8, 2015) $61,010 

Complete interim financing Phase II of recommended work program set in the Technical Report $(51,000)  

Total $10,010 

 

(2) Principal Products and Services 

 

Not applicable.  

 

(3) Production and Sales 

 

Not applicable. 
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(4) Competitors 

 

See “Risks Associated With the Property – Competition” 

 

(5) Lending Operations 

 

Not applicable. 

 

(6) Bankruptcies, Receiverships and Similar Proceedings 

The Issuer has not been involved in any bankruptcies, receiverships or similar proceedings within the 

most recently completed financial years. 

 

(7) Restructuring Transactions 

 

The Issuer not been involved in any material restructuring transactions within the most recently 

completed financial years. 

 

(8) Social or Environmental Policies Fundamental to Operations 

None. 

 

4.2 Companies with Asset Backed Securities 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

4.3 Issuers with Mineral Exploration Projects 

 

The following information regarding the property has been summarized from a technical report on the 

property entitled “Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nye County, Nevada, Phase II Technical Report 

(Amended) for Stina Resources Ltd.” dated June 15, 2015 (the “Technical Report”) and prepared by 

Edwin Ullmer, B.Sc. M.Sc. (the “author”). The author is an independent Qualified Person as defined by 

NI 43-101. The Technical Report has been prepared in accordance with NI 43-101 and is available for 

inspection at the head office of the Issuer during normal business hours. 

(1) Property Description and Location 

The Bisoni McKay (BMK) vanadium property is located in the northern limits of Nye County in central 

Nevada near the Eureka County south boundary (Figure 1). Figure 1b displays different exploration areas 

corresponding to various past and proposed explorations programs. The property is situated about 40 

miles south of the town of Eureka  and about 130 miles due south of Carlin, Nevada (the “Property”). The 

claims are located within Township 14 N. and Range 52 E. in Sections 8, 17, 18, 19 20, and 30. The 

prospect is approximately centered on the intersection of latitude 39
o
04’45”N and longitude 

116
o
08’00”W.   

 

The property position consists of 37 contiguous lode claims on Bureau of Land Management 

administered land comprising an area of 754.13 acres (305.42 hectares) (Figure 2). The assessment 

obligations to the U.S. Department of the Interior – Bureau of Land Management for the Jeanette, Nan, 

Kitty, Willow, and the Ginsu lode claims are current and valid through September 2008.  
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The Issuer agreed to option arrangements pertaining to the property on January 21, 2005 based upon 

previous exploration results on the property indicating the potential for grade and tonnage of vanadium 

mineralization. 

 

The Property is located in Nevada which is favorable to mining with an experienced labor force within 

commuting distance.  There are no identified sensitive environmental issues on or near the property, and 

the constituents of the Gibellini facies mineralization at the project do not include unusual amounts of 

constituents that would be environmental red flags to complicate or seriously impede a mining operation.  

The metallurgical processes for vanadium recovery are standard practices for the industry.   See more 

discussion on the geologic rationale for the cutoff values in this section    

The vanadium mineralization occurs in a organic shale facies within the Devonian Woodruff Formation. 

Throughout the explored parts of Areas A and B and from Hecla drill logs in Area C, surface chemical 

weathering has oxidized and stripped much of the organic material from first 100 to 200 feet of the shale. 

The oxidized shale is termed the oxide zone at the Property, and the resulting sharp redox boundary or 

interface crosscuts the steeply dipping beds below which the reduced or primary organic shale occurs.  
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(2) Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 

 

Access to the Property is via US Highway 50 south-east of Eureka, Nevada for a distance of 12 miles then 

south on State Route 379 that leads to Duckwater for about eight (8) miles to a junction.  At this point the 

Russell Ranch gravel road leads twenty (20) miles past the Gibellini and Bisoni Properties, to the 

northwest, to a sign saying “Bisoni-McKay Vanadium Mine” where a good dirt road heading southeast 

leads directly to the Property. 

 

The nearest population center is the city of Eureka that is capable of providing all services required of an 

exploration program and is capable of supporting a mining operation. Several precious metal mines are 

active in the area. 

 

The mean annual precipitation for the area is 12.64 inches and the average snowfall is 66.50 inches 

Annual evaporation is about 50 inches per year. 

 

The Property is located at elevations ranging between 6,500 and 7,500 feet (ft) above mean sea level. The 

topography of the Property presents no restrictions for future development. 
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(3) History 

 

In 1942, Louis Gibellini discovered a nickel-cobalt-manganese deposit located just east of what is now 

the Gibellini Property which is about six miles north of the BMK prospect. The US Bureau of Mines 

(“USBM”) studied the nickel-cobalt-vanadium deposit in 1944 and again in 1946. Union Carbide Nuclear 

Corporation (UCNC) made the discovery of vanadium on the Bisoni claims in 1956. 

 

UCNC conducted the first extensive evaluation of the area including the Bisoni and Bisoni McKay 

Properties in 1958 and 1959 (Roberts et al, 1967, Davis & Ashizawa, 1959, Davidson & Lakin 1961a, 

1961b, Hausen, 1960). Results of UCNC’s drilling are shown in Table 2. 

 

Table 2 

Union Carbide Nuclear Corporation 

Drilling Results 1958-1959 

Hole Depth (ft) V2O5 (%) 

1 100 0.34 

3 195 0.55 

8 280 0.38 

9 250 0.43 

11 240 0.4 

12 200 0.38 

13 280 0.32 

Average  0.4 

 
Several major mining companies subsequently explored and undertook geologic and metallurgical 

investigations on the mineralization at Bisoni and Gibellini. These companies included Kerr McGee Oil, 

Transworld Resources, Atlas Minerals, and Noranda. In the early seventies, Noranda carried out a 

program of metallurgical research on vanadium recovery from shale at the Colorado School of Mines 

Research Institute (“CSMRI”). In 1974, on the basis of prevailing metal prices, Noranda decided that the 

properties were uneconomic and withdrew. 

 

Hecla Mining Company (1970s): The most comprehensive exploration program was carried out by Hecla 

Mining Company (“Hecla”) during the 1970s. Extensive trenching (these trenches remain mostly open 

and are plotted across the project area on Figure 3) and 19 reverse circulation holes were drilled during 

the 1970s (see Figure 3 for Hecla hole locations project-wide). The trenches later sampled by the Issuer 

are those excavated by Hecla.  

 



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
September, 2015 

Page 10 

 
 
Exploration and Ownership 1980s and 1990s: TRV Minerals and Inter-Globe Resources optioned the 

properties in 1981 and conducted bulk sampling for heap leach testing of the vanadium mineralization at 

BC Research. Subsequently, the three properties were returned to the original owners. In 1993, the claims 

covering the Bisoni McKay Property lapsed and were then restaked by VIC. Apart from the claims 

controlled by VIC, the Gibellini heirs continue to control claims over the nearby Gibellini and Bisoni 

properties. 

 

Prior Estimates of “Mineral Inventories”: All estimates of “resources” and/or “reserves”, from past 

exploration do not satisfy the requirements of Canadian National Instrument 43-10 1 or the U.S. Securities 

and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  They are dated and without backup data and, as such, cannot be 

relied upon for a current resource estimate.  The location of Hecla drill holes that are known are plotted 

on maps for Figures 3, 4, 5, and 6.  Figures 3, 4 and 6 include the area drilled by the Issuer in 2007.    

 

Table 3 

Hecla 1970s Historic Vanadium Inventory Estimate 

Bisoni McKay Property 

Number of Drill 

Holes 

Mineral 

Inventory 

(st) 

V2O5  

% 

V2O5 Resource 

Estimate in lbs 

19 
6,100,000 

tons 
0.39% 4.758 x 10

6
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Hecla’s mineral inventory reported for the Bisoni McKay deposit came from a reported Hecla estimate in 

the 1970s from its 19 reverse circulation (RC) drill holes (See Table 3 and Figure 3 for Hecla hole 

locations). The grades were derived from drill cutting samples. The parameters and estimating method 

used in Hecla’s estimate are not known such as strike length(s), widths of mineralization, dilution, cut-off 

grade(s), rock densities, mineralization continuity, compositing procedures, etc.  The distances between 

most of the 19 holes are too great and the total tonnage too small to infer mineralization continuity from 

hole to hole throughout the project drilled by Hecla, but the average V2O5 grade compares well with the 

Issuer’s typical grade range from the 2005 and 2007 drill samples.  However, without further information 

the reliability of this estimate is questionable.  

 

The category of Hecla’s historical estimate is not available, and the estimate is not considered that of a 

Mineral Reserve or Resource within the context of Canadian National Instrument 43-101. The estimate is 

not presented here as a mineral resource, but it is appropriate to take the drilling data and the grade 

estimate into consideration when determining the potential of exploration targets for the Issuer. 

 

The Issuer’s Phase I field work began in 2004, and first technical report in 2005 for the Bisoni McKay 

project dealt with the results of that partial Phase I program. 

 
Exploration and Ownership 1980s and 1990s: TRV Minerals and Inter-Globe Resources optioned the 

properties in 1981 and conducted bulk sampling for heap leach testing of the vanadium mineralization at 

BC Research. Subsequently, the three properties were returned to the original owners. In 1993, the claims 

covering the Bisoni McKay Property lapsed and were then restaked by VIC. Apart from the claims 

controlled by VIC, the Gibellini heirs continue to control claims over the nearby Gibellini and Bisoni 

properties. 

 

Prior Estimates of “Mineral Inventories”: All estimates of “resources” and/or “reserves”, from past 

exploration do not satisfy the requirements of Canadian National Instrument 43-101 or the U.S. Securities 

and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). They are dated and without backup data and, as such, cannot be 

relied upon for a current resource estimate. The location of Hecla drill holes that are known are plotted on 

maps for Figures 3, 4, 5, and 6. Figures 3, 4 and 6 include the area drilled by the Issuer in 2007. 

(4) Geological Setting 

 

Regional Geology 

The north-trending Antelope, Diamond and Fish Creek Ranges of southeast Eureka County and northwest 

Nye County are underlain primarily by Paleozoic sedimentary rocks of Ordovician, Silurian and 

Devonian age (Roberts et al, 1967; Hose, 1983). The Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property is located at the 

southeast end of the Fish Creek Range. These early Paleozoic sediments were deposited in a broad 

geosyncline that covered most of Nevada. In this sequence of rocks there are two broad lithofacies; an 

eastern carbonate facies and a western siliceous/volcanic assemblage. During the Antler Orogeny, which 

extended from the upper Devonian to the lower Pennsylvanian Periods, these sediments were folded and 

the western siliceous assemblage was thrust over the eastern assemblage along the Roberts Mountain 

Thrust.  The Roberts Mountain Thrust and portions of the upper thrust plate are mapped in the southern 

Fish Creek Range west of the Bisoni McKay Project.  Subsequently, a syn to post-orogenic assemblage of 

clastic and minor carbonate sediments were deposited east of the orogenic highlands during the 

Mississippian to Permian Periods. 

The host rocks for the Bisoni McKay vanadium mineralization belong to the Gibellini facies of the 

Woodruff Formation, an upper Devonian sequence of fine-grained mudstone, siltstone and very fine sandy 

siltstone (called shale in this report for convenience) that fall into the general rock category of shale or 

mudstone.  Carbonates appear to be infrequent in the vanadium-bearing assemblage.  The Woodruff 

sediments are reported to have been deposited just before or during the beginning phase of the Antler 
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orogeny and associated thrusting. The geology discussion in the USGS Cockalorum Wash Quadrangle 

(Hose, 1983) places the Woodruff Formation rocks within the lower plate assemblage of the Roberts 

Mountain Thrust geometry.  In contrast with Hose (1983), others suggest that the clastic sediments and 

chert at the Gibellini mine, located several miles north of the BMK property may indicate that the Woodruff 

may be part of the upper plate stratigraphy (Smith and Ketner, 1968; Sandberg et al, 2003).  The front of 

the Roberts Mountain thrust zone is now thought to be several miles west of BMK (B. Poole, USGS, pers 

com.).  Thus it is questionable whether a thrust plate exists at the BKM project, but the Issuer believes that 

knowing one way or the other would not seriously affect exploration strategy restricted at the BMK 

property.  On the BMK property slivers of the Woodruff have been preserved by down-faulting into the 

more competent rocks below (Roberts et al, 1967).   

Intermittent orogenic movements during the Paleozoic and Mesozoic resulted in additional folding and 

thrusting of the Devonian and Mississippian rocks in the BMK area. Felsic stocks intruded along broad 

structural trends during the Mesozoic and Tertiary in the Fish Creek Range. Some of these stocks are 

responsible for silver-gold-lead-zinc replacement-type mineralization in the eastern carbonate and shale 

assemblage and for gold-copper-barite mineralization in the western siliceous assemblage. Tertiary 

volcanics also host iron and silver deposits.  A felsic intrusion occurs near the Gibellini prospect that may 

be the cause of some of the element anomalies of interest on the property, but not necessarily vanadium.  

In the vicinity of the Bisoni McKay Property located on the east flank of the southern tip of the Fish Creek 

Range, late Tertiary volcanic and sedimentary rocks unconformably overlie the older rocks, especially in 

the structural basin valley east of the project. They do not, however, interfere with current exploration on 

the property. Quaternary alluvium partly fills the valley, and gravel deposits blanket the pediment bedrock 

surface on the flanks of the range. 

The three known deposits of the Central Nevada Vanadium Belt all occur in the Woodruff Formation 

within the subunit known as the Gibellini facies in which carbonaceous sediments are abundant.  The 

Woodruff Formation overlies middle Devonian limestone and extends as scattered fault block outcrops in 

the Fish Creek Range from the town of Eureka southward for over 50 miles. At the Bisoni McKay project 

the prominent Devonian carbonate unit on and near the property has been identified as the middle 

Devonian Devils Gate Limestone (Note-the lower member of the Devils Gate is now known as the Denay 

Limestone which has been formerly identified as the middle-upper Devils Gate Limestone on most 

mapping and earlier publications prior to 2008 (F.G. Poole, USGS, pers com.). The contemporary or 

slightly younger Woodruff shale/mudstone is interlayered with bedded chert and calcareous shale and 

minor limestone along much of its exposure length, and, therefore, it is considered a transitional-western  

lithology between eastern (miogeosynclinal carbonate facies) and western assemblages (eugeosynclinal 

clastic facies). Near the Bisoni McKay Property, the exposed Woodruff rocks are composed of 

carbonaceous shale, mudstone, siltstone and minor limey shale and sandstone.  In the vicinity of the 

project area another subunit, the Bisoni facies, a gray dolomitic or argillaceous mudstone and siltstone 

with less carbonaceous material is reported to underlie the Gibellini facies.  An organic-rich phase of the 

Woodruff has been described near the top of the Woodruff in the Pinon Range, about 100 miles north of 

BMK. 

 

The Fish Creek Range is structurally complex with a tangled web of bulges and basins that effected local 

sedimentation and complicated the stratigraphic continuity.  Also there is a large scale impact ring feature 

that had a regional deformation effect, and the regional structures such as the Roberts Mountain thrust 

produced during the late Devonian-early Mississippian Antler Orogeny.  Later Tertiary extensional 

tectonics produced the Basin and Range faulting and possibly earlier faulting that has preserved parts of the 

Woodruff Formation sequence, including the Gibellini facies, within north-south trending fault blocks 

(grabens) or hinge fault blocks that are commonly bounded by older massive Devils Gate carbonate 

sediments in the BMK property.  
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On the project land the Woodruff and underlying Devils Gate Limestone contact relationship is mapped 

as a fault, perhaps part of which may be a slide block plane.  In any case, at first glance both formations 

appear to be folded in sequence.  Prior to Tertiary faulting the Devils Gate Limestone, the overlying 

Woodruff Formation and perhaps the formation above, tentatively identified as the basal unit of the Webb 

Fm appear to have been folded as a unit as exemplified by the north-trending fold and an accompanying 

fault that extends along the west side of the drill grid in Area A North.  The fold may be due to drag along 

the north-south west fault trend.      

 

Local Geology 

 

The local geology, as currently understood, is shown on Figure 4 for Area A North and Figure 5 for the 

southern area or Area B, respectively (see Figures 2 and 3 for area locations).  In the project area the late 

Devonian Gibellini facies and the greater Woodruff Formation are typically preserved and exposed in 

down-dropped fault blocks. The vanadiferous beds are mapped across the area drilled in 2004/2005 and 

2007 as shown on the above maps.  In the vicinity of the drill targets the Woodruff Formation is 

juxtaposed with the older, massive outcrops of Devonian Devils Gate Limestone on the east and west of 

Area A-South.  The north to northwest concealed fault has juxtaposed the Devils Gate limestone against the 

Mississippian Webb Fm that has resulted placing the Woodruff rocks in fault contact with the Webb Fm, 

which is younger than the Woodruff.    
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Most lithologic blocks near the project appear to be grabens or hinge blocks with the Woodruff Formation 

occupying a down-faulted block, but there may have been earlier structural adjustments, including folding.   

The dominant north-trending strikes of the numerous faults and normal fault blocks are congruent with 

the overall, dominant Fish Creek Range structural trend produced during the mid-late Tertiary Basin and 

Range tensional deformation.  

 

At the Bisoni McKay property, the Woodruff Formation is composed of carbonaceous shale and siliceous 

and calcareous mudstone, siltstone and minor sandstone estimated to be at least 300 feet thick. The total 

thickness of the Woodruff Formation (mineralized and nonmineralized strata) is uncertain on the property 

because complete sections have not yet been drilled, but it appears to be greater than 400 feet.  The 

primary vanadium deposition is syngenetic and occurs within a series of very fine grained clastic beds 

consisting of silt sized quartz grains, organic compounds (most likely kerogen, as is reported to be present 

as the organic component at the nearby Gibellini and Bisoni prospects; see “Adjacent Properties” 

section), minor iron oxides and pyrite. The split core of the organic shale has a fetid, oily odor. The 

vanadium-rich black shale beds form a tabular body of mineralized facies that follow the formation dips 

to undetermined depths.  Typically, carbonate is only present in very minor to trace quantities mostly as 

CaCO3 stringers except at near surface where secondary caliche deposits have formed within a few feet of 

the ground surface.  There are scattered minor quartz veinlets, likely from the effects of diagenesis, and 

also a few thin felsic dikes that appear to have caused no significant alteration or effect on the 

mineralization.  In general the mineral constituents of the shale are very fine grained and macroscopic 

observations are limited. 

The local geology as revealed by recent drilling, surface mapping, examination of existing trenches on the 

property and new unpublished mapping by USGS staff appears to conflict with the 1983 interpretation of 

local geology interpreted on the USGS Cockalorum Wash Quadrangle (Hose, 1983).  The Woodruff 

Formation as mapped on the Cockalorum Wash quadrangle is too limited in extent and is absent where it 

is currently observed by the Issuer’s geologic work and recent, as yet unpublished mapping by the USGS 

geologic staff (B. Poole, pers. com.).  In particular, the lower Mississippian Webb Formation and, less 

commonly, the Antelope Range Formation above it are mapped over the area where the Woodruff 

Formation and the Gibellini facies are actually found on the project area.  The current interpretation by 

the Issuer’s staff puts the Woodruff block in fault contact with the Devils Gate limestone along much of 

the east side except in the northeast where the fault and the lithologies east of the fault obscured are under 



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
September, 2015 

Page 15 

pediment gravels or alluvium.  On the west side of the Woodruff lithology block the Woodruff is in fault 

contact with the older Devils Gate limestone in the southern part of Area A, and in the north it appears to 

be in fault contact with younger rocks, probably the Webb Fm (the scattered outcrops of sandstone and 

pebbly sandstone may be basal beds of the Webb).  The Webb sediments are younger units that 

unconformably overlie the Woodruff Fm.   This relationship is important for exploration for an additional 

vanadium resource.  These younger rocks west of the fault present an opportunity to explore by deep 

drilling to intersect the underlying Woodruff  and the vanadiferous Gibellini facies.  Additional field 

mapping and drilling should determine if the Woodruff contact is near enough to the surface for the 

development of a vanadiferous facies.   

 

The contacts between the Woodruff and Devils Gate formations are mapped as faults on USGS mapping.  

Many of the faults with northward strikes are likely normal Basin and Range structures, some of which 

could have been controlled by structure from earlier deformation.  Observations from the 2005 drilling 

program showed that most Woodruff outcrops, trench exposures, bedding core angles support a 

preponderance of steep eastward dips   Surface observations reveal that a fairly tight, asymmetric 

anticline strikes northward through the northern part of the claim block in Area A.  Some core angles also 

show vertical and small overturned folds in the Woodruff shale due to local contortions.   In Area A-

South the Devils Gate Limestone outcrops form the core of the anticline, with the Woodruff shale 

flanking the east side of it, and the limestone cored fold plunges to the subsurface west of core holes DDH 

BMK 05-01, 02, and 03.  The west side of the fold is faulted.  The axis of the fold strikes to the north. 

(See locations of these holes and the Devils Gate Limestone outcrop on Figure 4.).  In Area A North, 

evidence from outcrops and drill intersections suggest that the Woodruff Formation and Gibellini facies 

are draped over the underlying limestone that plunges beneath the surface as it nears the Area A North 

drill grid.  Parts of both Woodruff shale fold limbs in the Woodruff can be seen Trenches 24 and 25.  

There is evidence in the trenches and from the 2007 drill holes that the strata on the west limb may be 

overturned but this has yet to be confirmed by drilling.  The beds near the fold axis become strongly 

contorted and dips generally are steeper as the axis zone is approached and if so, may have compressed 

and increased the thickness of the vanadium mineralization, an added bonus for mining.  The fault that 

appears to have offset the Woodruff Formation and the Devils Gate Limestone west of the fold axis is 

plotted on Figure 4.  However at the north end of, directly east of the drill grid in Area A north a blanket 

of pediment gravel or alluvium obscures the fault (extrapolated on map) and the limestone or other rocks 

that are east of the fault.  

  

In Area A the upper 150 to 180 feet of the Woodruff shale is oxidized by deep surface weathering from 

the chemical effects of vadose water during the Quaternary.  This weathered rock is typically yellowish to 

orange and brown in color from iron oxide staining of the quartzose sediments and all or nearly all of the 

organic carbon and pyrite has been removed.  The weathering process has been consistent on its effect of 

vanadium concentrations in the shale.  In places the vanadium appears to be partially stripped, and yet 

other sections of shale have retained all or nearly all of the original vanadium content and may have even 

collected pockets of vanadium enrichments from leaching and precipitation from the shale above.  The 

oxidized zone has suffered a net loss in a number of trace and major element constituents due to 

weathering/leaching including aluminum, silver, calcium, iron, nickel, sulfur, zinc, cadmium, and 

vanadium, among others.  As expected, the bottom oxidized boundary cross-cuts the bedding.     

(5) Exploration Information 

 

This section includes the Phase I work discussed in the previous 2006 technical report and the Phase II 

field work conducted in 2007. The Phase I program has been completed while Phase II has not yet been 

completed, and the remaining steps for Phase II are outlined in the Recommendations section of the 

Technical Report abd below in the section titled “Exploration and Development”. There has been no 

additional field exploration carried out on the property since the last drilling program in 2007 and the drill 
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hole survey in June 2010 as discussed in this report.  The more recent efforts have been devoted to 

metallurgical studies and routine maintenance.  

 

Summary of Phase I Exploration – 2005 
 

The areas where drilling was conducted from September to November 2005, specifically Areas A and 

Area B are shown on Figure 3. Geology and drill hole locations for Area A and Area B are shown in 

greater detail on Figures 4 and 5, respectively. Figure 4 also includes the 2007 RC borings BMK 07-01 to 

BMK 07-12. Exploration results are discussed in greater detail in the “Drilling” section. An exploration 

grid (Figure 6) was located by field methods over the north area to locate exploration holes, and the base 

lines and grid lines will be referred to below.   

 

The Woodruff Formation and the accompanying carbonaceous sequence of shale and mudstone of the 

Gibellini facies hosts the vanadium concentrations. The formation and the accompanying Gibellini facies 

have been broken and slivered into dipping elongate wedges of shale packages by typically steep, fault 

offsets that are typically subparallel to the strike of the beds as shown by the geology on Figure 4 and 
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Figure 5. The blocks of Woodruff rocks are recognized for thousands of feet along strike on the BMK 

property. Observations thus far show the potentially productive shale beds are mostly separated by 

uplifted limestone and barren fine clastic sediments.  In Area A and Area B, two of the anomalous 

carbonaceous shale trends preserved as down-dropped fault blocks and separated from one another by 

older rocks were selected for exploration in further detail on 2005. Because of expediency, the Issuer has 

not begun a drilling program in Area C, the most southern region of the Issuer’s property holdings, but 

historic Hecla trenches and drill holes reveal that the vanadiferous, carbonaceous shale facies extends 

through this area also.  

The stratabound and strataform vanadium mineralization is hosted by the sequence of carbonaceous shale 

or oxidized former carbonaceous shale/mudstone of the Gibellini facies. The strike of the shale is north-

northeast, and from 2006 mapping and drill hole correlations, most dips range from 60
o
 to 80

o
. To 

maximize the intersection of the beds by drilling on Area A, all but one of the eleven of the 2005 RC 

holes were declined at 45
o
 and oriented west-northwest to cut bedding as close as possible to normal. The 

two groups of three and two core holes in Areas A and B, respectively, were also declined westward but 

at varying inclinations to provide a comprehensive cross section of the strata. 

 
Trenches and Dump Samples 

See the April 16, 2006 and 2005 technical reports filed on SEDAR for the selected trench work conducted 

by the Issuer in 2004-2005. 

 

Core Drilling 

Five (5) core holes were completed in September 2005, three (3) on grid line AN 0 near the intersection of 

W0+00 in Area A (Figure 6) and two (2) on a grid line on the south side of Area B (Figure 5).  Core 

drilling totaled 1,732 feet.  The Area A core holes were oriented at 278
o
 west. The core hole total footage 

used for the Area A resource estimation is 1,155 feet. 

 

Drill Log Preparation 

The drill logs attached to the Phase I report were prepared from numbered sample tickets and hand 

written field logs. The rock material was described for five-foot intervals in each hole. As the rock types 

become more familiar, it became apparent that the best primary lithologic discriminators were color, grain 

size, hardness, and primary mineralogy with subordinate characteristics noted such as oxide minerals, 

veining, accessory minerals, fracturing, secondary mineral coatings on fractures and bedding planes, and 

nature of chip breakage. It appears that color changes result from a combination of oxidation degree 

and/or primary and secondary mineral characteristics. Colors were described when wet. Core angle 

measurements of bedding (“ca” on logs) were logged. 

 

Reverse Circulation Drilling 

Eleven (11) RC holes were completed in November 2005. Six (6) of these holes were drilled in Area A 

ranging from 410 feet to 550 feet in length and totaling 2,750 feet, and five (5) in Area B from 80 feet to 

300 feet in length and totaling 784 feet.  The Area A RC angle holes were oriented at 278
o
 west.  Two RC 

holes were also completed in 2004 in Areas A and B, RC 04-2 and RC 04-1, respectively.  The total 

footage of 2005 RC holes used for the Area A resource evaluation is 3,045 feet including vertical hole 

BMK 04-02 (Figures 4 and 6). 

    

 

Summary of 2007 Phase II Exploration 
 

In this initial stage of Phase II program, the exploration effort concentrated in Area A North (Figures 2 

and 4).  The drilling was conducted from mid-April to mid-May 2007.  The detailed RC drilling in this 

relatively small block of mineralization of the vanadiferous shale belt provides evidence of grade 

continuity both laterally and down dip.  This allows sufficient data for an estimate of indicated resources 
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for this mineralized block of shale in compliance with Canadian National Instrument 43-101.  The infill 

drilling was carried out along two parallel base lines, W0+00 and W1+00, 110 feet apart with most hole 

collars spaced approximately at 110 feet (± 32 m at grid and base line intersections.  The drill holes of 

concern are plotted on the Figures 4 and 6 maps.  The base line directions are at an azimuth of 018
o
, and the 

lines of holes cover approximately 700 feet of strike length of the vanadium trend and provide data up to 

600 feet deep.  Eight RC holes were declined at 45
o
 at azimuth 288

o
; two holes were declined in the same 

direction at 65
o
, and the remaining two holes were vertical.  The data from three 2005 core holes, DDH 

BMK 05-01, 02 and 03, located on base line W0+00, are also included in the resource assessment for 

Area A North.  Also included in the 2007 study are three RC holes completed in November 2005, BMK-

05-04, BMK-05-05, and BMK-05-06.  The 18 borings drilled to assess of Area A will define an indicated 

resource for the drilled portion of Area A North. Based on the good continuity of vanadium 

mineralization in Area A North and a sufficient understanding of the structural setting, an inferred 

resource will also be calculated for the results of the 2005 RC holes BMK 05-01, BMK 05-02, and BMK 

05-03, located in Area A-South (Figure 4).  Hecla’s 1970s holes are also plotted on the map, but they are 

historical and the data will only be used for geological support and not as resource data. See the 

“Drilling” section below for more discussion of The Issuer’s drilling results.   

 

The Phase II exploration program is not completed, and future plans for exploration and assessment are 

outlined in the below in section entitled “Exploration and Development”.. 

 

Reverse Circulation Drilling 

Twelve (12) 5.75-inch diameter RC holes were completed from April 12 to May 13, 2007. All the borings 

were located from the premeasured grid in Area A North (Figure 6), and holes ranged from 220 feet to 

645 feet in length.  Drill footage totaled 4,940 feet.  The holes were drilled by O’Keefe Drilling Co. of 

Butte, Mt using a truck-mounted Rich 650 WS rig.   

 
(6) Mineralization  

 

At BMK the vanadium mineralization within the Woodruff Formation occurs in a single thick 

stratigraphic package of black shale beds that are well endowed with kerogen.  Vanadium is the only 

component of economic interest and appears to be associated with the kerogen.  The shale above and 

below this facies appears to contain background amounts of vanadium typically less than 800 ppm and 

generally appears to contain less carbonaceous matter.  At BMK and other nearby vanadium prospects the 

elevated vanadium occurs within the Gibellini facies of the Woodruff Fm.  Throughout the explored parts 

of Areas A and B and from Hecla drill logs in Area C, surface chemical weathering has oxidized and 

stripped much of the organic material from first 100 to 200 feet of the shale.  The unoxidized 

carbonaceous shale below hosts the primary vanadium deposit, and it is referred to as the reduced zone.  

The oxidized shale is termed the oxide zone at BMK, and it similarly occurs in the nearby vanadium 

occurrences as will be discussed below.  A transition zone of partially oxidized carbonaceous shale occurs 

between the oxide and reduced zones.  The resulting redox boundary crosscuts the steeply dipping beds.  

The present depth of oxidation was controlled by ancient water table stands and the chemical weathering 

of the shale above the water table by oxygenated vadose water.  

  

The redox boundary extends as a gently undulating, near horizontal plane from drill hole to drill hole (see 

sections on Figure 7 and hole locations on Figures 4 or 6). As the redox interface is approached, parts of 

the shale are only partially oxidized leaving some organic carbon residue; this is identified as the 

transition zone and is typically located as an apron directly over the redox boundary.  The transition zone 

may be several tens of feet thick, and it was tested as a discrete mineralized type during Hazen’s 

extraction experiments. Throughout the project area the mineralization in the oxidized zone will constitute 

a smaller fraction of the potential mineral resource available to be mined but typically contains economic 

grades overall.   
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The reduced zone is the primary unaltered carbonaceous shale with its organic conrtituents intact, and it is 

of principal interest for vanadium economics. The organic content is described in the Gibellini facies as 

kerogen.   It occurs disseminated with the siltstone matrix or occurs in local concentrations. Analyses of 

organic concentrations by Hazen range from 1% to 3.8% V2O5 for 10 samples. Petrographic examinations 

and microprobe analysis of polished sections by Hazen indicate that most of the vanadium in the reduced 

zone appears to be associated with organics. Microprobe analysis also shows that some vanadium is also 

associated with iron oxides such as goethite. Petrography identifies small amounts of goethite (ferric 

oxide) as very fine veinlets and disseminations. The lack of a consistent V:Fe ratio indicates that there are 

no significant quantities of iron vanadate minerals. The association of vanadium and iron oxides suggests 

ultrafine mechanical mixtures. The iron oxide occurrences also carry anomalous zinc levels at 

uneconomic grades. The amount of iron oxide in the reduced shale is too small to account for the 

vanadium quantities present.  

 

The reduced shale is dark gray to black and carries minor pyrite and marcasite, usually disseminated or as 

aggregates of fine grained crystals. Most of the siltstone is composed of quartz.  Carbonates are a very 

minor constituent as very fine calcite crystals 

 

In the oxidized zone the carbon compounds have been degraded, and vanadium occurs in secondary 

vanadate, phosphate, and oxide minerals. The oxidized shale is a light brown or yellow mostly due to 

prevailing iron oxides such as limonite, including goethite. Vanadium minerals are seldom seen 

macroscopically; only the more colorful secondaries are occasionally observed. Boxworks from former 

pyrite are present. Much of the vanadium appears to in association with iron oxides such as goethite.  

Vanadium concentrations are more sporadic because of it leaching and vanadium may be redeposited 

either farther down in the oxide zone or in the transition zones at iron oxides sites, or redeposited in the 

first few feet of the carboniferous sediments of the reduced zone to form areas a relatively minor, erratic 

supergene enrichment (Table 5). Some vanadium remained in solution and has been carried out of the 

system in groundwater flow  

 

In the transition zone between the oxidized and reduced sections some organics remain as disseminations, 

coatings, and patchy concentrations. The color is dark gray to grayish brown. The V2O5 grades in the 

organic zones typically range from 0.3% to 0.8% with a few exceeding 1.0%.  Some pyrite remains and 

goethite often forms pseudomorphs after pyrite or is present as alteration on existing pyrite.  Minor, very 

fine carbonate crystals occur in siltstone quartz clasts.   

 

Within a few feet of the surface, sporadic anomalous vanadium concentrations occur in oxidized or 

partially oxidized, varicolored, silty shale often carrying thin veinlets of pinkish, white and gray quartz 

(macroscopic examination) and joint/fracture surfaces coated in limonite (goethite) and minor manganese 

oxide.  Carbonate is typically a minor constituent in the shale except within the first few feet of the 

surface where Quaternary caliche deposits have formed.  The assay histograms from Trenches 24 and 25, 

located in the area of 2007 drilling (locations on Figures 2 and 4) show the grades within the zone of 

surface weathering when compared to assays from the angle holes beneath them.   See hole RC BMK 07-

07 that projects under Trench 24 and the holes extending near Trench 25 that include RC BMK 07-02 and 

03 , 07-12 and Hecla hole BMK-18 . Significant grades of vanadium remain within the deep oxidized 

section, but some intervals have been partially leached resulting in lower overall averages than in the 

reduced zone. Note that the very low grades in the oxide zones of BMK 07-06 and BMK 07-07 are 

because the borings entered the 340-foot and 250-foot sections, respectively, of vanadiferous shale just 

above the bottom of the oxide zone. Thus the remaining portions of the oxide zone penetrated by these 

holes likely contain more of the native background vanadium grades or possible the weak remnants of 

supergene enrichment.   

 

In a few borings there is evidence for sporadic vanadium enrichment from supergene processes directly 

below the redox interface in the reduced zone.  The best evidence for this occurs below the redox 
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interface in core hole DDH BMK 05-01 where V2O5 grades increase up to 150% for 35 feet below the 

redox horizon (Table 5).  The position of the V2O5 grade at the redox boundary makes supergene 

precipitation due to leaching and redistribution a highly suspect cause.   At DDH BMK 05-02, up to a 

100% increase in V2O5 occurs for 15 feet at the redox boundary.  The RC holes do not reveal as clear a 

pattern, but in five RC holes a 50% to 100% grade bump occurs over intervals of five to ten feet.  Thus far 

this spotty raise in grade has yet to be examined microscopically or chemically to conclusively prove a 

supergene origin.  At this time the possible enrichments appear only to be sweet spots for future mining 

and not a reliable enrichment blanket to count on. Multielement analysis suggests that some trace 

elements such as zinc, copper, molybdenum and cadmium have also accumulated by redeposition in thin, 

spotty, minor (uneconomic) concentrations up to a few tens of feet below the redox horizon.  

 

Notes for Table 5: Grades include 10 to 15 feet of background V2O5 values above and below the elevated 

“supergene” zone.  “Red.” = reduced zone/carbonaceous shale. Grade is in %. Enriched samples are underlined.  

Each sample represents a five-foot interval. 

 

The Issuer’s metallurgical study reveals that organic material in the carbonaceous and transition zones 

occurs in local concentrations or is finely disseminated throughout the siltstone matrix. The organics of 

the transition zone ranged from 0.3%-0.8%, and in the carbonaceous zone ranged from 1.0%-1.38%.   All 

the organics show low levels of sulfur. Even though the vanadium levels are much lower within 

carbonaceous material than with iron oxides (at microprobe analyses spot levels), the much more 

abundant presence of organics suggests that the carbonaceous material holds the major concentration of 

vanadium in the reduced zone. The greater spread of vanadium throughout the abundant organics will 

typically yield higher, more dependable grades than the vanadium in the oxide zone. The carbonaceous 

zone sample also reveals minute particles of elemental selenium and selenium-cadmium sulfide in 

association with organics. 

 

It should be emphasized that the selected V2O5 cutoff grades of 0.3% and 0.2% denote the lower limits of 

the bulk average grade of indicated and inferred resources that are conservatively considered to have 

economic significance for mining at BMK. See more cutoff discussion in the Mineral Resource 

Economics subsection in the Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserve Estimates section.  The 0.2% cutoff 

Table 5 

Intervals of Possible V2O5 Supergene Enrichment  

Hole 
#,  

Grade   

Hole 
#,  

Grade   

Hole 
#,  

Grade   

Hole 
#,  

Grade   

Hole 
#,  

Grade   

Hole 
#,  

Grade   

Hole 
#,  

Grade   

DDH      

BMK 
05-1 

Redox    
state 

DDH      

BMK 
05-2 

Redox    
state 

RC               

BMK 
07-3 

Redox    
state 

RC               

BMK 
07-7 

Redox    
state 

RC               

BMK 
07-8 

Redox    
state 

RC               

BMK 
05-1 

Redox    
state 

RC               

BMK 
05-2 

Redox    
state 

0.63  Oxide 0.26  Oxide 0.31 Oxide 0.30 Oxide 0.41 Oxide 0.75 Oxide 0.22 Oxide 

0.75  Oxide 0.23  Oxide 0.31 Oxide 0.41 Oxide 0.32 Oxide 0.32 Oxide 0.26 Oxide 

0.32  Oxide 1.29  Oxide 0.21 Oxide 0.59 Oxide 0.74 Red. 0.76 Oxide 0.23 Oxide 

0.76  Oxide 0.82  Red. 0.61 Red. 0.54 Red. 0.47 Red. 1.63 Red. 1.29 Oxide 

1.63  Red. 1.01  Red. 1.58 Red. 0.32 Red. 0.50 Red. 1.79 Red. 0.82 Red. 

1.79  Red. 0.57  Red. 0.90 Red. 0.33 Red.     1.79 Red. 1.01 Red. 

1.79  Red. 0.57  Red. 0.53 Red.         0.63 Red. 0.57 Red. 

0.63  Red. 0.44  Red. 0.65 Red.         1.79 Red. 0.57 Red. 

1.79  Red.     0.61 Red.         0.60 Red.     

0.60  Red.                 1.50 Red.     

1.50  Red.                 0.60 Red.     

0.60  Red.                 0.57 Red.     

0.57  Red.                         
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forms a natural grade boundary in the pattern of V2O5 concentration on Area A at BMK. At the bottom 

margin of the reduced mineralization, the abrupt transition from less than 0.2% to less than 0.1%  V2O5  is 

often only 5 to 10 feet thick, below which the grades fall to consistent grades of  only hundreds of ppm.  

In deeper borings that have advanced up to 200 feet below the primary mineralized zone the V2O5 grades 

typically range from 200 to 800 ppm (0.02% to 0.08%).  These grades are considered background for the  

project.  Grades less than 0.2% % to 0.1% are considered weakly mineralized and geochemically 

anomalous, and, as such, they serve as exploration guides and help characterize the margins of the V2O5.  

The lower 0.2% grade line is a very convenient open pit mine cutoff control for  production since the 

grades below it quickly fall far below economic value.    

(7) Drilling 

 

This section has two subsections separating the 2005 Phase I drilling program and the 2007 Phase II 

drilling program on the BMK property. The Phase I discussion is limited to work in Area A North, which 

was the focus of the more detailed Phase II exploration. Much of the Phase I discussion will be essentially 

the same material as in the 2006 technical report, but it helps prepare the reader for the Phase II 

exploration conducted in the same area. No new exploration was conducted in the Southern Area B or in 

Area C since the preparation of the 2006 technical report. To date the Phase II field exploration is limited 

to the 2007 work in Area A covered in this report.  

 

Trench sample results discussed in the April 16, 2006 technical report will not be repeated in this 

report. There have been no new developments on the trench program since the 2005 and 2006 

technical reports. Phase I - 2005 Drilling  

 
Calculation Parameters 

The drill hole samples provided data for resource calculations carried out in 2007. Calculations and 

parameters used to obtain V2O5 values from vanadium values and other derivatives are shown in Table 6. 

 

Table 6 

Vanadium Pentoxide (V2O5) 

Calculation Parameters 

V atomic weight 50.95  

O atomic weight 16.00  

V2O5 atomic weight 

V 

O 

Total 

2 x 50.95 

5 x 16.00 

101.90 

80.00 

181.90 

Weight V in V2O5 (101.90/181.90) 0.5602% 

Weight O in V2O5 (80.00/181.90) 0.4398% 

One part per million (ppm) to % 1x10
-6

x10
2
 0.0001% 

Equivalency of V in V2O5 

Therefore 1 ppm of V in V2O5 

181.90/101.9 

1x1.7851 

1.7851 

1.7851 ppm V2O5 

Tons – U.S. short tons (st) 2000 pounds (lb)  

Pounds of V2O5 per st 2000x% V2O5 x10
-2

  

 
Area A – Drilling 

Figure 6 shows the drilling grid for Area A with grid lines located at intervals of approximately 213 feet 

(65 meters). The grid lines are oriented on an azimuth of 288°. 
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2005 Core Drilling 

Three (3) core holes were drilled on grid line AN 0.0.  Hole Nos. DDH BMK05-0 1, DDH BMK05-02, 

and DDH BMK05-03 were drilled from a common collar on an azimuth of 278
o
 at declinations of 45

o
, 

57.5
o
 and 63

o
, respectively (Figures 4 and 6). The fence of core holes with lithologies and grade 

composites is displayed on Figure 7. 

 
The core holes intersected strata typically dipping eastward from 60

o
 to 90

o
 (from trench outcrop dips, 

core angles, and correlation of mineralization limits.) and striking north-northeast in nearby trenches. The 

oxide zone ranged from 150 to 180 feet deep (vertical depth) in the holes, but most vanadium grades 

remain economically attractive (Tables 7A, 7B and 7C, Figure 7). Composite vanadium grades of 0.25% 

and greater begin near ground surface and continue to the total depths of DDH BMK 05-01 and 02 at 322 

and 345 feet, respectively and to 428 feet in DDH BMK05-03.  Holes DDH BMK 05-01 and 02 

terminated while still in significant vanadium mineralization. DDH BMK 05-03 advanced 35 feet beyond 

0.3% cutoff grades and into an apron of 0.2% cutoff grades, then entering into geochemically anomalous 

(<0.2%-0.1%) to trace mineralization in shale.  Composite down-hole measurements and assay data are 

shown in Table 7A.  These three holes give a good estimate of a minimum thickness for the vanadium 

enriched sequence of beds.  Mineralization exceeding 0.2% V2O5 begins at the top of the three borings 

and extends to 428 feet in DDH BMK 05-03. A line from there through the end of DDH BMK 05-01 

approximates a 75
o
 dip. Barring any subsurface dip contortions, the unit thickness at the site is about 290 

feet.     

 

Key beds or other unique lithologic characteristics are not readily discernible.  The redox interface is not 

bedding controlled.  Distinctive vanadium grades such as exceptionally high or low grades in any 

particular stratigraphic section do not continue as recognizable values along beds extending from core 

hole to core hole. It appears that grades can vary considerably along any particular bedding package but 

still remain economic. This is typical of RC hole correlations also. 

 

Most core angles from bedding measurements support apparent dips ranging from 50
o
 to 70

o
 with a 

minority appearing to be vertical to overturned. Some of the beds are locally strongly contorted on surface 
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exposures.  Granulated zones were commonly logged in the oxidized sections.  In DDH BMK 05-03, the 

boring that advanced through deepest section of reduced beds, there are scattered broken zones from 

faulting and less granulation than in the oxidized zone.   
 

Table 7A 

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Area A 

2005 Core Holes – Grid line AN 0.00 – Composited Grades 

From 

(ft) 

To 

(ft) 

Downhole 

Interval 

Approx 

true 

width 

V 

(ppm) 

V2O5 

(ppm)  

V2O5 

(%) 

V2O5 

lbs/st 

Hole No. DDH 

BMK 05-01         AN0+0  W0+00  TD-322’ 

0 75 75   

260’ 

1,395 2,491 0.25 4.95 

75 205 130   1,693 3,023 0.3 6.05 

205 323 118   4,623 7,610 0.76 15.22 

0 323 323   2,563 4,575 0.46 9.15 

Hole No. DDH 

BMK 05-02         AN0+0  W0+00  TD-345’ 

23 119 96     1,630 2,909 0.29 5.82 

119 213 94     1,635 2,919 0.29 5.84 

213 345 132     4,944 8,825 0.88 17.65 

23 345 322     2990 5337 0.53 10.67 

Hole No. DDH 

BMK 05-03         AN0+0  W0+00  TD-488’  75
o
 dip estimate 

13 83 70     1,501 2,680 0.27 5.36 

83 227 144     2,771 4,952 0.5 9.9 

227 428 201     2,761 4,929 0.49 9.86 

83 428 345     2,766 4,938 0.49 9.88 

 

2005 Reverse Circulation Drilling 

Six (6) RC holes were drilled in Area A , one each on grid line AN 1.0S, AN 2.0S, AN 3.0S and AN 

1.0N, AN 2.0N and AN 3.0N.  The latter three holes are located in the focal area of Phase II exploration.  

All holes were declined at 45° on an azimuth of 278° with collar locations varied to intersect the 

stratigraphic section at close to 90
o 

as possible. Collar locations are shown in plan on Figures 4 and 6. 

Historic Hecla holes are also plotted on the plan maps and in section for comparison when sufficiently 

near a 2005 hole. Tables 7A and 7C display the composite vanadium grades from the RC holes of Area A 

North. 

Hole Nos. RC BMK 05-01, 02 and 03 collared on grid lines AN 1.0S, AN 2.0S, and AN 3.0S, 

respectively, intersected a thick vanadiferous shale section that extended down-hole covering drill 

intervals from 315 to 370 feet thick (Table 7B).  The general grade tenor of the stratabound mineralization 

continues between holes. The trend of V2O5 mineralization is shown in plan on Figures 4 and 6. The trend 

extends through the drilled interval and also projected to the south, based on trench data and interpretation 

from Hecla holes BMK 14 and BMK 15. 

With the exception of RC BMK 05-02, each hole passed through the vanadium mineralization and into 

barren carbonaceous shale that visually appears similar to the mineralized zone except that organics have 

decreased. The stratigraphy in RC BMK 05-03 correlated well with Hecla’s BMK-16. Both terminated in 

limey shale that may be the beginning of a basal limey section that occurs near the Devils Gate Limestone 

contact.  In each of the holes the grades in oxidized sections are variable indicating the effects of leaching.  

Significant grades in BMK-16 begin at 45 feet while significant grades in neighboring RC BMK 05-03 

begin at 185 feet. The vanadiferous zone narrows in Hecla’s holes BMK-14 and 15, located south of the 
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2005 holes, perhaps because drill intercepts are too high or low in the mineralized facies or arguably due 

to local facies changes.  

Hole Nos. RC BMK 05-04, 05-05, and 05-06, on grid lines AN 1.0N, AN 2.0N and AN3.0N were 

collared on the east flank of a low hill that is likely a manifestation of the anticline discussed in the 

“Geological Setting” section.  The borings intersected the vanadiferous beds on the east flank of the 

anticline, The beds dip from 60o to 90o in nearby trenches. Significant grades extend down hole to 320, 

330, and 370 feet in the three holes.  Redox boundaries correlate well between nearby Hecla RC holes 

BMK-18 and BMK-19 with RC BMK 05-4 and 05-6, respectively. Significant vanadium occurs well up 

into the oxidized zones in all RC holes. BMK05-04 and BMK-18 may have advanced into the west flank 

of the anticline. See Table 7C. 

 

Table 7B 

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, 

Area A-South 

2005 RC Holes – Composited Grades 

 

From To Downhole 

Approx. 

True V 
 

V2O5 

(%) 

V2O5 

(lb/st) 
(feet) (feet) 

Interval 

(feet) Width 

(feet) 
 (ppm) 

V2O5 

(ppm) 

  

Hole No. RC BMK 05-01 – Grid line AN 1.0S  TD - 400’ 

0 10  10 
260’ 

 297 530 0.05 1.06 

10 315  305  2,531 4,518 0.45 9.04 

315 550  235   278 497 0.05 0.99 

Hole No. RC BMK 05-02   – Grid line AN 2.0S  TD - 400’ 

2.0S          

 TD - 400’ 
0 230  230    607 1,084 0.11 2.17 

230 350  120    3,059 5,460 0.55 10.92 

350 400  50    1,705 3,049 0.30 6.09 

0 400  400    1,480 2,642 0.26 5.28 

Hole No. RC BMK 05-03   – Grid line AN 3.0S  TD – 410’  80
o
 dip estimate 

3.0S  T 

  TD – 410’  
0 185  185    513 915 0.09 1.83 

185 360  175    1,763 3,147 0.31 6.29 

360 410  50    161 288 0.03 0.68 

Table 7C 

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, 

Area A North 

2005 RC Holes – Composited Grades 

 

 
From To Downhole 

Approx. 

True V 
 

V2O5 

(%) 

V2O5 

(lb/st) 
(feet) (feet) 

Interval 

(feet) Width 

(feet) 
 (ppm) 

V2O5 

(ppm) 

Hole No. RC BMK 05-04 – Grid line AN 1.0N   TD – 440’   85
o
 dip estimate. 

0 55  55  394 696 0.07 1.39 

55 205  150 
230’ 

 2,871 5,124 0.51 10.25 

205 330  125  2,122 3,787 0.38 7.57 

330 440  110    165 295 0.03 0.39 

  Hole No. RC BMK 05-05 – Grid line AN 2.0N  TD – 500‘ 

– Grid line AN 

2.0N 

  TD – 500’ 

0 80  80    279 497 0.05 0.99 

80 255  175    2,529 4,514 0.45 9.03 
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255 320  65    2,016 3,599 0.36 7.20 

320 550  180    161 287 0.03 0.57 

  Hole No. RC BMK 05-06 – Grid line AN 3.0N   TD - 450’ 

– Grid line AN 

3.0N 

  TD – 450’ 

0 110  110    174 311 0.03 0.62 

110 370  260    2,307 4,119 0.41 8.24 

370 450  80    296 528 0.05 1.06 

    Hole No. RC BMK 04-02    TD-295’ 

0 295’      All grades below 0.1% 

 
General Observations from 2005 Drilling 

Grade changes do not necessarily coincide with the relatively minor lithological breaks identified in 

logged drill core and chips such as the minor grain size differences between siltstone, mudstone and shale. 

Also, elevated vanadium grades sometimes span the redox boundary and may occur in oxidized as well as 

reduced (carbonaceous) lithologies indicating that vanadium has not necessarily been leached from the 

parts of the oxidation zone or possibly are remnants of previous enrichment the survived the downward 

movement of the redox boundary.  In most holes, however, the vanadium appears to have been partially 

leached from portions of the oxidized rock as is obvious from the usually sharp increase of vanadium 

grade below the redox boundary.  Evidence for leaching is seen in the mixed reduced and oxidized 

intervals in RC BMK 05-02 where higher grades remain in islands of reduced shale, and from the 

contrasting grades in the oxidized zones of nearby holes, RC BMK 05-03 and Hecla’s BMK-16. The deep 

redox boundary could represent an ancient water table stand, and, given past wetter climatic conditions, 

much of the oxidation probably occurred in the Pleistocene or early Holocene. Vanadium leaching may 

have been partially controlled by higher levels of pyrite found in some shale beds that would have created 

acidic vadose water and groundwater during the oxidation process.  More recent weathering and soil 

forming processes may have leached much of the vanadium from the first five to ten feet below ground 

surface at some hole and trench sites.  Caliche deposits are common near the ground surface. 

 

Comparisons of field log observations and analytical results indicate that the vanadium grades in the 

carbonaceous shale do not appear to correlate well with observed pyrite content, quartz vein density, the 

character of limonite, or the abundance and character of other secondary minerals in the reduced zone. A 

more detailed examination at microscopic levels, however, may not entirely support these observations. 

 

The ALS Chemex multi-element analyses are useful in correlating contents of major and minor elements 

with vanadium variations. In particular, calcium (Ca), and manganese (Mn) concentrations generally 

decrease in sections where vanadium grades increase, and zinc (Zn) and phosphorus (P) tend to follow 

vanadium abundances.  This is also supported by the 2007 drilling results.  In the oxidized zone sulfur 

and iron as well as other elements (see “Local Geology” section) have been leached.  Zinc and cadmium 

concentrations appear to be slightly enriched for a few tens of feet below the redox boundary. Evidence of 

supergene vanadium concentrations directly below the redox interface is discussed in the 

“Mineralization” section. 

 
Phase II - 2007 Drilling  
As discussed in the “Exploration” section, the initial Phase II drilling program of twelve RC holes was 

conducted solely in the Area A North along two semiparallel base lines (Figure 6).  The hole collars are 

set approximately 110 feet (± 32 m) apart along base lines W0+00 and W1+00 and the grid lines that cross 

normal to the base lines (Figure 6).  Pairs of holes were located on grid lines AN 1.0N, AN 1.5N, AN 2.0N, 

AN 2.5N, AN 3.0N, and AN 3.5N.  The pairs on three of these lines are completed with three 2005 RC 

holes.  Three 2007 RC holes are located on AN 0.5N. The 2005 core holes were drilled at a common collar 

on AN 0+0.  The two base line directions are azimuth 018
o 
and are subparallel to the strike of the vanadium 

trend.
 
 The distance between the 2005 core holes in the south and BMK 07-04 in the north is approximately 

600 feet.  Most borings provide data ranging down to 300 to 400 vertical feet with two holes extending 

over 600 feet deep.  Eight holes were declined at 45
o
 at azimuths of 288

o
 and include

 
BMK 07-01, 02, 03, 
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04, 08, 09, 10, and 12.  Two holes, BMK 07-05 and 11, were set at 65
o 

at the same azimuth as above.   

Holes BMK 07-06 and 07 were vertical and were the deepest at 625 feet and 645 feet.  The 45
o
 holes are 

declined to intercept the steep eastward dip of the Woodruff Formation beds at the largest angle possible 

for the rig setup.  Typical dips on the east limb range from 60
o
 to 90

o
 east.  The two rows of borings 

would allow each line of holes to intersect the stratabound, tabular, east-dipping mineralization at two 

different levels.  Each hole has intercepted the primary (reduced) and oxidized, near-surface V2O5 

mineralization at different depths and lateral extension along strike of the same strata, and these staggered 

locations are needed to better determine lateral grade, dips, and geologic continuity for resource 

estimation.       

 

Section drawings of the 2007 holes are plotted on Figure 7. The sections include one to three holes 

aligned along the grid lines (Figure 6).  The three 2005 borings drilled in this area are included on the 

sections.  As well, the three 2005 core holes, DDH BMK 05-01, 02 and 03 (Figure 7), will be included in 

the assessment of Area A North.  Each section diagram includes the general rock type log and oxidation 

state, composite grades of selected intervals and footage markers, and some extrapolated geologic and 

mineralization information between holes and the surface.  Figures 4 and 6 are plan maps showing hole 

locations and their horizontal projections.  Similar to the data display for the 2005 drilling above, Tables 

9A, 9B, and 9C show grades of composite samples of selected intervals of the chip sample assays 

collected every five feet.  The V2O5 assays are those plotted on the hole section diagrams.  

 

Discussion of Drill Results   
Each RC boring advanced through an interval of oxidized shale that ranged from 150 to 200 vertical feet 

deep with most oxidation-reduction (redox) interfaces occurring at vertical depths of about 160 to 180 

feet.  As usual, because of partial leaching, the V2O5 concentrations in mineralized beds tend to vary more 

in the oxidized zone as compared with grades in the reduced shale, but most concentrations still remain 

greater than 0.2%. Significant amounts of vanadium remain in the oxidized zone in RC holes BMK 07-

01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 08, 09, 10, and 12, but V2O5 grades generally average less than grades in the reduced 

shale (see Figure 7) and are more erratic. Sometimes leaching makes it uncertain where to mark the upper 

limits of the original vanadium mineralization.   

 

In holes that have penetrated the upper and lower limits of the main, reduced vanadiferous zone, there are 

intervals consisting of a number of contiguous samples containing 0.1% grades along the perimeters of 

the vanadiferous unit. Note that these beds were not included in the calculations for Tables 7 and 8 since, 

if necessary, they would be available for stripping or to avoid during mining the main vanadiferous 

sequence. At the redox boundary an abrupt grade break of several hundred parts per million (ppm) 

commonly occurs immediately below the redox boundary.   

 

Most borings drilled through the mineralized intervals of the carboniferous shale beds that range from 

0.2% to greater than 1.5% V2O5, and then advanced through thin sequences of underlying, weakly 

mineralized beds of 0.1%-0.2% V2O5, before entering shale where vanadium values abruptly decline to 

hundreds of ppm.   Significant vanadium grades can vary between roughly correlated beds in adjacent 

holes but do not typically fall below the range of grades of economic interest.  Grade continuity of the 

mineralized carboniferous shale between boring pairs and between holes along the base lines can be 

reasonably verified by the grades averages shown on the boring section diagrams (see figures 1—20 in 

Technical Report) and on Tables 3 and 8.  There are no abrupt, severe grade decreases or increases 

laterally between holes, especially in the reduced mineralization, such as would likely occur between two 

or more mineral-bearing base or precious metal hydrothermal veins or between vein dilations. 

 

Within the vanadiferous shale section of economic interest, intervals below 0.2% are relatively infrequent 

in most holes, especially in the reduced zone.  There are scattered, discontinuous sequences of beds 

containing weakly mineralized V2O5 grades ranging from 0.1% to 0.2% that vary from 5 to 25 feet thick.. 

Most thicknesses of less than 10 feet may have to be taken with economic mineralization during mining.   
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A very small minority of the intervening grades are less than 0.1%.   Table 8 shows the percentages of 

beds less than 0.2% V2O5 in the oxide and reduced sections of each 2007 hole and the three 2005 core 

holes.  The percentages do not include the apron of beds carrying 0.1% grades that typically lead into and 

follow the primary package of mineralized bedding. Several of the 2005 and 2007 borings have advanced 

into background shale (hundreds of ppm V) below the principal vanadiferous zone and have intersected 

thin, isolated beds carrying mineralization ranging from 0.2%-0.3% that have no significant thickness nor 

economic value at this time.   

 

The narrow transition or perimeter zone between mineralization of economic interest (0.2% V2O5) and 

anomalous background rock (<0.1%) at the bottom of the vanadiferous unit is convenient for mine 

planning.   

 

Good grade continuity can also be seen on the Phase I sections in Area A-South between RC BMK 05-01, 

02 and 03 and core holes DDH RMK 05-01, 02, and 03 (Table 9).  The section drawing for RC BMK 05-

03 also includes the Hecla boring BMK-16.   

 

The compatible grades and geological controls the between the latter holes in Area A-South and the 

tighter hole intervals in Area A North suggest that a valid inferred resource can be calculated for the south 

half using the wider spaced borings.  See also Table 9 for grades in holes in Area A-South. It should be 

noted for Table 9 that the shorter intervals of above-cutoff grades do not necessarily indicate a thinning 

mineralized package of beds.  Some holes entered the mineralized facies well below the top of the facies 

and other holes terminated inside the mineralized interval due to drilling problems or difficulties in 

visually distinguishing mineralized and unmineralized reduced shale in cuttings.     

 

Table 9  

Average V2O5 Grade above 0.2% in Reduced Beds Intersected by 

2007 RC Borings and 2005 RC & DDH  Borings 

Hole # Drill 

Interval 

(ft) 

Av. Grade 

% 

Hole # Drill 

Interval 

(ft) 

Av. Grade % 

Area A North - RC BMK05-04 70 0.46 

BMK07-01 none  BMK05-05 100 0.42 

BMK07-02 35 0.45 BMK05-06 125 0.42 

BMK07-03 200 0.42 Area A-South - RC 

BMK07-04 150 0.41 BMK05-01 135 0.50 

BMK07-05 40 0.29 BMK05-02 165 0.48 

BMK07-06 355 0.34 BMK05-03 145 0.34 

BMK07-07 230 0.37 DDH Holes  - Area A North 

BMK07-08 140 0.49 BMK05-01 93 0.85 

BMK07-09 135 0.47 BMK05-02 128 0.92 

BMK07-10 60 0.57 BMK05-03 275 0.48 

BMK07-11 300 0.39    

BMK07-12 10 0.27    

 
Establishing the true width or thickness of the vanadiferous package of beds depends on determining a 

best dip estimate based on current observations of the bedding intersected by the each of the borings and 

from the few surface attitudes measured (see Tables 10A, 10B, 10C, 7A, 7B and 7C for width estimates 

for each hole).  From extrapolations using the bottom and top limits of the vanadiferous beds in DDH 

BMK 05-01, 02 and 03 and RC 04-02, the general dip is estimated at 70
o
- 75

o
 eastward, and the minimum 

thickness of the vanadium-enriched unit is about 295 feet. Many core angles of bedding support the 

estimated dips, but the variations of the core angles in any one hole suggest undulating or contorted 
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bedding (as is observed in some trench exposures).  Using the sequence of the three aligned RC holes 

directly north of the core holes, RC BMK-07-01, 02 and 03, and correlating the bottom of the 

mineralization suggest that the dips here may be near vertical or even slightly overturned, especially at the 

west end of the borings that could be effected by flexure along the axis of an anticline. A minimum 

thickness of 300 feet is measured from BMK 07-03, which has intersected mineralization throughout its 

450-foot length. Some pairs of other holes drilled on base lines W0+00 and W1+00 present complications 

for assay correlations. Extrapolations of the lower and upper V2O5 limits of pairs of holes BMK 07-05 

and 11, BMK 07-08 and 07, and BMK 07-04 and 06 suggest a dip angle decrease to the north. The 

remaining pairs are between 2007 and 2005 holes or between the Issuer’s holes and Hecla holes and are 

not drilled on the same vertical plane, thus are difficult to match V2O5 limits for dip estimations. Dips 

observed in the trenches (Trench 24 and 25) traversing the oxidized vanadiferous unit reveal that bedding 

angles exhibit local contortions and are somewhat inconsistent (see Figure 4 for bedding attitudes).   

 

As mentioned in the “Local Geology” subsection, the bedding dips in trench exposures near the fold axis 

and fault west of the drilling grid become steeper and approach vertical and possibly overturned attitudes.  

Correlating the bottom of the mineralization in several of the pairs of 2007 borings usually show very 

steep dips assuming that the bottom of the mineralization is controlled by the same bedding.   

 

The nature of the fold hinge and the position and dip of the fault along the western side of the mineralized 

belt in Area A North block is still uncertain.   The resolution of the thickness and disposition of the 

mineralized beds in this area remains uncertain until more drilling is carried out across these beds and 

through the projected fault zone.  The doubling up of the mineralization thickness due to tight folding and 

overturning is always an attractive possibility.  

 

Table 9 shows the vanadium assay averages consisting of significant grade intervals above 0.2% within 

the reduced lithology zone of each 2007 boring and the grade averages from the reduced beds in the three 

2005 RC borings and the three core holes (DDH).. Given that part of the grade variations is due to the 

varying intersection lengths of the reduced zone in each hole, the V2O5 grades do reflect a relatively even 

tenor along strike and down dip of the shale across the target area.  In each hole the significant V2O5 

grades are measured from the bottom of the oxide zone to the terminus of the beds carrying grades of 

greater than 0.2% V2O5.  At this point the grades typically drop off within the space of a few feet to less 

than 0.2% V2O5.   The different lengths of vanadiferous reduced beds are due to holes advancing through a 

thicker section of oxide rock and, consequently, intersecting a smaller an interval of carbonaceous shale.  
 

Table 10A  

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property – North Half Area  A, 

2007 RC Holes – Composited Grades 

From 

(feet) 

To (feet) 
Downhole 

Interval 

(feet) 

Min. 

True 

Width 

(feet) 

V 

(ppm) 

V2O5 

(ppm) 

V2O5 

(%) 

V2O5 

(lb/st) 

 
 Hole No. RC BMK 

07-01 07-01 

01  Grid Line: AN 1+00, W 2+00    TD-220’   85
o
-90

o 
dip est. 

0 40  40 
 

180 320 0.032 0.64 
40 135  95 202 360 0.036 0.7 

135 220  85    <0.005  

Hole No. RC BMK 

07-02 

02  Grid Line: AN 1+00  W1+00  TD-320’    90
o 
dip est. 

0 45  45 
130’ 

1517 2700 0.27 5.4 
45 245  200 1854 3300 0.33 6.6 

245 320  75  539 960 0.096 1.9 

Hole No. RC BMK 

07-03 

03  Grid Line: AN 1+00  W0+00  TD-450’    90
o 
dip est. 

0 55  100  1517 2700 0.27 5.4 

55 295  240 
300’ 

2865 5100 0.51 10.2 
295 350  55 2247 4000 0.40 8.0 

350 450  100 1685 3000 0.30 6.0 

Hole No. RC BMK 

07-04 

04  Grid Line: AN 3.5   W1+00   TD-400’  75
o 
dip est.?? 
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0 105  105    <0.06  

105 135  30  1348 2400 0.24 4.8 

135 355  220 195’ 2247 4000 0.40 8.0 
355 390  35  1461 2600 0.26 5.2 
390 400  10   700 0.07  

Hole No. RC BMK 

07-05 

05  Grid Line: AN 1.5  W 1+00  320’    90
o 
dip est. 

0 45  45   160 0.16  

45 100  55 
100’ 

2191 3900 0.39 7.8 

100 220  120 2640 4700 0.47 9.4 

220 270  50 1517 2700 0.27 5.4 

270 320  50    <0.07  

Hole No. RC BMK 07-06  Grid Line: AN 3.5   W0+00  TD-625’   35
o
 dip est?? 

0 180  180   

 

600 0.06  

180 220  40  1461 2600 0.26 8.2 

220 260  40  1629 2900 0.29 5.8 

260 340  80  2359 4200 0.42 8.4 

340 395  55  1292 2300 0.23 4.6 

395 460  65  1910 3400 0.34 6.8 

460 525  65  1292 2300 0.23 4.6 

525 625  100   600 <0.06  

 

Note: Projected dips are only estimated from the few surface dips measured and from correlating grade intervals 

usually at the bottom of the mineralization.  Bed surface exposures in trenches appear to be somewhat crenulated or 

contorted making subsurface dip changes difficult to predict. Dips may also change from one end of the trench to the 

other and angles often appear to decrease to the east.  Projecting dipping beds at the west end of the boring projects 

are complicated by folding, possible overturning and a fault offset. 

 

Table 10B  

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property – North Half Area  A 

2007 RC Holes – Composited Grades 

From (feet) To (feet) 
Downhole 

Interval 

(feet) 

Est. True 

Width 

(feet) 

V 

(ppm) 

V2O5 

(ppm) 

V2O5 

(%) 

V2O5 

(lb/st) 

  Hole No. RC BMK 07-

07 

Coord: AN 2.5   W 0+00  TD-645’ 

0 135  135   400 0.04  

135 145  10  1461 2600 0.26 5.2 

145 240  95  1854 3300 0.33 6.6 

240 280  40  2528 4500 0.45 9.0 

280 325  45  1798 3200 0.32 6.4 

325 380  55  2641 4700 0.47 9.4 

380 645  265   500 0.05  

Hole No. RC BMK 07-

08 

 Coord: AN 2.5   W 1+00  TD-400’   90
o
 dip 

estimate 0 45  45   400 0.04  

45 125  80 

220’ 

 

1236 2200 0.22 4.4 

125 175  50 3202 5700 0.57 11.4 

175 245  70 2079 3700 0.37 7.4 

245 355  110 2865 5100 0.51 10.2 

355 400  40 1123 2000 0.20 4.0 

Hole No. RC BMK 07-

09 

 Coord: AN 3.0   W 1+00   TD-480’ 90
o
 dip estimate  

0 75  75    <0.04  

75 115  40 

225’ 

1011 1800 0.18 3.6 

115 175  60 2079 3700 0.37 7.4 

175 235  60 2191 3900 0.39 7.8 

235 330  95 2528 4500 0.45 9.0 

330 370  40 1517 2700 0.27 5.4 

370 480  110    <0.05  
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General Observations from 2007 Drilling 

The detailed drilling at 110-foot centers on Area A North has encountered grade continuity exceeding 

grades of 0.35% V2O5.between holes.  The boring results demonstrate the continuity of vanadium 

distribution within a belt of fairly homogenous carbonaceous shale.  It is reasonable to assume that the 

extension of these conditions extend to Area A-South through the intersections of RC holes BMK 05-01, 

BMK 05-02, and BMK 05-03.  The steepening dips that are encountered on the west end of many of the 

2007 borings are likely the effect of the fold axis and faulting.    

 

There appears to be a slight average increase of grade between the 2005 core holes DDH BMK 05-01, 02, 

and 03 and 2005 RC holes BMK 05-01, 02, and 03 and the lower averages in the neighboring group of 

2007 RC holes to the north,  BMK-07-01 to 12..  The slight elevated grades in the 2005 core and RC 

holes compared with adjacent 2007 RC holes can be quickly discerned in Table 9 and by average grade 

comparisons between the DDH borings in Table 7A and RC holes in Tables 7B, 7C, and 10A.  The 

reasons for the grade contrasts are only conjectural at this time, possible even a lab bias.  Thus far there 

does not appear to be any differing, unique, noticeable geological phenomena between the borings.  

However, the average increased grade tenor immediately south of the core holes suggests a possible, 

slightly better endowed mineralized facies to the south.  This condition  will be investigated further with 

the next period of field work which will include additional core holes in the south half of Area A..  The 

possibility of systematic under-represented grades in RC holes may increase the tenor of mineralization 

throughout Area A. 

(8) Sampling and Analysis 

 

The 2004-2005 core holes were drilled using an Atlas Copco Diamec U8 APC rig owned and operated by 

Kettle Drilling, Inc. of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho. With few exceptions, samples were selected at five-foot 

intervals, and core was cut into halves with a diamond-studded saw where necessary. The remaining half 

of the core is stored in core trays in a secure facility in Eureka. 

The eleven Phase I 2005 RC drill holes were completed using an Ingersoll Rand Reverse Circulation (RC) 

drilling rig (buggy rig) with a four-inch diameter, carbide studded hammer bit, owned and operated by 

O’Keefe Drilling of Butte, Montana. The twelve Phase II RC drill holes completed in 2007 were drilled 

by O’Keefe using a truck-mounted Rich 650 WS buggy rig with a 5.75-inch bit. For each RC hole 

separate samples were collected at five-foot intervals. The recovered samples were each passed through a 

cyclone splitter set to reject about a half to two thirds of the sample and to retain the remainder.  

Duplicate samples of each five-foot interval were collected for metallurgical testing and labeled with 

sample number and a suffix “MET”. 

After logging, each sample was bagged in a 10-inch x 17-inch polyester bag. Each bag was sealed with an 

eight-inch plastic locking tie to prevent access to the sample prior to sample preparation and chemical 

analysis. The samples were transported by truck either to Reno or Elko, Nevada, and were delivered to 

ALS Chemex laboratories under the direct supervision of the site geologist or a field assistant (Geologists 

Edwin Ullmer in 2005 and David Lorge in 2007). MET samples, sample rejects and pulp rejects are 

stored in Eureka in the same locked facility as the core trays. 

(9) Security of Samples 

Samples from trenches, core and RC drilling were prepared and split in the laboratories of ALS Chemex 

in Reno, Elko and Winnemucca, Nevada. Assay pulps were air-freighted to ALS Chemex in Vancouver, 

British Columbia, Canada, for analysis.  ALS Chemex laboratories are certified in North America, Peru, 

Chile and Argentina. 
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All samples were dried in ovens, weighed and then crushed to 70% nominal minus six millimeters (–

6mm) using jaw and/or roll crushers. A second fine crushing pass gave a product of 70% minus two 

millimeters (-2mm) or better. The sample was then split in a riffle splitter to obtain a 250 gram (gm) 

sample. The 250 gm split sample was pulverized to a powder with 85% passing 75 micron, or better, 

using a “flying disk”, or ring and puck style, grinding mills. An air-freight courier transported the sample 

splits to ALS Chemex’s laboratories in Canada. 

The samples were analyzed by ALS Chemex’s ME-ICP61 method, which is a four acid “near total” 

digestion that quantitatively dissolves nearly all elements for the majority of geological materials. Twenty 

seven (27) elements were analyzed following HF- HNO3 – HClO4 acid digestion and an HCl leach. The 

samples were analyzed using Induction Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectra (ICPAES).  
 

(10) Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves  

 

In November 2007 Maptek (KRJA Systems, Inc. dba Maptek) of Lakewood, Colorado, under contract to 

the Issuer, completed a V2O5 mineral resource estimate of the portion of Area A drilled in 2005 and 2007.   

Mineral reserve estimates were not produced.. The resource estimate was calculated by the Vulcan 3D 

software program with the geomodeller bundle. Maptek developed the Vulcan program which has been 

used to evaluate mining properties worldwide.  The vanadiferous trend in Area A is shown in plan view 

on Figures 3, 4, and 6. The resource estimate is restricted to the part of Area A that is delimited by the 

2007 RC and 2005 RC holes and the 2005 DDH  holes as plotted on Figures 4 and 23-A. This appraisal is 

the first recent approximation of indicated and inferred resources at Bisoni McKay.  Based on existing 

exploration results, additional drilling in Area A will expand the depth and lateral extent of V2O5 

resources.  

 

Importantly, the drill hole spacing on Area A North has generated confidence in the continuity of the 

vanadium distribution which, from comparisons of other drill hole data at BMK, appears to be generally 

representative of a typical mineralized sequence on the property. Based on the predictable stratigraphic 

and overall grade continuity, an indicated resource has been estimated for much of Area A North and an 

inferred resource was considered appropriate for Area A-South (see Figure 23-B).   
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Methods 

 

Data Verification 

As QP I have reviewed the validation methods used by Maptek and agree with the procedures employed 

and the data calculation results as outlined below. This Vulcan program applied the Inverse Distance 

Method to calculate resources.  The overall grade of the block is calculated by weighting each sample 

grade found by the inverse of the squared distance of the sample from the centroid point. To help confirm 

the compilation results, the sample locations, grades and distances can be found and checked by hand 

using the Vulcan “Explain Tool” which is one of the techniques used to validate the model. Other 

techniques included running statistics (histograms, box plots) to validate the consistency of the data 

throughout the entire process, comparing results from raw drill hole data to composite points to the 

nearest neighbor, and selected inverse distance grade estimations by hand.    

Grade Estimation and Validation Using the Vulcan Program 

Due to the broad continuity and thickness of the mineralized trend in the shale host, the inverse distance 

method was chosen for the grade estimation in Area A. The inverse distance method denotes grades for 

each block within the Vulcan block model. To locate the grade samples for each block estimate, the 

Vulcan program uses a search ellipse with dimensions of 400 feet in the x-direction, 400 feet in the y-

direction, and 200 feet in the z-direction at a trend of 21°NE and plunge of 20
o
. Each estimate had a 

minimum requirement of two samples and a maximum of 40 samples. Also, to ensure a more accurate 

estimate for the block model, the calculations required a limit of three samples per drill hole.  When the 

estimate is processing, the ellipse is centered within each block, and any assay samples that fall within the 

ellipse, according to the sample limits, are weighted using the inverse distance method and this 

information is used to estimate a particular block.   

 

On the estimated block model for Area A North, a Vulcan program script flags specific blocks that are 

indicated and inferred (IdIf) based upon the distances between the block center and samples.  Any block 

within 200 feet of the sample sites is considered as indicated.  Anything greater than 200 feet is inferred.  
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The evaluation for Area A-South, which consists of only three RC holes, BMK-05-01, 02, and 03, was 

flagged entirely as an inferred estimate.  The indicated and inferred categories are based on geologic and 

drilling density criteria. 

 

Figure 23-B (E.Ullmer, QP-author) is a plan view of the drilling in Area A with the mineralization 

segregated into indicated and inferred categories based on drill hole influence.  The cutoff grades of 0.2% 

and 0.3% V2O5 distinguish grade blocks of vanadium mineralization (see Table 1). Tables 16 and 17 

present the cutoff grade influence on the tonnages of the resource present above each cutoff limit in the 

oxidized and reduced zones and as a total for Area A North and South.  

 

TABLE 1 

- RESOURCE SUMMARY 

  0.2% Mineralized Cutoff 0.3% Mineralized Cutoff 

  Indicated Resource - Area A North 

Tons  10,627,000 @ 0.39% V205 8,074,000 @ 0.43% V205 

  Inferred Resource for Area A North and South Halves  

Tons  7,381,278  @ 0.42% V205 5.490.356  @ 0.48% V205 

 

The tonnages of mineralized rock are calculated using a tonnage factor of 13.5 ft
3
/ton. This is a 

representative estimate of carboniferous shale such as the Gibellini facies and equates to a density value 

of 0.074 short tons per cubic foot or 2.3 grams per cubic centimeter (Waltham, 2004).    

 
Table 16: Indicated Resource Compilations 

for Area A North 

Lithology 

oxidation state 

Distance 

to 

Measured 

Samples 

0.2% 

V2O5 

Cutoff 

Tonnage 

0.3% V2O5 

Cutoff 

Tonnage 

Average 

grade 

for 

0.2% 

V2O5 

Cutoff 

Average 

grade 

for 

0.3% 

V2O5 

Cutoff 

Oxide Total 0-200 ft 4,617,674 3,546,154 0.36 0.39 

Reduced Total 0-200 ft 6,009,170 4,527,690 0.42 0.47 

Grand Total  10,626,844 8,073,844 0.39 0.43 
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Table 17: Inferred Resource Compilations 

 for Area A-South and North 

Lithology 

oxidation state 

Distance 

to 

Measured 

Samples 

0.2% 

V2O5 

Cutoff 

Tonnage 

0.3% 

V2O5 

Cutoff 

Tonnage 

Average 

grade 

for 

0.2% 

V2O5 

Cutoff 

Average 

grade 

for 

0.3% 

V2O5 

Cutoff 

South half 

Oxide 200+ ft 2,227,622 1,257,334 0.32 0.37 

Reduced 200’+ ft 4,260,328 3,486,880 0.47 0.52 

Total  6,487,950 4,744,214  0.48 

North Half 

Combined Oxide & 

Reduced 200’+ ft 893,328 746,142 0.39 0.45 

Grand Total  7,381,278 5,490,356 0.42 0.48 

 

Mineral Resource Economics 

Following the CIM guidelines for the estimation of mineral resources (2003), the cutoff grades of 0.2% 

and 0.3% V2O5 for both oxide and reduced mineralization derive, in part, from market conditions 

including the long term, forward, anticipated market for vanadium in the modern battery industry as well 

as continued use in the steel industry, coupled with fairly uncomplicated mining and metallurgical 

processing.  Additionally the BMK deposit provides a new vanadium production source in the politically 

stable USA that is close to markets but short on native vanadium production.  In North America mines 

producing vanadium as a primary commodity are rare; the most noteworthy is vanadium production from 

the sandstone uranium-vanadium deposits in southwest Colorado.  Production will proceed by open pit 

mining versus more expensive underground mining. The mining methods will likely be similar to coal 

mining procedures because of the thickness and continuity of the mineralization and the relatively low to 

moderate hardness and friability of the host rock type.  The property is located in a State and region 

favorable to mining with an experienced labor force within commuting distance.  There are no identified 

sensitive environmental issues on or near the property, and the constituents of the Gibellini facies 

mineralization at the project do not include unusual amounts of constituents that would be environmental 

red flags to complicate or seriously impede a mining operation.  The metallurgical processes for 

vanadium recovery are standard practices for the industry.   See more discussion on the geologic rationale 

for the cutoff values in this section    

The plan for the 2007 phase of drilling in Area A has put the exploration emphasis on a relatively small 

grid pattern to assess a block of mineralization for the parameters of continuity, grade characteristics, 

vanadium recovery expectations, geologic controls, and to complete a small block of indicated resource.   

 

Additional drilling will bring the inferred resource in Area A-South to the indicated resource status.  The 

Issuer will also continue subsurface exploration in Area A to expand the mineralized resource beyond the 

current drill grid.   

 
Field Criteria 

In April-May of 2007 the Issuer selected the Area A North for detailed drilling with twelve RC holes.  In 

contrast to portions of Area B drilled in 2005, the vanadiferous trend in Area A has more of its 

stratigraphic mass intact and not broken and slivered by faulting as in Area B.  The Area A holes were 

sited at appropriate intervals between the three borings completed in 2005 of Area A North.  The spacing 

between all holes are approximately 100-110 feet.  These are spread along two base lines 110 feet apart 

and include RC holes BMK 07-01 through 12 and RC BMK 05-04, 05, and 06 and the three core 2005 

holes, DDH BMK 05-01 to 03 that were located at a common collar (Figures 6 and 23-A).  The drill hole 
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definition in this relatively limited area of the vanadiferous trend is considered sufficiently detailed for an 

indicated resource estimate.  Figure 23-B (E.Ullmer, QP-author) maps the areas calculated as indicated 

resource in the north half of Area A and the inferred block in the south half.  The drill hole locations are 

the puncture points through the horizontal plane at an elevation of 6708 feet that extends through the 

reduced shale zone beneath the redox boundary.  See Figure 23-C (E.Ullmer, QP-author) for the same 

plan illustrating the cutoff grades below the redox interface.   
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Continuous samples, collected at five-foot intervals, provide a complete record of vanadium 

mineralization for each drill hole. See Table 9 and Tables 10A, 10B, 10C, 7A and 7C for grade 

comparisons between holes.  The vanadium grade, and thickness continuity was consistent enough to give 

confidence for an inferred resource calculation between holes RC BMK 05-01, 02 and 03 in Area A-

South (Tables 7B and 9). RC footage used in the resource estimation for  

Area A totaled 7,730 feet; the three core holes totaled 1,155 feet.   

 

There is an elevation discrepancy between the field elevations from GPS readings and elevations from 

U.S.G.S. topographic mapping.  The error difference between the two surfaces ranged from about 5 feet 

to 25 feet.  The GPS-plotted drill sites on resource profiles A-A’, B-B’, and C-C’ (Figures 23-D, 23-E, 

and 23-F) fall below the mapped topography.  The Vulcan program was calibrated to plot the data to the 

mapped surface.  When the elevation discrepancy is corrected, it will not appreciably modify the present 

grade estimation.  The elevations will be professionally surveyed as part of the next phase of field work.  

 

The indicated resource estimation is appropriate for the drilled portion of Area A North because of the 

following geologic factors.  

 The confidence of vanadium grade continuity is supported by the data from infill holes drilled in 

the north half.   Dependable grade continuity between holes - average grades remain within the 

grade category between holes at 110-foot spacing intersecting reduced shale intervals.    

 Enough holes have penetrated sufficiently thick sections of the reduced zone to the bottom of the 

significant mineralization to estimate an approximate thickness of the total contiguous package of 

indicated mineralization at the 0.2% and 0.3% cutoff grades). 

 The grade and spatial character of the mineralization in the oxide zone are revealed. 

Exploration is not sufficiently completed for a measured resource in the north half of Area A because of 

the following. 
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 The east, west sides and north end of the mineralization are not bounded with data.  

 The dipping beds of the vanadiferous unit to east are not adequately mapped to explain 

mineralization depth variations between some drill holes. 

 True width thickness estimations require additional confirming evidence. 

 More grade data is needed for the very near surface mineralization in the upper five to ten feet.  

Perhaps this interval should be eliminated from a verifiable resource estimate.  

 The nature of the structural factors effecting the disposition of the mineralized beds and 

interformational juxtapositions on the west side of the north half are, as yet, uncertain.   

 Additional duplicate samples should be collected and from a split in the field at regular intervals 

to confirm grades from the sample interval. 

 

Because of the erratic, often strong leaching of vanadium from the upper few feet of the soil and rock 

regime, the Issuer’s trench sampling data was not considered representative for resource assessment on 

Area A.  The scattered crusts and impregnations of caliche deposits in the upper few feet in this zone 

(secondary CaCO3 precipitated during arid soil formation processes) may interfere with vanadium 

recovery operations that could be a reason during mining to isolate and strip this layer as waste.     

 

Based on the continuity of vanadium distribution found on Area A North, the analytical data from three 

drill holes on the south half were used to estimate an inferred resource estimate for the vanadiferous 

interval intersected (see Figure 4).   

 

An inferred resource assignment applies to the drilled portion of Area A-South because of the following.  

 The mineralized shale in the south half has the same observed grade continuity characteristics as 

the north half that permit an inferred resource to be estimated from the wider spaced holes on the 

south half.   

 

The current factors limiting the confidence to calculate an indicated or measured resource estimate at this 

time include: 

 Additional drill control needed to the east in order to establish dips and thickness of mineralized 

beds, 

 the existing hole depths lack corroboration of true thickness along the strike length due to 

insufficient  penetration of the reduced mineralized strata (RC BMK 05-01 and 02), 

 the east, west and south mineral extensions remain undefined at depth and corroboration is 

needed for the presence or absence of structural disruption of the mineralized beds east and west 

sides of the trend. 

 

BMK Resource Assessment Discussion  

Table 16 presents the data for the indicated resource block for Area A North.  Table 17 shows the inferred 

resource data for Area A South. Figure 23-B (E.Ullmer, QP-author) shows the Vulcan calculated inferred, 

indicated, and measured resources on a horizontal section at an elevation of 6708 feet across the reduced 

zone.   

 

The Vulcan calculated indicated resources re located on the north half of Area A.  Based on drilling 

density Vulcan flagged Area A-South solely as inferred.   Table 16 presents indicated mineralized V2O5 

grade/tonnages that fall into the 0.2% and 0.3% cutoff categories in the oxide and reduced zones at radius 

distances from the sampled holes from 0 to 200 feet.  As discussed earlier, the indicated and inferred 

ranks, respectively, for Area A North and Area A-South are based on overall grade confidence of grade 

continuity from geologic factors and drilling density within each of the blocks.   

Cutting high grade samples for this estimate was not considered.  The vanadium grade distributions are 

not strongly skewed because of high grades; the highest grade samples (above 1.0% V2O5) do not 

represent a significant quantity of the total vanadium.  The highest grade measured from a drill hole is 

1.79% V2O5.   A nugget effect is not expected nor indicated for this type of deposit. 
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The V2O5 cutoff grades of 0.2% and 0.3% help discriminate mineralization patterns, most notably in the 

reduced zone.  The 0.2% cutoff identifies a band or apron of mineralization averaging 0.2% to less than 

0.3% that occurs at the bottom of the reduced zone.  As can be seen in Table 16 the 0.2% V2O5 cutoff 

increases the total indicated resource by about a third.     

  

Some observations from the analytical data and the results of the resource calculations are as follows. 

 

1)  Tables 16 and 17 show the tonnage and average grades occurring in the 0.2% and 0.3% cutoff 

categories.  The grade span in the 0.3% category ranges from 0.3% to 1.79% V2O5 with the 

majority of grades in most holes in the reduced zone ranging from 0.4% to 0.8%.  The grades are 

averages of mineralized blocks calculated by the inverse method to adjust grade confidence to 

distance from the surrounding borings or sample points.  The mineralization averages 0.47% in 

the reduced zone and 0.39% in the oxide zone within Vulcan’s indicated and measured categories 

in Area A North. 

   

2)  In Table 16 the indicated grade and tonnage resources above 0.2% and 0.3% cutoffs  in the 

north half of Area A are recorded, and their spatial and numerical comparisons illustrate features 

of the V2O5 deposition.  In each oxide and reduced zone drilled the higher grade 0.3% cutoff 

increments occupy the greatest tonnage in a thicker package of shale beds.  By subtracting the 

0.2% total tonnage from the 0.3% tonnage in Table 16, it can be seen that the 0.2% to <0.3% 

grade and tonnage increment is only a quarter to a third that of the 0.3% increment.  The 

dominance of grades above the 0.3% cutoff, especially in the reduced zone, is illustrated in the 

plan map, Figure 23-C (E.Ullmer, QP-author) and in profiles A-A’, B-B’, and C-C’ (Figures 23-

D, 23-E, and 23-F) (E.Ullmer, QP-author) where the wide >0.3% vanadium-bearing bedded 

sequence (in red) is clearly outlined.  As discussed above profiles A-A’, B-B’, and C-C’ and 

Figure 23-C (E.Ullmer, QP-author) also illustrate the relatively thin transition zone from high 

grade mineralization to weakly mineralized grades along the bottom contact of cutoff 

mineralization of the reduced zone.  This rather abrupt change of the rate vanadium accumulation 

indicates that, during one critical phase of shale deposition, V2O5% concentrations increased from 

background values of hundreds of ppm within a matter of a few feet of mudstone-shale 

accumulation to concentrations averaging greater than 0.2%, then 0.3% and those grades were 

sustained for a period of hundreds of feet of shale deposition, then quickly tapered off, and the 

V2O5 decreases to hundreds of ppm.  The time of greatest V2O5 accumulation had to be period of 

optimal coincidence of physical and chemical conditions and V2O5 mobility in the basin as well 

as to the rate and nature of the organic accumulation.  

 
As an exception, the 0.2% cutoff grade mineralization increases on the west side of profile B-B’ (Figure 

23-E (E.Ullmer, QP-author) near the structural disturbance caused faulting as discussed earlier. Data is 

lacking near the fault zone for a more confident resource assessment from the block model.  
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Note profile C-C’ (Figure 23-F (E.Ullmer, QP-author) plots an essentially horizontal grade break that represents 

Vulcan’s extrapolation of the grade difference across the redox boundary.  The poor definition is due to the lack of 

corroborating drill hole data around RC BMK 05-03, mainly because it is the final drill hole at the south end of the 

line (see Figure 23-A, 23-B and 23-C (E.Ullmer, QP-author) and Figure 4). 
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The average V2O5 grades in two of the three RC holes, BMK 05-01 and 02 in the south half, are slightly 

higher than the RC holes in Area A North (see Table 17 and Table 9). It was mentioned earlier that the 

2005 core holes, located directly north of holes 05-01 and 05-02, also have intersected higher V2O5 grades 

than the Area A North holes. Whether this may be part of a larger trend has not been established.  

 
Table 18: Cutoffs, Average Grades and V2O5 Recovery Results 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

  

 

 

Extraction Methods:   AP – acid pugging, curing, leaching;   

                      SRL - salt roasting and leaching 

(11) Mining Operations 

 

Not applicable as the Property does not have estimated mineral reserves, or mineral resources the 

potential economic viability of which supported by a preliminary economic assessment, a pre-feasibility 

study, or a feasibility study. 

(12) Exploration and Development 

 

Completion of Phase II Metallurgical Tests 

The ultimate aim of the Phase II and Phase III programs is to develop a resource inventory with 

satisfactory metallurgical recovery over a significant part of the vanadiferous trend that will justify a 

preliminary assessment report.  At this time the planning and expenditures for continuing the Phase III 

exploration will depend on the results of the ongoing Phase II and Phase III metallurgical tests for 

optimizing V2O5 recovery.   

 

Remaining Phase II Work Plan 

Several years have passed since the last period of significant field work at BMK-Area A in 2007.  

Accordingly a survey control review of the Issuer’s 2005-2007 drill holes locations will be carried out as 

part of Phase II.  The drilling resulted in the V2O5 resource estimation calculated from the 21 bore holes 

located in Area A (Figure 23A).  Maptek calculated the resource in 2007 using the Vulcan program.  The 

Phase II control study will include an appraisal of the drill hole locations and spacings. Location 

discrepancies will require some minor location changes on the drill hole site maps and on applicable drill 

hole cross section in the technical report.  The revised map will be given to Maptek to calculate a new 

vanadium resource estimate with the same Vulcan program using inverse distance estimation in a block 

model array.  A significant change of the resource estimate from the modifications is not anticipated.   

 

The BMK investigation will continue work on a viable, and less costly vanadium recovery system from 

BMK ore.  Lyntek was scheduled to further advance the vanadium recovery studies in Phase II and on 

into Phase III.  The earlier bench studies were begun by Hazen in 2006-2007 and reviewed by Lyntek in 

2011. Unfortunately, Lyntek closed their shop not long after completing the data evaluation discussed this 

report.  Consequently a new metallurgical lead must be selected to continue the BMK study who will 

formulate a plan and perform additional bench tests to improve the efficiency and expense by working off 
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of  Hazen’s efforts as wells as to investigate other, less orthodox recovery options, that are would be 

applicable for treatment of the dominant carbonaceous lithology hosting mineralization on the BMK 

deposit. The new metallurgist team will investigate the options and produce a written plan and cost 

estimate in Phase II. The actual metallurgy testing operations will continue in Phase III under a new 

budget.   

 

The remaining Phase II work will also include a site visit by Issuer’s staff for a property inspection and a 

review of drill hole sites in Area A, and to assess the state of the property in general and briefly to inspect 

a few geological sites. To prepare for the metallurgical tests, additional drill hole samples must be 

collected from the Issuer’s storage building in Eureka, NV and sent to the metallurgical lab. 

 

Anticipated Phase III Work 

The first stage of Phase III will necessarily address the vanadium recovery issue. A clearer idea of the 

recovery alternatives will come from the continuation of the project evaluation begun by Lyntek. This 

remains part of the Phase II effort. The budget for the Phase III lab work cannot be established until costs 

are estimated for the critical bench test phase by the new metallurgists. Follow-up Phase III drilling to 

expand the area of resources in Area A will continue after recovery tests give a better indication of 

mineabilty. After completion of Phase II any remaining budget funds will be added to the Phase III 

program.  

 
Table 19 

Projected Budget for Remaining Phase II Program 

 Expense Categories                                                   Amount 

a) Metallurgical pretest study  

b) Control study of previous drilling 

(modify drill hole maps used in report 

New resource calculations by Maptek 

Site visit, collect and ship samples)  

$40,000 US 

                

 

4.4 Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

5. Selected Financial Information  

5.1 Annual Information 

The following tables set out certain selected financial information of the Issuer for the periods indicated. 

Please refer to the corresponding management’s discussion and analysis for a full discussion of the data, 

including, among other matters, the comparability of data and changes in accounting policies. 

 

 Nine Months 

Ended June 30, 

2015  

($) 

Year Ended 

September 30, 

2014 

($) 

Year Ended 

September 30, 

2013 

($) 

Year Ended 

September 30, 

2012 

($) 

Revenues Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Net Income (Loss) $ (265,383) $ (4,314,451) $ (347,521) $ (2,791,418) 

Basic & Diluted Income 

(Loss) per share 
$ (0.01) $ (0.15) $ (0.01) $ (0.11) 
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Total Assets $ 1,811,525 $1,812,236  $ 5,833,565 $ 6,236,076 

Long Term Liabilities Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Working Capital  $(154,471)  $(243,112)  $ 24,365 $ 485,996 

The audited financial statements of the Issuer for years ended September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are 

attached hereto as Schedule A. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

5.2 Quarterly Information 

The following table summarizes information derived from the Issuer’s financial statements for the each of 

the eight most recently completed quarters: 

 
 

Quarter 

Ended 

 

June 30  

 

Mar. 31 

 

Dec. 31 

 

Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31 Dec. 31 Sept. 30 

Year 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 

Revenue Nil  Nil  Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Operating 

Expenses 

$61,555 $148,496 $55,332 $52,112 $ 96,929 $ 84,230 $ 65,122 $ 74,881 

Net Income 

(Loss) 

$(61,555) $(148,496) $(55,332) $(1,078,823) $(108,999) $(3,061,623) $(65,006) $(51,004) 

Income 

(Loss)  

per share 

$(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.04) $(0.00) $(0.10) $(0.00) $(0.00) 

 

The interim financial statements of the Issuer for period ended June 30, 2015 is attached hereto as Schedule 

A.  The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

5.3 Dividends 

 

Although there are no restrictions on the Issuer’s ability to pay dividends, the Issuer has not paid any 

dividends in the past and has no plans to pay dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future as it is in 

the development stage.  

 

5.4 Foreign GAAP 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  

 

6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

6.1 Annual MD&A 

 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the Issuer for the audited years ended 

September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “B”.  The MD&A 

should be read in conjunction with the Issuer’s audited financial statements for the years ended September 

30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 together with the notes thereto, which are incorporated by reference and 

attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “A”. 

 

 

6.2 Interim MD&A 
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The MD&A of the Issuer for the unaudited financial period ended December 31, 2014 are attached to this 

Listing Statement as Schedule “B”.  The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Issuer’s 

unaudited financial statements for the financial period ended December 31, 2014, together with the notes 

thereto, which are incorporated by reference and attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “A”. 

 

7. Market for Securities 

 

The Issuer’s shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange under the trading symbol “SQA”.  

 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 

The share and the loan capital of the Issuer have not materially changed since the date of the financial 

statements of the Issuer attached to this Listing Statement. 

 

9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 

As of the date hereof, there were 2,100,000 outstanding options to purchase securities of the Issuer.  

 

 Number of Common Shares underlying Options
(1)

 

Options held by executive officers, directors, past 

executive officers and past directors of the Issuer as a 

group (4 persons) 

1,775,000 

Options held by executive officers, directors, past 

executive officers and past directors of all subsidiaries of 

the Issuer as a group  

1,775,000 

Options held by all other employees or past employees 

of the Issuer, as a group  
Nil 

Options held by all other employees or past employees 

of the subsidiaries of the Issuer, as a group 
Nil 

Options held by all consultants of the Issuer, as a group  Nil 

Options held by any other person or company, including 

any underwriters 
Nil 

 

10. Description of the Securities 
 

10.1 Description of Capital 

The authorized capital of the Issuer consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par value.  

The holders of the common shares are entitled to vote at all meetings of shareholders of such common 

shares, to receive dividends if, as and when declared by the directors and to participate rateably in any 

distribution of property or assets upon the liquidation, winding-up or other dissolution of the Issuer.  The 

common shares carry no pre-emptive rights, conversion or exchange rights, or redemption, retraction, 

repurchase, sinking fund or purchase fund provisions.  There are no provisions requiring the holder of 

common shares to contribute additional capital and no restrictions on the issuance of additional securities 

by the Issuer.  There are no restrictions on the repurchase or redemption of common shares by the Issuer 

except to the extent that any such repurchase or redemption would render the Issuer insolvent. 

 

10.2 Debt Securities 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 
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10.3 Not applicable 

 

10.4 Other Securities  

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

10.5 Modification of Terms 

 

(a) Alterations to Rights of Common Shares 

 

The rights and restrictions attached to common shares of the Issuer may be modified, amended or varied 

by special resolution of the shareholders, unless otherwise specified in the BCBCA. 

 

(b) Other Methods of Modifying Rights of Common Shares 

 

None. 

 

10.6 Other Attributes 

 

No other class of securities ranks ahead of the common shares of the Issuer, nor are the rights attached to 

the common shares materially limited or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities.  

 

The Issuer is permitted, pursuant to its articles, to purchase or otherwise acquire any of its shares at the 

price and upon the terms determined and authorized by its directors. No such purchase or acquisition of 

shares may occur if the Issuer has reasonable grounds for believing it is insolvent, or may become 

insolvent if such purchase or acquisition is made. If the Issuer purchases or acquires any of its common 

shares and holds them, the Issuer is not permitted to vote the shares at any shareholder’s meeting, pay a 

dividend in respect of those shares or make any other distribution in respect of those shares. 

 

10.7 Prior Sales 

 

Within 12 months prior to the date of this Listing Statement, the Issuer issued by way of issuance from 

treasury 4,900,000 common shares as follows: 

 

Date Issued 

Number of 

Common Shares 

Issue Price Per 

Common Share 

September 9, 2014 400,000
(1)

 $0.08 

February 18, 2015 4,500,000
(2)

 $0.05 

July 10, 2015 1,000,000
(3)

 $0.20 

September 10, 2015 325,000
(4)

 $0.20 

TOTAL 6,225,000 - 

(1) Pursuant to an option agreement with Kevin Cohen dated for reference June 27, 2014 whereby the Issuer 

was granted an option to acquire a 100% interest in and to a mineral property known as the “KC Property” 

comprising of 405 hectares covered by 25 mineral claims located in the Kitimat-Stikine District of British 

Columbia.  

(2) Pursuant to a private placement of 4,500,000 units at $0.05 whereby each unit consists of one common 

share of the Issuer and one share purchase warrant, wherein each share purchase warrant shall have a two 

year term for the purchase of one further common share of the Issuer at the exercise price of $0.20 per 

share.  
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(3) Pursuant to a private placement of 1,000,000 units at $0.20 whereby each unit consists of one common 

share of the Issuer and one share purchase warrant, wherein each share purchase warrant shall have a two 

year term for the purchase of one further common share of the Issuer at the exercise price of $0.40 per 

share. 

(4) Pursuant to a private placement of 325,000 units at $0.20 whereby each unit consists of one common share 

of the Issuer and one share purchase warrant, wherein each share purchase warrant shall have a five year 

term for the purchase of one further common share of the Issuer at the exercise price of $0.25 per share.  

 

10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

 

The table below provides the monthly or partial monthly average high and low prices and the total trading 

volume of the common shares from March 31, 2013 to September 9, 2015. 

 

Date Average High Average Low Total Volume Traded 

Partial Month of September, 2015  $0.19 $0.17 35,600 

Month of August, 2015 $0.19 $0.18 246,600 

Month of July, 2015 $0.20 $0.19 217,500 

Quarter ended June 30, 2015  $0.14 $0.13 1,429,600 

Quarter ended March 31, 2015 $0.09 $0.09 1,732,200 

Quarter ended December 31, 2014 $0.07 $0.07 1,522,600 

Quarter ended September 30, 2014 $0.10 $0.10 1,783,900 

Quarter ended June 30 2014 $0.11 $0.11 841,800 

Quarter ended March 31, 2014 $0.16 $0.16 718,100 

Quarter ended December 31, 2013 $0.19 $0.18 1,126,200 

Quarter ended September 30, 2013 $0.15 $0.14 784,800 

 
11. Escrowed Securities 

 

As of the date hereof, the Issuer did not have any of its common shares subject to escrow restrictions. 

 

12. Principal Shareholders  
 

As of June 19, 2015, to the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Issuer, the following 

persons beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, common shares 

carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the securities of the Issuer:  

 

Principal 

Shareholder 

Name 

Ownership Number of Shares 

Owned 
(1) 

Percentage 

of Shares 

Owned 
(1) 

CDS & Co. 
(2)

 Of Record 25,299,852 71% 

 Notes 

(1) Based on a total issued and outstanding of 35,862,499 common shares. Assumes no further exercise of 

stock options or warrants. 

(2) CDS & Co. is the registration name for The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited, which acts as 

nominee for many Canadian brokerage firms.  
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To the knowledge of the Issuer, none of its voting securities are held, or are to be held, subject to any 

voting trust. 

To the knowledge of the Issuer, no principal shareholder is an associate or affiliate of another person or 

company named as a shareholder. 

 

13. Directors and Officers 
 

13.1 Name, Address, Occupation and Security Holdings 

The following table sets out the names of the directors and officers of the Issuer, the province or state, and 

country in which each is ordinarily resident, all offices of the Issuer held by each of them, their principal 

occupations and the number of common shares of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned 

by each, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised. 

 
Name, 

Municipality of 

Residence, Position 

with the Issuer and 

Date First 

Appointed  

 

Principal Occupation During Last Five Years Number of 

common shares 

held in the 

Issuer 
(1)  

Percentage of 

Class Held or 

Controlled
 (1) 

 

Jim Wall 

Vancouver, B.C. 

CEO  

March 2011 

Corporate Secretary 

March 2011 and 

prior to that March 

2001 to March 2010 

Director 

July 2010 

Chief Executive Officer and director of the Issuer, Mr 

Wall has been a businessman since 1990 and has over 

16 years of experience managing public companies. Mr 

Wall’s strong administrative background and solid 

organizational and technical skills allow him to oversee 

the day to day operations and finances of the Issuer. Mr 

Wall also serves as an active investor liason, manages 

information and communication, and works closely 

with the Issuer’s geology team and consultants in 

conjunction with it’s board of directors. 

 

22,500 0.06% 

James Corrigan 

White Rock, B.C. 

President 

March 2011 

CFO 

February 2013 

Director  

July 2010 

President, Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer, and 

director of the Issuer, Mr. Corrigan has been a 

businessman since 1991. Mr. Corrigan possesses 

significant knowledge of both the vanadium industry 

and the Issuer and is an active investor liason, and 

works closely with the Issuer’s board of directors.  

48,400 0.13% 

Russell Corrigan,  

Surrey, B.C. 

 

Director 

March 2015 

Director of the Issuer, Mr. Corrigan is an Investment 

Advisor qualified by in the Investment Industry 

Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC) since June 

2003. Mr. Corrigan possesses significant knowledge of 

the investment industry and is an active investor liaison 

for the Issuer.  

 

7,000 0.02% 
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Al Doherty 

Whitehorse, Yukon 

Director  

February  2011 

Director of the Issuer, Mr. Doherty is the owner of 

Aurum Geological Consultants Inc. in Whitehorse, 

Yukon Territory and is a practicing geologist. Mr. 

Doherty’s geological experience includes 30 years of 

mineral exploration and geological mapping, and was 

project geologist during the discovery and definition of 

the Mount Skukum ore body in 1981/ 82.  

 

Nil Nil 

(1) Assumes no exercise of outstanding share purchase warrants or options. Includes shares held directly and indirectly. 

Based on an issued and outstanding of 35,862,499 shares, and information available on SEDI www.sedi.ca. 

 

13.2 Term of Directorship 

The term of office of each of the present directors expires at the Issuer’s next Annual General Meeting. 

Each director elected or appointed will hold office until the next annual general meeting of the Issuer or 

until his or her successor is elected or appointed, unless his or her office is earlier vacated in accordance 

with the articles of the Issuer or with the provisions of the BCBCA. 

 

13.3 Voting Interest of Directors and Officers as a Group 

 

As a group, the directors and officers of the Issuer hold an aggregate of 77,900 common shares of the 

Issuer, representing 0.22% of the issued and outstanding common shares in the Issuer.  

 

13.4 Board Committees 

 

The only committee of the board of directors of the Issuer is the audit committee.  The Issuer’s audit 

committee is comprised of Jim Wall, Al Doherty and Russell Corrigan. Messrs. Doherty and R. Corrigan 

are independent members of the audit committee. Mr. Wall is not independent due to his position as CEO 

and Corporate Secretary of the Issuer. All members are considered to be financially literate. 

 

13.5 Principal Occupation of Directors and Officers 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, no director or officer of the Issuer has a principal occupation as a director 

or officer of a company other than the Issuer. 

 
Name of Director or Officer  Name of Other Reporting Issuer 
   

Al Doherty   Gold World Resources Inc. 

Rockhaven Resources Ltd. 

 

13.6 Cease Trade Orders and Bankruptcy 

 

No director or officer of the Issuer, or, to the Issuer’s knowledge, no shareholder holding a sufficient 

number of securities of the Issuer to materially affect the control of the Issuer, is or within 10 years prior 

to the date of this Listing Statement, has been a director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that 

person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that 

denied the other Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, for a period of more than 

30 consecutive days: 

 

No director or officer of the Issuer is, or within the 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement, has 

been a director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a 

year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any 

http://www.sedi.ca/
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legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 

arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to 

hold its assets. 

 

13.7 Penalties/Sanctions Imposed on Directors/Officers 

 

None. 

 

13.8  

 

Not applicable. 

 

13.9 Bankruptcy of Director/Officer  

 

None. 

 

13.10 Conflicts of Interest 

 

The directors and officers of the Issuer also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies and may 

be presented, from time to time, with situations or opportunities which give rise to apparent conflicts of 

interest.  All conflicts of interest will be resolved in accordance with the BCBCA and the fiduciary duties 

of the Issuer’s directors and officers. 

 

13.11 Management 

Below is a brief description of the key management of the Issuer.  

Jim Wall: Mr. Jim Wall, age 47, is a business executive with significant experience working with 

resource issuers. He has many years of experience in the financial and capital investment including 

raising capital for a venture company. Mr. Wall has worked as a businessman since 1990, and is currently 

self-employed. A company owned and controlled by Mr. Wall is providing independent contractor 

services to the Issuer, and makes Mr. Wall available to personally provide such services.Mr. Wall 

currently serves as CEO and Corporate Secretary of the Issuer. As a graduate of UBC in the fields of 

Commerce and Athletic Administration, and trained as a CMA, Mr. Wall has over sixteen years’ 

experience managing public companies. Mr. Wall is an active investor liason, manages information and 

communication, and works closely with the Issuer’s geology team and consultants in conjunction with the 

board of directors of the Issuer. Mr. Wall devotes approximately 100% of his working time to the Issuer’s 

affairs. Neither he nor his corporate entity has entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure 

agreement with the Issuer.  

James Corrigan: Mr. James Corrigan, age 37, has been acting Information Officer and researcher for the 

Issuer over the past several years, and possesses significant knowledge of both the vanadium industry and 

the Issuer. Mr. Corrigan is an active investor liason, and works closely with the board of directors in the 

guidance of the Issuer.  Mr. Corrigan has worked as a businessman since 1991, and is currently self-

employed in addition to being employed by the Issuer. Mr. Corrigan has entered into an employment 

agreement with the Issuer, and currently serves as President and Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer. Mr. 

Corrigan devotes approximately 100% of his working time to the Issuer’s affairs. He has not entered into 

a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer.  

Russell Corrigan: Mr. Russell Corrigan, age 40, is a qualified Investment Advisor by the Investment 

Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC) since June 2003. Mr. Corrigan possesses significant 

knowledge of the investment industry and works closely with the Issuer’s board of directors. Mr. 

Corrigan is also an active investor liaison for the Issuer. Mr. Corrigan devotes approximately 25% of his 
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working time to the Issuer’s affairs. He has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure 

agreement with the Issuer. 

Al Doherty: Mr. Al Doherty, age 65, is presently the owner of a geological consulting company and is a 

practicing geologist, primarily in the Yukon Territory. His geological experience includes 30 years of 

mineral exploration and geological mapping in the Yukon, and was project geologist during the discovery 

and definition of the Mount Skukum ore body in 1981/ 82. Mr. Doherty has contracted out his geological 

consulting company to the Issuer as an independent contractor, and he serves as a director of the Issuer 

and previous Vice President of Exploration.  Mr. Doherty devotes approximately 20% of his working 

time to the affairs of the Issuer. Neither he nor his geological consulting company has entered into a non-

competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

14. Capitalization 

The following information is based on there being 35,862,499 shares issued and outstanding as of 

September 9, 2015.  

Issued Capital Number of 

Securities (non-

diluted) 

Number of 

Securities (fully 

diluted) 

%of 

Issued 

(non- 

diluted) 

% of 

Issued 

(fully 

diluted) 

Public Float     

Total outstanding (A) 35,862,499 46,287,499 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or employees of 

the Issuer or Related Person of the Issuer, 

or by persons or companies who 

beneficially own or control, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 5% voting position 

in the Issuer (or who would beneficially 

own or control, directly or indirectly, more 

than a 5% voting position in the Issuer 

upon exercise or conversion of other 

securities held) (B) 

77,900 2,275,000 0.22% 4.91% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 35,784,599 44,012,499 99.78% 95.09% 

     

Freely-Tradeable Float     

Number of outstanding securities subject to 

resale restrictions, including restrictions 

imposed by pooling or other arrangements 

or in a shareholder agreement and securities 

held by control block holders (C) 

1,325,000 2,650,000 N/A N/A 

Total Tradeable Float (A- C) 34,537,499 43,637,499   

Public Securityholders (Registered)
(1)

  

Class of Security   

Size of Holding Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 3 13 

100 – 499 securities 5 1,400 

500 – 999 securities 9 5,200 
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1,000 – 1,999 securities 13 15,420 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 15 30,750 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 3 9,100 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 0 0 

5,000 or more securities 29 6,838,498
(2)(3)

 

(1) The information from the above table is from a registered shareholder list of the Issuer as at June 19, 2015 

provided by the Issuer’s transfer agent.   

(2) CDS & Co. is the holder of record for 25,299,852 shares and is the registration name for The Canadian 

Depository for Securities Limited, which acts as nominee for many Canadian brokerage firms.  

(3) Cede & Co. is the holder of record for 2,610,266 shares and is the registration name for The of Depository 

Trust Company (DTC) which performs the functions of a central securities depositary as part of the U.S. 

National Market System. 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial)
(1)

 

Class of Security   

Size of Holding Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 4 111 

100 – 499 securities 14 2,727 

500 – 999 securities 23  13,819 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 64 74,512  

2,000 – 2,999 securities 63 134,615 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 25 79,154 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 28 117,277 

5,000 or more securities 369 26,768,560 

(1) The information from the above table is from a share range reports for the US and Canadian dated June 26, 2015 

produced by Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc. at the request of the Issuer.  

(2) This number has been reduced from the number provided by Broadridge to take into account the disclosed 

holdings of non-public securityholders in the table below. 

Non-Public Securityholders (Beneficial)
(1)

 

Class of Security   

Size of Holding Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 0 0 

100 – 499 securities 0 0 

500 – 999 securities 0 0 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 0 0 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 0 0 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 0 0 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 0 0 

5,000 or more securities 3 77,900 

(1)  The information from the above table is from the beneficial share holdings as publicly disclosed on the System 

for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (www.SEDI.ca) as at June 19, 2015 of the current directors, officers and 

insiders of the Issuer. 
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14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any class 

of listed securities 

Description of Security (include 

conversion/exercise terms, 

including conversion/exercise 

price) 

 

Number of 

convertible/exchangeable 

securities outstanding 

Number of listed securities 

issuable upon 

conversion/exercise 

Incentive stock options exercisable 

at a price of $0.46 with an expiry 

date of August 5, 2015 

 

825,000 options 825,000 common shares 

Incentive stock options exercisable 

at a price of $0.33 with an expiry 

date of March 17, 2016 

 

250,000 options 250,000 common shares 

Share purchase warrants with an 

expiry date of September 19, 2017 

exercisable at a price of $0.45 per 

warrant for the purchase of a 

common share 

  

2,100,000 share purchase warrants 2,100,000 common shares 

Share purchase warrants with an 

expiry date of January 30, 2016 

exercisable at a price of $0.50 per 

warrant for the purchase of a 

common share 

  

400,000 share purchase warrants 400,000 common shares 

Share purchase warrants with an 

expiry date of February 27, 2017 

exercisable at a price of $0.20 per 

warrant for the purchase of a 

common share 

 

4,500,000 share purchase warrants 4,500,000 common shares 

Incentive stock options exercisable 

at a price of $0.05 with an expiry 

date of January 9, 2020  

 

1,025,000 options 1,025,000 common shares  

Share purchase warrants with an 

expiry date of July 10, 2017 

exercisable at a price of $0.40 per 

warrant for the purchase of a 

common share 

 

1,000,000 share purchase warrants 1,000,000 common shares 

Share purchase warrants with an 

expiry date of September 10, 2020 

exercisable at a price of $0.25 per 

warrant for the purchase of a 

common share 

 

325,000 share purchase warrants 325,000 common shares 
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14.3 There are no listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 

14.2. 

 

15. Executive Compensation 
 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

In this section “Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means (a) the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) (or 

an individual who acted in a similar capacity), (b) the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) (or an individual 

who acted in a similar capacity), (c) each of the Issuer’s three other most highly compensated executive 

officers, or the three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity (except those 

whose total compensation does not exceed $150,000), and (d) each individual who would be a NEO under 

paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of the Issuer, nor acting 

in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial year.  

The disclosure below relates to the Issuer’s two NEOs as at the time of the most recently completed 

financial year, namely: (1) the Issuer’s the CEO and Corporate Secretary, Jim Wall, and (2) President and 

Chief Financial Officer, James Corrigan. 

 

The compensation of the executive officers is determined by the Board of Directors, based in part on 

recommendations from the President and Chief Executive Officer. 

 

The Board evaluates individual executive performance with the goal of setting compensation at levels that 

they believe are comparable with executives in other companies of similar size and stage of development 

operating in the same industry. In connection with setting appropriate levels of compensation, the Board 

base their decisions on their general business and industry knowledge and experience and publicly 

available information of comparable companies while also taking into account our relative performance 

and strategic goals. 

 

The executive officer compensation consists of two basic elements: i) base salary; and ii) incentive stock 

options. The details are set out in the Summary Compensation Table. 

 

The base salary established for each executive officer is intended to reflect each individual's 

responsibilities, experience, prior performance and other discretionary factors deemed relevant by the 

Board. In deciding on the salary portion of the compensation of the executive officers, major 

consideration is given to the fact that the Issuer is an early stage exploration company and does not 

generate any material revenue and must rely exclusively on funds raised from equity financing. Therefore, 

greater emphasis may be put on incentive stock option compensation. 

 

Summary Compensation Table 
 

The following table provides a summary of the compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to or payable to 

the Named Executive Officers (to the extent that such compensation has been determined) for the most 

recently completed financial year (September 30, 2014): 

 
 
Name and 

Principal 

position 

 
Year 
(1)

 

 
Salary 

($) 

 
Share-

based 

awards 

($) 

 
Option- 

based 

awards 

($) 

 
Non-equity 

Incentive plan 

compensation ($) 

 
Pension 

value 

($) 

 
All 

other 

compe-

nsation 

($) 

 
Total 

compe-

nsation 

($) 
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Annual 

incen- 

tive 

plans 

 
Long- 

term 

incen- 

tive 

plans 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Jim Wall,  

CEO and 

Corporate 

Secretary 

 
2015 

2014 

2013 

2012 

 
66,500 

66.500 

74,000
(2)

 

63,000
(3)

 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

58,500
(4)

 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
66,500 

66,500 

74,000 

121,500 
 
James 

Corrigan
(5)

, 

President 

and CFO 

 
2015 

2014 

2013 

2012 

 
66,500 

66,500 

72,500 

70,533 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

67,500
(4)

 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
66,500 

66,500 

72,500 

138,033 

 
(1) The Issuer’s financial year end is September 30. 

(2) Comprised of $67,500 consulting fees paid to a management company wholly-owned by the director and $6,500 paid 

directly to the director. 

(3) These are independent contractor fees paid to a management company wholly-owned by the director. 

(4) Based on the 2012 Black-Scholes fair value of $0.21 per incentive stock option using the following assumptions: 

volatility: 156%; expected (not actual) life of stock options: 5 years; dividend: $0.00 and interest rate: 1.26%. 

(5) Appointed as Chief Financial Officer part way through the financial year (as of February 28, 2013). 

 

Stock options are granted to NEOs when the Board wishes to align the NEOs’ interests with those of the 

shareholders. The number of stock options granted to each NEO is determined solely by the Board and 

will be based on the NEO’s performance, his/her consulting fee, if any, and the Issuer’s share price at the 

time these stock options are granted. The Board believes that providing NEOs a vested equity interest in 

the Issuer helps align the interests of the NEOs with those of the shareholders. The granting of stock 

options will comply with applicable securities rules and regulations. 
 
There was no re-pricing of stock options under the Incentive Stock Option Plan or otherwise during the 

Issuer’s financial year ended September 30, 2014. 

 

Option-based Awards 

Stock options are granted to the Issuer’s executives taking into account several factors including the level 

of responsibility of the executive as well as his or her impact or contribution to the longer-term operating 

performance of the Issuer.  In determining the number of options to be granted to the executive officers, 

the Board takes into account the number of options, if any, previously granted to each executive officer 

and the exercise price of any outstanding options to ensure that such grants are in accordance with the 

policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange and closely align the interests of the executive officers with 

the interests of shareholders.  The Board has the responsibility to grant option-based awards. 

 

INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS 

(as at the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014) 

 

OUTSTANDING SHARE-BASED AWARDS AND OPTION-BASED AWARDS 
 
 

 
Option-based Awards 

 
Share-based Awards 

 
Name 

 
Number of 

securities 

underlying 

 
Option 

exercise 

price ($) 

 
Option 

expiration date 

 
(1)

Value of 

unexercised 

in-the-money 

 
Number of 

shares or 

units of 

 
Market or 

payout value 

of share-
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unexercised 

options (#) 

options ($) shares that 

have not 

vested (#) 

based awards 

that have not 

vested ($) 
 
Jim Wall 

 
150,000

(1)
 

 
0.46 

 
Aug. 5, 2015 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
James Corrigan 

 
350,000 

 
0.46 

 
Aug. 5, 2015 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
(1) These options were granted to a management company wholly-owned by the director.  
(2) This amount is calculated as the difference between the market value of the securities underlying the options on September 

30, 2014, being the last day the Issuer=s shares traded for the financial year and the exercise price of the option. 

 

INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS B VALUE VESTED OR EARNED 

(for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014) 

 
 
Name 

 
Option-based awards - 

Value vested during the 

year ($) 

 
Share-based awards - 

Value vested during the 

year ($) 

 
Non-equity incentive 

plan compensation - 

Value earned during the 

year ($) 
 
Jim Wall 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
James Corrigan 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

Pension Plan Benefits 

 

The Issuer does not have any pension plans that provide for payments or benefits to any NEO at, 

following or in connection with their retirement, nor does the Issuer have any defined contribution plans 

relating to any NEO. 

 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 
 

Pursuant to a consulting agreement dated April 30, 2013 with a company wholly-owned by Jim Wall, in 

light of the fact that Mr. Wall has previously provided service to the Company at less than market value 

since on or about 1994, if the agreement is terminated by the Issuer without cause, the Issuer is to pay 

severance compensation of $200,000 to Mr. Wall’s company, taking into account the fact that at least 16 

years of service with the Issuer have been provided. Additionally, if within 24 months following a change 

of control the agreement is terminated without cause by the Issuer, or by the company owned by Mr. Wall 

within 2 months following "good cause" (defined in Mr. Wall’s consulting agreement), then the Issuer is 

to pay $300,000 plus the replacement value for benefits for a period 36 months at the time of termination 

of employment. 

 

Pursuant to an employment agreement commencing April 30, 2013 with James Corrigan, in light of the 

fact that Mr. Corrigan has previously provided service to the Issuer at less than market value, if the 

agreement is terminated by the Issuer without cause or with cause by Mr. Corrigan, Mr. Corrigan is 

entitled to severance compensation of $200,000. Additionally, if within 24 months following a change of 

control the agreement is terminated without cause by the company, or by Mr. Corrigan within 2 months 

following "good cause" (defined in Mr. Corrigan’s employment agreement), then Mr. Corrigan shall be 

entitled to receive $300,000 plus the replacement value for benefits for a period 36 months at the time of 

termination of employment.” 

 

Neither the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries has any plan or arrangement with respect to compensation to 

its executive officers which would result from the resignation, retirement or any other termination of 

employment of the executive officers' employment with the Issuer and its subsidiaries or from a change of 
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control of the Issuer or any subsidiary of the Issuer or a change in the executive officers' responsibilities 

following a change in control. 

 

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 

 

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION TABLE 

(for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014) 

 
 
Name 

 

 
Fees 

Earned 

($) 

 
Share- 

based 

awards 

($) 

 
Option- 

based 

awards ($) 

 
Non-equity 

incentive 

plan 

compen- 

sation ($) 

 
Pension 

value ($) 

 
All other 

compen- 

sation ($) 

 
Total ($) 

 
Edward Gresko 

 
26,500 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
26,500 

 
Al Doherty 

 
6,000 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
6,000 

 

The Issuer has no standard arrangement pursuant to which directors of the Issuer are compensated by the 

Issuer for their services in their capacity as directors other than the unissued treasury shares that may be 

issued upon the exercise of the directors' stock options. There has been no other arrangement pursuant to 

which directors were compensated by the Issuer in their capacity as directors except as disclosed herein.  

 

Option-based Awards for Directors 

 

OUTSTANDING SHARE-BASED AWARDS AND OPTION-BASED AWARDS 

(for the fiscal year end of September 30, 2014) 

 
 
 

 
Option-based Awards 

 
Share-based Awards 

 
Name 

 
Number of 

securities 

underlying 

unexercised 

options (#) 

 
Option 

exercise 

price ($) 

 
Option expiration 

date 

 
(1)

Value of 

unexercised 

in-the-money 

options ($) 

 
Number of 

shares or 

units of 

shares that 

have not 

vested (#) 

 
Market or 

payout 

value of 

share-based 

awards that 

have not 

vested ($) 
 
Edward 

Gresko 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Al Doherty 

 
250,000 

 
0.33 

 
March 17, 2016 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
(1) This amount is calculated as the difference between the market value of the securities underlying the options on September 

30, 2014, being the last day the Company=s shares traded for the financial year and the exercise price of the option. 

 

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION 

(for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014) 

 
 
 

 
Number of securities to 

be issued upon exercise 

of outstanding options, 

warrants and rights 

 
Weighted-average 

exercise price of 

outstanding options, 

warrants and rights 

 
Number of securities 

remaining available for 

future issuance under 

equity compensation plans 
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(#) ($) (excluding securities 

reflected in column (a) 
 
Plan Category 

 
(a) 

 
(b) 

 
(c) 

 
Equity compensation 

plans approved by 

securityholders 

 
1,875,000 

 
0.31 

 
1,128,750 

 
Equity compensation 

plans not approved by 

securityholders 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Total 

 
1,875,000 

 
 

 
1,128,750 

 

There are no employment contracts between either the Company or its subsidiaries and the above-named 

executive officers other than disclosed herein or in the financial statements. 

 

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 

16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

None of the executive officers, directors or employees of the Issuer are or have been indebted to the 

Issuer at any time, or are or have been indebted to another entity at any time, for the purchase of 

securities, or where that indebtedness was the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or 

similar arrangement of understanding provided by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Officers under Programs 

There are no programs of the Issuer pursuant to which the Issuer’s directors or officers incurred any debt 

owed to the Issuer. 

 

17. Risk Factors  

 

Exploration, Development and Operating Risks 

 

Mining operations generally involve a high degree of risk. The Issuer’s operations are subject to all the 

hazards and risks normally encountered in the exploration, development and production of precious 

metals and other minerals and metals, including unusual and unexpected geologic formations, seismic 

activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, flooding and other conditions involved in the drilling and removal of 

material, any of which could result in damage to, or destruction of, mines and other producing facilities, 

damage to life or property, environmental damage and possible legal liability. Although adequate 

precautions to minimize risk will be taken, milling operations are subject to hazards such as equipment 

failure or failure of retaining dams around tailings disposal areas which may result in environmental 

pollution and consequent liability. 

 

The exploration for and development of mineral deposits involves significant risks which even a 

combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the discovery of 

a mineral-bearing structure may result in substantial rewards, few properties which are explored are 

ultimately developed into producing mines. 

 

Major expenses may be required to locate and establish mineral reserves, to develop metallurgical 

processes and to construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure 
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that the exploration or development programs planned by the Issuer will result in a profitable commercial 

mining operation. Whether a mineral deposit will be commercially viable depends on a number of 

factors, some of which are: the particular attributes of the deposit, such as quantity and quality of 

mineralization and proximity to infrastructure; commodity prices which are highly cyclical; and 

government regulations, including regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, 

importing and exporting of minerals and environmental protection. The exact effect of these factors 

cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may result in the Issuer not receiving 

an adequate return on invested capital. 

 

There is no certainty that the expenditures made by the Issuer towards the search and evaluation of 

deposits of minerals or other metals will result in discoveries of commercial quantities of precious metals 

or other minerals or metals. 

 

Risks Associated With the Property 

 

The Issuer’s Property is a high risk, speculative venture.  No mineral resources or mineral reserves have 

been identified with respect to the Property to date and there is no certainty that the expenditures made by 

the Issuer towards the search and evaluation of precious metals or other metals or minerals with regard to 

the Property or otherwise will result in discoveries of commercial quantities of precious metals or other 

minerals or metals.  In addition, even in the event of the successful completion by the Issuer of Phase II 

of the recommended work program on the Property, there is no assurance that the results of such 

exploration will warrant further exploration and development of the Property.  In such circumstances, the 

Issuer may be required to acquire and focus its operations on one or more additional mineral properties. 

There can be no assurance that any such additional mineral properties will be available for acquisition by 

the Issuer or that, if available, the terms of acquisition will be favourable to the Issuer. 

 

Current Economic Conditions 

There are significant uncertainties regarding the price of precious metals and other minerals or metals 

and the availability of equity financing for the purposes of mineral exploration and development. The 

prices of precious metals and other minerals or metals have fluctuated substantially over the past several 

months and financial markets have deteriorated to the point where it has become extremely difficult for 

companies to raise new capital. The Issuer’s future performance is largely tied to the development of its 

current mineral properties and the overall financial markets. Current financial markets are likely to be 

volatile in Canada for the remainder of the calendar year and potentially into 2015, reflecting ongoing 

concerns about the stability of the global economy and weakening global growth prospects. As well, 

concern about global growth has led to sustained drops in some commodity markets. Unprecedented 

uncertainty in the credit markets has also led to increased difficulties in borrowing/raising funds. 

Companies worldwide have been affected particularly negatively by these trends. As a result, the Issuer 

may have difficulties raising equity financing for the purposes of mineral exploration and development, 

particularly without excessively diluting present shareholders of the Issuer. These economic trends may 

limit the Issuer’s ability to develop and/or further explore its mineral property interests. 

 

Operating History 

 

The Issuer has a very limited history of operations, is in the early stage of exploration and must be 

considered a start-up company. As such, the Issuer is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, 

including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other 

resources and lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in achieving a 

return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early 

stage of operations. 
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Reliance on Limited Number of Properties 

 

The only property interests of the Issuer are its interest in the Property. As a result, unless the Issuer 

acquires additional property interests, any adverse developments affecting the Property, could have a 

material adverse effect upon the Issuer and would materially and adversely affect the potential mineral 

resource production, profitability, financial performance and results of operations of the Issuer. 

 

Insurance and Uninsured Risks 

 

The Issuer’s business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse 

environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labour disputes, unusual or unexpected geological 

conditions, ground or slope failures, cave-ins, changes in the regulatory environment and natural 

phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods and earthquakes. Such occurrences could result 

in damage to mineral properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage 

to the Issuer’s properties or the properties of others, delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal 

liability. 

 

Although the Issuer may in the future maintain insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts 

as it considers reasonable, its insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated with a mining 

company’s operations. The Issuer may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at 

economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may not be 

adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as environmental 

pollution or other hazards as a result of exploration and production is not generally available to the Issuer 

or to other companies in the mining industry on acceptable terms. The Issuer might also become subject 

to liability for pollution or other hazards which may not be insured against or which the Issuer may elect 

not to insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from these events may cause the 

Issuer to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its financial performance 

and results of operations. 

 

Environmental Risks and Hazards 

 

All phases of the Issuer’s operations are subject to environmental regulation in the jurisdictions in which 

it operates. These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water quality 

standards and land reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage 

and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will 

require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for noncompliance, more 

stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for 

companies and their officers, directors and employees. There is no assurance that future changes in 

environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Issuer’s operations. Environmental hazards 

may exist on the properties on which the Issuer holds interests which are unknown to the Issuer at present 

and which have been caused by previous or existing owners or operators of the properties. 

 

Government approvals, approval of aboriginal people and permits are currently, and may in the future be 

required in connection with the Issuer’s operations. To the extent such approvals are required and are not 

obtained, the Issuer may be curtailed or prohibited from continuing its exploration or mining operations 

or from proceeding with planned exploration or development of mineral properties. 

 

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and per mitting requirements may result in 

enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 

operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, 

installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations or in the 

exploration or development of mineral properties may be required to compensate those suffering loss or 
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damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for 

violations of applicable laws or regulations. 

 

Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining and 

exploration companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact 

on the Issuer and cause increases in exploration expenses, capital expenditures or production costs or 

reduction in levels of production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in 

development of new mining properties. 

 

Infrastructure 

 

Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, on 

adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are important 

determinants, which affect capital and operating costs. Unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, 

sabotage, government or other interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could 

adversely affect the Issuer’s operations, financial condition and results of operations. 

 

Land Title 

 

Acquisition of title to mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to, and the 

area of, mineral properties may be disputed. Although the Issuer has investigated its title to the Property 

for which it holds an option to acquire concessions or other mineral leases or licenses and the Issuer is 

satisfied with its review of the title to the Property, the Issuer cannot give an assurance that title to the 

Property will not be challenged or impugned. Mineral properties sometimes contain claims or transfer 

histories that examiners cannot verify, and transfers under foreign law often are complex. The Issuer does 

not carry title insurance on the Property. A successful claim that the Issuer does not have title could cause 

the Issuer to lose its rights to the Property, perhaps without compensation for its prior expenditures 

relating to the Property. 

 

The Property may now or in the future be the subject of first nations land claims. The legal nature of 

aboriginal land claims is a matter of considerable complexity. The impact of any such claim on the 

Issuer's ownership interest in the Property cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty and no 

assurance can be given that a broad recognition of aboriginal rights in the area in which the Property is 

located, by way of a negotiated settlement or judicial pronouncement, would not have an adverse effect 

on the Issuer's activities. Even in the absence of such recognition, the Issuer may at some point be 

required to negotiate with first nations in order to facilitate exploration and development work on the 

Property. 

 

Competition 

 

The mining industry is competitive in all of its phases. The Issuer faces strong competition from other 

mining companies in connection with the acquisition of properties producing, or capable of producing, 

precious and base metals. Many of these companies have greater financial resources, operational 

experience and technical capabilities than the Issuer. As a result of this competition, the Issuer may be 

unable to maintain or acquire attractive mining properties on terms it considers acceptable or at all. 

Consequently, the Issuer’s revenues, operations and financial condition could be materially adversely 

affected. 

 

Additional Capital 

 

When not accounting for the gain on sale of property, the Issuer had negative operating cash flow during 

the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013. The development and exploration of the Issuer’s properties 
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will require substantial additional financing. Failure to obtain sufficient financing may result in the delay 

or indefinite postponement of exploration, development or production on any or all of the Issuer’s 

properties or even a loss of property interest. The primary source of funding available to the Issuer 

consists of equity financing. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing 

will be available if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favourable to the 

Issuer. 

 

Liquid Marketability of Shares 
 

There has been no prior public market for the Issuer’s shares other than the Issuer’s posting of its 

securities on the TSX Venture Exchange or the Canadian Securities Exchange, and the market for the 

Issuer’s shares may be illiquid from time to time, and an active trading market may not develop or, if it 

does develop, may not be sustained. The lack of an active market may impair shareholders' ability to sell 

their shares at the time they wish to sell them or at a price that they consider reasonable. The lack of an 

active market may also reduce the fair market value and increase the volatility of the shares. An inactive 

market may also impair the Issuer’s ability to raise capital by selling shares and to acquire other 

exploration properties or interests by using its shares as consideration. 

 

Commodity Prices 

 

The price of the common shares, the Issuer’s financial results and exploration, development and mining 

activities may in the future be significantly adversely affected by declines in the price of precious metals 

or other minerals. The price of precious metals or other minerals and metals fluctuates widely and is 

affected by numerous factors beyond the Issuer’s control such as the sale or purchase of commodities by 

various central banks and financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, 

fluctuation in the value of the United States dollar and foreign currencies, global and regional supply and 

demand, the political and economic conditions of major mineral-producing countries throughout the 

world, and the cost of substitutes, inventory levels and carrying charges. Future serious price declines in 

the market value of precious metals or other minerals or metals could cause continued development of 

and commercial production from the Issuer’s properties to be impractical. Depending on the price of 

precious metals or other minerals or metals, cash flow from mining operations may not be sufficient and 

the Issuer could be forced to discontinue production and may lose its interest in, or may be forced to sell, 

some of its properties. Future production from the Issuer’s mining properties is dependent upon the 

prices of precious metals or other minerals or metals being adequate to make these properties economic. 

 

In addition to adversely affecting the Issuer’s reserve estimates and its financial condition, declining 

commodity prices can impact operations by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility of a particular 

project. Such a reassessment may be the result of a management decision or may be required under 

financing arrangements related to a particular project. Even if the project is ultimately determined to be 

economically viable, the need to conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may 

interrupt operations until the reassessment can be completed. 

 

Government Regulation 
 

Any failure to obtain or maintain the necessary licenses and permits to advance the exploration of the 

Property will have a material adverse impact on the Issuer and its business, assets, financial condition, 

results of operations and prospects.  The mining, processing, development and mineral exploration 

activities of the Issuer are subject to various laws governing prospecting, development, production, taxes, 

labour standards and occupational health, mine safety, toxic substances, land use, water use, land claims 

of local people and other matters. Although the Issuer’s mining and processing operations and 

exploration and development activities are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules 

and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that 
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existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail production or 

development. Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of mining 

and milling or more stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact on the 

Issuer. 

 

Obtaining and Renewing Licenses and Permits 

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Issuer will be required to obtain and renew governmental licenses 

or permits for exploration, development, construction and commencement of mining at the Property.  

Obtaining or renewing the necessary governmental licenses or permits is a complex and time consuming 

process involving numerous jurisdictions, public hearings and costly undertakings on the part of the 

Issuer. The duration and success of the Issuer’s efforts to obtain and renew licenses or permits are 

contingent upon many variables not within the Issuer’s control, including the interpretation of applicable 

requirements implemented by the licensing authority. The Issuer may not be able to obtain or renew 

licenses or permits that are necessary to its operations, including, without limitation, an exploitation 

license, or the cost to obtain or renew licenses or permits may exceed what the Issuer believes they can 

recover from the Property. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the licensing or permitting 

process could delay the development or impede the operation of a mine, which could adversely impact 

the Issuer’s operations and profitability. 

 

Dividend Policy 

 

No dividends on the common shares have been paid by the Issuer to date. Payment of any future 

dividends will be at the discretion of the Issuer’s board of directors after taking into account many 

factors, including the Issuer’s operating results, financial condition and current and anticipated cash 

needs. 

 

Dilution to Common Shares 

 

As a result of the increase in the number of common shares issued and outstanding, the voting power of 

the Issuer’s existing shareholders will be diluted and the subscribers will experience a diluting effect. 

 

Future Sales of Common Shares by Existing Shareholders 

 

Sales of a large number of common shares in the public markets, or the potential for such sales, could 

decrease the trading price of the common shares and could impair the Issuer’s ability to raise capital 

through future sales of common shares. 

 

Key Executives 

 

The Issuer is dependent on the services of key executives, including the directors of the Issuer and a 

small number of highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel. Due to the relatively small 

size of the Issuer, the loss of these persons or the Issuer’s inability to attract and retain additional highly 

skilled employees may adversely affect its business and future operations. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

 

Certain of the directors and officers of the Issuer also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies 

involved in natural resource exploration and development and consequently there exists the possibility for 

such directors and officers to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by any of such directors and 

officers involving the Issuer should be made in accordance with their duties and obligations to deal fairly 

and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Issuer and its shareholders. In addition, each of 
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the directors is required to declare and refrain from voting on any matter in which such directors may 

have a conflict of interest in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Business Corporations Act 

(British Columbia) and other applicable laws. 

 

18. Promoters  

18.1 Promoters  

The Issuer has not retained the services of a promoter since its incorporation and does not currently 

employ an investor relations consultant.  

 

18.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties and Sanctions Involving Promoters 

 

No promoter of the Issuer was a director or executive officer of any person or company that, while the 

promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 

became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was 

subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 

receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets within the last 10 years. 

 

No promoter of the Issuer has, within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, become 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject 

to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 

manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the promoter. 

 

There have been no penalties or sanctions imposed against promoters or past promoters that would be 

likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 

19. Legal Proceedings 

 

19.1 Legal Proceedings 

 

There are no legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or any subsidiary of the Issuer is 

a party or of which their respective property is the subject matter that is known to the Issuer.  

 

19.2 Regulatory Actions 

 

There are no: 

 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to provincial and 

territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three 

years immediately preceding the date hereof; 

 

(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Issuer 

necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 

securities being listed; and 

 

(c) settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating to provincial and 

territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three 

years immediately preceding the date hereof. 

 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
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20.1 For further particulars of the material interest, direct or indirect, of any of the following persons 

or companies in any transaction within the three years before the date of the Listing Statement, 

or in any proposed transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer or 

a subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 

(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer, see “Section 6, Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis, Related Party Transactions” and “Section 18, Promoters”; 

 

(b) a security holder disclosed in the Listing Statement as holding 10% or more of the 

Issuer’s voting securities, see, “Section 12, Principal Shareholders”, “Section 6, 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Related Party Transactions” and “Section 18, 

Promoters”. 

 

No associates or affiliates of any of the persons referred to above, unless as otherwise disclosed 

herein, have or had a material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three 

years before the date of the Listing Statement that has materially affected or will materially 

affect the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 

21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 

21.1 Auditor Name and Address 

 

The auditor for the Issuer is Dale, Matheson, Carr-Hilton, Chartered Accountant, located at 700 Georgia 

Street West, Suite 1488, Vancouver, British Columbia  V7Y 1A1.  

 

21.2 Transfer Agent and Registrar Name  

The registrar and transfer agent for the common shares of the Issuer is Computershare Trust Company of 

Canada, located at 2nd Floor, 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3B9. 

 

22. Material Contracts 
 

22.1 Material Contracts for the Issuer 

1. Option agreement and option exercise agreement with the Optionor dated January 21, 2005 

and March 19, 2008, respectively, pursuant to which the Optionor retains a 2.5% NSR in 

the Property. 

2. A consulting agreement with a company wholly owned by Jim Wall dated April 30, 2013. 

3. An employment agreement with James Corrigan dated April 30, 2013  

4. A consulting agreement with Aurum Geological Consultants Inc., a company wholly 

owned by Al Doherty, dated September 30, 2013. 

5. A consulting agreement with Edward Gresko dated September 30, 2013. 

 

22.2 Copies of any co-tenancy, unitholders’ or limited partnership agreements 

 

None. 
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23. Interest of Experts 

Dale, Matheson, Carr-Hilton, Chartered Accountants, prepared the auditor’s report for the Issuer’s 

financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011.  Dale, Matheson, Carr-

Hilton, Chartered Accountants, are independent in accordance with the Rules of Professional Conduct of 

the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia. 

Edwin Ullmer, BSc, MSc, an independent consultant geologist, a Qualified Person as defined by NI 43-

101, has reviewed and approved the technical disclosure included in this Listing Statement. 

 

24. Other Material Facts 

To management’s knowledge, there are no other material facts that are not otherwise disclosed in this 

Listing Statement or are necessary for the Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 

material facts relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

 

25. Financial Statements  
 

Financial statements required pursuant this section are attached as follows: 

 

SCHEDULE “A” – Audited Financial Statements of Stina Resources Ltd. for the years ended 

September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, and Interim Financial Statements for the period ended June 

30, 2015. 
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The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a promoter of 

the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying following a fundamental 

change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 

promoter of the target and two directors of the target. 

 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Stina Resources Ltd. hereby applies for 

the listing of the above mentioned securities on the CSE. The foregoing contains full, true and plain 

disclosure of all material information relating to Stina Resources Ltd. It contains no untrue statement of a 

material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to 

prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it 

was made. 

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia, this _23rd__ day of __September____________, 2015 

 

”Jim Wall”                                                     “James Corrigan”    

Jim Wall, CEO       James Corrigan, CFO  

 

“Russell Corrigan”          “Al Doherty”                 

Russell Corrigan, Director     Al Doherty, Director  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Stina Resources Ltd., 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Stina Resources Ltd., which comprise the 

consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013, the consolidated 

statements of comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended September 30, 

2014 and 2013, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 

is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 

conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and 

fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An 

audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

Stina Resources Ltd. as at September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013, and its financial performance and its cash 

flows for the years ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013 in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which describes 

matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

            
January 29, 2015 DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 

Vancouver, Canada CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
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STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

Expressed in Canadian dollars

September 30, September 30,

Notes 2014 2013

ASSETS

Current assets

      Cash $                4,210  $            21,348 

      Short term investments 4                         -                  82,500 

      Receivables 5                      366                  2,336 

      Prepaids                  13,600                18,347 

                 18,176              124,531 

Non-current assets

Reclamation bond 7                  21,768                21,768 

Equipment 6                    2,474                  3,170 

Exploration and evaluation assets 7            1,769,818           5,684,096 

 $         1,812,236  $       5,833,565 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities

     Trade payables and accrued liabilities 8  $              97,164  $            30,042 

     Restoration obligation 7                  21,768                21,768 

     Due to related parties 11                142,356                48,356 

               261,288              100,166 

Shareholders' equity

  Share capital  9          12,138,597         12,030,598 

  Reserves 10 2,153,716            2,129,716          

  Deficit (12,741,365)        (8,426,915)         

           1,550,948           5,733,399 

 $         1,812,236  $       5,833,565 

Commitments (Note 7)

Subsequent event (Note 14)

"Jim Wall"    Director

Jim Wall James Corrigan

"James Corrigan"   

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Expressed in Canadian dollars

Notes 2014 2013

Expenses

     Accounting, audit and legal  $              50,496 $                61,755 

     Depreciation                       696                        893 

     Consulting fees 11                  74,200                   78,800 

     Exchange loss                       899                        689 

     Office and sundry                  31,199                   39,832 

                   8,301                     5,949 

     Rent                  13,000                   11,000 

     Salaries and benefits 11                106,583                 128,736 

     Transfer agent                    9,657                     8,968 

     Travel and promotion                    3,362                   16,720 

Total expenses               (298,393)                 (353,342)

Other items

   Interest expense                      (257)                        (280)

   Recovery of expenses                          -                     22,519 

7            (4,015,942)                   (18,998)

   Interest income                       141                     2,580 

           (4,016,058)                     5,821 

Net loss for the year            (4,314,451)                 (347,521)

           (4,314,451)                 (347,521)

outstanding (basic and diluted)           29,521,883            28,876,540 

Basic and diluted net loss per share  $                 (0.15)  $                   (0.01)

Years ended September 30,

STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Total loss and comprehensive loss for the year

Weighted average number of common shares

     Regulatory fees and shareholder  communications

   Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
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Expressed in Canadian Dollars

Notes

Number of 

Common 

shares Amount

Warrant and 

Stock Option

Reserve Deficit Total

Balance Forward at September 30, 2012 28,737,499 11,985,598$        2,129,716$        (8,079,394)$               6,035,920$          

Net Loss and comprehensive loss for the period ended September 30, 2013 (347,521)                    (347,521)              

Shares issued on exploration and evaluation asset 500,000          45,000                 -                     -                            45,000                 

Balance at September 30, 2013 29,237,499 12,030,598 2,129,716 (8,426,915)                 5,733,399            

Net Loss and comprehensive Loss for the year ended September 30, 2014 (4,314,451)                 (4,314,451)           

Shares for Private Placement 9 400,000          100,000               - - 100,000               

Allocate fair value of warrants 9 (24,000)                24,000               - -                       

Shares issued on exploration and evaluation assets 7,9 400,000          32,000                 - - 32,000                 

Balance at September 30, 2014 30,037,499     12,138,598$        2,153,716$        (12,741,366)$             1,550,948$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

Share Capital Reserves
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STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Expressed in Canadian Dollars

2014 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net loss for the year  $     (4,314,452)  $       (347,521)

   Amortization                     697                    893 

   Interest income                   (141)               (2,580)

   Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets           4,015,942               18,998 

   Expenses recovered                       -                 22,519 

Changes in non-cash working capital items:

  Receivables                  1,970               28,451 

  Prepaids                  4,747             (12,995)

  Trade payables and accrued liabilities                67,123           (115,479)

Net cash used in operating activities            (224,115)           (407,714)

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

  Short-term investments redeemed                82,500             342,500 

  Interest received                     141                 2,580 

  Evaluation and exploration assets              (69,664)           (134,000)

Net cash provided by investing activities                12,977             211,080 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from private placement              100,000                       -   

  Advances from related parties                94,000                       -   

Net cash provided by financing activities              194,000                       -   

Increase in cash              (17,138)           (196,634)

Cash, beginning of the year                21,348             217,982 

Cash, end of the year  $              4,210  $           21,348 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Shares issued for exploration and evaluation assets  $            32,000  $           45,000 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures included in accounts 

payable

 $            26,370  $                   -   

Years ended September 30,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash used in operations:



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 
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1. Nature and continuance of operations 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia, Canada, and its principal activity is the exploration of its mineral properties in Canada and 
the United States.  The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under 
the symbol “SQA”. 

The corporate office and principal place of business of the Company is Suite 10 – 8331 River Road, 
Richmond, British Columbia, Canada, V6X 1Y1. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company 
will continue as a going concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and 
will be able to realize assets and discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations.  Different 
bases of measurement may be appropriate if the Company is not expected to continue operations for 
the foreseeable future.  As at September 30, 2014, the Company had not advanced its properties to 
commercial production and is not able to finance day to day activities through operations.  The 
Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon the successful results from its mineral 
property exploration activities and its ability to attain profitable operations and generate funds there 
from and/or raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations.  
Management intends to finance operating costs over the next twelve months with loans from directors 
and companies controlled by directors and/or private placement of common shares.  These 
uncertainties may cast substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation 

The financial statements were authorized for issue on January 28, 2015 by the directors of the 
Company. 

Statement of compliance  

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the 
principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified where applicable.  The financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars unless otherwise noted. 

Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Company and 
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Stina Resources Nevada Ltd., since its inception on 
December 14, 2009. Stina Resources Nevada Ltd. was incorporated in the United States of America. 

All intercompany balances and transactions were eliminated upon consolidation. 

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period.  

 

 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (cont’d) 

Significant Judgments and estimates made in the preparation of the financial statements: 

Going concern assessment: The preparation of these financial statements under the going concern 
assumption requires significant judgment in assessing that future loans or equity financing are likely 
to be available in order to meet obligations coming due. The going concern assumption implies that 
the Company is expected to continue operations for at least the ensuing 12 month period. 
Alternatively, if the going concern assumption was not appropriate then assets of the Company would 
be stated at liquidation values which could result in a material change to asset values.  

Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. Areas requiring a 
significant degree of estimation uncertainty relate to: 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets: The future recoverability of exploration and 
evaluation assets is dependent on a number of factors, including whether the Company intends to 
exploit the related mineral interest itself or whether it can successfully recover the related exploration 
and evaluation asset through sale.  Factors that could impact the future recoverability include 
commodity prices, the amount of estimated reserves and resources, the number of interested 
purchasers, future technological changes which could impact the cost of mining or future legal 
changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations). To the extent that the 
capitalized exploration and evaluation asset is determined not to be recoverable in the future, the net 
asset will be reduced in the period in which this determination is made.  

Stock based compensation: Upon granting stock options, management must select a valuation model 
as well as subjective inputs to that model in estimating the fair value of the options. Judgements are 
made regarding employee retention, expected exercise periods, and future stock volatility in 
estimating the fair value. Changes made to these judgements and estimates could materially affect 
the reported amount of stock based compensation in the period. 

Foreign currency translation 

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiary is determined by the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The financial statements are presented in 
Canadian dollars which is both the Company’s and its subsidiary’s functional currency.  The 
Company presently conducts the majority of its activities in Canada. 

Transactions and balances: 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-
end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported 
at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary 
items are recognized in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in 
which they arise, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the statement of loss and comprehensive income to the extent that gains 
and losses arising on those non-monetary items are also recognized in other comprehensive 
income. Where the non-monetary gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss, the exchange 
component is also recognized in profit or loss. 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 

 9 

 

2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Share-based payments 

The Company operates an employee stock option plan.  Share-based payments to employees are 
measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods.  Share-
based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received or 
the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or 
services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are 
received.  The corresponding amount is recorded to the option reserve.  The fair value of options is 
determined using a Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions. 
The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each 
reporting period such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the 
equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

Share capital and share units 

Common shares and share units issued are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of common shares and units are recognized as a deduction from equity, net 
of any tax effect. 

Proceeds received on the issuance of units, consisting of common shares and share purchase 
warrants are allocated between the common share and warrant component. Historically the fair value 
of the common shares issued in unit private placements has determined to be the more reliably 
measurable component and has been measured at its fair value, as determined by the closing bid 
price on the issuance date.  The remaining proceeds, if any, would be allocated to the attached 
warrants.  Any value attributed to the warrants is recorded as warrant reserve. If the warrants are 
exercised, the related amount is reclassified as share capital. If the warrants expire unexercised, the 
related amount remains in warrant reserve. 

Financial instruments 

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, available-for-sale and financial liabilities. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.  

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are either held for trading 
for the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are 
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a 
group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are 
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss.   

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. These are classified as non-current assets.   

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available-for-sale or are not suitable to be classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments and are subsequently measured at fair 
value.  These are included in current assets. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses.   

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost.   

 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date – the date on which 
the Company commits to purchase the asset.  
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership.  
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and 
prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment 
has arisen. 
 
The Company does not have any derivative financial assets and liabilities. 
 
Impairment of assets  
 
The carrying amount of the Company’s non-current assets (which include equipment and exploration 
and evaluation assets) is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognized in the Statement Comprehensive Loss.  
 
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in 
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer 
exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, 
however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognized in previous years.  
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for 
impairment. 
 

Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.  
 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Flow-Through Shares 

Share capital includes flow-through shares which is a unique Canadian tax incentive pursuant to 
certain provisions of the Canadian Income Tax Act. Proceeds from the issuance of flow-through 
shares are used to fund qualified exploration and evaluation expenditures and the related income tax 
deductions are renounced to the subscribers of the flow-through shares. Any premium paid for flow-
through shares in excess of the market value of the shares without flow-through features, at the time 
of issue, is credited to accrued liabilities.  Upon completion of the qualifying expenditures and 
renouncement by the Company of the tax benefits associated with the related expenditures, a 
deferred tax liability is recognized and the flow-through tax liability will be reversed.  To the extent that 
suitable deferred tax assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred tax liability and 
record a deferred tax recovery. 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
The Company is in the exploration stage in respect to its exploration and evaluation assets.   
 
Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and 
evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These 
direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, geological and geophysical evaluation, 
surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation on property and 
equipment during the exploration phase.  Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation 
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year in which they 
occur. 
 
Where the Company has entered into option agreements for the acquisition of an interest in 
exploration and evaluation assets which provided for periodic payments, such amounts unpaid are 
not recorded as a liability when they are payable entirely at the Company's discretion. Although the 
Company has taken steps to verify title to the exploration and evaluation assets in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. The exploration and evaluation 
assets may be subject to prior undetected agreements or transfers and title may be affected by such 
defects. 
 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, 
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired.  As a 
result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated recoveries, are 
written-off to the Statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment at each reporting date. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been 
determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as “mine 
development cost”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment before the assets 
are transferred to development properties. 
 
Any incidental revenue earned in connection with exploration activities is applied as a reduction to 
capitalized exploration costs.  Any operational income earned in connection with exploration activities 
is recognized in the Statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 
 
 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Restoration and environmental obligations 

The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations 
associated with the retirement of long-term assets, when those obligations result from the acquisition, 
construction, development or normal operation of the assets. The net present value of future 
restoration cost estimates arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work 
is capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets along with a corresponding increase in the 
restoration provision in the period incurred. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time 
value of money are used to calculate the net present value. The restoration asset will be depreciated 
on the same basis as other mining assets. 

The Company’s estimates of restoration costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory 
requirements, discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future 
expenditures. These changes are recorded directly to exploration and evaluation assets with a 
corresponding entry to the restoration provision. The Company’s estimates are reviewed annually for 
changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and changes in estimates. 

Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of reclamation 
costs, are charged to profit or loss for the period. 

The net present value of restoration costs arising from subsequent site damage that is incurred on an 
ongoing basis during production are charged to profit or loss in the period. 

The costs of restoration projects that were included in the provision are recorded against the 
provision as incurred. The costs to prevent and control environmental impacts at specific properties 
are capitalized in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation 
assets. 

Equipment 

Equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of income and 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognized in profit or loss in the period. 

 Depreciation is calculated on the declining balance basis at the following annual rates: 
 
  Computer equipment  30%  
  Office equipment  25% 
 
One-half the normal rate is recorded in the year of acquisition. 
 

3. New accounting pronouncements 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been adopted by the Company as of the 
beginning of the current fiscal period.  The adoption of the following standards during the year did 
not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements. 
 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee 
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, 
consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies  



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
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3. New accounting pronouncements (cont’d) 

 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 Consolidation - 
Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.   
 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint 
arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting whereas for a joint operation the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, 
liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice 
to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes 
IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-monetary 
Contributions by Venturers.   
 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for 
interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off 
balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces 
significant additional disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an 
entity’s interests in other entities.  
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement - IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value 
measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard 
clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes 
disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and 
disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and 
in many cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures.  
 
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine - The Interpretation clarifies 
when production stripping should lead to the recognition of an asset and how that asset should be 
measured, both initially and in subsequent periods.  
 
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements - IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly 
controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements. 
 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - IAS 28 has been amended to include joint 
ventures in its scope and to address the changes in IFRS 10 – 13.  
 
Amendments to other standards - In addition, there have been other amendments to existing 
standards. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the new and 
amended standards will have on its financial statements or whether to early adopt any of the new 
requirements. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – IFRS 9 is a partial replacement of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement”.  This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2015. 
 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - IAS 32 amendment provides clarification on the 
application of offsetting rules. The standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014. 
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4. Short term investments  

 

 September 30,

2014

September 30,

 2013

Short-term investments  $             -  $  82,500

 
 

Short-term investments include money market based investments and guaranteed investment 
certificates where initial maturity is more than ninety days. These investments may be redeemed at 
the Company’s option without significant penalty.  The carrying value approximates the fair value of 
these investments.  
 

5. Receivables 

 September 30,

2014

September 30,

2013

Goods and Services and harmonized sales tax receivables   $       366   $       2,336

 

6. Equipment 

 

Computer Office

Equipment Equipment Total

Cost:

At September 30,  2012,  2013, and 

September 30, 2014  $                765  $            4,758  $            5,523 

Depreciation:

At September 30, 2012                    205                1,255                1,460 

Charge for the year                   105                  788                   893 

At September 30, 2013                    310                2,043                2,353 

Charge for the year                     85                  611                   696 

At September 30, 2014                    395                2,654                3,049 

Net book value:

At September 30, 2013                    455                2,715                3,170 

At September 30, 2014  $                370  $            2,104  $            2,474 
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 

Year ended Year ended

September 30, September 30, 

2014 2013

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nevada, USA

Acquisition costs:

   Balance, beginning of year 897,722$          897,722$          

     Staking and claim costs -                   -                   

  Balance, end of year 897,722            897,722            

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of year 825,972            812,548            

     Geological consulting 2,542                2,726                

     Claim fees and staking 6,128                5,573                

     Storage 5,453                5,125                

  Balance, end of year 840,095            825,972            

  Total Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 1,737,817$       1,723,694$       

Kodiak Property, Yukon, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of year 647,175$          582,175$          

     Cash payment -                   37,500              

     250,000 shares at  $0.11 -                   27,500              

  Balance, end of year 647,175            647,175            

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of year 379,537            379,337            

      Geological consulting -                   200                   

  Balance, end of year 379,537            379,537            

Impairment (1,026,712)       -                   

  Total Kodiak Property -$                     1,026,712$       

(continues)
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September 30, September 30, 

2014 2013

Dime Property, Yukon, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of year 827,150$          759,650$          

     Cash payment -                   50,000              

     250,000 shares at $0.07 -                   17,500              

     300,000 shares at $0.19 -                   -                   

  Balance, end of year 827,150            827,150            

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of year 2,106,539         2,092,660         

   Assaying -                   13,879              

    Geological consulting 8,451                -                   

    Geomagnetic 26,678              -                   

    Helicopter rentals 10,793              -                   

    Camp expense 9,619                -                   

  Balance, end of year 2,162,080         2,106,539         

Impairment (2,989,230)       -                   

  Total Dime Property -$                 2,933,689$       

KC Property, British Columbia, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of year -$                 -$                 

     400,000 shares at $0.08 32,000              -                   

  Balance, end of year 32,000$            -$                 

Bandit Creek Property, British Columbia, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of year 1$                     1$                     

  Balance, end of year 1                       1                       

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of year -                   17,294              

    Drilling -                   (4,466)              

    Geological consulting -                   6,170                

  Balance, end of year -                   18,998              

Impairment -                   (18,998)            

  Total Bandit Creek Property 1$                     1$                     

Total Exploration and Evaluation Assets 1,769,818$       5,684,096$       
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

The following is a description of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets and the related 
spending commitments: 

a) Bisoni MacKay Property, Nevada 
 

On April 25, 2005, Company entered into a property option agreement with Vanadium 
International Co. (“Vanadium”) to purchase a 50% undivided interest in 19 mining claims (the 
Bisoni MacKay Vanadium Property), located in Nye County, Nevada, USA. The optioned claims 
are subject to a 2.5% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR). 
 
The Company earned its 50% interest, by making a series of cash payments totaling $250,000 
($175,000 of which was settled for 175,000 shares), issuing 1,250,000 shares to Vanadium, as 
well as funding $700,000 of exploration activities. 
 
During 2008, the Company exercised a purchase option, included in the original property option 
agreement, to acquire the remaining 50% interest in the mining claims, for a 100% total interest, 
subject to the 2.5% NSR. Consideration under the purchase option included a US$2,000,000 
payment to the vendor.  The US$2,000,000 option payment was satisfied in a share settlement 
through the issuance of 1,995,600 common shares with a fair value of $0.7982 per share. 
 
The Company has staked an additional 18 claims in the area which are contiguous with the 
existing claims. 
 
During 2008, the Company posted a reclamation bond with the Nevada state government should 
the Company not complete any required site reclamation or environmental remediation. Effective 
October 1, 2008, the Company recorded an asset retirement obligation of $21,768 relating to the 
Company’s activities on the property. The site reclamation is expected to occur at the end of the 
Phase II drill program. 
 
Managements’ review for indications of impairment in fiscal 2012 primarily considered that the 
acquisition costs of this property appeared non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition 
costs were primarily based on 3,245,000 common shares that were issued at an average price of 
$0.78 per share. During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,962,257 
to decrease the carrying value of the property based on market indicators.  
 

b)  Kodiak Property, Yukon 
 

On June 18, 2009, the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration 
Inc. (“REI”) pursuant to which REI has agreed to grant the Company an option to purchase a 
100% beneficial interest in 152 mining claims located in the Dawson Mining District, Yukon 
Territory, subject to REI retaining a 2% NSR. 
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments, share issuances and 
expenditures: 
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

b)  Kodiak Property, Yukon (cont’d) 
 
Cash payments: 
 

-  $75,000 within five days of TSX-V approval (paid) 
-  $50,000 on or before June 15, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 15, 2011 (paid) 
-  $75,000 on or before June 15, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 (paid) 
-  $75,000 on or before June 15, 2013, reduced to $50,000 and extended to June 15, 

2014 (unpaid) 
-  $50,000 on or before June 15, 2015 
 

Shares: 
 

-  250,000 common shares of the Company within five days of TSX-V approval (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2010 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2011 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2012 (issued) 
-  250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2013 (issued) 

 
Exploration Expenditures: 
 

-  $100,000 on or before November 18, 2009 (incurred) 
-  $200,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred)  
-  $300,000 on or before November 18, 2011 (reduced to $100,000 and extended to on or 

before November 18, 2014; $100,000 on or before November 18, 2015, and $100,000 
on or before November 18, 2016) 

 
The Company has the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of $2,000,000.  On 
January 9, 2015, the Company gave notice of termination of the option agreement to the vendor 
and has recognized an impairment of $1,026,712 in fiscal 2014. 
 

c) Dime Property, Yukon 
 
On July 23, 2009, the Company entered into a property option agreement with REI to earn a 
100% interest in 308 claims in the Dawson Mining District, Yukon Territory, subject to a 2% NSR 
in favor of the optionor.  
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments and expenditures: 
 

Cash payments: 
 

-  $125,000 within fifteen days of TSX-V approval (paid) 
-  $125,000 on or before June 26, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2011 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 (paid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before December 31, 2013 (paid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before March 31, 2014 (unpaid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before July 31, 2014 (unpaid) 
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

c) Dime Property, Yukon 

Shares: 

- 200,000 common shares of the Company within five days of TSX-V approval (issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2010 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2011 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2012 (issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2013 (issued) 

Exploration Expenditures: 

-  in the amount of $100,000 on or before November 15, 2009 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $250,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $500,000 on or before November 15, 2011 (incurred) 
-  a cumulative amount of $600,000 on or before November 15, 2012 (incurred) 

The Company has the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of $2,000,000. 

On May 7, 2014, the Company decided not to proceed with its option to earn its interest in the 
property has recorded an impairment of $2,989,230 during the period. 

 

d) KC Property, British Columbia 

On June 27, 2014, the Company entered into an option agreement with Kevin Cohen to earn 
100% interest in the 405 hectare KC property located in the Kitimat-Stikine district of British 
Columbia, approximately 30 kilometres southeast of the city of Stewart.  

The agreement calls for the issuance of 400,000 common shares (issued) and a $5,000 cash 
payment (deferred). 

 

8. Trade payables and accrued liabilities 

September 30,
2014

September 30,
2013

Trade payables $    73,164 $       9,862
Accrued liabilities 24,000  20,180

$     97,164 $     30,042

 

9. Share capital 

Authorized share capital 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
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9. Share capital (cont’d) 

Issued share capital 

Number of Amount  Number of Amount  

   Shares         $          Shares         $       

     

Balance, beginning of year 29,237,499       12,030,598       28,737,499         11,985,598       

Issued during the year:

For cash, private placement 

         - at $0.25 per unit i) 400,000            100,000            -                      -                   

Less value allocated to warrants (24,000)            -                      

For Mineral Property:

         - at $0.08 per share ii) 400,000            32,000              -                      -                   

         - at $0.11 per share iii) -                   -                   250,000              27,500              

         - at $0.07 per share iv) -                   -                   250,000              17,500              

Balance, end of year 30,037,499       12,138,598       29,237,499         12,030,598       

Year ended 

September 30, 2013

Year ended 

September 30, 2014

 

i) On January 30, 2014, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 400,000 
units at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross proceeds of $100,000.  Each unit consisted of one 
common share and one two year non-transferable share purchase warrant.  Each warrant will 
entitle the holder to purchase one additional common share of the Company for a period of two 
years at a price of $0.50 per share on until January 30, 2016. The Company estimated the fair 
value of the common shares issued as part of these units to be $76,000.  Accordingly, in applying 
the residual value method, the Company assigned a value of $24,000 to the warrant component 
of this instrument. 
 

ii) On August 28, 2014, the Company issued 400,000 common shares with a fair value of $0.08 per 
share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted price at the 
time of the transaction. 
 

iii)  On June 15, 2013, the Company issued 250,000 common shares, with a fair value of $0.11 per 
share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted price at the 
time of the transaction. 
 

iv) On June 16, 2013, the Company issued 250,000 common shares, with a fair value of $0.07 per 
share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted price at the 
time of the transaction. 

 
Stock options 
 
The Company has adopted an incentive stock option plan, which provides that the Board of Directors 
of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with the TSX-V 
requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees and technical consultants to the Company, non-
transferable stock options to purchase common shares, provided that the number of common shares 
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9. Share capital (cont’d) 

 
Stock options (cont’d) 
 
reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares.  
Such options will be exercisable for a period of up to 5 years from the date of grant.  In connection 
with the foregoing, the number of common shares reserved for issuance to any one optionee will not 
exceed five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding common shares and the number of common 
shares reserved for issuance to all technical consultants will not exceed two percent (2%) of the 
issued and outstanding common shares.  Options may be exercised no later than 90 days following 
cessation of the optionee’s position with the Company or 30 days following cessation of an optionee 
conducting investor relations activities. 
 
The changes in options during the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows: 
 

 September 30, 2014 September 30, 2013 

 

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

 

Options outstanding, 
beginning of year 2,250,000  $ 0.31  2,250,000  $ 0.31  
Options expired  - - -  
Options granted - - - -  

Options outstanding, 
end of year  2,250,000  $ 0.31  2,250,000  $ 0.31  

Options exercisable, 
end of year   2,250,000  $ 0.31  2,250,000  $ 0.31  

 
Details of options outstanding as at September 30, 2014 are as follows: 
 

 Weighted average 
  exercise price 

 Weighted average 
 contractual life 

 Number of options 
  outstanding 

 $0.30  0.09 years  375,000 
 $0.46  0.85 years  825,000 
 $0.33  1.46 years  250,000 
 $0.15  2.76 years  800,000 

 $0.31  1.47 years  2,250,000 

 
Warrants 

September 30, September 30,

2013 Issued (Expired) (Exercised) 2014 Terms

2,100,000         -           -             -              2,100,000       $.45 expiring on September 19, 2015

-                    400,000   -             -              400,000          $.50 expiring on January 30, 2016

2,100,000         400,000   -             -              2,500,000       
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9. Share capital (cont’d) 

 
Warrants (cont’d) 
 

September 30, September 30,

2012 Issued (Expired) (Exercised) 2013 Terms

729,286            -           (729,286)    -              -                  $.85 expiring on October 19, 2012

2,100,000         -           -             -              2,100,000       $.45 expiring on September 19, 2015

2,829,286         -           (729,286)    -              2,100,000       

 
10. Reserves 

 
The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s balance sheet is composed of the value of stock 
option grants and share purchase warrants issued prior to exercise at which time the corresponding 
amount will be transferred to share capital.  The original value recorded for options and warrants that 
expire unexercised remains in the reserve balance. 
 

11. Related party transactions 
 

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties: 
 

a) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $66,500 (2013 - $73,500) with a 
company owned by a director for consulting services.   

 
b) The Company incurred remuneration in the amount of $60,500 (2013 - $72,000) with a senior 

officer and director. 
 
c) The Company incurred consulting fees  in the amount of $28,100 (2013 - $44,000) with a director. 

 
d) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $2,000 (2013 - $2,000) with directors. 

 
e) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $6,000 (2013 - $1,500) with a senior 

officer and director. 
 

f) At September 30, 2014, a director and senior officer advanced $94,000 (2013 - $nil) to the 
Company. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no specific terms of 
repayment.   
 

g) At September 30, 2014, the Company owes a director $1,600 (2013 - $nil) for consulting fees.  
The Company also owes $2,000 (2013 - $nil) to a senior officer and director for consulting fees. 
The Company also owes $48,356 to a company owned by a shareholder and former director. 

 
Key management personnel compensation 

``

2014 2013

Short-term employee benefits - consulting fees 102,600$          77,000$                

Short-term employee benefits – salaries and wages 60,500              116,000                

163,100$         193,000$              

Years ended September 30,
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12. Financial risk management 

 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  
 
Credit Risk  
 
The Company is exposed to credit risk by holding cash and short-term investments. Holding the cash 
and short-term investments in large Canadian financial institutions minimizes this risk. The Company 
has minimal accounts receivable exposure, and its various refundable credits are due from Canadian 
governments. 
 
Currency Risk  
 
The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is moderate foreign exchange risk 
to the Company as one of its mineral property interests is located in Nevada, USA.  Management 
monitors its foreign currency balances and makes adjustments based on anticipated need for 
currencies. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to reduce its foreign currency 
risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash 
balances at variable rates. The fair value of the Company’s cash accounts is relatively unaffected by 
changes in short term interest rates. The income earned on certain bank accounts is subject to the 
movements in interest rates.  Currently, this risk will have an immaterial effect on operations. 
 
Price Risk 
 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk).  
The Company is at risk to changes in commodity prices which may affect financing options available 
to the Company. 
 
Liquidity Risk  
 
Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at 
any point in time. The Company manages this risk by careful management of its working capital. 
 
Capital Management 
 
The Company is engaged in the mineral exploration field and manages related industry risk issues 
directly.  The Company is potentially at risk for environmental issues and fluctuations in commodity 
 
based market prices associated with resource property interests.  Management is of the opinion that 
the Company addresses environmental risk and compliance in accordance with industry standards 
and specific project environmental requirements. 
 
The Company includes cash and equity in the definition of capital.  Equity is comprised of issued 
common shares and deficit. 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust its 
capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, purchase shares for cancellation pursuant to 
normal course issuer bids or make special distributions to shareholders. The Company is not subject 
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12. Financial risk management (cont’d) 

 
to any externally imposed capital requirements and does not presently utilize any quantitative 
measures to monitor its capital.  
 
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the period.  The 
Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Classification of financial instruments 
 
The Company has designated its cash and short-term investments as held-for-trading, which is 
measured at fair value. Amounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables, which are 
measured at amortized cost.  Accounts payable and amounts due to related parties are classified as 
other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. 
 
Fair value 
 
The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximates the carrying amount. 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 
 

• Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 
either directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

•  
The fair value of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis include cash and short-term 
investments which are based on Level 1 inputs as they are measured with reference to identical 
demand instruments at BMO.  Management estimates that the recorded values of all accounts 
receivable, accounts payable, and amounts due to and from related parties approximate their current 
fair values because of their nature and anticipated settlement dates (Level 3). 
 

13. Income Taxes 

 The actual income tax provision differs from the expected amounts calculated by applying the Canadian 
combined federal and provincial corporate income tax rates to the Company’s loss before income taxes.  
The components of these differences are estimated as follows: 

 2014 2013 
 $ $ 

  
Loss before income taxes (4,314,450)  (347,521) 
Corporate tax rate 26.00%  25.00% 

  
Expected tax recovery at statutory rates (1,121,800)  (86,900) 
Decrease (increase) resulting from:    
      Changes in estimated corporate tax rates 0  (37,600)
      Expiry of non-capital losses carried forward 21,900 - 
      Non deductable stock compensation and other 2,600   (100) 
      Current and prior tax attributes not recognized (recognized) 1,097,300  124,600 

   
Deferred income tax provision (recovery) -  - 
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13. Income Taxes (cont’d) 

 
The Company’s tax-effected deferred income tax assets and liabilities are estimated as follows  

 
 2014 2013 

 $ $ 

 26.00% 26.00% 
Potential deferred income tax assets (liabilities) 
     Non-capital losses available 839,900 767,600 
     Net book value of exploration and evaluation assets 
      Less than tax bases 1,121,400 

 
80,900 

     CEC pool 9,000 9,000 
     Share issue costs and other 8,200 23,700 
     Capital losses available 1,500 1,500 

 
 1,980,000 882,700 
     Net book value of exploration and evaluation assets 
      in excess of tax bases - 

 
- 

 
Net potential deferred income tax assets 1,980,000 882,700 
Valuation allowance (1,980,000) (882,700)

   
Net deferred income tax assets - -

 
 

Management has determined that there is insufficient likelihood of recovery to record a deferred 
benefit arising from potential tax assets.  Accordingly a 100% valuation allowance has been applied. 
 
At September 30, 2014, the Company had net operating losses of $3,230,400, inclusive of those 
inherited from the discontinued operations of Northern Seas Products Ltd., for income tax purposes 
which subject to restrictions may be available to reduce future taxable income.  If not utilized, the 
losses expire through 2034 as follows: 
 

 
 $

2034
2033

357,400
413,500

2032 480,100
2031 432,700
2030 405,900
2029 314,600
2028 225,700
2027 182,300
2026 219,300
2015 198,900

3,230,400 

 
 
14. Subsequent event 

 
On November 3, 2014, a total of 375,000 options exercisable at $0.30 per share expired 
unexercised.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Stina Resources Ltd., 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Stina Resources Ltd., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2013, the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended September 30, 
2013 and 2012, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Stina Resources Ltd. as at September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the years ended September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012 in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which describes 
matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

            
January 27, 2014 DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 
Vancouver, Canada CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
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STINA RESOURCES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Expressed in Canadian dollars

September 30, September 30,

Notes 2013 2012

ASSETS
Current assets
      Cash  $              21,348  $          217,982 
      Short term investments 4                  82,500              425,000 
      Receivables 5                    2,336                37,817 
      Prepaids                  18,347                  5,353 

               124,531              686,152 

Non-current assets

Reclamation bond 7                  21,768                21,768 

Equipment 6                    3,170                  4,063 

Exploration and evaluation assets 7             5,684,096           5,524,093 

 $         5,833,565  $       6,236,076 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities

     Trade payables and accrued liabilities 8  $              30,042  $          130,032 

     Restoration obligation 7                  21,768                21,768 

     Due to related parties 11                  48,356                48,356 

               100,166              200,156 

Shareholders' equity
  Share capital  9, 13           12,030,598         11,985,598 
  Reserves 10 2,129,716            2,129,716          
  Deficit (8,426,915)          (8,079,394)         

            5,733,399           6,035,920 

 $         5,833,565  $       6,236,076 

Commitments (Note 7)
Subsequent events (Note 14)

"Jim Wall"    Director
Jim Wall Edward Gresko

"Edward Gresko"   

Nature of operations and going concern  (Note 1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Expressed in Canadian dollars

Notes 2013 2012

Expenses

     Accounting, audit and legal  $           61,755 $           90,821 

     Amortization                    893                1,147 

     Consulting fees 11               78,800            134,368 

     Exchange loss (gain)                    689                   497 

     Office and sundry               39,832              43,630 
                5,949                9,360 

     Rent               11,000              13,000 
     Salaries and benefits 11             128,736              75,902 
     Share-based payments 11                       -              162,025 
     Transfer agent                 8,968                6,633 
     Travel and promotion               16,720              31,864 
Total expenses            (353,342)            (569,247)

Other items

   Part XII.6 interest expense                   (280)                      - 
              22,519                      - 

7              (18,998)         (2,231,043)
   Interest income                 2,580                8,872 

                5,821         (2,222,171)

Net loss for the year            (347,521)         (2,791,418)
           (347,521)         (2,791,418)

outstanding (basic and diluted)           28,876,540           26,267,007 

Basic and diluted net loss per share  $              (0.01)  $              (0.11)

Years ended September 30,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Total loss and comprehensive loss for the year

Weighted average number of common shares

     Regulatory fees and shareholder  communications

   Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

   Recovery of expenses
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Expressed in Canadian Dollars

Notes

Number of 
Common 
shares Amount

Warrant and 
Stock Option

Reserve Deficit Total

Balance Forward at September 30, 2011 26,037,499 11,587,648$        1,967,691$        (5,287,976)$               8,267,363$          

Loss and comprehensive Loss for the Period (2,791,418)                 (2,791,418)           

Shares for Private Placement 9 2,100,000       315,000               

Shares issued to acquire exploration and evaluation asset 7,9 600,000          105,000               -                     -                            105,000               

Shares for Private Placement -                  -                       - - -                       

Share issue costs - (22,050)                - - (22,050)                

Allocate Fair Value of Warrants -                  -                       -                     -                            -                       

Shares for Mineral Properties -                  -                       -                     -                            -                       

Stock Option Grant 9     -                  -                       162,025             -                            162,025               

Balance at September 30, 2012 28,737,499     11,985,598          2,129,716          (8,079,394)                 6,035,920            

Loss and comprehensive Loss for the year ended September 30, 2013 (347,521)                    (347,521)              

Shares issued to acquire exploration and evaluation asset - -                       

Shares for exploration and evaluation asset 7,9 500,000          45,000                 - - 45,000                 

Balance at September 30, 2013 29,237,499     12,030,598$        2,129,716$        (8,426,915)$               5,733,399$          

STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

Share Capital Reserves
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STINA RESOURCES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Expressed in Canadian Dollars

2013 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net loss for the year  $       (347,521)  $    (2,791,418)

   Amortization                   893                1,147 
   Interest income               (2,580)               (8,872)
   Share-based payment                      -              162,025 

   Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets              18,998         2,231,043 
   Recovery of expenses              22,519                      -   
Changes in non-cash working capital items:
  Receivables              28,451              28,298 
  Prepaids             (12,995)                      -   
  Trade payables and accrued liabilities           (115,479)               (3,711)

Net cash used in operating activities           (407,714)           (381,488)

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

  Short-term investments redeemed            342,500            800,000 
  Interest received                2,580                8,872 
  Evaluation and exploration assets, net of recoveries           (134,000)           (516,747)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities            211,080            292,125 

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
  Issuance of common shares, net of issue costs                      -              292,950 
  Advances to related parties                      -               (10,124)
Net cash provided by financing activities                      -              282,826 

Increase (Decrease) in cash           (196,634)            193,463 

Cash, beginning of the year            217,982              24,519 

Cash, end of the year  $          21,348  $        217,982 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Shares issued for exploration and evaluation assets  $          45,000  $                  -   
Exploration and evaluation expenditures included in accounts 
payable

 $                  -    $            4,686 

Years ended September 30,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash used in operations:



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 

  7 

 

1. Nature and continuance of operations 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia, Canada, and its principal activity is the exploration of its mineral properties in Canada and 
the United States.  The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under 
the symbol “SQA”. 

The corporate office and principal place of business of the Company is 717 – 165 LaRose Avenue, 
Etobicoke, Ontario, Canada, M9P 3S9. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company 
will continue as a going concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and 
will be able to realize assets and discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations.  Different 
bases of measurement may be appropriate if the Company is not expected to continue operations for 
the foreseeable future.  As at September 30, 2013, the Company had not advanced its properties to 
commercial production and is not able to finance day to day activities through operations.  The 
Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon the successful results from its mineral 
property exploration activities and its ability to attain profitable operations and generate funds there 
from and/or raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations.  
Management intends to finance operating costs over the next twelve months with loans from directors 
and companies controlled by directors and/or private placement of common shares.  These 
uncertainties may cast substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation 

The financial statements were authorized for issue on January 27, 2014 by the directors of the 
Company. 

Statement of compliance  

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the 
principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified where applicable.  The financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars unless otherwise noted. 

Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Company and 
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Stina Resources Nevada Ltd., since its inception on 
December 14, 2009. Stina Resources Nevada Ltd. was incorporated in the United States of America. 

All intercompany balances and transactions were eliminated upon consolidation. 

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period.  
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (cont’d) 

Significant Judgments and estimates made in the preparation of the financial statements: 

Going concern assessment: The preparation of these financial statements under the going concern 
assumption requires significant judgment in assessing that future loans or equity financing are likely 
to be available in order to meet obligations coming due. The going concern assumption implies that 
the Company is expected to continue operations for at least the ensuing 12 month period. 
Alternatively, if the going concern assumption was not appropriate then assets of the Company would 
be stated at liquidation values which could result in a material change to asset values.  

Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. Areas requiring a 
significant degree of estimation uncertainty relate to: 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets: The future recoverability of exploration and 
evaluation assets is dependent on a number of factors, including whether the Company intends to 
exploit the related mineral interest itself or whether it can successfully recover the related exploration 
and evaluation asset through sale.  Factors that could impact the future recoverability include 
commodity prices, the amount of estimated reserves and resources, the number of interested 
purchasers, future technological changes which could impact the cost of mining or future legal 
changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations). To the extent that the 
capitalized exploration and evaluation asset is determined not to be recoverable in the future, the net 
asset will be reduced in the period in which this determination is made.  

Stock based compensation: Upon granting stock options, management must select a valuation model 
as well as subjective inputs to that model in estimating the fair value of the options. Judgements are 
made regarding employee retention, expected exercise periods, and future stock volatility in 
estimating the fair value. Changes made to these judgements and estimates could materially affect 
the reported amount of stock based compensation in the period. 

Foreign currency translation 

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiary is determined by the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The financial statements are presented in 
Canadian dollars which is both the Company’s and its subsidiary’s functional currency.  The 
Company presently conducts the majority of its activities in Canada. 

Transactions and balances: 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-
end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported 
at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary items 
are recognized in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the statement of loss and comprehensive income to the extent that gains 
and losses arising on those non-monetary items are also recognized in other comprehensive income. 
Where the non-monetary gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss, the exchange component is also 
recognized in profit or loss. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Share-based payments 

The Company operates an employee stock option plan.  Share-based payments to employees are 
measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods.  Share-
based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received or 
the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or 
services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are 
received.  The corresponding amount is recorded to the option reserve.  The fair value of options is 
determined using a Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions. 
The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each 
reporting period such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the equity 
instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

Share capital and share units 

Common shares and share units issued are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of common shares and units are recognized as a deduction from equity, net 
of any tax effect. 

Proceeds received on the issuance of units, consisting of common shares and share purchase 
warrants are allocated between the common share and warrant component. Historically the fair value 
of the common shares issued in unit private placements has determined to be the more reliably 
measurable component and has been measured at its fair value, as determined by the closing bid 
price on the issuance date.  The remaining proceeds, if any, would be allocated to the attached 
warrants.  Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as warrant reserve. If the warrants are 
exercised, the related amount is reclassified as share capital. If the warrants expire unexercised, the 
related amount remains in warrant reserve. 

Financial instruments 

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, available-for-sale and financial liabilities. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.  

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are either held for trading 
for the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are 
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a 
group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are 
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss.   

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. These are classified as non-current assets.   

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-
for-sale or are not suitable to be classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables or held-to-maturity investments and are subsequently measured at fair value.  These 
are included in current assets. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive 
income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses.   

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost.   
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date – the date on which 
the Company commits to purchase the asset.  
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership.  
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and 
prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment 
has arisen. 
 
The Company does not have any derivative financial assets and liabilities. 
 
Impairment of assets  
 
The carrying amount of the Company’s non-current assets (which include equipment and exploration 
and evaluation assets) is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognized in the Statement of loss and comprehensive loss.  
 
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in 
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer 
exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, 
however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognized in previous years.  
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for 
impairment. 
 
Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.  
 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 

  11 

 

2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Flow-Through Shares 

Share capital includes flow-through shares which is a unique Canadian tax incentive pursuant to 
certain provisions of the Canadian Income Tax Act. Proceeds from the issuance of flow-through 
shares are used to fund qualified exploration and evaluation expenditures and the related income tax 
deductions are renounced to the subscribers of the flow-through shares. Any premium paid for flow-
through shares in excess of the market value of the shares without flow-through features, at the time 
of issue, is credited to accrued liabilities.  Upon completion of the qualifying expenditures and 
renouncement by the Company of the tax benefits associated with the related expenditures, a 
deferred tax liability is recognized and the flow-through tax liability will be reversed.  To the extent that 
suitable deferred tax assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred tax liability and 
record a deferred tax recovery. 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
The Company is in the exploration stage in respect to its exploration and evaluation assets.   
 
Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and 
evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These 
direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, geological and geophysical evaluation, 
surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation on property and 
equipment during the exploration phase.  Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation 
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year in which they 
occur. 
 
Where the Company has entered into option agreements for the acquisition of an interest in 
exploration and evaluation assets which provided for periodic payments, such amounts unpaid are 
not recorded as a liability when they are payable entirely at the Company's discretion. Although the 
Company has taken steps to verify title to the exploration and evaluation assets in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. The exploration and evaluation 
assets may be subject to prior undetected agreements or transfers and title may be affected by such 
defects. 
 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, 
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired.  As a 
result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated recoveries, are 
written-off to the Statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment at each reporting date. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been 
determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as “mine 
development cost”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment before the assets 
are transferred to development properties. 
 
Any incidental revenue earned in connection with exploration activities is applied as a reduction to 
capitalized exploration costs.  Any operational income earned in connection with exploration activities 
is recognized in the Statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Restoration and environmental obligations 

The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations 
associated with the retirement of long-term assets, when those obligations result from the acquisition, 
construction, development or normal operation of the assets. The net present value of future 
restoration cost estimates arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work 
is capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets along with a corresponding increase in the 
restoration provision in the period incurred. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time 
value of money are used to calculate the net present value. The restoration asset will be depreciated 
on the same basis as other mining assets. 

 The Company’s estimates of restoration costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory 
requirements, discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future 
expenditures. These changes are recorded directly to mining assets with a corresponding entry to the 
restoration provision. The Company’s estimates are reviewed annually for changes in regulatory 
requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and changes in estimates. 

Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of reclamation 
costs, are charged to profit or loss for the period. 

The net present value of restoration costs arising from subsequent site damage that is incurred on an 
ongoing basis during production are charged to profit or loss in the period. 

The costs of restoration projects that were included in the provision are recorded against the 
provision as incurred. The costs to prevent and control environmental impacts at specific properties 
are capitalized in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation 
assets. 

Equipment 

Equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of income and 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognized in profit or loss in the period. 

 Depreciation is calculated on the declining balance basis at the following annual rates: 
 
  Computer equipment  30%  
  Office equipment  25% 
 
One-half the normal rate is recorded in the year of acquisition. 
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3.  Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

The Company has not early adopted these revised standards and is currently assessing the impact 
that these standards will have on the financial statements. Each of the new standards, IFRS 10 to 13 
and the amendments to other standards, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect that the new and amended 
standards will have on its financial statements and has not elected to early adopt any of the new 
requirements. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – IFRS 9 is a partial replacement of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement”.  This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2015. 
 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee 
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, 
consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 Consolidation - 
Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.  This 
new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint 
arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting whereas for a joint operation the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, 
liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice 
to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes 
IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-monetary 
Contributions by Venturers.  This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013. 
 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for 
interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off 
balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces 
significant additional disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an 
entity’s interests in other entities. This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2013. 
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement - IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value 
measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard 
clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes 
disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and 
disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and 
in many cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures.  This new 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine - The Interpretation clarifies 
when production stripping should lead to the recognition of an asset and how that asset should be 
measured, both initially and in subsequent periods.  The standard will be effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013.   
 
Amendments to other standards - In addition, there have been other amendments to existing 
standards. 
 
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements - IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly 
controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements.  The standard will be 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
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3. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d) 

 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - IAS 28 has been amended to include joint 
ventures in its scope and to address the changes in IFRS 10 – 13.  The standard will be effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - IAS 32 amendment provides clarification on the 
application of offsetting rules. The standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014. 
 

4. Short term investments  
 
 September  30, 

2013 
September 30,

 2012
Short-term investments  $  82,500  $  425,000

 
Short-term investments include money market based investments and guaranteed investment 
certificates where initial maturity is more than ninety days. These investments may be redeemed at 
the Company’s option without significant penalty. As of September 30, 2013 these investments 
bear interest at the Bank of Montreal (BMO) Prime rate less 0.95%. The carrying value 
approximates the fair value of these investments.  
 

5. Receivables 

 September 30, 
2013 

September 30,
 2012

Goods and Services and harmonized sales tax receivables $       2,336  $   24,950
Other receivables - 12,867

   $       2,336 $   37,817

 

6. Equipment 

Computer Office
Equipment Equipment Total

Cost:
At September 30, 2011, 2012, and 2013  $                765  $            4,758  $            5,523 

Depreciation:
At September 30, 2011                      75                   238                   313 
Charge for the period                   130               1,017                1,147 
Eliminated on disposal  -  - - 

At September 30, 2012                    205                1,255                1,460 
Charge for the period                   105                  788                   893 
Eliminated on disposal -  - - 
At September 30, 2013                    310                2,043                2,353 

Net book value:
At September 30, 2012                    560                3,503                4,063 

At September 30, 2013  $                455  $            2,715  $            3,170 
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2013 2012

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nevada, USA
Acquisition costs:
   Balance, beginning of year 897,722$          2,859,526$       

     Staking and claim costs -                   453                   
  Balance, end of year 897,722            2,859,979         

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 812,548            793,133            
     Geological consulting 2,726                10,359              
     Claim fees and staking 5,573                3,026                
     Storage 5,125                6,030                
  Balance, end of year 825,972            812,548            

Impairment -                   (1,962,257)       
  Total Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 1,723,694$       1,710,270$       

Kodiak Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 582,175$          512,675$          
     Cash payment 37,500              37,500              
     250,000 shares at  $0.11 27,500              -                   
     200,000 shares at  $0.16 -                   32,000              
  Balance, end of year 647,175            582,175            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 379,337            379,149            
      Geological consulting 200                   188                   
  Balance, end of year 379,537            379,337            

  Total Kodiak Property 1,026,712$       961,512$          

(continues)
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2013 2012
Dime Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 759,650$          648,000$          
     Cash payment 50,000              54,650              

     250,000 shares at $0.07 17,500              -                   
     300,000 shares at $0.19 -                   57,000              
  Balance, end of year 827,150            759,650            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 2,092,660         1,940,906         
   Assaying 13,879              66,279              

    Camp accommodation -                   16,097              

    Geological consulting -                   15,112              
    Helicopter rentals -                   6,890                
    Soil sampling -                   15,001              
    Salaries -                   32,375              
  Balance, end of year 2,106,539         2,092,660         

  Total Dime Property 2,933,689         2,852,310         

Bandit Creek Property, British Columbia, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 1                       -                   
     Cash payment -                   -                   
     100,000 shares at $0.10 -                   16,000              
  Balance, end of year 1                       16,000              

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year -                   -                   
   Assaying 17,294              3,360                

    Camp expenses -                   22,240              
    Drilling (4,466)              158,426            
    Geological consulting 6,170                56,876              
    Soil sampling -                   11,885              
  Balance, end of year 18,998              252,787            

Impairment (18,998)            (268,786)          
  Total Bandit Creek Property 1$                     1$                     

Total Exploration and Evaluation Assets 5,684,096$       5,524,093$       
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

The following is a description of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets and the related 
spending commitments: 

a) Bisoni MacKay Property, Nevada 
 

On April 25, 2005, Company entered into a property option agreement with Vanadium 
International Co. (“Vanadium”) to purchase a 50% undivided interest in 19 mining claims (the 
Bisoni MacKay Vanadium Property), located in Nye County, Nevada, USA. The optioned claims 
are subject to a 2.5% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR). 
 
The Company earned its 50% interest, by making a series of cash payments totaling $250,000 
($175,000 of which was settled for 175,000 shares), issuing 1,250,000 shares to Vanadium, as 
well as funding $700,000 of exploration activities. 
 
During 2008, the Company exercised a purchase option, included in the original property option 
agreement, to acquire the remaining 50% interest in the mining claims, for a 100% total interest, 
subject to the 2.5% NSR. Consideration under the purchase option included a US$2,000,000 
payment to the vendor.  The US$2,000,000 option payment was satisfied in a share settlement 
through the issuance of 1,995,600 common shares with an estimated fair value of $0.7982 per 
share. 
 
The Company has staked an additional 18 claims in the area which are contiguous with the 
existing claims. 
 
During 2008, the Company posted a reclamation bond with the Nevada state government should 
the Company not complete any required site reclamation or environmental remediation. Effective 
October 1, 2008, the Company recorded an asset retirement obligation of $21,768 relating to the 
Company’s activities on the property. The site reclamation is expected to occur at the end of the 
Phase II drill program. 
 
Managements’ review for indications of impairment in fiscal 2012 primarily considered that the 
acquisition costs of this property appeared non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition 
costs were primarily based on 3,245,000 common shares that were issued at an average cost of 
$0.78 per share. During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,962,257 
to decrease the carrying value of the property based on market indicators. In addition, the 
Company has not conducted a significant work program in four years. No further impairment is 
required for fiscal 2013. 
 

b)  Kodiak Property, Yukon 
 

On June 18, 2009, the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration 
Inc. (“REI”) pursuant to which REI has agreed to grant the Company an option to purchase a 
100% beneficial interest in 152 mining claims located in the Dawson Mining District, Yukon 
Territory, subject to REI retaining a 2% NSR. 
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments, share issuances and 
expenditures: 
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

b)  Kodiak Property, Yukon (cont’d) 
 
Cash payments: 
 

-  $75,000 within five days of Exchange approval (paid) 
-  $50,000 on or before June 15, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 15, 2011 (paid) 
-  $75,000 on or before June 15, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 (paid) 
-  $75,000 on or before June 15, 2013, reduced to $50,000 and extended to June 15, 

2014 
-  $50,000 on or before June 15, 2015 
 

Shares: 
 

-  250,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval 
(issued) 

-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2010 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2011 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2012 (issued) 
-  250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2013 (issued) 

 
Exploration Expenditures: 
 

-  $100,000 on or before November 18, 2009 (incurred) 
-  $200,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred)  
-  $300,000 on or before November 18, 2011 (reduced to $100,000 and extended to on or 

before November 18, 2014; $100,000 on or before November 18, 2015, and $100,000 
on or before November 18, 2016) 

 
The Company has the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of $2,000,000. 
 

c) Dime Property, Yukon 
 
On July 23, 2009, the Company entered into a property option agreement with REI to earn a 
100% interest in 308 claims in the Dawson Mining District, Yukon Territory, subject to a 2% NSR 
in favor of the optionor.  
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments and expenditures: 
 

Cash payments: 
 

-  $125,000 within fifteen days of Exchange approval (paid) 
-  $125,000 on or before June 26, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2011 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 (paid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before December 31, 2013 (paid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before March 31, 2014 
-  $  50,000 on or before July 31, 2014 
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 
 

c) Dime Property, Yukon 
 

Shares: 
 

- 200,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval (issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2010 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2011 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2012 (issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2013 (issued) 

 
Exploration Expenditures: 

 
-  in the amount of $100,000 on or before November 15, 2009 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $250,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $500,000 on or before November 15, 2011 (incurred) 
-  a cumulative amount of $600,000 on or before November 15, 2012 (incurred) 
 

The Company has the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of $2,000,000. 
 

d) Bandit Property, British Columbia 
 

On June 5, 2012, the Company entered into an option agreement with Copper Creek Gold 
Corp. to earn a 60% interest in the Bandit Property located in the Blackwater Gold District of 
Central British Columbia.  The property consists of three contiguous claims. 
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments and expenditures: 
 

Shares: 
 
- 100,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval (issued); 
- 100,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2013 (not issued); 
- 100,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2014;  
- 100,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2015. 

 
Exploration Expenditures: 

 
-  in the amount of $100,000 on or before June 15, 2013 (incurred); 
-  an additional amount of $650,000 on or before June 15, 2014; 
-  an additional amount of $500,000 on or before June 15, 2015; 
-  an additional amount of $750,000 on or before June 15, 2016. 

 
During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $268,786 as exploration 
results suggested nominal mineralization.  The Company recorded an additional impairment of 
$18,998 in the year as it has decided not to carry on with the option. 

 
8. Trade payables and accrued liabilities 

 
September 30,

2013
September 30, 

2012 
Trade payables $       9,861 $     107,470 
Accrued liabilities  20,180  22,562 

$     30,041 $     130,032 
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9. Share capital 

Authorized share capital 
 
Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 
i) On September 19, 2012, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 2,100,000 

flow-through share units at $0.15 per unit. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
share purchase warrant.  Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional common 
share at $0.45 per share until September 19, 2013. The Company estimated the fair value of the 
common shares issued as part of these units to approximate the issue price of the entire unit.  
Accordingly, in applying the residual value method, the Company assigned values of $nil to both 
the warrant and flow-through components of this instrument. 
 

ii) On June 15, 2013, the Company issued 250,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 
$0.11 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 

iii) On June 16, 2013, the Company issued 250,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 
$0.07 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 
 

iv) On June 15, 2012, the Company issued 100,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 
$0.16 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 
 

v) On June 15, 2012, the Company issued 200,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 
$0.16 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the 
quoted price at the time of the transaction. 

 
 

vi) On June 26, 2012, the Company issued 300,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 
$0.19 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 
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9. Share capital (cont’d) 
 

Stock options 
 
The Company has adopted an incentive stock option plan, which provides that the Board of Directors 
of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with the TSX-V 
requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees and technical consultants to the Company, non-
transferable stock options to purchase common shares, provided that the number of common shares 
reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares.  
Such options will be exercisable for a period of up to 5 years from the date of grant.  In connection 
with the foregoing, the number of common shares reserved for issuance to any one optionee will not 
exceed five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding common shares and the number of common 
shares reserved for issuance to all technical consultants will not exceed two percent (2%) of the 
issued and outstanding common shares.  Options may be exercised no later than 90 days following 
cessation of the optionee’s position with the Company or 30 days following cessation of an optionee 
conducting investor relations activities’ position. 

The changes in options during the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 are as follows: 
 

 September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012 
 

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

Options outstanding, beginning of 
year  2,250,000  $ 0.31   1,900,000  $     0.38  
Options expired - -    (450,000)  0.33
Options granted - -  800,000 0.15

Options outstanding, end of year  2,250,000  $ 0.31   2,250,000  $     0.31

Options exercisable, end of year  2,250,000  $ 0.31    2,250,000  $     0.31
 

Details of options outstanding as at September 30, 2013 are as follows: 

 Weighted average 
  exercise price 

 Weighted average 
 contractual life 

 Number of options 
  outstanding 

 $0.30  1.09 years  375,000 
 $0.46  1.85 years  825,000 
 $0.33  2.46 years  250,000 
 $0.15  3.76 years  800,000 
 $0.31  2.47  years  2,250,000 

 
The grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended September 30, 2013 is $nil (year 
ended September 30, 2012 was $164,601).  The fair value was determined using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model using the following assumptions: 
 

 Year ended 
September 30, 2012

Expected life of options 5 years
Annualized volatility 156%
Risk-free interest rate 1.26%
Dividend rate 0%
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9. Share capital (cont’d) 
 
Warrants 
 

September 30, September 30,
2011 Issued (Expired) (Exercised) 2012 Terms

200,000          -              (200,000)         -            -                $.73 and 1 warrant to September 24, 2012
1,561,672       -              (1,561,672)      -            -                $.85 and 1 warrant to September 28, 2012

729,286          -              -                 -            729,286         $.85 and 1 warrant to October 19, 2012
-                 2,100,000    -                 -            2,100,000      $.45 and 1 warrant to September 19, 2013

2,490,958       2,100,000    (1,761,672)      -            2,829,286      

September 30, September 30,
2012 Issued (Expired) (Exercised) 2013 Terms

729,286          -              (729,286)         -            -                $.85 and 1 warrant to October 19, 2012
2,100,000       -              -                 -            2,100,000      $.45 and 1 warrant to September 19, 2015
2,829,286       -              (729,286)         -            2,100,000      

 
On August 6, 2013, the Company received TSX-V approval to extend the expiry date of 2,100,000 
warrants exercisable at a price of $0.45 for an additional two years to September 19, 2015. 
 

10. Reserves 
 

The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s balance sheet is composed of the value of stock 
option grants and share purchase warrants issued prior to exercise at which time the corresponding 
amount will be transferred to share capital.  The original value recorded for options and warrants that 
expire unexercised remains in the reserve balance. 
 
 

11. Related party transactions 
 

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties: 
 

a) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $73,500 (2012 - $66,000) with a 
company owned by a director for consulting services. 

 
b) The Company incurred remuneration in the amount of $72,000 (2012 - $66,000) with a senior 

officer and director. 
 
c) The Company incurred remuneration in the amount of $44,000 (2012 - $42,000) with a director. 

 
d) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $1,500 (2012 - $nil) with directors. 

 
e) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of 2,000 (2012 - $nil) with a senior officer 

and director. 
 

f) At September 30, 2013, prior advances totalling $48,356 (September 30, 2012 - $48,356) were 
due to a company controlled by a director. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, 
and have no specific terms of repayment. 
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11. Related party transactions (cont’d) 

Key management personnel compensation 

2013 2012
Short-term employee benefits - consulting fees 77,000$            66,000$                
Short-term employee benefits – salaries and wages 116,000            108,000                
Share-based payment -                    162,025                

193,000$          336,025$              

Years  ended September 30,

 

 
12. Financial risk management 

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  

Credit Risk  

The Company is exposed to credit risk by holding cash and short-term investments. Holding the cash 
and short-term investments in large Canadian financial institutions minimizes this risk. The Company 
has minimal accounts receivable exposure, and its various refundable credits are due from Canadian 
governments. 

Currency Risk  

The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is moderate foreign exchange risk 
to the Company as one of its mineral property interests is located in Nevada, USA.  Management 
monitors its foreign currency balances and makes adjustments based on anticipated need for 
currencies. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to reduce its foreign currency 
risk. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash 
balances at variable rates. The fair value of the Company’s cash accounts is relatively unaffected by 
changes in short term interest rates. The income earned on certain bank accounts is subject to the 
movements in interest rates.  Currently, this risk will have an immaterial effect on operations. 

Price Risk 

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk).  
The Company is at risk to changes in commodity prices which may affect financing options available 
to the Company. 

Liquidity Risk  

Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at 
any point in time. The Company manages this risk by careful management of its working capital. 

Capital Management 

The Company is engaged in the mineral exploration field and manages related industry risk issues 
directly.  The Company is potentially at risk for environmental issues and fluctuations in commodity 
based market prices associated with resource property interests.  Management is of the opinion that 
the Company addresses environmental risk and compliance in accordance with industry standards 
and specific project environmental requirements. 

The Company includes cash and equity in the definition of capital.  Equity is comprised of issued 
common shares and deficit. 
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12. Financial risk management (cont’d) 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust its 
capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, purchase shares for cancellation pursuant to 
normal course issuer bids or make special distributions to shareholders. The Company is not subject 
to any externally imposed capital requirements and does not presently utilize any quantitative 
measures to monitor its capital.  

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the period.  The 
Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

Classification of financial instruments 

The Company has designated its cash and short-term investments as held-for-trading, which is 
measured at fair value. Amounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables, which are 
measured at amortized cost.  Accounts payable and amounts due to related parties are classified as 
other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. 

Fair value 

The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximates the carrying amount. 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 

either directly or indirectly; and 
 Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

The fair value of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis include cash and short-term 
investments which are based on Level 1 inputs as they are measured with reference to identical 
demand instruments at BMO.  Management estimates that the recorded values of all accounts 
receivable, accounts payable, and amounts due to and from related parties approximate their current 
fair values because of their nature and anticipated settlement dates (Level 3). 

13. Income Taxes 

 The actual income tax provision differs from the expected amounts calculated by applying the Canadian 
combined federal and provincial corporate income tax rates to the Company’s loss before income taxes.  
The components of these differences are estimated as follows: 

 
 2013 2012 

 $ $ 
  
Loss before income taxes (347,644) (2,791,418)
Corporate tax rate 25.00%  25.34% 
  
Expected tax recovery at statutory rates (89,900) (707,300)
Decrease (increase) resulting from:    
      Changes in estimated corporate tax rates (37,600) 9,000 
      Expiry of non-capital losses carried forward -  - 
      Non deductable stock compensation and other 100  37,900 
      Current and prior tax attributes not recognized (recognized) 124,600  660,400 
   
Deferred income tax provision (recovery) -  - 
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13. Income Taxes (cont’d) 
 
The Company’s tax-effected deferred income tax assets and liabilities are estimated as follows  

 
 2013 2012 

 $ $ 
 26.00% 25.00% 
Potential deferred income tax assets (liabilities) 
     Non-capital losses available 767,600 634,300 
     Net book value of exploration and evaluation assets 
      Less than tax bases 80,900 

 
163,300 

     CEC pool 9,000 8,700 
     Share issue costs and other 23,700 44,100 
     Capital losses available 1,500 1,500 
 
 882,700 851,900 
     Net book value of exploration and evaluation assets 
      in excess of tax bases - 

 
- 

 
Net potential deferred income tax assets 882,700 851,900 
Valuation allowance (882,700) (851,900)
   
Net deferred income tax assets - -

 
 

Management has determined that there is insufficient likelihood of recovery to record a deferred 
benefit arising from potential tax assets.  Accordingly a 100% valuation allowance has been applied. 
 
At September 30, 2013, the Company had net operating losses of $2,952,300, inclusive of those 
inherited from the discontinued operations of Northern Seas Products Ltd., for income tax purposes 
which subject to restrictions may be available to reduce future taxable income.  If not utilized, the 
losses expire through 2033 as follows: 

 
 $

2033 408,700
2032 480,100
2031 432,700
2030 405,900
2029 314,600
2028 225,700
2027 182,200
2026 219,300
2015 198,900
2014 84,200

2,952,300
 

During the year ended September 30, 2013, management and the property optionor made certain tax 
elections whereby the Company has forfeited the tax base associated with certain equity issuances to 
the property optionor totalling approximately $89,000> 
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14. Subsequent event 

 
On September 24, 2013 the Company arranged a non-brokered private placement for 400,000 
units at $0.25 per share, for total proceeds of $100,000.  Each unit includes one common share and 
one warrant, exercisable at $0.50 per for a period of two years. As of the fate of these financial 
statements, the placement has not been closed 
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Notice to Reader: 

The following document is Stina Resources Ltd.'s amended consolidated financial statements for the financial 
year-ended September 30, 2012, which has been amended and re-filed to change wording in the independent 
auditor’s report. Specifically, to correct the reference to the Company in the opinion paragraph of the 
independent auditor's report. No other changes have been made to the consolidated financial statements or 
independent auditor's report and these amended consolidated financial statements reflect the events as of the 
original filing date and do not reflect events that may have occurred subsequent to the original filing date, and do 
not modify or update in any way the other disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Stina Resources Ltd., 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Stina Resources Ltd., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2012, September 30, 2011 and October 1, 2010, the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended 
September 30, 2012 and 2011, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Stina Resources Ltd. as at September 30, 2012, September 30, 2011 and October 1, 2010, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which describes 
matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

            
January 25, 2013 DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 
Vancouver, Canada CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
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STINA RESOURCES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Expressed in Canadian dollars

September 30, September 30, October 1,
2012 2011 2010

Notes (Note 14) (Note 14)

ASSETS
Current assets
      Cash $           217,982 $         24,519 $    1,869,396 
      Short term investments 4              425,000       1,225,000          750,000 
      Receivables 5                37,817            66,114            33,905 
      Prepaids                   5,353               5,353                     -   

              686,152        1,320,986        2,653,301 

Non-current assets

Reclamation bond 7                 21,768             21,768             21,768 

Equipment 6                   4,063               5,210                     -   

Exploration and evaluation assets 7            5,524,093        7,133,389        5,124,660 

 $        6,236,076  $    8,481,353  $    7,799,729 

Current liabilities
     Trade payables and accrued liabilities 8  $           130,032  $       133,742  $       198,039 

     Restoration obligation 7                 21,768             21,768             21,768 

     Other liabilities 14                         -                       -               15,384 

     Due to related parties 11                 48,356             58,480             58,679 

              200,156           213,990           293,870 

  Share capital  9         11,985,598     11,587,648     10,688,744 
  Reserves 10 2,129,716                1,967,691       1,626,896 
  Deficit (8,079,394)              (5,287,976)      (4,809,781)

          6,035,920       8,267,363       7,505,859 

 $        6,236,076  $    8,481,353  $    7,799,729 

Commitments (Note 7)

"Jim Wall"    Director
Jim Wall Edward Gresko

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Shareholders' equity

Summary of significant accounting policies (Note 2)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

"Edward Gresko"   

Nature of operations and going concern  (Note 1)
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Expressed in Canadian dollars

2012 2011
Notes (Note 14)

Expenses
     Accounting, audit and legal  $            90,821 $        54,319 
     Amortization                  1,147                313 
     Consulting fees 11              134,368         157,864 
     Exchange loss (gain)                     497                (849)
     Office and sundry                43,630           61,023 

                9,360           13,219 
     Rent               13,000           12,000 
     Salaries and benefits 11               75,902                   - 
     Share-based payments 11             162,025         119,299 
     Transfer agent                 6,633             9,908 
     Travel and promotion               31,864           83,149 
Total expenses            (569,247)        (510,245)

Other items
7          (2,231,043)             (1,402)

   Interest income                 8,872           29,257 
        (2,222,171)           27,855 

Loss before income taxes         (2,791,418)        (482,390)
    Deferred income tax recovery 14                       -               4,195 

         (2,791,418)         (478,195)

outstanding (basic and diluted)        26,267,007    25,600,751 
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $               (0.11)  $           (0.02)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

       Years ended September 30,

STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Total loss and  comprehensive loss for the period

Weighted average number of common shares

     Regulatory fees and shareholder  communications

   Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
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Expressed in Canadian Dollars

Notes

Number of 
Common 
shares Amount

Warrant and 
Stock Option

Reserve Deficit Total

Balance Forward at October 1, 2010 14 24,078,928 10,688,744$         1,626,896$         (4,809,781)$               7,505,859$          

Comprehensive Loss for the Year (478,195)                    (478,195)              

Shares for Private Placement 9 1,458,571       922,400                - - 922,400               

Allocate Fair Value of Warrants 9 - (221,496)              221,496             - -                       

Shares for Mineral Properties 7,9 500,000          198,000                - - 198,000               

Stock Option Grant - - 119,299             - 119,299               

Balance at September 30, 2011 14 26,037,499 11,587,648 1,967,691 (5,287,976)                 8,267,363            

Comprehensive Loss for the Year (2,791,418)                 (2,791,418)           

Shares for Private Placement 9 2,100,000       315,000                - - 315,000               

Share issue costs 9 - (22,050)                - - (22,050)                

Shares for Mineral Properties 7,9 600,000          105,000                - - 105,000               

Stock Option Grant 9  - - 162,025             - 162,025               

Balance at September 30, 2012 28,737,499     11,985,598$         2,129,716$         (8,079,394)$               6,035,920$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

STINA RESOURCES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

Share Capital Reserves
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Expressed in Canadian Dollars

2012 2011
Notes (Note 14)

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net loss for the year 14 $  (2,791,418)  $       (478,195)

   Amortization             1,147                    313 
   Interest income 14            (8,872)             (29,257)
   Share-based payment         162,025             119,299 
   Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets      2,231,043                 1,402 
   Deferred income tax recovery     -               (4,195)
Changes in non-cash working capital items:
  Receivables           28,298             (32,209)
  Prepaids                   -                 (5,353)
  Taxes payable                   -               (11,189)
  Trade payables and accrued liabilities             (3,711)               26,473 

Net cash used in operating activities        (381,488)           (412,911)

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
  Short-term investments redeemed (purchased)         800,000           (475,000)
  Interest received 14             8,872               29,257 
  Equipment purchased                   -                 (5,522)
  Evaluation and exploration assets, net of recoveries         (516,747)        (1,902,901)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities         292,125        (2,354,166)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
  Issuance of common shares, net of issue costs         292,950             922,400 
  Advances to related parties          (10,124)                  (200)
Net cash provided by financing activities         282,826             922,200 

Increase (Decrease) in cash         193,463        (1,844,877)

Cash, beginning of the year           24,519          1,869,396 

Cash, end of the year  $      217,982  $           24,519 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

STINA RESOURCES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended September 30,

Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash used in operations:



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 
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1. Nature and continuance of operations 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, 
Canada, and its principal activity is the exploration of its mineral properties in Canada and the United 
States.  The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under the symbol 
“SQA”. 

The corporate office and principal place of business of the Company is 717 – 165 LaRose Avenue, 
Etobicoke, Ontario, Canada, M9P 3S9. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will 
continue as a going concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be 
able to realize assets and discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations.  Different bases of 
measurement may be appropriate if the Company is not expected to continue operations for the 
foreseeable future.  As at September 30, 2012, the Company had not advanced its properties to 
commercial production and is not able to finance day to day activities through operations.  The Company’s 
continuation as a going concern is dependent upon the successful results from its mineral property 
exploration activities and its ability to attain profitable operations and generate funds there from and/or 
raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations.  Management intends to 
finance operating costs over the next twelve months with loans from directors and companies controlled by 
directors and or private placement of common shares.  These uncertainties may cast substantial doubt 
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation 

The financial statements were authorized for issue on January 25, 2013 by the directors of the Company. 

Statement of compliance and conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the 
principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified where applicable.  The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars 
unless otherwise noted. 

Consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Company and the 
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Stina Resources Nevada Ltd. Since its inception on December 14, 
2009.  Stina Resources Nevada Ltd. was incorporated in the United States of America. 
 
All intercompany balances and transactions were eliminated upon consolidation. 

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period.  



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Significant Judgments and estimates made in the preparation of the financial statements: 

Going concern assessment: The preparation of these financial statements under the going concern 
assumption requires significant judgment in assessing that future loans or equity financing are likely to be 
available in order to meet obligations coming due. The going concern assumption implies that the 
Company is expected to continue operations for at least the ensuing 12 month period. Alternatively, if the 
going concern assumption was not appropriate then assets of the Company would be stated at liquidation 
values which could result in a material change to asset values.  

Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. Areas requiring a significant 
degree of estimation uncertainty relate to: 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets: The future recoverability of exploration and evaluation 
assets is dependent on a number of factors, including whether the Company intends to exploit the related 
mineral interest itself or whether it can successfully recover the related exploration and evaluation asset 
through sale.  Factors that could impact the future recoverability include commodity prices, the amount of 
estimated reserves and resources, the number of interested purchasers, future technological changes 
which could impact the cost of mining or future legal changes (including changes to environmental 
restoration obligations). To the extent that the capitalised exploration and evaluation asset is determined 
not to be recoverable in the future, the net asset will be reduced in the period in which this determination is 
made.  

Stock based compensation: Upon granting stock options, management must select a valuation model as 
well as subjective inputs to that model in estimating the fair value of the options. Judgements are made 
regarding employee retention, expected exercise periods, and future stock volatility in estimating the fair 
value. Changes made to these judgements and estimates could materially affect the reported amount of 
stock based compensation in the period. 

Foreign currency translation 

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiary is determined by the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates. The financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars which is both the Company’s and its subsidiary’s functional currency.  The Company presently 
conducts the majority of its activities in Canada. 

Transactions and balances: 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-end exchange 
rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at 
the date when fair values were determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary items are 
recognized in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise, 
except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that gains and losses 
arising on those non-monetary items are also recognized in other comprehensive income. Where the non-
monetary gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss, the exchange component is also recognized in profit 
or loss. 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Share-based payments 

The Company operates an employee stock option plan.  Share-based payments to employees are 
measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods.  Share-based 
payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received or the fair value 
of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be 
reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are received.  The corresponding 
amount is recorded to the option reserve.  The fair value of options is determined using a Black–Scholes 
pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions. The number of shares and options 
expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period such that the amount 
recognized for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the 
number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

Share capital and share units 

Common shares and share units issued are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to 
the issue of common shares and units are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effect. 

Proceeds received on the issuance of units, consisting of common shares and share purchase warrants 
are allocated between the common share and warrant component. The fair value of the common shares 
issued in the private placement was determined to be the more easily measurable component and was 
valued at its fair value, as determined by the closing bid price on the issuance date.  The remaining 
proceeds, if any, would be allocated to the attached warrants.  Any fair value attributed to the warrants is 
recorded as warrant reserve. If the warrants are exercised, the related amount is reclassified as share 
capital. If the warrants expire unexercised, the related amount remains in warrant reserve. 

Financial instruments 

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, available-for-sale and financial liabilities. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its 
financial instruments at initial recognition.  

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are either held for trading for 
the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are 
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group 
of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair 
value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss.   

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. They are included in current 
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are 
classified as non-current assets.   

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-
sale or are not suitable to be classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables or held-to-maturity investments and are subsequently measured at fair value.  These are 
included in current assets. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, 
except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses.   

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost.   

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date – the date on which the 
Company commits to purchase the asset.  



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.  

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and 
prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has 
arisen. 

The Company does not have any derivative financial assets and liabilities. 

Impairment of assets  

The carrying amount of the Company’s non-current assets (which include equipment and exploration and 
evaluation assets) is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognized in the Statement of loss and comprehensive loss.  

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from 
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.  

An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist 
and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, however, not to 
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognized in previous years.  

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for 
impairment. 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences at the reporting 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.  



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Flow-Through Shares: 

Share capital includes flow-through shares which is a unique Canadian tax incentive pursuant to certain 
provisions of the Canadian Income Tax Act. Proceeds from the issuance of flow-through shares are used 
to fund qualified exploration and evaluation expenditures and the related income tax deductions are 
renounced to the subscribers of the flow-through shares. Any premium paid for flow-through shares in 
excess of the market value of the shares without flow-through features, at the time of issue, is credited to 
accrued liabilities.  Upon completion of the qualifying expenditures and renouncement by the Company of 
the tax benefits associated with the related expenditures, a deferred tax liability is recognized and the flow-
through tax liability will be reversed.  To the extent that suitable deferred tax assets are available, the 
Company will reduce the deferred tax liability and record a deferred tax recovery. 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
The Company is in the exploration stage in respect to its exploration and evaluation assets.   
 
Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and 
evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These direct 
expenditures include such costs as materials used, geological and geophysical evaluation, surveying 
costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation on property and equipment during the 
exploration phase.  Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general 
administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year in which they occur. 
 
Where the Company has entered into option agreements for the acquisition of an interest in exploration 
and evaluation assets which provided for periodic payments, such amounts unpaid are not recorded as a 
liability when they are payable entirely at the Company's discretion. Although the Company has taken 
steps to verify title to the exploration and evaluation assets in which it has an interest, these procedures do 
not guarantee the Company’s title. The exploration and evaluation assets may be subject to prior 
undetected agreements or transfers and title may be affected by such defects. 
 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, exploration 
and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired.  As a result, those 
exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated recoveries, are written-off to the 
Statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment at each reporting date. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been 
determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as “mine 
development cost”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment before the assets are 
transferred to development properties. 
 
Any incidental revenue earned in connection with exploration activities is applied as a reduction to 
capitalized exploration costs.  Any operational income earned in connection with exploration activities is 
recognized in the Statement of operations and comprehensive loss. 
 
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 
 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

  12 

2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Restoration and environmental obligations: 
  
The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations associated 
with the retirement of long-term assets, when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction, 
development or normal operation of the assets. The net present value of future restoration cost estimates 
arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work is capitalized to exploration and 
evaluation assets along with a corresponding increase in the restoration provision in the period incurred. 
Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net 
present value. The restoration asset will be depreciated on the same basis as other mining assets. 
  
The Company’s estimates of restoration costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory 
requirements, discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures. 
These changes are recorded directly to mining assets with a corresponding entry to the restoration 
provision. The Company’s estimates are reviewed annually for changes in regulatory requirements, 
discount rates, effects of inflation and changes in estimates. 
 
Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of reclamation costs, 
are charged to profit or loss for the period. 
 
The net present value of restoration costs arising from subsequent site damage that is incurred on an 
ongoing basis during production are charged to profit or loss in the period. 
 
The costs of restoration projects that were included in the provision are recorded against the provision as 
incurred. The costs to prevent and control environmental impacts at specific properties are capitalized in 
accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets. 
   
Equipment 
 
Equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of income and 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognized in profit or loss in the period. 

 Amortization is calculated on the declining balance basis at the following annual rates: 
 
  Computer equipment  30%  
  Office equipment  25% 
 
One-half the normal rate is recorded in the year of acquisition. 
 

3.  Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

The Company has not early adopted these revised standards and is currently assessing the impact that 
these standards will have on the financial statements. Each of the new standards, IFRS 10 to 13 and the 
amendments to other standards, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 with 
early adoption permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact that the new and 
amended standards will have on its financial statements and has not elected to early adopt any of the new 
requirements. 
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3. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d) 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – IFRS 9 is a partial replacement of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement”.  This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2015. 
 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee 
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is 
required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities and 
parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.   
 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement 
as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting whereas for a joint operation the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, 
revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to 
proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 
Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-monetary Contributions by 
Venturers.   
 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for 
interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off 
balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant 
additional disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s 
interests in other entities. 
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement - IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement 
and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value 
measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among 
the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in many cases does not reflect a clear 
measurement basis or consistent disclosures.   
 
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine - The Interpretation clarifies when 
production stripping should lead to the recognition of an asset and how that asset should be measured, 
both initially and in subsequent periods.  The standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2013. 
 
Amendments to other standards - In addition, there have been other amendments to existing standards, 
including IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 
 
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements - IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled 
entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements.  The standard will be effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - IAS 28 has been amended to include joint 
ventures in its scope and to address the changes in IFRS 10 – 13.  The standard will be effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - IAS 1 amendment requires components of other 
comprehensive income (OCI) to be separately presented between those that may be reclassified to 
income and those that will not. The standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 
1, 2012. 
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3. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d) 
 

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - IAS 32 amendment provides clarification on the application 
of offsetting rules. The standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 

 
4. Short term investments  

 
 September 30,

2012
September 30, 

 2011 
October 1,

 2010
Short-term investments  $  425,000  $  1,225,000 $   750,000

 
Short-term investments include money market based investments and guaranteed investment 
certificates where initial maturity is more than ninety days. These investments may be redeemed at the 
Company’s option without significant penalty. As of September 30, 2012 these investments bear interest 
at the Bank of Montreal (BMO) Prime rate less 0.95%. The carrying value approximates the fair value of 
these investments.  
 

5. Receivables 

 September 30,
2012

September 30, 
 2011 

October 1,
 2010

Harmonized sales tax receivables $      24,950 $    77,328 $    33,905
Other receivables 12,867 (11,214) -

   $      37,817 $    66,114 $    33,905

 

6. Equipment 

 

Computer Office

Equipment Equipment Total

Cost:
At October 1, 2010  $                   -    $                   -    $                   - 
Additions                    765                 4,758                 5,523 
Disposals  -  - - 
At September 30, 2011                    765                 4,758                 5,523 
Additions                       -                         -                         - 
Disposals  -  - - 

At September 30, 2012                    765                 4,758                 5,523 

Depreciation:
At October 1, 2010                       -                         -                         - 
Charge for the period                      75                    238                    313 
Eliminated on disposal  -  - - 
At September 30, 2011                      75                    238                    313 
Charge for the period                    130                 1,017                 1,147 
Eliminated on disposal  -  - - 

At September 30, 2012                    205                 1,255                 1,460 

Net book value:
At October 1, 2010                       -                         -                         - 
At September 30, 2011                    690                 4,520                 5,210 

At September 30, 2012  $                560  $             3,503  $             4,063  
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2012 2011

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nevada, USA
Acquisition costs:
   Balance, beginning of year 2,859,526$       2,859,526$       
     Staking and claim costs 453                   -                    
  Balance, end of year 2,859,979         2,859,526         

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 793,133            719,190            
     Economic study 39,349              
     Geological consulting 10,359              22,966              
     Claim fees and staking 3,026                6,147                
     Storage 6,030                5,481                
  Balance, end of year 812,548            793,133            

Impairment (1,962,257)        -                    
  Total Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 1,710,270$       3,652,659$       

Kodiak Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 512,675$          334,675$          
     Cash payment 37,500              100,000            
     200,000 shares at  $0.16 32,000              -                    
     200,000 shares at  $0.39 -                    78,000              
  Balance, end of year 582,175            512,675            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 379,149            301,772            
      Assaying 12,835              
      Geological consulting 188                   13,718              
      Geomagnetic -                    26,830              
      Helicopter rentals -                    8,704                
      Trenching -                    15,290              
  Balance, end of year 379,337            379,149            

  Total Kodiak Property 961,512$          891,824$          

(continues)
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2012 2011
Dime Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 648,000$          428,000$          
     Cash payment 54,650              100,000            
     300,000 shares at $0.19 57,000              -                    
     300,000 shares at $0.40 -                    120,000            
  Balance, end of year 759,650            648,000            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 1,940,906         480,095            
   Assaying 66,279              65,947              

    Camp accommodation 16,097              211,117            
    Drilling -                    402,118            
    Geological consulting 15,112              203,352            
    Geomagnetic -                    51,050              
    Helicopter rentals 6,890                327,871            
    Soil sampling 15,001              24,613              
    Salaries 32,375              70,625              
    Trenching -                    104,118            
  Balance, end of year 2,092,660         1,940,906         

  Total Dime Property 2,852,310$       2,588,906$       

Bandit Creek Property, British Columbia, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year -$                  -$                  
     Cash payment -                    -                    
     100,000 shares at $0.10 16,000              -                    
  Balance, end of year 16,000              -                    

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year -                    -                    
   Assaying 3,360                -                    

    Camp expenses 22,240              -                    
    Drilling 158,426            -                    
    Geological consulting 56,876              -                    
    Soil sampling 11,885              -                    
  Balance, end of year 252,787            -                    

Impairment (268,786)           
  Total Bandit Creek Property 1$                     -$                      

(continues)
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2012 2011
Zeibright Property, California, USA
Acquisition costs:
   Balance, beginning of year -$                      1,402$              
Write down of property -                    (1,402)               
  Balance, end of year -$                      -$                      

Total Exploration and Evaluation Assets 5,524,093$       7,133,389$       

The following is a description of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets and the related 
spending commitments: 

a) Bisoni MacKay Property, Nevada 
 

On April 25, 2005, Company entered into a property option agreement with Vanadium 
International Co. (“Vanadium”) to purchase a 50% undivided interest in 19 mining claims (the 
Bisoni MacKay Vanadium Property) covering 392.6 acres, located in Nye County, Nevada, 
USA. The optioned claims are subject to a 2.5% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR) payable to the 
vendor. 
 
The Company earned its 50% interest, by making a series of cash payments totaling $250,000 
($175,000 of which was settled for 175,000 shares), issuing 1,250,000 shares to Vanadium, 
as well as funding $700,000 of exploration activities. 
 
During 2008, the Company exercised a purchase option, included in the original property 
option agreement, to acquire the remaining 50% interest in the mining claims, for a 100% total 
interest, subject to the 2.5% NSR. Consideration under the purchase option included a 
US$2,000,000 payment to the vendor.  The US$2,000,000 option payment was satisfied in a 
share settlement through the issuance of 1,995,600 common shares at a stated value of 
$0.9978 per share.  These shares have been recorded at management’s estimate of fair value 
of $0.7982 per share, based on a 20% discount from the quoted market price at the time of the 
share issuance to factor in market conditions and a large block discount. 
 
The Company has staked an additional 18 claims in the area which are contiguous with the 
existing claims. 
 
During 2008, the Company posted a reclamation bond with the Nevada state government 
should the Company not complete any required site reclamation or environmental remediation. 
Effective October 1, 2008, the Company recorded an asset retirement obligation of $21,768 
relating to the Company’s activities on the property. The site reclamation is expected to occur 
at the end of the Phase II drill program. 
 
Managements’ review for indications of impairment primarily considered that the acquisition 
costs of this property appeared non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition costs 
were primarily based on 3,245,000 common shares that were issued at an average cost of 
$0.78 per share. In today’s market, or specifically at September 30, 2012, the shares would be 
worth $0.18 per share. The Company has recorded an impairment charge of $1,962,257 in the 
current year to decrease the carrying value of the property based on market indicators. In 
addition, the Company has not conducted a significant work program in four years.  
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

b)  Kodiak Property, Yukon 
 

On June 18, 2009, the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration 
Inc. (“REI”) pursuant to which REI has agreed to grant the Company an option to purchase a 
100% beneficial interest in 152 mining claims located in the Dawson Mining District, Yukon 
Territory, subject to REI retaining a 2% NSR. 
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments, share issuances and 
expenditures: 

 
Cash payments: 
 

-  $75,000 within five days of Exchange approval (paid) 
-  $50,000 on or before June 15, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 15, 2011 (paid) 
-  $75,000 on or before June 15, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 ($37,500 paid 

June 13, 2012 and $37,500 paid November 13, 2012)) 
-  $75,000 on or before June 15, 2013 

 
Shares: 
 

-  250,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval 
(issued) 

-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2010 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2011 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2012 (issued) 
-  250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2013 

 
Exploration Expenditures: 
 

-  $100,000 on or before November 18, 2009 (incurred) 
-  $200,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred)  
-  $300,000 on or before November 18, 2011 (extended to November 18, 2013) 
-  $500,000 on or before November 15, 2012 (extended to November 18, 2013) 
 

The Company has the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of two million 
dollars.  
 

c) Dime Property, Yukon 
 
On July 23, 2009, the Company entered into a property option agreement with REI to earn a 
100% interest in 308 claims in the Dawson Mining District, Yukon Territory, subject to a 2% 
NSR in favor of the optionor.  
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments and expenditures: 
 

Cash payments: 
 

-  $125,000 within fifteen days of Exchange approval (paid) 
-  $125,000 on or before June 26, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2011 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 ($50,000 

paid June 13, 2012 and $50,000 paid November 18, 2012) 
-  $150,000 on or before June 26, 2013 
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

 
c) Dime Property, Yukon 

 
Shares: 

 
- 200,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval 

(issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2010 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2011 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2012 (issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2013 

 
Exploration Expenditures: 

 
-  in the amount of $100,000 on or before November 15, 2009 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $250,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $500,000 on or before November 15, 2011 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $750,000 on or before November 15, 2012 (incurred) 
 

The Company has the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of two million 
dollars.  

 
d) Bandit Property, British Columbia 
 

On June 5, 2012, the Company entered into an option agreement with Copper Creek Gold 
Corp. to earn a 60% interest in the Bandit Property located in the Blackwater Gold District 
of Central British Columbia.  The property consists of three contiguous claims totaling of 
8,732 hectares.  
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments and expenditures: 
 

Shares: 
 
- 100,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval 

(issued); 
- 100,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2013; 
- 100,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2014;  
- 100,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2015. 

 
Exploration Expenditures: 

 
-  in the amount of $100,000 on or before June 15, 2013 (incurred); 
-  an additional amount of $650,000 on or before June 15, 2014; 
-  an additional amount of $500,000 on or before June 15, 2015; 
-  an additional amount of $750,000 on or before June 15, 2016. 

 
The Company has recorded an impairment charge of $268,786 as exploration results 
received subsequent to year end suggested nominal mineralization.  As exploration results 
suggested nominal mineralization, the Company is unlikely to carry on with the option. 
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7. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 
 

e) Zeibright Mine, California, USA  

On February 19, 2009, the Company entered into an option agreement with Steephollow 
Resources Inc. (“SRI”), pursuant to which SRI has agreed to grant the Company an option to 
purchase a 100% beneficial interest in certain mining claims located in Nevada County, 
California, United States.  The claims are subject to a 2% NSR.  

To exercise the option, the Company must: (i) incur and finance exploration expenditures on 
the property of not less than $100,000, on or before the second anniversary of the approval 
date of the option agreement by the Exchange (approved March 18, 2009); and (ii) allot and 
issue one million shares in the capital stock of the Company to SRI upon the completion of 
such exploration expenditures. 
 
The Company entered into a suboption agreement (the “Suboption Agreement”) with Gordon 
Lee (the “Optionee”) who has the right to earn 70% of the Zeibright Gold Property (the 
“Property”) from the Company by conducting US$2 million of exploration work on the property 
over four years.  The Company has an option to earn 100% of the Zeibright Property from SRI 
in consideration for exploration expenditures of $100,000 within two years and the payment of 
1 million common shares.  Both the Company and SRI have agreed to transfer 70% of the 
Company’s interest to the Optionee under the Suboption Agreement in consideration that the 
exploration expenditures under the Suboption Agreement will be applied to the Company’s 
obligation.  The Company is still required to issue the shares to SRI.  
 

The Optionee was required to expend amounts according to the following schedule: 
 
- $200,000 by July 18, 2010  
- $300,000 by April 18, 2011 
- $500,000 by April 18, 2012 
- $1,000,000 by April 18, 2013 

 
The Company also maintains the right to buy back a 20% interest in the Property for the 
payment of $500,000 within ninety (90) days after the Optionee has exercised its option. 
 
The Company did not receive confirmation of the expenditures required by July 18, 2010 and 
the option agreement has been terminated with the Optionee with no ongoing obligations for 
the Company.   
 
During fiscal 2011 the Company decided not to proceed with the option and has written down 
staking and claim costs of $1,402.  
 

8. Trade payables and accrued liabilities 

September 30,
2012

September 30, 
2011 

October 1, 
2010

Trade payables $     107,470 $    42,856 $    67,195
Exploration payables - 68,324 130,844
Accrued liabilities  22,562  22,562  -

$     130,032 $ 133,742 $ 198,039
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9. Share capital 

Authorized share capital 
 
Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 
Issued share capital 

Number of Amount  Number of Amount  
   Shares         $          Shares         $       

     
Balance, beginning of year 26,037,499       11,587,648       24,078,928          10,688,744       

Issued during the year:
For Cash, private placement 
         - at $0.15 i) 2,100,000         315,000                            -                 -
         - at $0.70 ii) 1,458,571            1,021,000         
Share issue costs                 - (22,050)             (98,600)             
For Mineral Property:
         - at $0.16 per share iii) 300,000            48,000                              -                 -
         - at $0.19 per share iv) 300,000            57,000                              -                 -
         - at $0.39 per share v)                 -                 - 200,000               78,000              
         - at $0.40 per share vi)                 -                 - 300,000               120,000            
Warrants reallocated                 - -                                    - (221,496)           

Balance, end of year 28,737,499       11,985,598       26,037,499          11,587,648       

Year ended 
September 30, 2011

Year ended 
September 30, 2012

 

i) On September 19, 2012, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 
2,100,000 flow-through share units at $0.15 per unit. Each unit consists of one common share 
and one share purchase warrant.  Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional 
common share at $0.45 per share until September 19, 2013. The Company estimated the fair 
value of the common shares issued as part of these units to approximate the issue price of the 
entire unit.  Accordingly, in applying the residual value method, the Company assigned values 
of $nil to both the warrant and flow-through components of this instrument. 
 

ii) On October 19, 2010, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 1,458,571 
share units at $0.70 per unit. Each unit consists of one common share and one-half of one 
share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional 
common share at $0.85 per share until October 19, 2012. The warrant component of the share 
unit has an estimated fair value of $221,496 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model 
under the following assumptions: expected life 2 years; volatility 96.55%; risk free rate of 
return 1.45%; dividend yield 0%. The fair value of the warrant component has been allocated 
to warrant and stock option reserve.  Finders fees of $98,600 in cash were paid in connection 
with this private placement. 
 

iii) On June 15, 2012, the Company issued 100,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 
$0.16 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 

 
On June 15, 2012, the Company issued 200,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 
$0.16 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 
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9. Share capital (cont’d) 
 
iv) On June 26, 2012, the Company issued 300,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 

$0.19 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 

 
v) On June 15, 2011, the Company issued 200,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 

$0.39 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 

 
vi) On June 24, 2011, the Company issued 300,000 common shares, at an estimated fair value of 

$0.40 per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted 
price at the time of the transaction. 
 

Stock options 
 
The Company has adopted an incentive stock option plan, which provides that the Board of 
Directors of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with the TSX-
V requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees and technical consultants to the Company, 
non-transferable stock options to purchase common shares, provided that the number of common 
shares reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding 
common shares.  Such options will be exercisable for a period of up to 5 years from the date of 
grant.  In connection with the foregoing, the number of common shares reserved for issuance to 
any one optionee will not exceed five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding common shares 
and the number of common shares reserved for issuance to all technical consultants will not 
exceed two percent (2%) of the issued and outstanding common shares.  Options may be 
exercised no later than 90 days following cessation of the optionee’s position with the Company or 
30 days following cessation of an optionee conducting investor relations activities’ position. 

 
The changes in options during the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 are as follows: 

 
 September 30, 2012  September 30, 2011 
 

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

 

Number 
of options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Options outstanding, beginning of 
year  1,900,000  $ 0.38   1,500,000  $ 0.39
Options expired   (450,000)   0.33      400,000   0.36
Options granted 800,000 0.15  - -

Options outstanding, end of year  2,250,000  $ 0.31   1,900,000  $ 0.38

Options exercisable, end of year  2,250,000  $ 0.31   1,900,000  $ 0.38
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9. Share capital (cont’d) 
 

Details of options outstanding as at September 30, 2012 are as follows: 

 Weighted average 
  exercise price 

 Weighted average 
 contractual life 

 Number of options 
  outstanding 

 $0.30  2.09 years  375,000 
 $0.46  2.85 years  825,000 
 $0.33  3.46 years  250,000 
 $0.15  4.76 years  800,000 
 $0.31  3.47 years  2,250,000 

 
 

The grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended September 30, 2012 was 
$164,601 (2011 - $119,299).  The fair value was determined using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model using the following assumptions: 
 

 Year ended 
September 30, 

2012 

Year ended 
September 30, 

2011
Expected life of options   5 years   5 years 
Annualized volatility   156%   98 - 111% 
Risk-free interest rate   1.26%  2.15 – 2.71% 
Dividend rate   0%   0% 

 
 

Warrants 

 
 

10. Reserves 
 

The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s balance sheet is composed of the value of 
stock option grants and share purchase warrants issued prior to exercise at which time the 
corresponding amount will be transferred to share capital.  The original value recorded for options 
and warrants that expire unexercised remains in the reserve balance. 
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11. Related party transactions 
 

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties: 
 

a) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $66,000 (2011 - $63,000) with a 
company owned by a director for consulting services. 

 
b) The Company incurred consulting wages in the amount of $66,000 (2011 - $33,000) with a 

senior officer and director. 
 
c) The Company incurred consulting wages in the amount of $42,000 (2011 - $38,500) with a 

director. 
 

d) At September 30, 2012, prior advances totalling $48,356 (September 30, 2011 - $60,483) 
were due to a company controlled by a director. The advances are unsecured, non-interest 
bearing, and have no specific terms of repayment. 

 
e) At September 30, 2012, advances totalling $nil (September 30, 2011 - $1,163) were due from 

a director.  The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no specific terms of 
repayment. 

 
f) At September 30, 2012, advances totalling $nil (September 30, 2011 - $840) were due from a 

senior officer and director. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no 
specific terms of repayment. 

Key management personnel compensation 

2012 2011
Short-term employee benefits – management fees -$               -$               
Short-term employee benefits - consulting fees 66,000           63,000           
Short-term employee benefits – salaries and wages 108,000         71,500           
Share-based payment 162,025         -                 

336,025$      134,500$       

Years ended September 30,

 
12. Financial risk management 

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  

Credit Risk  

The Company is exposed to credit risk by holding cash and short-term investments. Holding the 
cash and short-term investments in large Canadian financial institutions minimizes this risk. The 
Company has minimal accounts receivable exposure, and its various refundable credits are due 
from Canadian governments. 

Currency Risk  
 
The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is moderate foreign exchange 
risk to the Company as one of its mineral property interests is located in Nevada, USA.  
Management monitors its foreign currency balances and makes adjustments based on anticipated 
need for currencies. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to reduce its foreign 
currency risk. 
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12. Financial risk management (cont’d) 

Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash 
balances at variable rates. The fair value of the Company’s cash accounts is relatively unaffected 
by changes in short term interest rates. The income earned on certain bank accounts is subject to 
the movements in interest rates.  Currently, this risk will have an immaterial effect on operations. 
 
Price Risk 

 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or interest rate 
risk).  The Company is at risk to changes in commodity prices which may affect financing options 
available to the Company. 
Liquidity Risk  
 
Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due 
at any point in time. The Company manages this risk by careful management of its working capital. 
 
Capital Management 
 
The Company is engaged in the mineral exploration field and manages related industry risk issues 
directly.  The Company is potentially at risk for environmental issues and fluctuations in commodity 
based market prices associated with resource property interests.  Management is of the opinion 
that the Company addresses environmental risk and compliance in accordance with industry 
standards and specific project environmental requirements. 

 
The Company includes cash and equity in the definition of capital.  Equity is comprised of issued 
common shares, contributed surplus, and deficit. 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust 
its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, purchase shares for cancellation 
pursuant to normal course issuer bids or make special distributions to shareholders. The Company 
is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements and does not presently utilize any 
quantitative measures to monitor its capital.  

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the period.  
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

Classification of financial instruments 

The Company has designated its cash and short-term investments as held-for-trading, which is 
measured at fair value. Amounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables, which are 
measured at amortized cost.  Accounts payable and amounts due to related parties are classified 
as other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. 
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12. Financial risk management (cont’d) 

Fair value 
 
The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximates the carrying amount. 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The 
three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 
 

• Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 

either directly or indirectly; and 
• Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 
The fair value of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis include cash and short-term 
investments which are based on Level 1 inputs as they are measured with reference to identical 
demand instruments at BMO.  Management estimates that the recorded values of all accounts 
receivable, accounts payable, and amounts due to and from related parties approximate their 
current fair values because of their nature and anticipated settlement dates (Level 3). 
 

13. Income Taxes 
 

 The actual income tax provision differs from the expected amounts calculated by applying the 
Canadian combined federal and provincial corporate income tax rates to the Company’s loss before 
income taxes.  The components of these differences are estimated as follows: 

 
 

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 

  
Loss before income taxes (2,791,418) (482,390)
Corporate tax rate 25.34%  26.97% 
  
Expected tax recovery at statutory rates (707,300) (130,100)
Decrease (increase) resulting from:    
      Changes in estimated corporate tax rates 9,000  8,900 
      Expiry of non-capital losses carried forward -  - 
      Non deductable stock compensation and other 37,900  8,300 
      Current and prior tax attributes not recognized (recognized) 660,400  108,705 
   
Deferred income tax provision (recovery) -  (4,195)
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13. Income Taxes (cont’d) 
 
The Company’s tax-effected deferred income tax assets and liabilities are estimated as follows  

 
 2012 2011 

 $ $ 
 25.00%  25.00% 
Potential deferred income tax assets (liabilities)  
     Non-capital losses available 634,300  515,900 
     Net book value of exploration and evaluation assets 
      Less than tax bases 

 
163,300  

 
- 

     CEC pool 8,700  8,700 
     Share issue costs and other 44,100  59,900 
     Capital losses available 1,500  1,500 
  
 851,900  586,000 
     Net book value of exploration and evaluation assets 
      in excess of tax bases 

 
-  

 
(394,500)

  
Net potential deferred income tax assets 851,900  191,500 
Valuation allowance (851,900) (191,500)
   
Net deferred income tax assets - -

 
 

Management has determined that there is insufficient likelihood of recovery to record a deferred 
benefit arising from potential tax assets.  Accordingly a 100% valuation allowance has been 
applied. 
 
At September 30, 2012, the Company had net operating losses of $2,536,900, inclusive of those 
inherited from the discontinued operations of Northern Seas Products Ltd., for income tax 
purposes which subject to restrictions may be available to reduce future taxable income.  If not 
utilized, the losses expire through 2032 as follows: 

 
  $ 

   
2032  473,400 
2031  432,700 
2030  405,900 
2029  314,600 
2028  225,700 
2027  182,200 
2026  219,300 
2015  198,900 
2014  84,200 

  
  2,536,900 

 
During the year ended September 30, 2011, management and the property optionor made certain 
tax elections whereby the Company has forfeited the tax base associated with the equity 
issuances to the property optionor. 
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14. Transition to IFRS 

As result of the Accounting Standards Board of Canada’s decision to adopt IFRS for publicly 
accountable entities for financial reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011, the 
Company adopted IFRS in its financial statements commencing with the interim financial 
statements for the period ended December 31, 2011.  The Company previously applied the 
available standards under previous Canadian GAAP that were issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board of Canada. 

As required by IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, 
October 1, 2010 has been considered to be the date of transition to IFRS by the Company. 
Therefore, the comparative figures that were previously reported under previous Canadian GAAP 
have been restated in accordance with IFRS. 

Exemptions applied 

The Company has applied the following optional transition exemptions to full retrospective 
application of IFRS, as permitted by IFRS 1: 

‐ IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” has not been applied to acquisitions of subsidiaries or of 
interests in associates and joint ventures that occurred before October 1, 2010. 

‐ IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” has not been applied to equity instruments that were granted 
on or before November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that were granted subsequent to 
November 7, 2002 and vested before the later of the date of transition to IFRS and January 1, 
2005.  The Company has elected not to apply IFRS 2 to awards that vested prior to October 1, 
2010, which have been accounted for in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 
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14. Transition to IFRS (cont’d) 

The following tables present reconciliations of assets, liabilities and shareholder’s equity, loss and comprehensive loss and cash flows between 
certain amounts presented under IFRS versus those amounts as previously presented under Canadian GAAP. 

Reconciliation of assets 

  As at September 30, 2011  As at  October 1, 2010 
  

Notes 
Canadian 

GAAP 
Effect of 

Transition 
 

IFRS 
 Canadian 

GAAP 
Effect of 

Transition 
 

IFRS 
ASSETS         

Current assets         
Cash    $ 24,519  $ -  $ 24,519   $    1,869,396  $ -  $  1,869,396
Short-term investments    1,225,000   -   1,225,000    750,000   -   750,000
Receivables  66,114 - 66,114  33,905 - 33,905
Prepaids    5,353   -   5,353   -   -  -

  1,320,986 - 1,320,986  2,653,301 - 2,653,301

Non-current assets      
Reclamation bond  21,768  21,768  21,768  21,768
Equipment  5,210   - 5,210   -   -  717

  Exploration and evaluation assets - 7,133,389 7,133,389  -  5,124,660 5,124,660
Mineral property interests  14 (b) & (d) 7,328,720 (7,328,720)  - 5,124,660 (5,124,660)  -
                   

TOTAL ASSETS   $ 8,676,684  $ (195,331)-  $8,481,353   $  7,799,729  $ -  $  7,799,729
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14. Transition to IFRS (cont’d) 

Reconciliation of liabilities and shareholders’ equity 

  As at September 30, 2011  As at  October 1, 2010 
  

Notes 
  Canadian
  GAAP

  Effect of 
  Transition

   
  IFRS 

   Canadian
  GAAP

  Effect of 
  Transition

   
  IFRS 

LIABILITIES         

Current liabilities         
Trade payables and 
accrued liabilities   $ 133,742  $ -  $  133,742 

 
 $ 198,039  $ -  $ 198,039

Asset retirement obligation  21,768 - 21,768  21,768 - 21,768
Other liabilities  - - -  11,189 4,195 15,384
Due to related parties    58,480   -   58,480    58,679   -   58,679
      
TOTAL LIABILITIES    213,990   -   213,990    289,675   4,195   293,870
      
SHAREHOLDERS’ 
EQUITY    
Share capital    11,356,879   230,769  11,587,648    10,457,975  230,769   10,688,744
Contributed surplus    1,967,691   (1,967,691)   -    1,626,896   (1,626,896)   -
Reserves    -   1,967,691  1,967,691   -   1,626,896  1,626,896
Deficit   (4,861,876)   (426,100)  (5,287,976)    (4,574,817)   (234,964)   (4,809,781)
     
TOTAL EQUITY    8,462,694   (195,331)  8,267,363    7,510,054   (4,195)   7,505,859
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY   $ 8,676,684  $ (195,331)  $8,481,353 

 
 $ 7,799,729  $ -  $ 7,799,729
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14. Transition to IFRS (cont’d) 

Reconciliation of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended September 30, 2011 

  September 30, 2011 
 Note Canadian   Effect of   

  GAAP  Transition  IFRS 
       
Expenses       
Accounting, audit, and legal   $       54,319    $              -      $       54,319  
Amortization                313                    -                   313  
Consulting fees          157,864                    -             157,864  
Foreign exchange               (849)                   -                  (849) 
Office supplies and secretarial            61,023                    -               61,023  
Regulatory and filing            13,219                    -               13,219  
Rent            12,000                    -               12,000  
Stock-based compensation          119,299                    -             119,299  
Transfer agent fees & filing              9,908                    -                 9,908  
Travel and promotion            83,149                    -               83,149  
         (510,245)                   -            (510,245) 
       
Other items       
Interest income            29,257                    -               29,257  
Write down property interest             (1,402)                   -                (1,402) 
            27,855                    -               27,855  
       
Loss before income taxes         (482,390)                   -            (482,390) 
       

Future income tax recovery 
14(c) 
and (d)         195,331          (191,136)              4,195  

       
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $    (287,059)   $    (191,136)   $    (478,195) 
       
Loss per share - basic and diluted              (0.01)                (0.02) 
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14. Transition to IFRS (cont’d) 

Reconciliation of cash flows for the year ended September 30, 2011 

Canadian Effect of
Note GAAP Transition IFRS

Operating activities
Net loss for year 14 (c) and (d) (287,059)$      (191,136)$      (478,195)$      
Adjustments
  Amortization 313                -                 313                
  Interest income 14 (e) -                 (29,257)          (29,257)          
  Stockbased compensation 119,299         -                 119,299         
  Write down property interest 1,402             -                 1,402             
  Deferred income tax recovery 14 (c) and (d) (195,331)        191,136         (4,195)            

(361,376)        (29,257)          (390,633)        

Changes in non-cash working cap
  Accounts receivable (32,209)          -                 (32,209)          
  Deposits and prepaids (5,353)            -                 (5,353)            
  Taxes payable (11,189)          -                 (11,189)          
  Accounts payable/accrued liab 26,473           -                 26,473           

(383,654)        -                 (412,911)        

Investing Activities
  Short-term investments (475,000)        -                 (475,000)        
  Interest received 14 (e) -                 29,257           29,257           
  Purchase of fixed assets (5,522)            -                 (5,522)            
  Resource property expenditures (1,902,901)     -                 (1,902,901)     

(2,383,423)     29,257           (2,354,166)     

Financing Activities
  Issuance of share capital 922,400         -                 922,400         
  Advances to related parties (200)               -                 (200)               

922,200         -                 922,200         

Decrease in cash (1,844,877)     -                 (1,844,877)     

Cash beginning of year 1,869,396      -                 1,869,396      
Cash end of year 24,519$        -$               24,519$        

September 30, 2011
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14. Transition to IFRS (cont’d) 

(a) Reserves 

Under Canadian GAAP, amounts recorded in relation to the fair value of stock options granted 
and warrants issued were recorded to contributed surplus.  Under IFRS, these amounts have 
been reclassified as reserves. 
 

(b) Exploration and evaluation assets  

Under Canadian GAAP all mineral property interests were recorded to mineral property and 
equipment.  Under IFRS these have been reclassified to exploration and evaluation assets.  

(c)  Renounced resource deductions 

 During fiscal 2011, the Company renounced resource related Canadian income tax deductions 
in favour of the vendor of certain of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets originally 
acquired through the issuance of common shares of the Company to the vendor.  In accordance 
with Canadian GAAP, the company recorded a charge to exploration and evaluation assets and 
a deferred income tax recovery of $195,331, being a total of $781,324 of deductions at an 
estimated tax rate of 25%. 

 
 Under IFRS, the Company recorded this transaction at the fair value of the income tax 

deductions renounced which was estimated to be $Nil.  Accordingly, for the year ended 
September 30, 2011, the Company recorded a decrease in exploration and evaluation assets of 
$195,331 and reversed the corresponding deferred income tax recovery in reconciling from 
Canadian GAAP to IFRS. 

(d) Flow‐through shares 

Flow-through shares are a unique Canadian tax incentive which is the subject of specific 
guidance under Canadian GAAP. Under Canadian GAAP the Company accounted for the issue 
of flow-through shares in accordance with the provisions of CICA Emerging Issues Committee 
Abstract 146 “Flow-through Shares”. At the time of issue, the funds received are recorded as 
share capital. At the time of the filing of the renunciation of the qualifying flow-through 
expenditures to investors, the Company recorded a future income tax liability with a charge 
directly to shareholders’ equity. Through October 1, 2010, the cumulative future tax liability 
charged to shareholders’ equity totaled $250,000.  Also under Canadian GAAP the Company 
records a deferred tax recovery eligible to be recognized to offset the deferred tax charge to 
equity as a tax recovery in the statement of operations, which, through October 1, 2010 totaled 
$250,000.  

IFRS does not contain explicit guidance pertaining to this tax incentive. Therefore, the Company 
has adopted a policy whereby the premium paid for flow-through shares in excess of the market 
value of the Company’s common shares without the flow-through features at the time of issue is 
initially recorded as an other liability.  Upon renunciation by the Company of the tax benefits 
associated with the related expenditures, a deferred tax liability is recognized and the other 
liability will be reversed both by way of charges to operations during the period.  To the extent 
that suitable deferred tax assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred tax liability 
and record a deferred tax recovery. 
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14. Transition to IFRS (cont’d) 

(d) Flow-through shares (cont’d) 

The issue date premium paid for the flow-through common shares, which was measured as the 
excess of the consideration paid over the quoted market price of the underlying common stock 
totaled $19,231.  As a result of the renunciation of the related expenditures, the other liability 
was reduced to $4,915 as of October 1, 2010 and $nil during the first quarter of fiscal 2011.   

As described above, upon renunciation the Company also recognized a deferred tax liability of 
$195,467 through October 1, 2010 which was increased by $54,533 to $250,000 during the first 
quarter of fiscal 2011.  Each of these amounts was immediately reduced to $nil at the time of 
initial recognition by an offset upon recognition of previously unrecognized tax benefits resulting 
in related net deferred tax provision of $nil for all periods. 

(e) Interest income 

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company classified interest income as operating activities.  Under 
IFRS, interest income has been reclassified as an investing activity.  

 

15. Subsequent Event 

On October 19, 2012, a total of 729,286 warrants exercisable at $0.85 expired unexercised. 
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Amended and restated 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE TO READER 
 
Under National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3(3)(a), if an auditor has not performed a review 
of the interim financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that the financial 
statements have not been reviewed by an auditor. 
 
The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared by and are the 
responsibility of the management. 
 
The Company's independent auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements in 
accordance with the standards established by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants for a 
review of interim financial statements by an entity's auditor. 
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STINA RESOURCES LTD. Amended and restated

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

Expressed in Canadian dollars

June 30, September 30,

Notes 2015 2014

ASSETS

Current assets

      Cash  $              1,697  $            4,210 

      Receivables 4                    848                   366 

      Prepaids                13,600              13,600 

               16,145              18,176 

Non-current assets

Reclamation bond 6                21,768              21,768 

Equipment 5                 1,931                2,474 

Exploration and evaluation assets 6           1,771,681          1,769,818 

 $       1,811,525  $      1,812,236 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities

     Trade payables and accrued liabilities 7  $            79,217  $          97,164 

     Restoration obligation 6                21,768              21,768 

     Due to related parties 10                69,631            142,356 

             170,616            261,288 

Shareholders' equity

  Share capital  8         12,363,598        12,138,598 

  Share subscription 8                70,000                     -   

  Reserves 9 2,214,060          2,153,716         

  Deficit (13,006,749)       (12,741,366)      

          1,640,909          1,550,948 

 $       1,811,525  $      1,812,236 

Commitments (Note 6)

Subsequent events (Note 12)

"Jim Wall"    Director

Jim Wall James Corrigan

Summary of significant accounting policies (Note 2)

"James Corrigan"   

Nature of operations and going concern  (Note 1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Amended and restated

Consolidated Statements of Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss

(Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

Expressed in Canadian dollars

Notes 2015 2014 2015 2014

Expenses

     Accounting, audit and legal  $            9,274  $        30,960  $         25,420  $           40,125 

     Amortization                    181                  232                   543                     696 

     Consulting fees 10              18,050            23,150              69,450               62,150 

     Exchange loss (gain)                    483                   (15)                   548                     160 

     Office and sundry                8,362               4,515              21,166               21,923 

                   500               5,876                2,803                 7,701 

     Rent                3,000               3,000                8,000                 9,000 

     Salaries and benefits 10              19,181            26,159              67,475               93,528 

     Share-based payments 9                       -                        -                60,344                        -   

     Transfer agent                2,524               3,052                6,117                 7,636 

     Travel and promotion                       -                          -                3,517                 3,362 

Total expenses            (61,555)           (96,929)          (265,383)           (246,281)

Other items

   Interest expense                       -                        -                         -                     (257)

6                       -             (12,070)                       -          (2,989,231)

   Interest income                       -                        -                         -                       141 

                      -             (12,070)                       -          (2,989,347)

Net loss for the period            (61,555)        (108,999)          (265,383)        (3,235,628)

           (61,555)        (108,999)          (265,383)        (3,235,628)

outstanding (basic and diluted)      34,537,499    23,637,499      32,072,425       29,459,558 

Basic and diluted net loss per share  $             (0.00)  $           (0.00)  $            (0.01)  $              (0.11)

Nine months ended June 30,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Three months ended June 30,

STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Total loss and comprehensive loss for the period

Weighted average number of common shares

     Regulatory fees and shareholder  communications

   Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
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Amended and restated

(Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

Expressed in Canadian Dollars

Notes

Number of 

Common 

shares Amount

Share 

Subscription

Warrant and 

Stock Option

Reserve Deficit Total

Balance Forward at September 30, 2013 29,237,499 12,030,598$      -$                   2,129,716$      (8,426,915)$            5,733,399$        

Net loss and comprehensive Loss for the period ended June 30, 2014 (3,235,628)              (3,235,628)         

Shares for Private Placement 8 400,000        100,000             -                     -                   -                          100,000             

Allocate Fair Value of Warrants 8 -                (24,000)              -                     24,000             -                          -                     

Balance at June 30, 2014 29,637,499   12,106,598        -                     2,153,716        (11,662,543)            2,597,771          

Net Loss and comprehensive loss for the period ended September 30, 2014 (1,078,823)              (1,078,823)         

Shares issued on exploration and evaluation asset 6, 8 400,000        32,000               -                     -                   -                          32,000               

Balance at September 30, 2014 30,037,499 12,138,598 -                     2,153,716 (12,741,366)            1,550,948          

Net Loss and comprehensive loss for the period ended June 30, 2015 (265,383)                 (265,383)            

Shares for Private Placement 8 4,500,000     225,000             -                     - - 225,000             

Share subscription advance -                -                     70,000               -                   -                          70,000               

Stock Option Grant 8 -                -                     -                     60,344             - 60,344               

Balance at June 30, 2015 34,537,499   12,363,598$      70,000$             2,214,060$      (13,006,749)$          1,640,909$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

STINA RESOURCES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

ReservesShare Capital
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STINA RESOURCES LTD. Amended and restated

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

Expressed in Canadian Dollars

2015 2014 2015 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net loss for the year  $        (61,555)  $     (108,999)  $         (265,383)  $    (3,235,628)

   Amortization                   181                   232                       543                     696 

   Interest income                       -                         -                             -                     (141)

   Share-based payment                       -                    60,344                         -   

   Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets                       -                12,070                           -            2,989,231 

   Expenses recovered                       -                             -                           -   

Changes in non-cash working capital items:

  Receivables                1,971              (1,041)                      (482)                (1,041)

  Trade payables and accrued liabilities              (5,428)              50,135                (17,947)               57,232 

Net cash used in operating activities            (64,831)            (47,603)              (222,925)           (189,651)

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

  Short-term investments redeemed (purchased)                       -                         -                             -                 82,500 

  Interest received                       -                         -                             -                       141 

  Evaluation and exploration assets, net of recoveries 

  exploration costs, net of recoveries

                 (541)            (14,434)                  (1,863)              (61,965)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities                  (541)            (14,434)                  (1,863)               20,676 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

  Issuance of common shares, net of issue costs                       -                         -                 225,000             100,000 

  Share subscription              70,000                       -                    70,000                         -   

  Advances from related parties              (3,775)              51,600                (72,725)               51,600 

Net cash provided by financing activities              66,225              51,600               222,275             151,600 

Increase (Decrease) in cash                   853            (10,437)                  (2,513)              (17,375)

Cash, beginning of the period                   844              14,410                    4,210               21,348 

Cash, end of the period  $            1,697  $            3,973  $                1,697  $             3,973 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Shares issued for exploration and evaluation assets  $                   -    $                   -    $                       -    $                    -   

Exploration and evaluation expenditures included in 

accounts payable

 $                   -    $                   -    $                       -    $                    -   

Nine months ended June 30,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash used in operations:

Three months ended June 30,
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1. Nature and continuance of operations 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia, Canada, and its principal activity is the exploration of its mineral properties in Canada and 
the United States.  The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under 
the symbol “SQA”. 

The corporate office and principal place of business of the Company is Suite 10 – 8331 River Road, 
Richmond, British Columbia, Canada, V6X 1Y1. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company 
will continue as a going concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and 
will be able to realize assets and discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations.  Different 
bases of measurement may be appropriate if the Company is not expected to continue operations for 
the foreseeable future.  As at June 30, 2015, the Company had not advanced its properties to 
commercial production and is not able to finance day to day activities through operations.  The 
Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon the successful results from its mineral 
property exploration activities and its ability to attain profitable operations and generate funds there 
from and/or raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations.  
Management intends to finance operating costs over the next twelve months with loans from directors 
and companies controlled by directors and/or private placement of common shares.  These 
uncertainties may cast substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation 

The financial statements were authorized for issue on August 24, 2015 by the directors of the 
Company. 

Statement of compliance  

The interim consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance 
with the principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  Therefore, these financial statements comply with 
International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”.  

This interim financial report does not include all of the information required of a full annual financial 
report and is intended to provide users with an update in relation to events and transactions that are 
significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the Company 
since the end of the last annual reporting period.  It is therefore recommended that this financial 
report be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
September 30, 2014.   

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified where applicable.  The financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars unless otherwise noted. 

Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Company and 
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Stina Resources Nevada Ltd., since its inception on 
December 14, 2009. Stina Resources Nevada Ltd. was incorporated in the United States of America. 

All intercompany balances and transactions were eliminated upon consolidation. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions  

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period.  

Significant Judgments and estimates made in the preparation of the financial statements: 

Going concern assessment: The preparation of these financial statements under the going concern 
assumption requires significant judgment in assessing that future loans or equity financing are likely 
to be available in order to meet obligations coming due. The going concern assumption implies that 
the Company is expected to continue operations for at least the ensuing 12 month period. 
Alternatively, if the going concern assumption was not appropriate then assets of the Company would 
be stated at liquidation values which could result in a material change to asset values.  

Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. Areas requiring a 
significant degree of estimation uncertainty relate to: 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets: The future recoverability of exploration and 
evaluation assets is dependent on a number of factors, including whether the Company intends to 
exploit the related mineral interest itself or whether it can successfully recover the related exploration 
and evaluation asset through sale.  Factors that could impact the future recoverability include 
commodity prices, the amount of estimated reserves and resources, the number of interested 
purchasers, future technological changes which could impact the cost of mining or future legal 
changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations). To the extent that the 
capitalized exploration and evaluation asset is determined not to be recoverable in the future, the net 
asset will be reduced in the period in which this determination is made.  

Stock based compensation: Upon granting stock options, management must select a valuation model 
as well as subjective inputs to that model in estimating the fair value of the options. Judgements are 
made regarding employee retention, expected exercise periods, and future stock volatility in 
estimating the fair value. Changes made to these judgements and estimates could materially affect 
the reported amount of stock based compensation in the period. 

Foreign currency translation 

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiary is determined by the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The financial statements are presented in 
Canadian dollars which is both the Company’s and its subsidiary’s functional currency.  The 
Company presently conducts the majority of its activities in Canada. 

Transactions and balances: 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-
end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported 
at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary 
items are recognized in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in 
which they arise, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the statement of loss and comprehensive income to the extent that gains 
and losses arising on those non-monetary items are also recognized in other comprehensive 
income. Where the non-monetary gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss, the exchange 
component is also recognized in profit or loss. 

Share-based payments 

The Company operates an employee stock option plan.  Share-based payments to employees are 
measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods.  Share-
based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received or 
the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or 
services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are 
received.  The corresponding amount is recorded to the option reserve.  The fair value of options is 
determined using a Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions. 
The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each 
reporting period such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the 
equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

Share capital and share units 

Common shares and share units issued are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of common shares and units are recognized as a deduction from equity, net 
of any tax effect. 

Proceeds received on the issuance of units, consisting of common shares and share purchase 
warrants are allocated between the common share and warrant component. Historically the fair value 
of the common shares issued in unit private placements has determined to be the more reliably 
measurable component and has been measured at its fair value, as determined by the closing bid 
price on the issuance date.  The remaining proceeds, if any, would be allocated to the attached 
warrants.  Any value attributed to the warrants is recorded as warrant reserve. If the warrants are 
exercised, the related amount is reclassified as share capital. If the warrants expire unexercised, the 
related amount remains in warrant reserve. 

Financial instruments 

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, available-for-sale and financial liabilities. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.  

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are either held for trading 
for the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are 
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a 
group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are 
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss.   

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. These are classified as non-current assets.   

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available-for-sale or are not suitable to be classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments and are subsequently measured at fair  
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

value.  These are included in current assets. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses.   

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost.   

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date – the date on which 
the Company commits to purchase the asset.  
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership.  
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and 
prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment 
has arisen. 
 
The Company does not have any derivative financial assets and liabilities. 
 
Impairment of assets  
 
The carrying amount of the Company’s non-current assets (which include equipment and exploration 
and evaluation assets) is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognized in the Statement Comprehensive Loss.  
 
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in 
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer 
exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, 
however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognized in previous years.  
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for 
impairment. 
 

Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Flow-Through Shares 

Share capital includes flow-through shares which is a unique Canadian tax incentive pursuant to 
certain provisions of the Canadian Income Tax Act. Proceeds from the issuance of flow-through 
shares are used to fund qualified exploration and evaluation expenditures and the related income tax 
deductions are renounced to the subscribers of the flow-through shares. Any premium paid for flow-
through shares in excess of the market value of the shares without flow-through features, at the time 
of issue, is credited to accrued liabilities.  Upon completion of the qualifying expenditures and 
renouncement by the Company of the tax benefits associated with the related expenditures, a 
deferred tax liability is recognized and the flow-through tax liability will be reversed.  To the extent that 
suitable deferred tax assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred tax liability and 
record a deferred tax recovery. 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
The Company is in the exploration stage in respect to its exploration and evaluation assets.   
 
Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and 
evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These 
direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, geological and geophysical evaluation, 
surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation on property and 
equipment during the exploration phase.  Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation 
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year in which they 
occur. 
 
Where the Company has entered into option agreements for the acquisition of an interest in 
exploration and evaluation assets which provided for periodic payments, such amounts unpaid are 
not recorded as a liability when they are payable entirely at the Company's discretion. Although the 
Company has taken steps to verify title to the exploration and evaluation assets in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. The exploration and evaluation 
assets may be subject to prior undetected agreements or transfers and title may be affected by such 
defects. 
 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, 
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired.  As a 
result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated recoveries, are 
written-off to the Statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment at each reporting date. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been 
determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as “mine 
development cost”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment before the assets 
are transferred to development properties. 
 
Any incidental revenue earned in connection with exploration activities is applied as a reduction to 
capitalized exploration costs.  Any operational income earned in connection with exploration activities 
is recognized in the Statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation (cont’d) 

Restoration and environmental obligations 

The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations 
associated with the retirement of long-term assets, when those obligations result from the acquisition, 
construction, development or normal operation of the assets. The net present value of future 
restoration cost estimates arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work 
is capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets along with a corresponding increase in the 
restoration provision in the period incurred. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time 
value of money are used to calculate the net present value. The restoration asset will be depreciated 
on the same basis as other mining assets. 

The Company’s estimates of restoration costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory 
requirements, discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future 
expenditures. These changes are recorded directly to exploration and evaluation assets with a 
corresponding entry to the restoration provision. The Company’s estimates are reviewed annually for 
changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and changes in estimates. 

Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of reclamation 
costs, are charged to profit or loss for the period. 

The net present value of restoration costs arising from subsequent site damage that is incurred on an 
ongoing basis during production are charged to profit or loss in the period. 

The costs of restoration projects that were included in the provision are recorded against the 
provision as incurred. The costs to prevent and control environmental impacts at specific properties 
are capitalized in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation 
assets. 

Equipment 

Equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of income and 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognized in profit or loss in the period. 

 Depreciation is calculated on the declining balance basis at the following annual rates: 
 
  Computer equipment  30%  
  Office equipment  25% 
 
One-half the normal rate is recorded in the year of acquisition. 
 

3. New accounting pronouncements 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been adopted by the Company as of the 
beginning of the current fiscal period.  The adoption of the following standard during the period did 
not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements. 
 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - IAS 32 amendment provides clarification on the 
application of offsetting rules. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014 and the adoption had no impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
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3. New accounting pronouncements (cont’d) 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 
the June 30, 2015 reporting period.  The Company is assessing the impact that the new and 
amended standards will have on its financial statements or whether to early adopt any of the new 
requirements. The following is a brief summary of the new standards:  
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers provides a single principle-based framework to be 
applied to all contracts with customers. IFRS 15 replaces the previous revenue standard IAS 18, 
Revenue, and the related Interpretations on revenue recognition. The standard scopes out contracts 
that are considered to be lease contracts, insurance contracts and financial instruments. The new 
standard is a control-based model as compared to the existing revenue standard which is primarily 
focused on risks and rewards. Under the new standard, revenue is recognized when a customer 
obtains control of a good or service. Transfer of control occurs when the customer has the ability to 
direct the use of and obtain the benefits of the good or service.  This standard is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 
  
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – IFRS 9 is a partial replacement of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement”.  The standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018.  
 

4. Receivables 

 June 30, 

2015 

September 30, 

2014 

Goods and Services tax receivables   $       848   $       366 

 

5. Equipment 

 
`

Computer Office

Equipment Equipment Total

Cost:

At September 30,  2013,  2014, and 

June 30, 2015  $                765  $            4,758  $            5,523 

Depreciation:

At September 30, 2013                     310                 2,043                2,353 

Charge for the year                       85                    611                   696 

At September 30, 2014                     395                 2,654                3,049 

Charge for the period                       69                    474                   543 

At June 30, 2015                     464                 3,128                3,592 

Net book value:

At September 30, 2014                     370                 2,104                2,474 

At June 30, 2015  $                301  $            1,630  $            1,931 
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6. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 

Nine months ended Year ended

June 30, September 30, 

2015 2014

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nevada, USA

Acquisition costs:

   Balance, beginning of period 897,722$         897,722$         

     Staking and claim costs -                    -                    

  Balance, end of period 897,722           897,722           

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of period 840,095           825,972           

     Geological consulting 455                   2,542                

     Claim fees and staking -                    6,128                

     Storage 1,408                5,453                

  Balance, end of period 841,958           840,095           

  Total Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 1,739,680$     1,737,817$     

Kodiak Property, Yukon, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of period -$                  647,175$         

  Balance, end of period -                    647,175           

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of period -                    379,537           

  Balance, end of period -                    379,537           

Impairment -                    (1,026,712)      

  Total Kodiak Property -$                  -$                  

(continues)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



STINA RESOURCES LTD.                                                                                                           Amended and restated 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

For the nine months ended June 30, 2015 

 15 

 

 

6. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

Nine months ended Year ended

June 30, September 30, 

2015 2014

Dime Property, Yukon, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of period -$                  827,150$         

  Balance, end of period -                    827,150           

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of period -                    2,106,539        

    Geological consulting -                    8,451                

    Geomagnetic -                    26,678             

    Helicopter rentals -                    10,793             

    Camp expense -                    9,619                

  Balance, end of period -                    2,162,080        

Impairment -                    (2,989,230)      

  Total Dime Property -$                  -$                  

KC Property, British Columbia, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of period 32,000$           -$                  

     400,000 shares at $0.08 -                    32,000             

  Balance, end of period 32,000$           32,000$           

Bandit Creek Property, British Columbia, Canada

  Total Bandit Creek Property 1$                     1$                     

Total Exploration and Evaluation Assets 1,771,681$     1,769,818$     
 

The following is a description of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets and the related 
spending commitments: 

a) Bisoni MacKay Property, Nevada 
 

On April 25, 2005, Company entered into a property option agreement with Vanadium 
International Co. (“Vanadium”) to purchase a 50% undivided interest in 19 mining claims (the 
Bisoni MacKay Vanadium Property), located in Nye County, Nevada, USA. The optioned claims 
are subject to a 2.5% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR). 
 
The Company earned its 50% interest, by making a series of cash payments totaling $250,000 
($175,000 of which was settled for 175,000 shares), issuing 1,250,000 shares to Vanadium, as 
well as funding $700,000 of exploration activities. 
 
During 2008, the Company exercised a purchase option, included in the original property option 
agreement, to acquire the remaining 50% interest in the mining claims, for a 100% total interest, 
subject to the 2.5% NSR. Consideration under the purchase option included a US$2,000,000  
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6. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

a) Bisoni MacKay Property, Nevada (cont’d) 
 
payment to the vendor.  The US$2,000,000 option payment was satisfied in a share settlement 
through the issuance of 1,995,600 common shares with a fair value of $0.7982 per share. 
 
The Company has staked an additional 18 claims in the area which are contiguous with the 
existing claims. 
 
During 2008, the Company posted a reclamation bond with the Nevada state government should 
the Company not complete any required site reclamation or environmental remediation. Effective 
October 1, 2008, the Company recorded an asset retirement obligation of $21,768 relating to the 
Company’s activities on the property. The site reclamation is expected to occur at the end of the 
Phase II drill program. 
 
Managements’ review for indications of impairment in fiscal 2012 primarily considered that the 
acquisition costs of this property appeared non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition 
costs were primarily based on 3,245,000 common shares that were issued at an average price of 
$0.78 per share. During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,962,257 
to decrease the carrying value of the property based on market indicators.  
 

b)  Kodiak Property, Yukon 
 

On June 18, 2009, the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration 
Inc. (“REI”) pursuant to which REI has agreed to grant the Company an option to purchase a 
100% beneficial interest in 152 mining claims located in the Dawson Mining District, Yukon 
Territory, subject to REI retaining a 2% NSR. 
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments, share issuances and 
expenditures: 

 
Cash payments: 
 

-  $75,000 within five days of TSX-V approval (paid) 
-  $50,000 on or before June 15, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 15, 2011 (paid) 
-  $75,000 on or before June 15, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 (paid) 
-  $75,000 on or before June 15, 2013, reduced to $50,000 and extended to June 15, 

2014 (unpaid) 
-  $50,000 on or before June 15, 2015 
 

Shares: 
 

-  250,000 common shares of the Company within five days of TSX-V approval (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2010 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2011 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2012 (issued) 
-  250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2013 (issued) 

 
Exploration Expenditures: 
 

-  $100,000 on or before November 18, 2009 (incurred) 
-  $200,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred)  
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6. Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

b)  Kodiak Property, Yukon (cont’d) 
 

-  $300,000 on or before November 18, 2011 (reduced to $100,000 and extended to on or 
before November 18, 2014; $100,000 on or before November 18, 2015, and $100,000 
on or before November 18, 2016) 

 
The Company has the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of $2,000,000.  On 
January 9, 2015, the Company gave notice of termination of the option agreement to the vendor 
and has recognized an impairment of $1,026,712 in fiscal 2014. 

 
c) Dime Property, Yukon 

 
On July 23, 2009, the Company entered into a property option agreement with REI to earn a 
100% interest in 308 claims in the Dawson Mining District, Yukon Territory, subject to a 2% NSR 
in favor of the optionor.  
 
To exercise its option, the Company must make the following payments and expenditures: 
 

Cash payments: 
 

-  $125,000 within fifteen days of TSX-V approval (paid) 
-  $125,000 on or before June 26, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2011 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 (paid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before December 31, 2013 (paid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before March 31, 2014 (unpaid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before July 31, 2014 (unpaid) 

Shares: 

- 200,000 common shares of the Company within five days of TSX-V approval (issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2010 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2011 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2012 (issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2013 (issued) 

Exploration Expenditures: 

-  in the amount of $100,000 on or before November 15, 2009 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $250,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $500,000 on or before November 15, 2011 (incurred) 
-  a cumulative amount of $600,000 on or before November 15, 2012 (incurred) 

The Company has the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of $2,000,000. 

On May 7, 2014, the Company decided not to proceed with its option to earn its interest in the 
property and recorded an impairment of $2,989,230 in fiscal 2014. 

 

d) KC Property, British Columbia 

On June 27, 2014, the Company entered into an option agreement with Kevin Cohen to earn 
100% interest in the 405 hectare KC property located in the Kitimat-Stikine district of British 
Columbia, approximately 30 kilometres southeast of the city of Stewart.  

The agreement calls for the issuance of 400,000 common shares (issued) and a $5,000 cash 
payment (deferred). 
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7. Trade payables and accrued liabilities 

 June 30, 
2015 

September 30, 
2014 

Trade payables  $      74,929  $      73,164   
Accrued liabilities   4,288   24,000  

  $     79,217   $     97,164  

 

8. Share capital 

Authorized share capital 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

Issued share capital 

Number of Amount  Number of Amount  

   Shares         $          Shares         $       

     

Balance, beginning of period 30,037,499     12,138,598     29,237,499        12,030,598     

Issued during the period:

For Cash, private placement 

         - at $0.05 i) 4,500,000        225,000           -                 -               

         - at $0.25 ii) -                    -                    400,000              100,000           

Less value allocated to warrants -                    (24,000)            

Share issue costs -                    -                    -                       -                    

For Mineral Property:

         - at $0.08 per share iii) -                    -                    400,000              32,000             

Balance, end of period 34,537,499     12,363,598     30,037,499        12,138,598     

Year ended 

September 30, 2014

Nine months ended 

June 30, 2015

 

i) On February 27, 2015, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 4,500,000 
units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $225,000.  Each unit consisted of one 
common share and one two year non-transferable share purchase warrant.  Each warrant will 
entitle the holder to purchase one additional common share of the Company for a period of two 
years at a price of $0.20 per share on until February 27, 2017.  The Company estimated the fair 
value of the common shares issued as part of these units to approximate the issue price of the 
entire unit.  Accordingly, in applying the residual value method, the Company assigned a value of 
$nil to the warrant component of this instrument. 
 

ii) On January 30, 2014, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 400,000 
units at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross proceeds of $100,000.  Each unit consisted of one 
common share and one two year non-transferable share purchase warrant.  Each warrant will 
entitle the holder to purchase one additional common share of the Company for a period of two 
years at a price of $0.50 per share on until January 30, 2016. The Company estimated the fair 
value of the common shares issued as part of these units to be $76,000.  Accordingly, in applying 
the residual value method, the Company assigned a value of $24,000 to the warrant component 
of this instrument. 
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8. Share capital (cont’d) 
 

iii) On August 28, 2014, the Company issued 400,000 common shares with a fair value of $0.08 
per share as part of a property acquisition.  Fair value was determined using the quoted price 
at the time of the transaction. 

 
As at June 30, 2015 the Company has received share subscriptions totaling $70,000 (see Note 12 – 
Subsequent event). 
 
Stock options 
 
The Company has adopted an incentive stock option plan, which provides that the Board of Directors 
of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with the TSX-V 
requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees and technical consultants to the Company, non-
transferable stock options to purchase common shares, provided that the number of common shares 
reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares.  
Such options will be exercisable for a period of up to 5 years from the date of grant.  In connection 
with the foregoing, the number of common shares reserved for issuance to any one optionee will not 
exceed five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding common shares and the number of common 
shares reserved for issuance to all technical consultants will not exceed two percent (2%) of the 
issued and outstanding common shares.  Options may be exercised no later than 90 days following 
cessation of the optionee’s position with the Company or 30 days following cessation of an optionee 
conducting investor relations activities. 
 
The changes in options during the period ended June 30, 2015 and year ended September 30, 2014 
are as follows: 
 

 June 30, 2015 September 30, 2014 
 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

 

Options outstanding, 
beginning of period 2,250,000  $ 0.31    2,250,000  $ 0.31  
Options expired    (375,000) 0.30 - -  
Options cancelled    (800,000) 0.15 - -  
Options granted 1,025,000 0.05 - -  
Options outstanding, 
end of period 2,100,000  $ 0.24  2,250,000  $ 0.31  
Options exercisable, 
end of period   2,100,000  $ 0.24  2,250,000  $ 0.31  

 
Details of options outstanding as at June 30, 2015 are as follows: 
 

 Weighted average 
  exercise price 

 Weighted average 
 contractual life 

 Number of options 
  outstanding 

 $0.46  0.10 years  825,000 
 $0.33  0.72 years  250,000 

$0.05                     4.53 years                            1,025,000 
 $0.24  2.34 years  2,100,000 
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8. Share capital (cont’d) 

 
Warrants 

`

September 30, June 30,

2014 Issued (Expired) (Exercised) 2015 Terms

2,100,000        -               -             -              2,100,000      $.45 and 1 warrant to September 19, 2017

400,000           -               -             -              400,000          $.50 and 1 warrant to January 30, 2016

-                    4,500,000  4,500,000      $.20 and 1 warrant to February 27, 2017

2,100,000        4,500,000  -             -              7,000,000      

 
On July 30, 2015, the Company received TSX Venture Exchange approval to extend the expiry date 
of 2,100,000 warrants from September 19, 2015 to September 19, 2017. 
 

9. Reserves 
 

The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s balance sheet is composed of the value of stock 
option grants and share purchase warrants issued prior to exercise at which time the corresponding 
amount will be transferred to share capital.  The original value recorded for options and warrants that 
expire unexercised remains in the reserve balance. 
 

10. Related party transactions 
 

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties: 
 

a) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $55,000 (2014 - $44,000) with a 
company owned by a director for consulting services.   

 
b) The Company incurred remuneration in the amount of $55,000 (2014 - $49,500) with a senior 

officer and director. 
 
c) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $nil (2014 - $31,700) with a director. 

 
d) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $nil (2014 - $6,000) with a senior officer 

and director. 
 

e) At June 30, 2015, a director and senior officer advanced $nil (September 31, 2014 - $94,000) to 
the Company. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no specific terms of 
repayment.   

 
f) At June 30, 2015, the Company owes $7,500 (2014 - $nil) to a senior officer and director for 

consulting fees. The Company also owes 13,775 (2014 - $nil) to a company owned by a senior 
officer and director for consulting services.  The Company also owes $50,856 to an unrelated  
company owned by a shareholder.  The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have 
no specific terms of repayment.   

 
Key management personnel compensation 

2015 2014

Short-term employee benefits - consulting fees 55,000$          50,000$              

Short-term employee benefits – salaries and wages 55,000            81,200                

110,000$         131,200$            

Nine months ended June 30,
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11. Financial risk management 
 

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  
 
Credit Risk  
 
The Company is exposed to credit risk by holding cash and short-term investments. Holding the cash 
and short-term investments in large Canadian financial institutions minimizes this risk. The Company 
has minimal accounts receivable exposure, and its various refundable credits are due from Canadian 
governments. 
 
Currency Risk  
 
The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is moderate foreign exchange risk 
to the Company as one of its mineral property interests is located in Nevada, USA.  Management 
monitors its foreign currency balances and makes adjustments based on anticipated need for 
currencies. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to reduce its foreign currency 
risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash 
balances at variable rates. The fair value of the Company’s cash accounts is relatively unaffected by 
changes in short term interest rates. The income earned on certain bank accounts is subject to the 
movements in interest rates.  Currently, this risk will have an immaterial effect on operations. 
 
Price Risk 
 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk).  
The Company is at risk to changes in commodity prices which may affect financing options available 
to the Company. 
 
Liquidity Risk  
 
Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at 
any point in time. The Company manages this risk by careful management of its working capital. 
 
Capital Management 
 
The Company is engaged in the mineral exploration field and manages related industry risk issues 
directly.  The Company is potentially at risk for environmental issues and fluctuations in commodity 
 
based market prices associated with resource property interests.  Management is of the opinion that 
the Company addresses environmental risk and compliance in accordance with industry standards 
and specific project environmental requirements. 
 
The Company includes cash and equity in the definition of capital.  Equity is comprised of issued 
common shares and deficit. 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust its 
capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, purchase shares for cancellation pursuant to 
normal course issuer bids or make special distributions to shareholders. The Company is not subject 
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11. Financial risk management (cont’d) 

 
to any externally imposed capital requirements and does not presently utilize any quantitative 
measures to monitor its capital.  
 
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the period.  The 
Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Classification of financial instruments 
 
The Company has designated its cash as held-for-trading, which is measured at fair value. Amounts 
receivable are classified as loans and receivables, which are measured at amortized cost.  Accounts 
payable and amounts due to related parties are classified as other financial liabilities, which are 
measured at amortized cost. 
 
Fair value 
 
The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximates the carrying amount. 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 
 

 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 
either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
The fair value of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis include cash and short-term 
investments which are based on Level 1 inputs as they are measured with reference to identical 
demand instruments at BMO.  Management estimates that the recorded values of all accounts 
receivable, accounts payable, and amounts due to and from related parties approximate their current 
fair values because of their nature and anticipated settlement dates (Level 3). 
 

 
12. Subsequent events 

 
On July 10, 2015 the Company issued 1,000,000 units at $0.20 for total proceeds of $200,000 
($70,000 received as of June 30, 2015) through the sale of one million units at $0.20 each. Each unit 
consists of one common share of the company and one share purchase warrant, wherein each share 
purchase warrant shall have a two-year term for the purchase of one further common share of the 
company at the exercise price of 0.40 per share. 
 
On August 5, 2015, 825,000 employee options exercisable at $0.46 expired unexercised. 
 
On August 17, 2015 the Company received approval from the TSX-V to extend the expiry date of 
2,100,000 warrants exercisable at $0.45 until September 19, 2017. 
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Item 1: ANNUAL MD&A  
 
Forward-looking Information 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) contains certain forward-looking statements and information relating 
to Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) that are based on the beliefs of its management as well as assumptions made by and 
information currently available to the Company. When used in this document, the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, 
“expect” and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company or its management, are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements. This MD&A contains forward-looking statements relating to, among other things, regulatory compliance, the 
sufficiency of current working capital, the estimated cost and availability of funding for the continued exploration and 
development of Company exploration properties. Such statements reflect the current views of the Company with respect to 
future events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many factors could cause the actual results, 
performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 
that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Aside from factors identified in the annual MD&A, 
additional important factors, if any, are identified here. 
 
NATURE OF BUSINESS: 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of British Columbia and is engaged in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of resource properties. The Company’s current primary activity is the exploration of the Bisoni 
McKay Vanadium Property in northern Nevada, and future exploration of the KC Property in northern British Columbia. 
Additionally, the Company intends to seek further venture acquisitions that may increase shareholder value and generate 
revenues. 
  
The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol SQA. 
 
1.1 DATE  
 
The following discussion and analysis was approved by the Directors of the Company and should be read in conjunction with 
the audited financial statements for year ended September 30, 2014, and unaudited financial statements for the quarters ending, 
December 31, 2013, March 31, 2014, June 30, 2014 and the related notes thereto. All figures are in Canadian dollars unless 
otherwise noted.  

 
1.2 OPERATIONS DETAIL AND FINANCIAL CONDITIONS: 
 

(a) Acquisitions & Dispositions: 

See Note 7 – Exploration and Evaluation Assets of the Financial Statements 

 

1)  Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in Nevada 

 
In 2005 the company entered into an option agreement with Vanadium International Corp. (VIC) to acquire 50% of the rights 
to 19 mining claims covering 392.6 acres, located in Nye County, Nevada, USA, called the Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property. 
In earning its interest, the Company made cash payments totaling $250,000, issued 1,250,000 shares to Vanadium, and funded 
$700,000 of exploration activities 
. 
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On July 3, 2008 the Company issued an additional 800,000 common shares to VIC in a shares for debt arrangement to 
complete the initial 50% acquisition, then issued an additional 1,995,600 shares at a deemed price of $1 (Canadian) per share 
to Vanadium as payment of the $2-million (U.S.) purchase price (based on a deemed exchange rate of $1 (Canadian):$1.0022 
(U.S.)) to VIC as option payment for the remaining 50% of the property. Stina now holds 100% of the rights to 37 mineral 
claims on the property. In the subsequent period (January 2013) the Company Directors elected to impair the property value by 
$1,962,257 effective September 30, 2012. Managements’ review for indications of impairment primarily considered that the 
acquisition costs of this property appeared non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition costs were primarily based 
on 3,245,000 common shares that were issued at an average cost of $0.78 per share. At September 30, 2012, the shares would 
have been worth $0.18 per share. During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,962,257 to decrease 
the carrying value of the property based on market indicators  
 
Present Outlook 
The Company has contracted ED Ullmer, P. Geo to update the property’s NI-43-101 report and currently awaits a final copy. 
The company intends to further explore alternative recovery methods as per the incomplete Lyntek technical report, in addition 
to observing the developments in the oncoming year of other vanadium producers. By completing this report and exploring 
various vanadium outputs alternative to V2O5, the company believes it can better assess the future potential of the Bisoni 
McKay Property. 
 

 2) Kodiak Gold Property in the Yukon 

On June 18, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration Inc. (“REI”) to purchase a 100-
per-cent beneficial interest in 152 mining claims located in the Dawson mining district, Yukon Territory, generally known and 
described as the Kodiak Property, subject to a 2-per-cent net smelter interest in favour of REI.  

 Pursuant to the option agreement, to exercise the option the Company was required to:  

 Pay to REI:  
- $75,000 within five days after the approval date of the option agreement by the TSX-V (Paid);  
- $50,000 on or before June 15, 2010; (Paid) 
- $100,000 on or before June 15, 2011; (Paid) 
- $75,000 on or before June 15, 2012, (Paid) 
- $75,000 on or before June 15, 2013, (extended – under renegotiation) 

 Issue and deliver to REI:  
-  250,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2010 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2011 (issued) 
-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2012 (issued) 
-  250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2013 (issued) 
Incur expenditures:  
-  $100,000 on or before November 18, 2009 (incurred) 
-  $200,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred)  
-  $300,000 on or before November 18, 2011 (reduced to $100,000 and extended to on or before November 18, 2014; 
-  $100,000 on or before November 18, 2015, and $100,000 on or before November 18, 2016) 
 
The Company had the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of $2,000,000. 
 
The Kodiak property claim block consists of 152 claims covering 30 square kilometers or 6400 acres and ties on to the 
southern side of Kinross Gold Corp white gold property. The Kodiak claim block also straddles Thistle creek which was the 
richest placer gold-producing creek in the area given up more than 63,000 ounces of placer gold since the turn of the century.  

REI is the property vendor for Kinross Gold Corps’ (formerly Underworld Resources Inc's) White Property and has re-
evaluated the Geological Survey of Canada database for similar positive indicators for white-style mineralization. The GSC 
airborne magnetic data indicate the Kodiak claims are sitting on the same regional north - south magnetic high anomaly that 
Kinross Gold Corp’s White Gold Property is now covering. The GSC silt survey of the Thistle area indicates a 90-per-cent 
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percentile gold anomaly, a 98-per-cent percentile arsenic anomaly and up to 99-per-cent percentile silver anomaly all draining 
from the Kodiak property. Again, all positive indicator elements are in white-gold-style mineralization. The third piece of data 
that increases the Kodiak potential is the GSC geology map. The GSC geology map has noted a northwest and northeast 
trending regional structure and the same geological units were mapped by the GSC on both the white and Kodiak properties 
which consist of DMa amphibolites, DMogtorthogneiss, and DMps quartz mica schist.  

Results from the 2010 soil survey have extended the main 2009 northwest-trending soil anomaly (Main Northwest trend) to a 
strike length of four km and defined a second parallel four km long anomaly, with values up to 856.8 ppb gold (No. 2 
Northwest trend), approximately one km to the southwest. The location that had a 856.8 ppb gold could not be trenched due to 
steep topography. Infill sampling on the Zipper trend in 2010 has outlined a gold anomalous zone at the junction of the 
northerly Zipper trend with the Main Northwest trend. 

On December 30, 2014 the Company elected to terminate the option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration for the Kodiak 
Property. The property was written off for a total impairment of $1,026,712 as of September 30, 2014. (See Section 7 of the 
Financial Statements)  

 

3)  Dime Gold Property in the Yukon 

On July 23, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration Inc. (“REI”) to acquire a 100 
per-cent beneficial interest in 128 mining claims located in the Dawson mining district, Yukon Territory, generally known and 
described as the Dime Property, subject to a 2-per-cent net smelter interest in favour of REI (the Company has the option to 
purchase one-half of the net smelter return royalty for a payment of $2-million) 

Pursuant to the option agreement, to exercise the option the Company must:  

Pay to REI:  
-  $125,000 within fifteen days of Exchange approval (paid) 
-  $125,000 on or before June 26, 2010 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2011 (paid) 
-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 (paid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before December 31, 2013 (paid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before March 31, 2014 (unpaid) 
-  $  50,000 on or before July 31, 2014 (unpaid) 

Issue and deliver to REI: 
- 200,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval (issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2010 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2011 (issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2012 (issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2013 (issued) 

Exploration expenditures: 
-  in the amount of $100,000 on or before November 15, 2009 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $250,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred) 
-  an additional amount of $500,000 on or before November 15, 2011 (incurred) 
-  a cumulative amount of $600,000 on or before November 15, 2012 (incurred) 

The Dime property is located 42 kilometers northwest of the Kinross (formerly Underworld’s) White Gold project and 
covers a well-known placer gold creek called Ten Mile. Ten Mile creek has produced coarse placer gold since the turn of 
the century and the placer deposits are believed to be locally derived. In 1998 Teck Corp. staked the ground surrounding 
two placer gold districts in the Dawson area. One was the area now covered by Kinross Gold Corp. Underworld's White 
Gold property and the second one was a claim package in the Ten Mile Creek area. Teck worked on both properties for 
two or three seasons and successfully identified several promising targets. The company changed its focus in 2000 and 
dropped all their gold exploration efforts in the Dawson area, except claims in the 10 Mile area, which it optioned to 
Radius Gold. 
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In early 2010, the Company announced results of 2009 exploration consisting of a 191-soil-sample program, collected on a 
grid covering about 37 hectares on the Dime property. The gold values in the survey reached as high as 6,082 parts per billion 
or six grams per ton gold and defined an easterly trend. The 2010 soil survey collected a total of 3401 soil samples covering a 
total of 13.2 square kilometers, or (1,322 hectares) or 3268 acres (5.1 square miles) which represent 21% of the property 
sample so far. Three new gold soil anomalies were discovered. The soil anomalies were named as geographic locations relative 
to each other hence the names are, West anomaly, Central anomaly, and East anomaly. The three gold soil anomalies appear to 
be structurally controlled with the West soil anomaly running in an east west direction (following a slight east west magnetic 
anomaly), the Central Anomaly is center on a north south magnetic low structure and the Eastern soil anomaly appears to be 
related to separate north south magnetic low structure.  
On May 7, 2014, the Company decided not to proceed with its option to earn its interest in the property has recorded an 
impairment of $2,989,230 during the period. 
 
 
4)  Bandit Blackwater Property, British Columbia 

On June 5, 2012 The Company entered into an option agreement with Copper Creek Gold Corp. to earn a 60-per-cent 
interest in the Bandit property, located in the Blackwater gold district of central British Columbia, approximately 137 
kilometres southwest of the city of Prince George, and more specifically in the Nechako plateau. The property consists of 
three contiguous claims, the Bandit, the Smokey, and the Burt, for a total of 8,732 hectares. Copper Creek Gold holds a 
100-per-cent interest in the three property claims.  

Pursuant to the option agreement, the company must issue a total of 400,000 common shares and expend $2-million on 
exploration as follows:  

1. Issue and deliver to Copper Creek:  

a. 100,000 common shares of the company within five days after the approval date of the option agreement 
by the TSX Venture Exchange (issued); 

b. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2013; (Not issued) 

c. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2014;  

d. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2015.  

2. Incur a total of $2-million in work cost expenditures as follows:  

a. In the amount of $100,000 on or before June 15, 2013 (incurred); 

b. In an additional amount of $650,000 on or before June 15, 2014;  

c. In an additional amount of $500,000 on or before June 15, 2015;  

d. In an additional amount of $750,000 on or before the fourth anniversary of TSX Venture Exchange 
approval. 

   See Section 1.3 (6) below for recent exploration information 
 
During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $268,786 as exploration results suggested nominal 
mineralization.  The Company recorded an additional impairment charge of $18,998 during fiscal 2013 as it has decided not to 
carry on with the option. 
 
 
 
5)  KC Copper Property, British Columbia 
 
On June 27, 2014, Stina Resources Ltd. entered into an option agreement with Kevin Cohen to earn a 100-per-cent interest in 
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the KC property, located in the Kitimat-Stikine district of central British Columbia, approximately 60 kilometers southeast of 
the city of Stewart, B.C., and 100 kilometers north of Terrace, B.C. The 405-hectare property has had prior trenching and 
sampling work in the early 1990s. Pursuant to the option agreement, the company must issue a total of 400,000 common shares 
and pay $5,000 to Mr. Cohen as follows: 

1. 200,000 common shares of the company and a $5,000 cash payment within five days after the approval date of the 
option agreement by the TSX-V (issued); 

2. 200,000 common shares of the company on or before the first anniversary of TSX-V approval. (issued) 
 
The Company has received approval from the TSX Venture Exchange on August 28, 2014. Mr. Cohen has agreed to an 
indefinite deferment for payment of the $5,000. 

 
The 405-hectare KC Property is located in the Stewart district of central British Columbia, approximately 30 kilometers 
southeast of the city of Stewart, and just to the east of the Portland Canal, an area noted for historical copper exploration, 
including the Castle Resources' Granduc mine. Additionally, Avanti Mining's Kitsault molybdenum mine lies to the west. The 
KC property has easy access, with previous trenching and copper soil sampling conducted in the mid-1980s by Ron Crimeni. 
Stina intends to conduct an initial magnetic/spectrometer radiometric survey over of the property this summer, followed by soil 
sampling and trenching to identify and reaffirm copper anomalies.  
 
Selected Financial Information: 
The following table sets forth selected audited financial information of the Company for the last 3 completed financial years. 
 

 FISCAL YEARS ENDED 
 September 30, 2014 September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012 
Total Revenue $ - $ - $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - 
Operating Expenses $ 298,392 $ 353,342 $ 569,247 
Net Income (Loss) $ (4,314,450) $ (347,521) $ (2,791,418) 
Loss Per Share $ (0.15) $ (0.01) $ (0.11) 
Total Assets $ 1,812,236 $ 5,833,565 $ 6,236,076 

 
Summary of Quarterly Results 
The following table sets forth selected (unaudited) quarterly financial information for each of the last eight most recently 
completed quarters: 

 QUARTERS ENDED 
 Sept. 30, 2014 June 30, 2014 Mar. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2013 
Total Revenue $ -  $ - $ - $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Oper. Expenses $ 52,111 $ 96,929 $ 84,230 $ 65,122 
Net Income (Loss) $ (1,078,822) $ (108,999) $ (3,061,623) $ (65,006) 
Income (Loss) Per Share $ (0.04) $ (0.00) $ (0.10) $ (0.00) 
Total Assets $ 1,812,236 $ 2,806,769 $ 2,814,031 $ 5,805,953 
Total Liabilities $ 261,288 $ 208,998 $ 107,261 $ 137,560 
 
 QUARTERS ENDED 
 Sept. 30, 2013 June 30, 2013 Mar. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 
Total Revenue $ -  $ - $ - $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Oper. Expenses $ 74,881 $ 77,566 $ 120,135 $ 80,760 
Net Income (Loss) $ (51,004) $ (77,221) $ (119,682) $ (99,614) 
(Loss) Per Share $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) 
Total Assets $ 5,833,565 $ 5,916,140 $ 5,955,829 $ 6,056,766 
Total Liabilities $ 100,166 $ 131,737 $ 139,205 $ 120,460 

 
Expenditure Comparison and Variances – Stina Administration Division (Years ending September 30, 2013 and 2014) 
Increases:  ($2,000) in Rent; $2,352 in Regulatory Fees and Shareholder Communication; 
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Decreases: ($11,259) in Accounting and Legal; ($8,632) in Office and Sundry; ($22,153) in Salaries and Benefits; ($13,358) 
in Travel and Promotion; 
 
Expenditure Comparison and Variances – Mineral Exploration Division: 
During the period from October 1, 2013 to September 30, 2014 Mineral Exploration Division expenditures totaling $4,117,606 
were classified as exploration and evaluation assets, for a total asset of $1,769,818 as of September 30, 2014. Of this amount, 
$32,000 was classified as acquisition costs, $69,664 as exploration costs, and $4,015,942 as impairment charges.  
(See Note 7 of Financial Statements) 
 

Comparative mineral exploration and evaluation assets as follows: 
 
 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2014 2013

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nevada, USA
Acquisition costs:
   Balance, beginning of year 897,722$          897,722$          
     Staking and claim costs -                   -                   
  Balance, end of year 897,722            897,722            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 825,972            812,548            
     Geological consulting 2,542                2,726                
     Claim fees and staking 6,128                5,573                
     Storage 5,453                5,125                
  Balance, end of year 840,095            825,972            

  Total Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 1,737,817$       1,723,694$       

Kodiak Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 647,175$          582,175$          
     Cash payment -                   37,500              
     250,000 shares at  $0.11 -                   27,500              
  Balance, end of year 647,175            647,175            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 379,537            379,337            
      Geological consulting -                   200                   
  Balance, end of year 379,537            379,537            

Impairment (1,026,712)       -                   
  Total Kodiak Property -$                     1,026,712$       

(continues)
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Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 
 

September 30, September 30, 
2014 2013

Dime Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 827,150$          759,650$          
     Cash payment -                   50,000              
     250,000 shares at $0.07 -                   17,500              
     300,000 shares at $0.19 -                   -                   
  Balance, end of year 827,150            827,150            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 2,106,539         2,092,660         
   Assaying -                   13,879              

    Geological consulting 8,451                -                   
    Geomagnetic 26,678              -                   
    Helicopter rentals 10,793              -                   
    Camp expense 9,619                -                   
  Balance, end of year 2,162,080         2,106,539         

Impairment (2,989,230)       -                   
  Total Dime Property -$                 2,933,689$       

KC Property, British Columbia, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year -$                 -$                 
     400,000 shares at $0.08 32,000              -                   
  Balance, end of year 32,000$            -$                 

Bandit Creek Property, British Columbia, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 1$                     1$                     
  Balance, end of year 1                       1                       

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year -                   17,294              
    Drilling -                   (4,466)              
    Geological consulting -                   6,170                

  Balance, end of year -                   18,998              

Impairment -                   (18,998)            
  Total Bandit Creek Property 1$                     1$                     

Total Exploration and Evaluation Assets 1,769,818$       5,684,096$       
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Bisoni McKay Budget 
A budget of approximately $25,000 has been set for further metallurgical testing and to complete the Lintek report on the 
Bisoni McKay property. 
 
Liquidity and Solvency 
The company’s liquidity will depend upon its ability to raise financing for the continued development of the Bisoni McKay 
property, the KC Property, and other business ventures entered into, as well as the acquisition of revenue generating assets. 
 
During the period ended September 30, 2014 cash resources (including short-term investments) decreased $99,638 from the 
balance at September 30, 2013 
 
As of September 30, 2014 the Company had a working capital deficiency of ($243,112) (September 30, 2013 – surplus of 
$24,365). 
 
Capital Resources 
The Company’s liquidity depends upon its ability to raise additional financing to meet exploration requirements and working 
capital obligations. The Company is securing cash for 2015 working capital, and is investigating raising capital for the 2015 
exploration programs. 
 

 
1.3 EXPLORATION, NEWS RELEASES & MATERIAL CHANGE REPORTS 

 
1) Kodiak Gold Property in the Yukon Territory 

On December 30, 2014 the Company elected to terminate the option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration for the 
Kodiak Property. (See Section 7 of the Financial Statements and Subsequent Events below) 

In August 2009 the Company initiated a work program on the Kodiak property in the Dawson Mining District of the Yukon 
Territory. The Kodiak property claim block consists of 152 claims covering 30 square kilometers or 6400 acres and ties on to 
the southern side of Underworld White Gold Property.  

On February 28, 2012 the Company received an updated technical report on the Kodiak property 

2010 Work Program 
The 2010 Kodiak soil sample program included 2,037 samples for a total of 3,923 samples, covering approximately 60 per cent 
of the property. Results from the 2010 soil survey have extended the main 2009 northwest-trending soil anomaly (Main NW 
trend) to a strike length of four km and defined a second parallel 4 km long anomaly, with values up to 856.8 ppb gold (No. 2 
Northwest trend), approximately 1 km to the southwest.  Infill sampling on the Zipper trend in 2010 has outlined a gold 
anomalous zone at the junction of the northerly Zipper trend with the Main Northwest trend. A total of 383 m of trenching was 
completed in 3 trenches based on soil geochemical anomalies obtained in 2009.  
 
2011 Work Program 
The 2011 exploration consisted of an air magnetic fly-over survey. The survey further supported the belief that the Kodiak 
claim block ties onto the south side of the Kinross White Gold property.  
 
2012/ 2013/2014 Work Program 
No significant work was conducted on the Kodiak property in 2012, 2013, or 2014 
 
On December 30, 2014 the Company formally terminated the option agreement for the Kodiak property. (See news release 
dated January 9, 2015) 
 
 
 
2) Dime Gold Property 
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On May 9, 2014 the option agreement for the Dime property was terminated – (See Section 7 of the Financial 
Statements and news release dated May 9, 2014) 

On July 23, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Explorations Inc. to acquire a 100% 
interest in 152 claims referred to as the Dime Property. 

On February 8, 2010 the Company announced results of 2009 exploration consisting of a 191-soil-sample program, 
collected on a grid covering about 37 hectares on the Dime property. The gold values in the survey reached as high as 
6,082 parts per billion or six grams per tonne gold and defined an easterly trend. 

2010 Exploration 

On August 4, 2010 the Company announced that it had staked an additional 180 claims at the Dime property, to the east, north 
and west of the existing 128 claims, bringing the total Dime claims to 308, and increasing the property size from 6,400 acres 
(25 square kilometers) to 15,400 acres (61 square kilometers).  

The 2010 soil survey collected a total of 3,401 soil samples covering a total of 13.2 square kilometers, or (1,322 hectares) 
or 3,268 acres (5.1 square miles) which represent 21% of the property sample so far. Three new gold soil anomalies were 
discovered. The soil anomalies were named as geographic locations relative to each other hence the names are, West 
anomaly, Central anomaly, and East anomaly. The three gold soil anomalies appeared to be structurally controlled with 
the West soil anomaly running in an east west direction (following a slight east west magnetic anomaly), the Central 
Anomaly is center on a north south magnetic low structure and the Eastern soil anomaly appears to be related to separate 
north south magnetic low structure. Follow-up trenching (1,125 m in nine trenches) confirmed the soil results from 
anomalies with better results. 

Western anomaly:  First reported by Teck Corp., measures approximately 1.3 km long by 750 metres wide, has a general 
east-west trend and includes values up to 578 parts per million arsenic and 6,092 parts per billion gold; 
Central anomaly:  1.6 km long by 350 m wide area of anomalous gold (up to 147 ppb Au), arsenic (values up to 1,975 
ppm As) and weaker lead in soil values (up to 49 ppm Pb). This anomaly is offset to the north from the western and 
eastern anomalies; 
Eastern anomaly:  This anomaly measures 1.8 km long by up to 900 m wide and consists of an Au (values up to 894 ppb 
Au), As (values up to 1,070 ppm As) and Pb (values up to 167 ppm Pb) geochemical signature.  

These areas are related to a sinistral (left lateral) offset on a prominent northwest trending magnetic low and may indicate 
a major structure. 

Results from continuous five-metre chip samples on the Western zone anomaly included a 30 m zone of silicified 
metasedimentary rocks in Trench 2 returned 0.168 gm/t Au between five and 35m. A five hole drilling program included 
5 core drill holes totaling 657 metres from three separate drill pads. Two pads (2 holes each) were located on the western 
anomaly near the high soil sample, and one pad on the eastern anomaly. The program was successful in hitting 
mineralization in every hole, including 0.71 g/t over 32 m, and 4.15 g/t over 1.5m on holes 4 and 3 on the Western Zone.  
 
2011 Exploration 
During the 2011 season, the Company drilled an additional 14 core holes on the Western and Eastern zones (2,574 
metres). Holes DDH-11-6 to 11-8 were collared to follow up on drill results from 2010.  
 
Drilling on the western anomaly, DDH 11-06, DDH 11-07, and DDH 11-08 were drilled from the same drill pad as DDH 
10-04 and DDH 10-05. DDH 11-06 returned encouraging values including over 12 metres of 0.90 g/t au, 1.45 metres of 
8.32 g/t au, and 1.6 metres of 5.37 g/t au.  Holes DDH-11-07 and DDH-11-08 confirmed the presence of a steeply south 
dipping east-west trending structure with strong silicification, brecciation and pyrite-arsenopyrite sulphide mineralization. 
DDH-11-07 was drilled at azimuth 020o and an angle of -50o dip. The hole was drilled to 150.26 m (493 ft) depth. DDH-
11-08 was drilled at 020o azimuth and –78o dip. DDH 11-07 included a 10.65 metre interval of 1.07 g/t au. 
 
 
2012 Exploration 
In 2012 the Company did limited work on the Dime property, including a soil program on the central anomaly. On 



 Management Discussion & Analysis – Page 10 
 
February 22, 2012 the Company received an updated technical report on the Dime property 
 
2013 Exploration 
In November 2013 the Company completed a high-resolution IP (induced polarization) survey on the property. The West 
and East mineralized zones were both surveyed with the Supersting R84 IP/Resistivity system. Seven separate lines were 
surveyed for a total linear length of 2,940 metres. The 420-metre lines were completed over both the West (two) and East 
(five) zones on the Dime property. These zones had been previously tested using auger soil sampling surveys, mechanized 
trenching, airborne magnetics and radiometrics, and diamond drilling.  
 
2014 Exploration 
(See 2013 exploration above) No further significant work was conducted on the Dime Property. 
 
On May 9, 2014 the Company formally terminated the option agreement for the Dime property. At this time, and with 
respect to current economic and industry factors, the company believes the Dime property is not a viable resource in the 
short term. Furthermore, recent discussions between the Yukon government, local aboriginal leaders, the federal 
government, and industry representatives have added a new dimension of uncertainty to the Dime property project. A 
recent litigation ruling challenged the legality of the grant of mineral titles in the Yukon in connection with Crown's 
obligation to consult with first nations on decisions affecting their aboriginal title and rights. This has abruptly changed 
the landscape for Stina and its investors with respect to the Dime property, and the company believes the best decision at 
this time is to exit the option agreement. Further, recent economic factors, particularly with respect to the Dime property's 
local region, have led Stina to re-evaluate the ultimate potential of the property in the short- to midterm future. As a result 
the property was fully impaired. (See news release dated May 9, 2014) 
 
3) Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in Nevada 
 
Exploration Events During Prior Periods 
In September 2005 the Company contracted Kettle Drilling of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho and drilled 1,024 feet of diamond core 
drilling on the Bisoni McKay property. Included was a fence of three holes on the north end of the property, immediately 
adjacent to Vanadium International’s second reverse circulation hole drilled in 2004, as well as adjacent to 1970s Hecla RC 
holes BMK 17, 18 and 19 respectively, each of which showed strong grades of V2O5 at various intervals. Holes were drilled at 
angles of 45 degrees, 57.5 degrees and 66 degrees to the northwest.  
 
A second fence of two diamond core holes was drilled on the southern end of the property adjacent to Vanadium 
International’s first reverse circulation hole, and also to Hecla’s RC holes BMK 6, 7 and 8 respectively. All four of these RC 
holes showed reasonable V2O5 grade at various intervals. This was the first diamond drilling ever conducted on the 
property. 
Results of this diamond drilling showed very encouraging results from the northern fence, including grads much higher than 
from any other drilling on the property. The results from the southern fence of diamond drilling were less encouraging. The 
Company encountered technical difficulties in drilling these two holes and eventually had to abandon the second hole of this 
fence. The angle of the holes was reduced to 35 degrees from the planned 57.5 degrees to attempt to overcome these 
difficulties. As a result, the Company believes that it may have overshot the zone of mineralization encountered the year before 
by Vanadium International in its reverse circulation drilling.  
 
In November 2005, the Company contracted O’Keefe Drilling of Butte, MT to drill 10 RC holes at 45 degrees angles to the 
northwest at step out intervals of 210 feet from the two diamond drill fences; 3 holes to the north of the northern fence, 3 to the 
south of the northern fence, and three holes drilled to the north of the southern diamond drill fence. One RC hole was drilled 
vertically in Trench ASC50. Results from the three RC holes stepping out south of the northern diamond drill fence were 
released on November 29, 2005, and which were very encouraging to the Company. 
 
In April 2006 the Company contracted Hazen research of Colorado for the metallurgical and leach testing of vanadium from 
core and reverse circulation drilling on the Bisoni McKay property in the fall of 2005. Hazen carried out mineralogical 
characterization to determine the mode of occurrence of vanadium, followed by two sets of tests on samples from three zones: 
oxidized zone (mudstone), transition zone (mudstone to carbonaceous shale) and unoxidized zone (carbonaceous shale). 
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The tests comprised of: 
(i) direct acid leaching with sulfuric acid, at two grinds and at two temperatures, for a total of 12 experiments; and  
(ii) roasting experiments, with at least four roasting conditions for samples from each zone, followed by appropriate 

leaching, either alkaline or acidic, i.e., a minimum of 12 roasting/leaching experiments. 
 
The tests were designed to define the steps and conditions needed to obtain reasonable vanadium extraction and examine the 
reagent consumptions in leaching and roasting, and thus develop the first stages of a process flowsheet.  The Company 
received final test results in January 2007, and a report on recovery of oxidized vanadium pentoxide using an acid pug/ leach 
recovery method, including some results as high as 95%. Test results on transition and carbonaceous material showed recovery 
as high as 70% and 75% of vanadium pentoxide using a roast/ leach recovery method. Hazen Research also recommended 
further metallurgical test work to continue the refinement of these processes, as well as explore other recovery options 
 
In May 2007, the Company contracted O’Keefe Drilling of Boise, ID to conduct reverse circulation (RC) drilling on Northern 
Section “A” of the Bisoni McKay property. A total of 12 RC holes were drilled according to schedule, for a total of 5,130 feet. 
This drilling campaign was comprised of step-out holes at 100 foot intervals directly north for 700 feet along strike length from 
core hole fence DDH-05-1/2/3. Additionally, drilling was conducted parallel to the immediate west by 100 feet and north by 
700 feet. The result of this campaign is a section approximately 700 feet long by 100 feet wide, with 100 foot intervals, 
immediately to the north of core hole fence DDH-05 and inclusive of RC holes BMK-05-04, BMK-05-05 and BMK-05-06 
drilled by the Company in 2005. 
 
The detailed drilling on the north half of Area A reveals a thick section of vanadiferous carbonaceous shale capped with 
mineralized weathered, oxidized shale. Vanadium-bearing rock begins essentially on or within a few feet of the surface and 
continues down-dip below 450 feet, the current depth limit of drilling into vanadium-bearing strata. From Area A-North, the 
vanadium trend continues south over 6,000 feet to Area B. The character of the mineralization in Area B appears similar to that 
drilled in Area A, but parts of the trend appear to have been narrowed and thinned by faulting, especially between Area A and 
Area B. Evidence that the vanadiferous trend continues south of Area B comes from two historic borings and trenching by 
Hecla Mining Company. The southernmost area of the projected strike of the vanadiferous trend in Area C and beyond is still 
unexplored.  
 
In the fall of 2007 the Company contracted Edward Ullmer, P. Geo, to produce an updated geological technical report based on 
the report presented to Stina by JA Mine in 2005, and updated in 2006. The report also included a resource estimate on a sub-
section of Northern Section “A” which extends 700 feet long by 100 feet wide, directly north of BMK DDH – 2005, and with 
100 foot interval RC drilling. The Company contracted Maptek Co. of Lakewood, CO to conduct the resource estimate. 
 
In February 2008 the Company received a further updated geological technical report from Ed Ullmer, P. Geo, and included a 
resources estimate, the first ever conducted on the Bisoni McKay property, and which was conducted by Maptek of Lakewood, 
CO. The report was amended in May 2012 and is available on the company website. A map of the Bisoni McKay drill 
locations can be found on the Company website. 
 
2011 Exploration 
In the spring of 2011 the Company contracted Lyntek Corp., of Lakewood, CO to conduct a Conceptual Study of the Bisoni 
McKay to better assess the potential economic viability of the property, the vanadium pentoxide and ferrovanadium markets, 
and how the property fits into the world vanadium industry. On June 30, 2011, the Company announced that further 
metallurgical work was required to complete the Conceptual Study, and that it intended to do so.  
 
2012/ 2013/ 2014 Exploration 
No significant work was conducted on the Bisoni McKay Property in 2012, 2013 or 2014. The Company has recorded an 
impairment charge of $1,962,257 in 2012 to decrease the carrying value of the property, primarily considering the acquisition 
costs of it appeared non-recoverable under general market conditions. In addition, the Company had not conducted a 
significant work program in four years. However, another venture mineral exploration company is currently developing an 
adjacent vanadium property approximately 20 miles to the northwest, on the same geological vanadium belt. This company has 
announced plans for a vanadium recovery operation to be established on site over the next few years, and Stina believes these 
developments may further add validity and value to the Bisoni McKay property. 
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2015 Exploration 
The Company intends to attempt to pair the property with a strategic market, preferably in the vanadium redox battery 
industry. It is expected that a suspension-based vanadium product would be required for such market, which may or may not 
be established in the future. The Company has contracted Ed Ullmer, P. Geo to update the NI 43-101 report on the Bisoni 
McKay. As of the date of this report, the final copy has not been received. 
 
The focus of the Company is to complete the Lintek Report and assess the property subsequently. 
 
 
4) Bandit Property 
See section 1.2 (6) above 

2012 Exploration 
On November 23, 2012 Copper Creek received assay results from 15 percussion drill holes (1,402 meters) over part of a 
two-kilometer-by-five-kilometer copper, gold and molybdenum anomaly identified during mobile metal ion (MMI) 
sampling by Copper Creek in the summer of 2011. Although several values of anomalous copper, gold and silver were 
encountered, none of the holes reported values of economic importance. The Company Directors have had discussions 
and have decided not to proceed with the option agreement at this time. 
 
Impairment to Property 
With consideration to the impairment standards of recently adopted IFRS, the Company directors have determined there to be 
an impairment of the Bandit Property carrying value of $268,786. As exploration results received subsequent to year end 
suggested nominal mineralization, the Company is unlikely to carry on with the option.  
 
 
 
RECENT NEWS RELEASES 
 
- December 22, 2014 - Stina Resources arranges $225,000 private placement 
 
- January 9, 2015 - Stina drops Kodiak option granted by Ryanwood 
 
 
1.4  OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

The Company has no off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
 
1.5  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties as at September 30, 2014 and for the period 
then ended as follows (with comparative figures as at September 30, 2013). 

 
a) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $66,500 (2013 - $73,500) with a company owned by a director 

for consulting services.   
 
b) The Company incurred remuneration in the amount of $60,500 (2013 - $72,000) with a senior officer and director. 
 
c) The Company incurred consulting fees  in the amount of $28,100 (2013 - $44,000) with a director. 

 
d) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $2,000 (2013 - $2,000) with directors. 

 
e) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $6,000 (2013 - $1,500) with a senior officer and director. 

 
f) At September 30, 2014, a director and senior officer advanced $94,000 (2013 - $nil) to the Company. The advances 
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are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no specific terms of repayment.   
 

g) At September 30, 2014, the Company owes a director $1,600 (2013 - $nil) for consulting fees.  The Company also 
owes $2,000 (2013 - $nil) to a senior officer and director for consulting fees. The Company also owes $48,356 to a 
company owned by a shareholder and former director. 
 

Key management personnel compensation 
``

2014 2013
Short-term employee benefits - consulting fees 102,600$          77,000$                
Short-term employee benefits – salaries and wages 60,500              116,000                

163,100$         193,000$             

Years ended September 30,

 
-See note 11 of Financial Statements 

 
 
1.6  PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS/COMMITMENTS  

The Company has engaged in no other proposed transactions or commitments outside of what has been outlined in this 
report at this time. 

 
 
1.7 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 
Use of Estimates: 

 
The company’s financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and form the basis 
for discussion and analysis of critical accounting policies and estimates.  Management is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the report amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.  Significant financial statement areas requiring the use of management 
estimates relate to the determination of impairment of assets and resource property interests, and their useful lives for amortization, 
allocations between exploration projects, the fair value of investments and share-based compensation, asset retirement obligations and the 
recoverability of future income tax assets.  Financial results as determined by actual events could differ from those estimates. 

Risk Management: 

The Company is engaged primarily in the mineral exploration field and manages related industry risk issues directly.  
Observed potential risks include those for environmental reclamation and fluctuations in commodity based market prices 
associated with resource property interests. Management is of the opinion that the Company addresses environmental risk and 
compliance in accordance with industry standards and specific project environmental requirements. Company management 
acknowledges that there is no certainty that all environmental risks and contingencies have been addressed. 
 
Financial Risk Management:  
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  
 
Credit Risk: 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to 
incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is in its cash accounts and accounts receivables. Cash 
accounts are held with a major bank in Canada. This risk is managed through the use of major banks which are high credit 
quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies. 
 
 
Currency Risk:  
The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is moderate foreign exchange risk to the Company as one of 
its resource property interest are located in the United States.  Management monitors its foreign currency balances and makes 
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adjustments based on anticipated need for currencies. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to reduce its 
foreign currency risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk:  
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash balances at variable rates. The 
fair value of the Company’s cash accounts is relatively unaffected by changes in short term interest rates. The income earned 
on certain bank accounts is subject to the movements in interest rates.  
 
Liquidity and Funding Risk: 
Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at any point in time. The 
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity 
requirements at any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily 
available capital in order to meet its liquidity requirements. 
 
The Company is not utilizing any other financial instruments other than cash at this time. 
Funding Risk is the risk that market conditions will impact the Company’s ability to raise capital through equity markets under 
acceptable market terms and conditions. 
Under current market conditions both liquidity and funding risks have been assessed as medium to high. 
 
 
Stock-based compensation: 

The Company follows the guidelines of the IFRS 2 –“Share Based Payment”, relating to stock-based compensation and other 
stock-based Payments.  The Company follows a fair-value method for all stock-based compensation and similar stock based 
awards to directors, employees and consultants.  Where the Company has issued options that vest over a period of expected 
service, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is estimated and charged to income over the respective vesting periods. 

 
1.8 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION 
 
New accounting pronouncements 
 
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been adopted by the Company as of the beginning of the 
current fiscal period.  The adoption of the following standards during the period did not have a material impact on the 
Company's financial statements. 
 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 
Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.   
 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint 
venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint 
operation the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under 
existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. 
IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-monetary 
Contributions by Venturers.   
 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other 
entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard 
carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the 
nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities.  
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IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement - IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the 
measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on 
measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in 
many cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures.  
 
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine - The Interpretation clarifies when production 
stripping should lead to the recognition of an asset and how that asset should be measured, both initially and in subsequent 
periods.  
 
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements - IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and 
associates in non-consolidated financial statements. 
 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope 
and to address the changes in IFRS 10 – 13.  
 
Amendments to other standards - In addition, there have been other amendments to existing standards. The Company 
has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the new and amended standards will have on its financial 
statements or whether to early adopt any of the new requirements. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – IFRS 9 is a partial replacement of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”.  This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. 
 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - IAS 32 amendment provides clarification on the application of offsetting 
rules. The standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 
 
 
1.9  FINANCIAL AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS  
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, short term investments, accounts receivables, amounts due to and from 
related parties, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the 
Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency risks arising from financial instruments. The fair value of these 
financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term maturity or capacity of prompt liquidation. 
 
1.10 OTHER MD&A REQUIREMENTS 
 
Additional information relating to the Company’s operations and activities can be found by visiting the Company’s website 
www.stinaresources.com as well as numerous news releases and 43-101 reports filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com 

 
A. Authorized and Issued Share Capital as at September 30, 2014:  
 
Authorized: Unlimited common shares without par value 

Issued and outstanding: 30,037,499 common shares 

See Note 9 – Share Capital of the Financial Statements 

B. Options, Warrants & Convertible Securities Outstanding as at September 30, 2014:  
 

Stock options 
Under the Company’s Incentive Share Option Plan, the Company may grant options to employees, consultants and 
directors when the number of shares reserved does not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding share capital at the 
date of grant.  The exercise price of the options granted will be no less than the discounted market price of the 
Company’s shares and the maximum term of the options will be 5 years. 

 

http://www.belmontresources.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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The following employee stock options were vested and exercisable at September 30, 2014:   
        Number Exercise price Expiry 
     of shares      - $ -       Date     
 

 375,000 0.30 Expired Nov 3, 2014 
      825,000 0.46 August 5, 2015 
 250,000 0.33 March 16, 2016 
 800,000 0.15 July 3, 2017 
 2,250,000   

 
 

Escrow shares 
 

As of September 30, 2014 no shares were held in escrow 
 
 

Share purchase warrants 
 

As of September 30, 2014 the following share purchase warrants were outstanding: 
 

 No. of warrants Exercise price Expiry Date 
    
 2,100,000 0.45 September 19, 2015 
 400,000 0.50 January 30, 2016 
 2,500,000   

 
     

C. Subsequent Events 
  
On November 3, 2014 a total of 375,000 options exercisable @ $0.30 per share expired unexercised.  
 
  
D. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

 
Based on our evaluation for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, and up to the date of this Management Discussion 
and Analysis, we have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are sufficiently effective to provide 
reasonable assurance that material information required to be disclosed in the Company’s interim and annual filings 
and other reports filed or submitted under Canadian securities laws are recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified by those laws and that the material information is accumulated and communicated to 
Management of the Company, including the President, and CEO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure. 
 
 
 
 
 

E. Corporate Governance Disclosure 
 

The company has submitted to its members and shareholders details in the Information Circular dated May 21, 2011 
Corporate Governance Disclosure guidelines that have been presented to the Board of Directors for periodic review.  
Some of these guidelines are:  Outlining the Company’s business and implementation of appropriate systems to 
manage any associated risks, communications with investors and the financial community and the integrity of the 
Company’s internal control and management information systems.  The Management of the Company periodically 
updates directors with regulatory policy changes.  Management encourages and promotes a culture of ethical business 
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conduct.  The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing 
corporate legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an 
individual director’s participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to 
ensure that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company. 



STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
 
 

CORPORATE DATA Head Office 
Ste 10 – 8331 River Road 
Richmond, BC   V6X 1Y1 
Tel: (604) 244-0964   Fax: (604) 244-8902 
E-Mail: info@stinaresources.com 
Website:  www.stinaresources.com 

  
 Directors and Officers 

James Corrigan – President/ Director 
Jim Wall, CEO, Secretary/ Director 
Al Doherty, VP Exploration/ Director 
Edward Gresko, Director 

  
 Registrar and Transfer Agent 

Computershare 
510 Burrard Street, 2nd Floor 
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3B9 
 

  
 Solicitors 

Fang & Associates 
3rd Floor, 576 Seymour Street 
Vancouver, B.C.  V6B 3K1 

  
 Auditors 

Dale, Matheson, Carr-Hilton, LaBonte LLP, 
Chartered Accountants 
#1700 – 1140 W. Pender Street 
Vancouver, B.C. V6E  4G1 

  
 Listing 

TSX Venture Exchange 
Symbol: SQA 

 

http://www.stinarsources.com/


 
 

Stina Resources Ltd. 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Management Discussion & Analysis 
for the Year Ending September 30, 2013 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ste 717 – 165 LaRose Ave. 
Etobicoke, ON  M9P 3S9 

Tel (416) 368-2271 / Fax: (416) 368-2635 



 

STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
 

FORM 51-102F1 
 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis  
for the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

(and containing information as of January 24, 2014)   
 

     TABLE OF CONTENTS       
 
 Page  
 
Item 1 - ANNUAL MD & A - Forward-looking Information ........................................................................... 1 
 
Section 1.1 - Date............................................................................................................................................... 1 
 
Section 1.2 - Operations Detail and Financial Conditions................................................................................. 1 
                   - Selected Financial Information .................................................................................................... 5 
                   - Summary of Quarterly Results ..................................................................................................... 5 
                   - Liquidity and Solvency................................................................................................................. 8 
                   - Capital Resources ........................................................................................................................  8 
 
Section 1.3 - Exploration, News Release & Material Change Reports.............................................................. 8 
 
Section 1.4 - Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements ............................................................................................... 14 
 
Section 1.5 - Transactions with Related Parties............................................................................................... 14 
 
Section 1.6 - Proposed Transactions ................................................................................................................ 15 
 
Section 1.7 - Critical Accounting Estimates and Policy .................................................................................. 15 
 
Section 1.8 - Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption ...................................................... 16 
 
Section 1.9 - Financial and Other Instruments................................................................................................. 18 
 
Section 1.10 - Other M D &A Requirements 
 
                     A.  Authorized and Issued Share Capital .................................................................................... 18 
 
                     B. Options, Warrants & Convertible Securities Outstanding ..................................................... 18 
 
                     C. Subsequent Events.................................................................................................................. 19 
 
                     D. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures ............................................................... 19 
 
                     E.  Corporate Governance Disclosure......................................................................................... 19 
 



 
STINA RESOURCES LTD. 

 
FORM 51-102F1 

 
Management’s Discussion & Analysis  
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Item 1: ANNUAL MD&A  
 
Forward-looking Information 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) contains certain forward-looking statements and information relating 
to Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) that are based on the beliefs of its management as well as assumptions made by and 
information currently available to the Company. When used in this document, the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, 
“expect” and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company or its management, are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements. This MD&A contains forward-looking statements relating to, among other things, regulatory compliance, the 
sufficiency of current working capital, the estimated cost and availability of funding for the continued exploration and 
development of Company exploration properties. Such statements reflect the current views of the Company with respect to 
future events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many factors could cause the actual results, 
performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 
that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Aside from factors identified in the annual MD&A, 
additional important factors, if any, are identified here. 
 
NATURE OF BUSINESS: 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of British Columbia and is engaged in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of resource properties. The Company’s primary activity is the exploration of the Dime and 
Kodiak Gold properties in the Klondike  Region of the Yukon, Canada,  in addition to the Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 
in northern Nevada. 
 
The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol SQA. 
 
1.1 DATE  
 
The following discussion and analysis was approved by the Directors of the Company and should be read in conjunction with 
the audited financial statements for year ended September 30, 2012, and unaudited financial statements for the quarters ending, 
June 30, 2013, March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and the related notes thereto. All figures are in Canadian dollars unless 
otherwise noted.  

 
1.2 OPERATIONS DETAIL AND FINANCIAL CONDITIONS: 
 

(a) Acquisitions & Dispositions: 

See Note 7 – Exploration and Evaluation Assets of the Financial Statements 

 

1)  Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in Nevada 

 
In 2005 the company entered into an option agreement with Vanadium International Corp. (VIC) to acquire 50% of the rights 
to 19 mining claims covering 392.6 acres, located in Nye County, Nevada, USA, called the Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property. 
In earning its interest, the Company made cash payments totaling $250,000, issued 1,250,000 shares to Vanadium, and funded 
$700,000 of exploration activities. 
On July 3, 2008 the Company issued an additional 800,000 common shares to VIC in a shares for debt arrangement to 
complete the initial 50% acquisition, then issued an additional 1,995,600 shares at a deemed price of $1 (Canadian) per share 
to Vanadium as payment of the $2-million (U.S.) purchase price (based on a deemed exchange rate of $1 (Canadian):$1.0022 
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(U.S.)) to VIC as option payment for the remaining 50% of the property. Stina now holds 100% of the rights to 37 mineral 
claims on the property. In the subsequent period (January 2013) the Company Directors elected to impair the property value by 
$1,962,257 effective September 30, 2012. Managements’ review for indications of impairment primarily considered that the 
acquisition costs of this property appeared non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition costs were primarily based 
on 3,245,000 common shares that were issued at an average cost of $0.78 per share. In today’s market, or specifically at 
September 30, 2012, the shares would be worth $0.18 per share. During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment 
charge of $1,962,257 to decrease the carrying value of the property based on market indicators. In addition, the Company has 
not conducted a significant work program in four years.   (See section 1.3 (3) below) 
 
2) Zeibright Gold Property in California 

 On February 19, 2009, the Company entered into an option agreement with Steephollow Resources Inc. (“SRI”), pursuant to 
which SRI has agreed to grant the Company an option to purchase a 100% beneficial interest in certain mining claims located 
in Nevada County, California, United States.  The claims were subject to a 2% NSR.  The Company decided not to proceed 
with the option on February 18, 2011 and wrote down staking and claim costs of $1,402. 

 3)  Kodiak Gold Property in the Yukon 

On June 18, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration Inc. (“REI”) to purchase a 100-
per-cent beneficial interest in 152 mining claims located in the Dawson mining district, Yukon Territory, generally known and 
described as the Kodiak Property, subject to a 2-per-cent net smelter interest in favour of REI.  

 Pursuant to the option agreement, to exercise the option the Company must:  

 Pay to REI:  
- $75,000 within five days after the approval date of the option agreement by the TSX-V (Paid);  
- $50,000 on or before June 15, 2010; (Paid) 
- $100,000 on or before June 15, 2011; (Paid) 
- $75,000 on or before June 15, 2012, (Paid) 
- $75,000 on or before June 15, 2013, (extended) 

 Issue and deliver to REI:  
- 250,000 common shares of the company within five days after the approval date of the option agreement by the TSX V 
(Issued);  
- 200,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2010; (Issued)  
- 200,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2011; (Issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2012;  (Issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2013. (Issued) 
Incur expenditures:  
- In the amount of $100,000 on or before Nov. 18, 2009; (Incurred) 
- In the additional amount of $200,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2010;  (Incurred) 
- In the additional amount of $300,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2011;  (reduced to $100,000 and extended to Nov 15, 2014) 
- In the additional amount of $500,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2012.  (reduced to $100,000 and extended to Nov 15, 2015) 
- In the additional amount of $100,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2016   (added in amendment) 
 
The Kodiak property claim block consists of 152 claims covering 30 square kilometers or 6400 acres and ties on to the 
southern side of Kinross Gold Corp  white gold property. The Kodiak claim block also straddles Thistle creek which was the 
richest placer gold-producing creek in the area given up more than 63,000 ounces of placer gold since the turn of the century.  

REI is the property vendor for Kinross Gold Corps’ (formerly Underworld Resources Inc's) White Property and has re-
evaluated the Geological Survey of Canada database for similar positive indicators for white-style mineralization. The GSC 
airborne magnetic data indicate the Kodiak claims are sitting on the same regional north - south magnetic high anomaly that 
Kinross Gold Corp’s White Gold Property is now covering. The GSC silt survey of the Thistle area indicates a 90-per-cent 
percentile gold anomaly, a 98-per-cent percentile arsenic anomaly and up to 99-per-cent percentile silver anomaly all draining 
from the Kodiak property. Again, all positive indicator elements in white-gold-style mineralization. The third piece of data that 
increases the Kodiak potential is the GSC geology map. The GSC geology map has noted a northwest and northeast trending 
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regional structure and the same geological units were mapped by the GSC on both the white and Kodiak properties which 
consist of DMa amphibolites, DMogt orthogneiss, and DMps quartz mica schist.  

Results from the 2010 soil survey have extended the main 2009 northwest-trending soil anomaly (Main Northwest trend) to a 
strike length of four km and defined a second parallel four km long anomaly, with values up to 856.8 ppb gold (No. 2 
Northwest trend), approximately one km to the southwest. The location that had a 856.8 ppb gold could not be trenched due to 
steep topography. Infill sampling on the Zipper trend in 2010 has outlined a gold anomalous zone at the junction of the 
northerly Zipper trend with the Main Northwest trend. 

4) Dime Gold Property in the Yukon 

On July 23, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration Inc. (“REI”) to acquire a 100 
per-cent beneficial interest in 128 mining claims located in the Dawson mining district, Yukon Territory, generally known and 
described as the Dime Property, subject to a 2-per-cent net smelter interest in favour of REI (the Company has the option to 
purchase one-half of the net smelter return royalty for a payment of $2-million).  

Pursuant to the option agreement, to exercise the option the Company must:  

Pay to REI:  
- $125,000 within 15 days after the approval date of the option agreement by the TSX Venture Exchange; (Paid) 
- $125,000 on or before June 26, 2010; (Paid) 
- $100,000 on or before June 26, 2011; (Paid) 
- $100,000 on or before June 26, 2012, (Paid) 
- $150,000 on or before June 26, 2013, (renegotiated to $50,000 on or before December 31, 2013 (in negotiation for 
extension), $50,000 on or before March 31, 2014, and $50,000 on or before July 31, 2014) 

Issue and deliver to REI: 
- 200,000 common shares of the company within five days after the approval date of the option agreement the TSX 
Venture Exchange; (Issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the company on or before June 26, 2010; (Issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the company on or before June 26, 2011; (Issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the company on or before June 26, 2012;  (Issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the company on or before June 26, 2013. (Issued) 

Incur expenditures: 
- In the amount of $100,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2009; (Incurred)  
- In the additional amount of $250,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2010;  (Incurred) 
- In the additional amount of $500,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2011;  (Incurred) 
- In the cumulative amount of $600,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2012. (Incurred) 

The Dime property is located 42 kilometers northwest of the Kinross (formerly Underworld’s) White Gold project and covers a 
well-known placer gold creek called Ten Mile. Ten Mile creek has produced coarse placer gold since the turn of the century 
and the placer deposits are believed to be locally derived. In 1998 Teck Corp. staked the ground surrounding two placer gold 
districts in the Dawson area. One was the area now covered by Kinross Gold Corp. Underworld's White Gold property and the 
second one was a claim package in the Ten Mile Creek area. Teck worked on both properties for two or three seasons and 
successfully identified several promising targets. The company changed its focus in 2000 and dropped all their gold 
exploration efforts in the Dawson area, except claims in the 10 Mile area, which it optioned to Radius Gold. 

In early 2010, the Company announced results of 2009 exploration consisting of a 191-soil-sample program, collected on a 
grid covering about 37 hectares on the Dime property. The gold values in the survey reached as high as 6,082 parts per billion 
or six grams per ton gold and defined an easterly trend. The 2010 soil survey collected a total of 3401 soil samples covering a 
total of 13.2 square kilometers, or (1,322 hectares) or 3268 acres (5.1 square miles) which represent 21% of the property 
sample so far. Three new gold soil anomalies were discovered. The soil anomalies were named as geographic locations relative 
to each other hence the names are, West anomaly, Central anomaly, and East anomaly. The three gold soil anomalies appear to 
be structurally controlled with the West soil anomaly running in an east west direction (following a slight east west magnetic 
anomaly), the Central Anomaly is center on a north south magnetic low structure and the Eastern soil anomaly appears to be 
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related to separate north south magnetic low structure. Follow-up trenching (1,125 m in nine trenches) confirmed the soil 
results from anomalies with better results. 

A five hole drilling program included 5 core drill holes totaling 657 meters from three separate drill pads. Two pads (2 holes 
each) were located on the western anomaly near the high soil sample, and one pad on the eastern anomaly. The program was 
successful in hitting mineralization in every hole, including 0.71 g/t over 32 m, and 4.15 g/t over 1.5m on holes 4 and 3 
respectively. The Dime gold property is a significant new discovery in the White gold district and Stina is pleased with the 
results of the 2010 program. 
 
5) Searchlight Property, Nevada 
 
On February 2, 2012, the Company signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Royal Mines Inc. (RMI) to acquire 
a 70-per-cent interest in a mining lease claim, and a 40-per-cent interest in 20 claims surrounding the lease claim, located in 
southern Nevada. Under the proposed agreement Stina would earn a 70-per-cent interest in the Smith lease property in the 
Searchlight mining district of Nevada, as well as a 40-per-cent interest in Royal Mines' 100-per-cent interest in the 20 Piute 
claims, also in the Searchlight mining district in Nevada. To acquire interest of the claims package, Stina would agree to 
complete $100,000 of exploration work on the properties within 12 months and a further $900,000 within three years of the 
formal agreement with Royal Mines. 
 
On September 28, 2012 the Company announced that it would not be proceeding with Memorandum of Understanding with 
Royal Mines. Inc. 
 
6) Bandit Blackwater Property, British Columbia 

On June 5, 2012 The Company entered into an option agreement with Copper Creek Gold Corp. to earn a 60-per-cent 
interest in the Bandit property, located in the Blackwater gold district of central British Columbia, approximately 137 
kilometres southwest of the city of Prince George, and more specifically in the Nechako plateau. The property consists of 
three contiguous claims, the Bandit, the Smokey, and the Burt, for a total of 8,732 hectares. Copper Creek Gold holds a 
100-per-cent interest in the three property claims.  

Pursuant to the option agreement, the company must issue a total of 400,000 common shares and expend $2-million on 
exploration as follows:  

1. Issue and deliver to Copper Creek:  

a. 100,000 common shares of the company within five days after the approval date of the option agreement 
by the TSX Venture Exchange (issued); 

b. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2013; (Not issued) 

c. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2014;  

d. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2015.  

2. Incur a total of $2-million in work cost expenditures as follows:  

a. In the amount of $100,000 on or before June 15, 2013 (incurred); 

b. In an additional amount of $650,000 on or before June 15, 2014;  

c. In an additional amount of $500,000 on or before June 15, 2015;  

d. In an additional amount of $750,000 on or before the fourth anniversary of TSX Venture Exchange 
approval. 

   See Section 1.3 (6) below for recent exploration information 
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During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $268,786 as exploration results suggested nominal 
mineralization.  The Company recorded an additional impairment of $18,998 in the year as it has decided not to carry on with 
the option. 
 
Selected Financial Information: 
 
The following table sets forth selected audited financial information of the Company for the last 3 completed financial years. 
 

 FISCAL YEARS ENDED 
 September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012 September 30, 2011 
Total Revenue $ - $ - $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - 
Operating Expenses $ 331,004 $ 569,247 $ 510,245 
Net Income (Loss) $ (347,521) $ (2,791,418) $ (478,195) 
Loss Per Share $ (0.01) $ (0.11) $ (0.02) 
Total Assets $ 5,833,565 $ 6,236,076 $ 8,481,353 

 
Summary of Quarterly Results 
The following table sets forth selected (unaudited) quarterly financial information for each of the last eight most recently 
completed quarters: 

 QUARTERS ENDED 
 Sept. 30, 2013 June 30, 2013 Mar. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 
Total Revenue $ -  $ - $ - $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Oper. Expenses $ 52,543 $ 77,566 $ 120,135 $ 80,760 
Net Income (Loss) $ (51,004) $ (77,221) $ (119,682) $ (99,614) 
Income (Loss) Per Share $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) 
Total Assets $ 5,833,565 $ 5,916,140 $ 5,955,829 $ 6,056,766 
Total Liabilities $ 100,166 $ 131,737 $ 139,205 $ 120,460 
 
 QUARTERS ENDED 
 Sept. 30, 2012 June 30, 2012 Mar. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 
Total Revenue $ -  $ - $ - $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ - $- $ - 
Oper. Expenses $ 247,583 $ 92,741 $ 133,849 $ 95,071 
Net Income (Loss) $ (2,472,683) $ (90,894) $ (132,872) $ (94,966) 
(Loss) Per Share $ (0.09) $ (0.00) $ (0.01) $ (0.00) 
Total Assets $ 6,236,076 $ 8,355,260 $ 8,351,021 $ 8,567,403 
Total Liabilities $ 200,156 $ 108,877 $ 118,741 $ 202,251 

 
Expenditure Comparison and Variances – Stina Administration Division (year ending September 2013): 
Increases: $52,834 in Salaries and benefits; $2,335 in Transfer Agent fees 
Decreases: ($29,066) in Accounting and Legal; ($55,568) in Consulting fees; ($3,699) in Office and sundry; ($3,411) in 
Regulatory and Shareholder Information; ($2,000) in Rent; ($15,144) in Travel and promotion; ($162,025) in Share-based 
Payments 
 
Expenditure Comparison and Variances – Mineral Exploration Division: 
During the period from October 1, 2012 to September 30, 2013 Mineral Exploration Division expenditures totaling $46,790 
were classified as exploration and evaluation assets. In addition, a charge of $18,998 was classified as an impairment to 
exploration and evaluation assets, for a total asset of $5,684,385 as of September 30, 2013. Of this amount, $2,372,048 was 
classified as acquisition costs of which $132,500 was incurred during the period ($87,500 in cash and $45,000 through the 
issuance of common shares). 
-See Note 7 of Financial Statements 

 
Comparative mineral exploration and evaluation assets as follows: 
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(continues)

 
 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2013 2012

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nevada, USA
Acquisition costs:
   Balance, beginning of year 897,722$          2,859,526$       
     Staking and claim costs -                   453                   
  Balance, end of year 897,722            2,859,979         

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 812,548            793,133            
     Geological consulting 2,726                10,359              
     Claim fees and staking 5,573                3,026                
     Storage 5,125                6,030                
  Balance, end of year 825,972            812,548            

Impairment -                   (1,962,257)       
  Total Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 1,723,694$       1,710,270$       

Kodiak Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 582,175$          512,675$          
     Cash payment 37,500              37,500              
     250,000 shares at  $0.11 27,500              -                   
     200,000 shares at  $0.16 -                   32,000              
  Balance, end of year 647,175            582,175            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 379,337            379,149            
      Geological consulting 200                   188                   
  Balance, end of year 379,537            379,337            

  Total Kodiak Property 1,026,712$       961,512$          
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Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

 
 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2013 2012
Dime Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 759,650$          648,000$          
     Cash payment 50,000              54,650              
     250,000 shares at $0.07 17,500              -                   
     300,000 shares at $0.19 -                   57,000              
  Balance, end of year 827,150            759,650            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 2,092,660         1,940,906         
   Assaying 13,879              66,279              

    Camp accommodation -                   16,097              
    Geological consulting -                   15,112              
    Helicopter rentals -                   6,890                
    Soil sampling -                   15,001              
    Salaries -                   32,375              
  Balance, end of year 2,106,539         2,092,660         

  Total Dime Property 2,933,689         2,852,310         

Bandit Creek Property, British Columbia, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 1                       -                   
     Cash payment -                   -                   
     100,000 shares at $0.10 -                   16,000              
  Balance, end of year 1                       16,000              

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year -                   -                   
   Assaying 17,294              3,360                

    Camp expenses -                   22,240              
    Drilling (4,466)              158,426            
    Geological consulting 6,170                56,876              
    Soil sampling -                   11,885              
  Balance, end of year 18,998              252,787            

Impairment (18,998)            (268,786)          
  Total Bandit Creek Property 1$                     1$                     

Total Exploration and Evaluation Assets 5,684,096$       5,524,093$       
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Bisoni McKay Budget 
A budget of between $50,000 and $100,000 has been set for further metallurgical testing and bulk sampling on material 
recovered from the Bisoni McKay property. 
 
Yukon Exploration Budget 
A budget of between $100,000 and $200,000 has been set for the Dime and Kodiak properties in 2014. (See Section 1.3 below) 
 
 
Liquidity and Solvency 
The company’s liquidity will depend upon its ability to raise financing for the continued development of the Bisoni McKay 
property, the Kodiak property and the Dime property, and other business ventures entered into, as well as the acquisition of 
revenue generating assets. 
 
During the period ended September 30, 2013 cash resources (including short-term investments) decreased $539,140 from the 
balance at September 30, 2012 
 
As of September 30, 2013 the Company had working capital of $24,365 (September 30, 2012 – $485,996). 
 
 
Capital Resources 
The Company’s liquidity depends upon its ability to raise additional financing to meet exploration requirements and working 
capital obligations. The Company has secured cash for 2014 working capital, and is investigating raising capital for the 2014 
exploration programs. 
 

 
1.3 EXPLORATION, NEWS RELEASES & MATERIAL CHANGE REPORTS 

 
1) Kodiak Gold Property in the Yukon Territory 

In August 2009 the Company initiated a work program on the Kodiak property in the Dawson Mining District of the Yukon 
Territory. The Kodiak property claim block consists of 152 claims covering 30 square kilometers or 6400 acres and ties on to 
the southern side of Underworld White Gold Property. The Kodiak claim block also straddles Thistle creek which was the 
richest placer gold-producing creek in the area given up more than 63,000 ounces of placer gold since the turn of the century.  

Shawn Ryan of Ryanwood Exploration Inc (“REI”) was contracted by the Company to establish a grid 6 kilometers long by 2 
kilometers wide for acquiring approximately 1,925 soil samples along the anomaly at 50 metre intervals, along north-south 
lines 100 metres apart. With background gold of 2.5 parts per billion (ppb) over the sample grid, a large contiguous area on the 
western side of the grid carries greater than four parts per billion gold with accompanying elevated values of arsenic and 
antimony. This anomalous area is 2,000 metres long and from 100 metres to 750 metres wide. Within this broad area, a cluster 
of higher gold grades range from 14 ppb to 99 ppb with arsenic from 40 to 676 parts per million and antimony from one part 
per million to 6.9 ppm. Another cluster of samples located just outside of the elevated gold area carries gold values ranging 
from 140 ppb to 308 ppb. This anomaly is unique in that there are no elevated arsenic values. Each of these higher-grade 
clusters covers an area of 250 by 250 metres.  

On the eastern side of the grid there is a group of more isolated pockets of elevated gold values also with accompanying 
arsenic and antimony. Elevated nickel values in soil also occur either with or in the proximity of the anomalous gold zones 
indicating underlying mafic or ultramafic rocks. Airborne and ground magnetic surveys also support the presence of these 
rocks on the Kodiak property as well as their existence about 15 kilometres north on the Underworld (Kinross) White gold 
property.  

In addition to the gold anomalies found, the soil survey results are significant for the element associations, the pattern of their 
distribution and for revealing geologic similarities on the Kodiak property with the Kinross (formerly Underworld) White gold 
deposits located about 15 km north.  

 



 Management Discussion & Analysis – Page 9 
 
These include the following:  

• Arsenic and antimony are common associated elements with gold mineralization.  

• The anomalies form three northwest linear trends suggesting a structure control of mineralization on the Kodiak 
claims.  

• On the Underworld's (Kinross) Arc gold deposit, gold is accompanied by arsenic. Underworld's (Kinross) Golden 
Saddle deposit contains no arsenic. The contrasting arsenic contents are also evident in the anomalies on the Kodiak 
grid.  

• The Kodiak anomalies are at the end of a high magnetic trend that extends from the Underworld (Kinross) White 
property.  

• The soil anomalies at Kodiak are on or between magnetic anomalies that are interpreted as mafic rocks. The elevated 
nickel values also support this. Similarly, the higher-grade gold mineralization at Underworld's (Kinross) Golden 
Saddle deposit sits next to ultramafic units with strong magnetic signatures.  

• The potential for gold mineralization on the Kodiak block is further supported by historical placer gold production on 
Thistle Creek that bounds the north side of the claim block, and Kirkman Creek on the south side, and the anomalous 
silt (stream) sediment values on Kodiak from GSC surveys.  

Thus far The positive geochemical results of the soil survey on the Kodiak property fit very well into the anticipated Kinross 
(formerly Underworld) White model for mineralization potential.  

On February 28, 2012 the Company received an updated technical report on the Kodiak property 

2010 Work Program 
The 2010 Kodiak soil sample program included 2,037 samples for a total of 3,923 samples, covering approximately 60 per cent 
of the property. Results from the 2010 soil survey have extended the main 2009 northwest-trending soil anomaly (Main NW 
trend) to a strike length of four km and defined a second parallel 4 km long anomaly, with values up to 856.8 ppb gold (No. 2 
Northwest trend), approximately 1 km to the southwest.  Infill sampling on the Zipper trend in 2010 has outlined a gold 
anomalous zone at the junction of the northerly Zipper trend with the Main Northwest trend. A total of 383 m of trenching was 
completed in 3 trenches based on soil geochemical anomalies obtained in 2009.  
 
2011 Work Program 
The 2011 exploration consisted of an air magnetic fly-over survey. The survey further supported the belief that the Kodiak 
claim block ties onto the south side of the Kinross White Gold property.  
 
2012/ 2013 Work Program 
No significant work was conducted on the Kodiak property in 2012 or 2013 
 
2014 Work Program 
The Company plans to incorporate new sampling technologies on the Kodiak in 2014. Included in this technology would is 
expected to be direct-push, deep soil sampling in place of trenching, as well as new RC drilling. These new technologies 
should help better pinpoint and establish new targets, and at a reduced cost.  
 
2) Dime Gold Property 

On July 23, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Explorations Inc. to acquire a 100% 
interest in 152 claims referred to as the Dime Property. 

On February 8, 2010 the Company announced results of 2009 exploration consisting of a 191-soil-sample program, 
collected on a grid covering about 37 hectares on the Dime property. The gold values in the survey reached as high as 
6,082 parts per billion or six grams per tonne gold and defined an easterly trend. 
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The confirmation sampling program conducted in the fall of 2009 consisted of 191 soil samples (plus 10 duplicates) 
collected on a grid covering about 37 hectares. The confirmation grid is located over the central portion of the original 
Tech and Fjordland soil anomaly near the southwest boundary of the Dime claim block. The north-south sample lines are 
100 metres apart and were sampled at 25-metre intervals. All samples underwent ICP-MS multi-element analysis. The 
present grid includes only a small portion of the Dime claim block, most of which has yet to be evaluated. Earlier 
scattered recon soil sampling has revealed additional strong anomalies to the east and northeast of the current grid that 
have yet to be evaluated.  

The soil sample results delineated a prominent east-west belt of very high gold values with most samples ranging from 25 
parts per billion to 256 ppb across the 700-metre grid length. The width of this anomalous belt ranges from 100 to 150 
metres. The belt widens at the west edge of the grid with a contiguous line of low anomalous gold values from 15 to 25 
ppb extending to the north limit of the grid. The east and west ends, and parts of the north and southwest grid limits of the 
anomaly belt, remain open for further expansion of the anomaly. Additionally, south of the east-west anomaly another 
cluster of contiguous samples carrying a span of elevated gold values exceeding 15 ppb to 6,082 ppb, the highest value 
detected on the grid. This area is 300 metres wide and up to 300 metres long in the north-south direction. The west, east 
and south sides of this anomalous area are also open.  

Arsenic values in the soil typically rise and fall with gold values indicating that they belong to the gold mineralization 
event in the underlying bedrock. In the long stretches of background (1 to 15 ppb) gold values along any sample line, 
arsenic values usually remain below 30 parts per million. However, in samples exceeding 15 ppb gold, the levels of 
arsenic quickly rise to hundreds of parts per million. These increased arsenic levels indicate that even lower values of gold 
from 15 to 25 ppb are related to mineralization and should be considered anomalous for exploration purposes. The highest 
arsenic value of 765 ppm occurs with the highest gold value of 6,082 ppb. Several other elements such as copper, zinc, 
lead antimony, molybdenum and cobalt have weaker positive correlations with gold.  

The gold values in the survey range from one part per billion to 6,082 ppb, or six ppm. The percentages of the various 
ranges of gold values in the total sample population are as follows.  

• Gold values of one to 15 ppb -- 41 per cent of the population, background values;  

• Values of more than 15 to 25 ppb -- 24 per cent of the population, low anomalous values;  

• Values of more than 25 to 50 ppb -- 18 per cent of the population, moderately anomalous;  

• Values of more than 50 to 100 ppb -- 9 per cent of the population, good anomaly;  

• Values of more than 100 ppb -- 3 per cent of the population, very good anomaly.  

The soil collected on the grid is indigenous to the bedrock and is not from weathered, transported glacial till or outwash. 
Therefore, the gold in the soil is relatively close to its bedrock mineralization source. The east-west belt of gold appears to 
be largely independent of topographic influence and likely reflects a mineralized trend in the bedrock. 

The geology of the Ten Mile Creek area, with its numerous gold anomalies and placer occurrences, comprises Jurassic or 
Cretaceous intrusive and volcanic rocks within Paleozoic metamorphic rocks. This geological terrain lithologic series is 
known as the Tintina Gold Province belt, that extends for hundreds of miles across the Yukon and Alaska, and contains 
numerous gold occurrences, including the Pogo deposit. Much of the gold mineralization appears to be directly or 
indirectly related to the presence of Mesozoic acid to intermediate intrusive-volcanic rocks. The Tintina Gold Province 
belt is currently one of the most important gold exploration areas in North America, and the Dime claim block, with its 
promising gold anomalies, is part of it.  

2010 ExplorationOn August 4, 2010 the Company announced that it had staked an additional 180 claims at the Dime property, 
to the east, north and west of the existing 128 claims, bringing the total Dime claims to 308, and increasing the property size 
from 6,400 acres (25 square kilometers) to 15,400 acres (61 square kilometers).  

The 2010 soil survey collected a total of 3,401 soil samples covering a total of 13.2 square kilometers, or (1,322 hectares) 
or 3,268 acres (5.1 square miles) which represent 21% of the property sample so far. Three new gold soil anomalies were 
discovered. The soil anomalies were named as geographic locations relative to each other hence the names are, West 
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anomaly, Central anomaly, and East anomaly. The three gold soil anomalies appear to be structurally controlled with the 
West soil anomaly running in an east west direction (following a slight east west magnetic anomaly), the Central Anomaly 
is center on a north south magnetic low structure and the Eastern soil anomaly appears to be related to separate north 
south magnetic low structure. Follow-up trenching (1,125 m in nine trenches) confirmed the soil results from anomalies 
with better results. 

Western anomaly:  First reported by Teck Corp., measures approximately 1.3 km long by 750 metres wide, has a general 
east-west trend and includes values up to 578 parts per million arsenic and 6,092 parts per billion gold; 

Central anomaly:  1.6 km long by 350 m wide area of anomalous gold (up to 147 ppb Au), arsenic (values up to 1,975 
ppm As) and weaker lead in soil values (up to 49 ppm Pb). This anomaly is offset to the north from the western and 
eastern anomalies; 

Eastern anomaly:  This anomaly measures 1.8 km long by up to 900 m wide and consists of an Au (values up to 894 ppb 
Au), As (values up to 1,070 ppm As) and Pb (values up to 167 ppm Pb) geochemical signature.  

These areas are related to a sinistral (left lateral) offset on a prominent northwest trending magnetic low and may indicate 
a major structure. 

Results from continuous five-metre chip samples on the Western zone anomaly included a 30 m zone of silicified 
metasedimentary rocks in Trench 2 returned 0.168 gm/t Au between five and 35m. A five hole drilling program included 
5 core drill holes totaling 657 metres from three separate drill pads. Two pads (2 holes each) were located on the western 
anomaly near the high soil sample, and one pad on the eastern anomaly. The program was successful in hitting 
mineralization in every hole, including 0.71 g/t over 32 m, and 4.15 g/t over 1.5m on holes 4 and 3 on the Western Zone.  
2011 Exploration 
During the 2011 season, the Company drilled an additional 14 core holes on the Western and Eastern zones (2,574 
metres). Holes DDH-11-6 to 11-8 were collared to follow up on drill results from 2010.  
 
Drilling on the western anomaly, DDH 11-06, DDH 11-07, and DDH 11-08 were drilled from the same drill pad as DDH 
10-04 and DDH 10-05. DDH 11-06 returned encouraging values including over 12 metres of 0.90 g/t au, 1.45 metres of 
8.32 g/t au, and 1.6 metres of 5.37 g/t au.  Holes DDH-11-07 and DDH-11-08 confirmed the presence of a steeply south 
dipping east-west trending structure with strong silicification, brecciation and pyrite-arsenopyrite sulphide mineralization. 
DDH-11-07 was drilled at azimuth 020o and an angle of -50o dip. The hole was drilled to 150.26 m (493 ft) depth. DDH-
11-08 was drilled at 020o azimuth and –78o dip. DDH 11-07 included a 10.65 metre interval of 1.07 g/t au. 
 
Drilling on the Eastern zone consisted of 2,014 metres in 11 core holes drilled primarily based on trench anomalies. A 
complex cupola zone of granite-intruding and brecciating metasedimentary rocks underlies the Eastern anomaly. Core was 
strongly silicified, brecciated and hosted disseminated pyrite and arsenopyrite over significant widths.  
 
Other work completed during the 2011 season included an airborne magnetometer and Radiometric survey over the entire 
Dime and the Kodiak Property claim blocks. 854 additional auger soil samples were collected, mostly over the Western 
Anomaly as infill sampling. A 1500 meter trenching program was also completed on the Western Anomaly. 
 
Trench samples consisted of a representative 5-meter continuous chip sample of bedrock and colluviums, weighing on 
average 6 lb per sample. This method has proven to be very effective in identifying areas for additional surface work or 
drilling in the South Klondike/White Gold District. Prior to receipt of the 5-meter trench sample results collected by Stina, 
independent Qualified Person Jean Pautler, P.Geo conducted independent grab samples from the same trenches and 
reproduced anomalous gold values confirming the sampling completed by Stina.within anomalies 
 
The total field magnetic data from the airborne survey clearly shows two parallel, and very strong linear 7 km long NW-
SE trending magnetic low anomalies that are both offset a distance of 1 km along a left lateral zone trending 070 degrees. 
Total count radiometric has been provided, and that data also reflects the prominent NWSE structures obvious in the 
magnetic data. The significance of this structural trend NW-SE, along with second and third order structures E-W and 
NE-SW, are important in the South Klondike/white gold district. All major soil anomalies are located proximal to the 070 
degrees lateral offset of the NW-SE trending magnetic lows. 
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2012 Exploration 
In 2012 the Company did some work on the Dime property, including a soil program on the central anomaly. Results were 
modest, but the Company believes that newer deeper sampling techniques will be more effective (see 2013 exploration 
below).  
 
On February 22, 2012 the Company received an updated technical report on the Dime property 
 
2013 Exploration 
in November 2013 the Company completed a high-resolution IP (induced polarization) survey on the property. The West 
and East mineralized zones were both surveyed with the Supersting R84 IP/Resistivity system. This system provides high 
spatial resolution of chargeability and resistivity to a depth of 90 metres over a horizontal distance of 420 metres. Seven 
separate lines were surveyed for a total linear length of 2,940 metres. The 420-metre lines were completed over both the 
West (two) and East (five) zones on the Dime property. These zones have been previously tested using auger soil 
sampling surveys, mechanized trenching, airborne magnetics and radiometrics, and diamond drilling. Preliminary results 
from raw data indicate that this new survey will aid in targeting additional drilling and exploration on the property. More 
detailed data will be provided once survey results are compiled and interpreted. 
 
2014 Exploration 
The Company expects to further develop the Western and Eastern anomalies in 2014, including core drilling on targets 
refined by the 2013 high-resolution IP (induced polarization) survey (see above – 2013 exploration) 
This 2013 survey has outlined zones that indicate stronger probability of mineralization, along areas previously drilled on 
the Eastern Zone, and an area previously trenched on the western zone. As costs have been reduced due to the 
introduction of Ryanwood technology in 2013, drilling costs would be expected to be lower and could include reverse 
circulation drilling to further cut costs. A budget of approximately $100,000 to $200,000 would be expected. 
 
3) Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in Nevada 
 
Exploration Events During Prior Periods 
In September 2005 the Company contracted Kettle Drilling of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho and drilled 1,024 feet of diamond core 
drilling on the Bisoni McKay property. Included was a fence of three holes on the north end of the property, immediately 
adjacent to Vanadium International’s second reverse circulation hole drilled in 2004, as well as adjacent to 1970s Hecla RC 
holes BMK 17, 18 and 19 respectively, each of which showed strong grades of V2O5 at various intervals. Holes were drilled at 
angles of 45 degrees, 57.5 degrees and 66 degrees to the northwest.  
 
A second fence of two diamond core holes was drilled on the southern end of the property adjacent to Vanadium 
International’s first reverse circulation hole, and also to Hecla’s RC holes BMK 6, 7 and 8 respectively. All four of these RC 
holes showed reasonable V2O5 grade at various intervals. This was the first diamond drilling ever conducted on the 
property. 
 
Results of this diamond drilling showed very encouraging results from the northern fence, including grads much higher than 
from any other drilling on the property. The results from the southern fence of diamond drilling were less encouraging. The 
Company encountered technical difficulties in drilling these two holes and eventually had to abandon the second hole of this 
fence. The angle of the holes was reduced to 35 degrees from the planned 57.5 degrees to attempt to overcome these 
difficulties. As a result, the Company believes that it may have overshot the zone of mineralization encountered the year before 
by Vanadium International in its reverse circulation drilling.  
 
In November 2005, the Company contracted O’Keefe Drilling of Butte, MT to drill 10 RC holes at 45 degrees angles to the 
northwest at step out intervals of 210 feet from the two diamond drill fences; 3 holes to the north of the northern fence, 3 to the 
south of the northern fence, and three holes drilled to the north of the southern diamond drill fence. One RC hole was drilled 
vertically in Trench ASC50. Results from the three RC holes stepping out south of the northern diamond drill fence were 
released on November 29, 2005, and which were very encouraging to the Company. 
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In April 2006 the Company contracted Hazen research of Colorado for the metallurgical and leach testing of vanadium from 
core and reverse circulation drilling on the Bisoni McKay property in the fall of 2005. Hazen carried out mineralogical 
characterization to determine the mode of occurrence of vanadium, followed by two sets of tests on samples from three zones: 
oxidized zone (mudstone), transition zone (mudstone to carbonaceous shale) and unoxidized zone (carbonaceous shale). 

 
The tests comprised of: 
(i) direct acid leaching with sulfuric acid, at two grinds and at two temperatures, for a total of 12 experiments; and  
(ii) roasting experiments, with at least four roasting conditions for samples from each zone, followed by appropriate 

leaching, either alkaline or acidic, i.e., a minimum of 12 roasting/leaching experiments. 
 
The tests were designed to define the steps and conditions needed to obtain reasonable vanadium extraction and examine the 
reagent consumptions in leaching and roasting, and thus develop the first stages of a process flowsheet.  The Company 
received final test results in January 2007, and a report on recovery of oxidized vanadium pentoxide using an acid pug/ leach 
recovery method, including some results as high as 95%. Test results on transition and carbonaceous material showed recovery 
as high as 70% and 75% of vanadium pentoxide using a roast/ leach recovery method. Hazen Research also recommended 
further metallurgical test work to continue the refinement of these processes, as well as explore other recovery options 
 
In May 2007, the Company contracted O’Keefe Drilling of Boise, ID to conduct reverse circulation (RC) drilling on Northern 
Section “A” of the Bisoni McKay property. A total of 12 RC holes were drilled according to schedule, for a total of 5,130 feet. 
This drilling campaign was comprised of step-out holes at 100 foot intervals directly north for 700 feet along strike length from 
core hole fence DDH-05-1/2/3. Additionally, drilling was conducted parallel to the immediate west by 100 feet and north by 
700 feet. The result of this campaign is a section approximately 700 feet long by 100 feet wide, with 100 foot intervals, 
immediately to the north of core hole fence DDH-05 and inclusive of RC holes BMK-05-04, BMK-05-05 and BMK-05-06 
drilled by the Company in 2005. 
 
The detailed drilling on the north half of Area A reveals a thick section of vanadiferous carbonaceous shale capped with 
mineralized weathered, oxidized shale. Vanadium-bearing rock begins essentially on or within a few feet of the surface and 
continues down-dip below 450 feet, the current depth limit of drilling into vanadium-bearing strata. From Area A-North, the 
vanadium trend continues south over 6,000 feet to Area B. The character of the mineralization in Area B appears similar to that 
drilled in Area A, but parts of the trend appear to have been narrowed and thinned by faulting, especially between Area A and 
Area B. Evidence that the vanadiferous trend continues south of Area B comes from two historic borings and trenching by 
Hecla Mining Company. The southernmost area of the projected strike of the vanadiferous trend in Area C and beyond is still 
unexplored.  
 
In the fall of 2007 the Company contracted Edward Ullmer, P. Geo, to produce an updated geological technical report based on 
the report presented to Stina by JA Mine in 2005, and updated in 2006. The report also included a resource estimate on a sub-
section of Northern Section “A” which extends 700 feet long by 100 feet wide, directly north of BMK DDH – 2005, and with 
100 foot interval RC drilling. The Company contracted Maptek Co. of Lakewood, CO to conduct the resource estimate. 
 
In February 2008 the Company received a further updated geological technical report from Ed Ullmer, P. Geo, and included a 
resources estimate, the first ever conducted on the Bisoni McKay property, and which was conducted by Maptek of Lakewood, 
CO. The report was amended in May 2012 and is available on the company website. A map of the Bisoni McKay drill 
locations can be found on the Company website. 
 
2011 Exploration 
In the spring of 2011 the Company contracted Lyntek Corp., of Lakewood, CO to conduct a Conceptual Study of the Bisoni 
McKay to better assess the potential economic viability of the property, the vanadium pentoxide and ferrovanadium markets, 
and how the property fits into the world vanadium industry. On June 30, 2011, the Company announced that further 
metallurgical work was required to complete the Conceptual Study, and that it intended to do so. (see news release dated June 
30, 2011) 
 
2012/ 2013 Exploration 
No significant work was conducted on the Bisoni McKay Property in 2012 or 2013. The Company has recorded an impairment 
charge of $1,962,257 in 2012 to decrease the carrying value of the property, primarily considering the acquisition costs of it 



 Management Discussion & Analysis – Page 14 
 
appeared non-recoverable under general market conditions. In addition, the Company had not conducted a significant work 
program in four years. The Company decided not to impair the property in 2013, primarily recognizing that the current general 
market conditions looked slightly more favorable at year end than the previous. Additionally, another venture mineral 
exploration company is currently developing an adjacent vanadium property approximately 20 miles to the northwest, on the 
same geological vanadium belt. This company has announced plans for a vanadium recovery operation to be established on 
site over the next few years, and Stina believes these developments may further add validity and value to the Bisoni McKay 
property. 
 
2014 Exploration 
The Company intends to attempt to pair the property with a strategic market, preferably in the vanadium redox battery 
industry. It is expected that a suspension-based vanadium product would be required for such market, which may or may not 
be established in the future. Research in this marketing will continue in 2014. 
 
 
4) Zeibright Property, California, USA  
 

See 1.2 (2) above. 
On February 18, 2011 the Company decided not to proceed with the option and has written down staking/ claim costs of  
$1,402. 
 
 
5) Searchlight Property, Nevada, USA 
 
See section 1.2 (5) above 
 
On September 28, 2012 the Company announced that it would not be proceeding with Memorandum of Understanding with 
Royal Mines. Inc. 
 
6) Bandit Property 
See section 1.2 (6) above 

2012 Exploration 
On November 23, 2012 Copper Creek received assay results from 15 percussion drill holes (1,402 meters) over part of a 
two-kilometer-by-five-kilometer copper, gold and molybdenum anomaly identified during mobile metal ion (MMI) 
sampling by Copper Creek in the summer of 2011. Although several values of anomalous copper, gold and silver were 
encountered, none of the holes reported values of economic importance. The Company Directors have had discussions 
and have decided not to proceed with the option agreement at this time. 
 
Impairment to Property 
With consideration to the impairment standards of recently adopted IFRS, the Company directors have determined there to be 
an impairment of the Bandit Property carrying value of $268,786. As exploration results received subsequent to year end 
suggested nominal mineralization, the Company is unlikely to carry on with the option. 
 
 
Recent News Releases 
 
- September 24, 2013 - Stina Resources arranges $100,000 private placement 
 
- November 8, 2013 - Stina completes IP survey at Dime Property 
 
 
 
1.4  OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

http://www.stockwatch.com/News/Item.aspx?bid=Z-C:SQA-2107845&symbol=SQA&region=C
http://www.stockwatch.com/News/Item.aspx?bid=Z-C:SQA-2120234&symbol=SQA&region=C
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The Company has no off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
 
1.5  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties as at September 30, 2013 and for the period 
then ended as follows (with comparative figures as at September 30, 2012). 
 

 The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties: 

 
a) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $73,500 (2012 - $66,000) with a company 

owned by a director for consulting services. 
 

b) The Company incurred consulting wages in the amount of $72,000 (2012 - $66,000) with a senior 
officer and director. 

 
c) The Company incurred consulting wages in the amount of $44,000 (2012 - $42,000) with a director. 

 
d) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $1,500 (2012 - $nil) with directors. 

 
e) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of 2,000 (2012 - $nil) with a senior officer and 

director. 
 

f) At September 30, 2013, prior advances totalling $48,356 (September 30, 2012 - $48,356) were due to 
a company controlled by a director. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no 
specific terms of repayment. 

 
 

       Key management personnel compensation 

 Years Ending September 30 
   2013 2012 

Short-term employee benefits - consulting fees $          77,000    $         66,000 
Short-term employee benefits – salaries & wages           116,000            108,000 
Share-based payment               -             162,025  
   $       193,000  $        336,025 

 
-See note 11 of Financial Statements 

 
 
1.6  PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS/COMMITMENTS  

The Company has engaged in no other proposed transactions or commitments outside of what has been outlined in this 
report at this time. 

 
 
1.7 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 
Use of Estimates: 

 
The company’s financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
form the basis for discussion and analysis of critical accounting policies and estimates.  Management is required to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the report amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.  Significant 
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financial statement areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the determination of impairment of assets and 
resource property interests, and their useful lives for amortization, allocations between exploration projects, the fair value of 
investments and share-based compensation, asset retirement obligations and the recoverability of future income tax assets.  
Financial results as determined by actual events could differ from those estimates. 

 
 
Risk Management: 

The Company is engaged primarily in the mineral exploration field and manages related industry risk issues directly.  
Observed potential risks include those for environmental reclamation and fluctuations in commodity based market prices 
associated with resource property interests. Management is of the opinion that the Company addresses environmental risk and 
compliance in accordance with industry standards and specific project environmental requirements. Company management 
acknowledges that there is no certainty that all environmental risks and contingencies have been addressed. 
 
Financial Risk Management:  
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  
 
Credit Risk: 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to 
incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is in its cash accounts and accounts receivables. Cash 
accounts are held with a major bank in Canada. This risk is managed through the use of major banks which are high credit 
quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies. 
 
 
Currency Risk:  
The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is moderate foreign exchange risk to the Company as one of 
its resource property interest are located in the United States.  Management monitors its foreign currency balances and makes 
adjustments based on anticipated need for currencies. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to reduce its 
foreign currency risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk:  
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash balances at variable rates. The 
fair value of the Company’s cash accounts is relatively unaffected by changes in short term interest rates. The income earned 
on certain bank accounts is subject to the movements in interest rates.  
 
Liquidity and Funding Risk: 
Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at any point in time. The 
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity 
requirements at any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily 
available capital in order to meet its liquidity requirements. 
 
The Company is not utilizing any other financial instruments other than cash at this time. 
Funding Risk is the risk that market conditions will impact the Company’s ability to raise capital through equity markets under 
acceptable market terms and conditions. 
Under current market conditions both liquidity and funding risks have been assessed as medium to high. 
 
Stock-based compensation: 

The Company follows the guidelines of the IFRS 2 –“Share Based Payment”, relating to stock-based compensation and other 
stock-based Payments.  The Company follows a fair-value method for all stock-based compensation and similar stock based 
awards to directors, employees and consultants.  Where the Company has issued options that vest over a period of expected 
service, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is estimated and charged to income over the respective vesting periods. 
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1.8 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION 
 
Effective January 1, 2011, Canadian publicly listed entities were required to prepare their financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS. Due to the requirement to present comparative financial information, the effective transition date is October 1, 
2010. 
 
As a result, the Company has prepared these audited financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2013 in 
accordance with IFRS. IFRS represents standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”), and are comprised of IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”), and interpretations issued by the 
IFRS Interpretation Committee (“IFRICs”) or the former Standing Interpretations Committee (“SICs”). The Company 
disclosed its significant accounting policies as described in Note 2 of the Company’s audited annual financial statements as at 
and for the year ended September 30, 2013.  
 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by the IASB or the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after January 1, 
2011, or later periods. Some updates that are not applicable or are not consequential to the Company may have been excluded 
from the list below. 
 

• New standard IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” - This new standard is a partial replacement of IAS 39 “Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.  This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2015. The Company has not early adopted these revised standards and is currently assessing the impact that 
these standards will have on the financial statements. 

 
• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, 

or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces 
SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

 
• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint 

venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a 
joint operation the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint 
operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests 
in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-
monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

 
• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other 

entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard 
carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the 
nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. 

 
• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement - IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure 

requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the 
measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on 
measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in 
many cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures. 

• IFRS 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine - In IFRIC 20, the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
sets out principles for the recognition of production stripping costs in the balance sheet. The interpretation recognizes 
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that some production stripping in surface mining activity will benefit production in future periods and sets out criteria 
for capitalizing such costs. While the Company is not yet in the production phase, the Company is currently assessing 
the future impact of this interpretation. 
 

• Amendments to other standards - In addition, there have been other amendments to existing standards, including IAS 
27 Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. IAS 27 addresses 
accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements. IAS 28 
has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in IFRS 10 to IFRS 13. 

 
Each of the new standards, IFRS 10 to 13 and the amendments to other standards, is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact 
that the new and amended standards will have on its financial statements or whether to early adopt any of the new 
requirements. 
 
1.9  FINANCIAL AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS  
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, short term investments, accounts receivables, amounts due to and from 
related parties, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the 
Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency risks arising from financial instruments. The fair value of these 
financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term maturity or capacity of prompt liquidation. 
 
1.10 OTHER MD&A REQUIREMENTS 
 
Additional information relating to the Company’s operations and activities can be found by visiting the Company’s website 
www.stinaresources.com as well as numerous news releases and 43-101 reports filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com 

 
A. Authorized and Issued Share Capital as at September 30, 2013:  
 
Authorized: Unlimited common shares without par value 

Issued and outstanding: 29,237,499 common shares 

See Note 9 – Share Capital of the Financial Statements 

 

B. Options, Warrants & Convertible Securities Outstanding as at September 30, 2013:  
 

Stock options 
 
Under the Company’s Incentive Share Option Plan, the Company may grant options to employees, consultants and 
directors when the number of shares reserved does not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding share capital at the 
date of grant.  The exercise price of the options granted will be no less than the discounted market price of the 
Company’s shares and the maximum term of the options will be 5 years. 

 
 
The following employee stock options are vested and exercisable:   

        Number Exercise price Expiry 
     of shares      - $ -       Date     
 

 375,000 0.30 November 3, 2014 
      825,000 0.46 August 5, 2015 
 250,000 0.33 March 16, 2016 
 800,000 0.15 July 3, 2017 
 2,250,000   

 
 

http://www.belmontresources.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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Escrow shares 
 

As of September 30, 2013 no shares were held in escrow 
 
 
 
 
 

Share purchase warrants 
 

As of September 30, 2013 the following share purchase warrants were outstanding: 
 

 No. of warrants Exercise price Expiry Date 
    
 2,100,000 0.45 September 19, 2015 
 2,100,000   

 
On August 6, 2013, the Company received TSX Venture Exchange approval to extend the expiry date of 
2,100,000 warrants exercisable at a price of $0.45 for an additional two years to September 19, 2015. 
 
     

C. Subsequent Events  

On September 24, 2013 the Company announced a non-brokered private placement for 400,000 units @ $0.25 per 
share, for total proceeds of $100,000.  Each unit includes one common share and one warrant, exercisable at $0.50 
per for a period of two years.  The Company expects to close the private placement before the end of January 
2014. 
 
On November 8, 2013 the Company announced it had completed the IP survey on the Dime property. Results are 
available in the news release dated that day. 
 

D. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 

Based on our evaluation for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, and up to the date of this Management Discussion 
and Analysis, we have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are sufficiently effective to provide 
reasonable assurance that material information required to be disclosed in the Company’s interim and annual filings 
and other reports filed or submitted under Canadian securities laws are recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified by those laws and that the material information is accumulated and communicated to 
Management of the Company, including the President, and CEO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure. 

 
 

E. Corporate Governance Disclosure 
 

The company has submitted to its members and shareholders details in the Information Circular dated May 21, 2011 
Corporate Governance Disclosure guidelines that have been presented to the Board of Directors for periodic review.  
Some of these guidelines are:  Outlining the Company’s business and implementation of appropriate systems to 
manage any associated risks, communications with investors and the financial community and the integrity of the 
Company’s internal control and management information systems.  The Management of the Company periodically 
updates directors with regulatory policy changes.  Management encourages and promotes a culture of ethical business 
conduct.  The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing 
corporate legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an 
individual director’s participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to 
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ensure that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company. 
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STINA RESOURCES LTD. 
 

FORM 51-102F1 
 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis  
for the Year and 4th Quarter Ended September 30, 2012 

(and containing information as of January 28, 2013)  
 

Item 1: ANNUAL MD&A  
 
Forward-looking Information 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) contains certain forward-looking statements and information relating 
to Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) that are based on the beliefs of its management as well as assumptions made by and 
information currently available to the Company. When used in this document, the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, 
“expect” and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company or its management, are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements. This MD&A contains forward-looking statements relating to, among other things, regulatory compliance, the 
sufficiency of current working capital, the estimated cost and availability of funding for the continued exploration and 
development of Company exploration properties. Such statements reflect the current views of the Company with respect to 
future events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many factors could cause the actual results, 
performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 
that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Aside from factors identified in the annual MD&A, 
additional important factors, if any, are identified here. 
 
NATURE OF BUSINESS: 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of British Columbia and is engaged in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of resource properties. The Company’s primary activity is the exploration of the Dime  and 
Kodiak Gold properties in the Klondike  Region of the Yukon, Canada,  in addition to the Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 
in northern Nevada. 
 
The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol SQA. 
 
1.1 DATE  
 
The following discussion and analysis was approved by the Directors of the Company and should be read in conjunction with 
the audited financial statements for year ended September 30, 2012, and unaudited financial statements for the quarters ending 
June 30, 2012, March 31, 2012, December 31, 2011, and the related notes thereto. All figures are in Canadian dollars unless 
otherwise noted.  

 
1.2 OPERATIONS DETAIL AND FINANCIAL CONDITIONS: 
 

(a) Acquisitions & Dispositions: 

See Note 7 – Exploration and Evaluation Assets of the Company’s annual Financial Statements for the 
year ended September 30, 2012. 

 

1)  Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in Nevada 

 
In 2005 the company entered into an option agreement with Vanadium International Corp. (VIC) to acquire 50% of the rights 
to 19 mining claims covering 392.6 acres, located in Nye County, Nevada, USA, called the Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property. 
In earning its interest, the Company made cash payments totaling $250,000, issued 1,250,000 shares to Vanadium, and funded 
$700,000 of exploration activities. 
On July 3, 2008 the Company issued an additional 800,000 common shares to VIC in a shares for debt arrangement to 
complete the initial 50% acquisition, then issued an additional 1,995,600 shares at a deemed price of $1 (Canadian) per share 
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to Vanadium as payment of the $2-million (U.S.) purchase price (based on a deemed exchange rate of $1 (Canadian):$1.0022 
(U.S.)) to VIC as option payment for the remaining 50% of the property. Stina now holds 100% of the rights to 37 mineral 
claims on the property. In the subsequent period (January 2013) the Company Directors elected to impair the property value by 
$1,962,257 effective September 30, 2012. Managements’ review for indications of impairment primarily considered that the 
acquisition costs of this property appeared non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition costs were primarily based 
on 3,245,000 common shares that were issued at an average cost of $0.78 per share. In today’s market, or specifically at 
September 30, 2012, the shares would be worth $0.18 per share. The Company has recorded an impairment charge of 
$1,962,257 in the current year to decrease the carrying value of the property based on market indicators. In addition, the 
Company has not conducted a significant work program in four years.   (See section 1.3 (3) below) 
 
2) Zeibright Gold Property in California 

 On February 19, 2009, the Company entered into an option agreement with Steephollow Resources Inc. (“SRI”), pursuant to 
which SRI has agreed to grant the Company an option to purchase a 100% beneficial interest in certain mining claims located 
in Nevada County, California, United States.  The claims were subject to a 2% NSR.  The Company decided not to proceed 
with the option on February 18, 2011 and wrote down staking and claim costs of $1,402. 

 3)  Kodiak Gold Property in the Yukon 

On June 19, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration Inc. (“REI”) to purchase a 100-
per-cent beneficial interest in 152 mining claims located in the Dawson mining district, Yukon Territory, generally known and 
described as the Kodiak Property, subject to a 2-per-cent net smelter interest in favour of REI.  

 Pursuant to the option agreement, to exercise the option the Company must:  

 Pay to REI:  
- $75,000 within five days after the approval date of the option agreement by the TSX-V (Paid);  
- $50,000 on or before June 15, 2010; (Paid) 
- $100,000 on or before June 15, 2011; (Paid) 
- $75,000 on or before June 15, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 ($37,500 paid June 13, 2012 and $37,500 paid 
November 13, 2012) 
- $75,000 on or before June 15, 2013. 

 Issue and deliver to REI:  
- 250,000 common shares of the company within five days after the approval date of the option agreement by the TSX V 
(Issued);  
- 200,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2010; (Issued)  
- 200,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2011; (Issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2012;  (Issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2013. 
Incur expenditures:  
- In the amount of $100,000 on or before Nov. 18, 2009; (Incurred) 
- In the additional amount of $200,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2010;  (Incurred) 
- In the additional amount of $300,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2011;  (Extended to November 18, 2013) 
- In the additional amount of $500,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2012. (Extended to November 18, 2013) 
 
The Kodiak property claim block consists of 152 claims covering 30 square kilometers or 6400 acres and ties on to the 
southern side of Kinross Gold Corp  white gold property. The Kodiak claim block also straddles Thistle creek which was the 
richest placer gold-producing creek in the area given up more than 63,000 ounces of placer gold since the turn of the century.  

REI is the property vendor for Kinross Gold Corps’ (formerly Underworld Resources Inc's) White Property and has re-
evaluated the Geological Survey of Canada database for similar positive indicators for white-style mineralization. The GSC 
airborne magnetic data indicate the Kodiak claims are sitting on the same regional north - south magnetic high anomaly that 
Kinross Gold Corp’s White Gold Property is now covering. The GSC silt survey of the Thistle area indicates a 90-per-cent 
percentile gold anomaly, a 98-per-cent percentile arsenic anomaly and up to 99-per-cent percentile silver anomaly all draining 
from the Kodiak property. Again, all positive indicator elements in white-gold-style mineralization. The third piece of data that 
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increases the Kodiak potential is the GSC geology map. The GSC geology map has noted a northwest and northeast trending 
regional structure and the same geological units were mapped by the GSC on both the white and Kodiak properties which 
consist of DMa amphibolites, DMogt orthogneiss, and DMps quartz mica schist.  

Results from the 2010 soil survey have extended the main 2009 northwest-trending soil anomaly (Main Northwest trend) to a 
strike length of four km and defined a second parallel four km long anomaly, with values up to 856.8 ppb gold (No. 2 
Northwest trend), approximately one km to the southwest. The location that had a 856.8 ppb gold could not be trenched due to 
steep topography. Infill sampling on the Zipper trend in 2010 has outlined a gold anomalous zone at the junction of the 
northerly Zipper trend with the Main Northwest trend 

4) Dime Gold Property in the Yukon 

On July 23, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration Inc. (“REI”) to acquire a 100 
per-cent beneficial interest in 128 mining claims located in the Dawson mining district, Yukon Territory, generally known and 
described as the Dime Property, subject to a 2-per-cent net smelter interest in favour of REI (the Company has the option to 
purchase one-half of the net smelter return royalty for a payment of $2-million).  

Pursuant to the option agreement, to exercise the option the Company must:  

Pay to REI:  
- $125,000 within 15 days after the approval date of the option agreement by the TSX Venture Exchange; (Paid) 
- $125,000 on or before June 26, 2010; (Paid) 
- $100,000 on or before June 26, 2011; (Paid) 
- $100,000 on or before June 26, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 ($50,000 paid June 13, 2012 and $50,000 paid 
November 18, 2012- $150,000 on or before June 26, 2013. 

Issue and deliver to REI: 
- 200,000 common shares of the company within five days after the approval date of the option agreement the TSX 
Venture Exchange; (Issued) 
- 200,000 common shares of the company on or before June 26, 2010; (Issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the company on or before June 26, 2011; (Issued) 
- 300,000 common shares of the company on or before June 26, 2012;  (Issued) 
- 250,000 common shares of the company on or before June 26, 2013. 

Incur expenditures: 
- In the amount of $100,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2009; (Incurred)  
- In the additional amount of $250,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2010;  (Incurred) 
- In the additional amount of $500,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2011;  (Incurred) 
- In the additional amount of $750,000 on or before Nov. 15, 2012. (Incurred) 

The Dime property is located 42 kilometers northwest of the Kinross (formerly Underworld’s) White Gold project and covers a 
well-known placer gold creek called Ten Mile. Ten Mile creek has produced coarse placer gold since the turn of the century 
and the placer deposits are believed to be locally derived. In 1998 Teck Corp. staked the ground surrounding two placer gold 
districts in the Dawson area. One was the area now covered by Kinross Gold Corp. Underworld's White Gold property and the 
second one was a claim package in the Ten Mile Creek area. Teck worked on both properties for two or three seasons and 
successfully identified several promising targets. The company changed its focus in 2000 and dropped all their gold 
exploration efforts in the Dawson area, except claims in the 10 Mile area, which it optioned to Radius Gold. 

In early 2010, the Company announced results of 2009 exploration consisting of a 191-soil-sample program, collected on a 
grid covering about 37 hectares on the Dime property. The gold values in the survey reached as high as 6,082 parts per billion 
or six grams per ton gold and defined an easterly trend. The 2010 soil survey collected a total of 3401 soil samples covering a 
total of 13.2 square kilometers, or (1,322 hectares) or 3268 acres (5.1 square miles) which represent 21% of the property 
sample so far. Three new gold soil anomalies were discovered. The soil anomalies were named as geographic locations relative 
to each other hence the names are, West anomaly, Central anomaly, and East anomaly. The three gold soil anomalies appear to 
be structurally controlled with the West soil anomaly running in an east west direction (following a slight east west magnetic 
anomaly), the Central Anomaly is center on a north south magnetic low structure and the Eastern soil anomaly appears to be 
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related to separate north south magnetic low structure. Follow-up trenching (1,125 m in nine trenches) confirmed the soil 
results from anomalies with better results. 

A five hole drilling program included 5 core drill holes totaling 657 meters from three separate drill pads. Two pads (2 holes 
each) were located on the western anomaly near the high soil sample, and one pad on the eastern anomaly. The program was 
successful in hitting mineralization in every hole, including 0.71 g/t over 32 m, and 4.15 g/t over 1.5m on holes 4 and 3 
respectively. The Dime gold property is a significant new discovery in the White gold district and Stina is pleased with the 
results of the 2010 program. 
 
5) Searchlight Property, Nevada 
 
On February 2, 2012, the Company signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Royal Mines Inc. (RMI) to acquire 
a 70-per-cent interest in a mining lease claim, and a 40-per-cent interest in 20 claims surrounding the lease claim, located in 
southern Nevada. Under the proposed agreement Stina would earn a 70-per-cent interest in the Smith lease property in the 
Searchlight mining district of Nevada, as well as a 40-per-cent interest in Royal Mines' 100-per-cent interest in the 20 Piute 
claims, also in the Searchlight mining district in Nevada. To acquire interest of the claims package, Stina would agree to 
complete $100,000 of exploration work on the properties within 12 months and a further $900,000 within three years of the 
formal agreement with Royal Mines. 
 
On September 28, 2012 the Company announced that it would not be proceeding with Memorandum of Understanding with 
Royal Mines. Inc. 
 
6) Bandit Blackwater Property, British Columbia 

On June 7, 2012 The Company entered into an option agreement with Copper Creek Gold Corp. to earn a 60-per-cent 
interest in the Bandit property, located in the Blackwater gold district of central British Columbia, approximately 137 
kilometres southwest of the city of Prince George, and more specifically in the Nechako plateau. The property consists of 
three contiguous claims, the Bandit, the Smokey, and the Burt, for a total of 8,732 hectares. Copper Creek Gold holds a 
100-per-cent interest in the three property claims.  

Pursuant to the option agreement, the company must issue a total of 400,000 common shares and expend $2-million on 
exploration as follows:  

1. Issue and deliver to Copper Creek:  

a. 100,000 common shares of the company within five days after the approval date of the option agreement 
by the TSX Venture Exchange (issued); 

b. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2013; 

c. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2014;  

d. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2015.  

2. Incur a total of $2-million in work cost expenditures as follows:  

a. In the amount of $100,000 on or before June 15, 2013 (incurred); 

b. In an additional amount of $650,000 on or before June 15, 2014;  

c. In an additional amount of $500,000 on or before June 15, 2015;  

d. In an additional amount of $750,000 on or before the fourth anniversary of TSX Venture Exchange 
approval. 

   See Section 1.3 (6) below for recent exploration information 
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Effective September 30, 2102, the Company has recorded an impairment charge of $268,786 as exploration results received 
subsequent to year end suggested nominal mineralization.  As exploration results received subsequent to year end suggested 
nominal mineralization, the Company is unlikely to carry on with the option. 
 
Selected Financial Information: 
 
The following table sets forth selected audited financial information of the Company for the last 3 completed financial years. 
 

 FISCAL YEARS ENDED 
 September 30, 2012* September 30, 2011* September 30, 2010 
Total Revenue $ - $ - $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - 
Operating Expenses $ 569,247 $ 510,245 $ 906,418 
Net Income (Loss) $ (2,791,418) $ (478,195) $ (661,363) 
Loss Per Share $ (0.11) $ (0.02) $ (0.03) 
Total Assets $ 6,236,076 $ 8,481,353 $ 7,799,729 

 
Summary of Quarterly Results 
The following table sets forth selected (unaudited) quarterly financial information for each of the last eight most recently 
completed quarters: 

 QUARTERS ENDED 
 Sept. 30, 2012* June 30, 2012* Mar. 31, 2012* Dec. 31, 2011* 
Total Revenue $ -  $ - $ - $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ -  $- $ - 
Oper. Expenses $ 247,583 $ 92,744 $ 133,849 $ 95,071 
Net Income (Loss) $ (2,472,683) $ (90,897) $ (132,872) $ (94,966) 
Income (Loss) Per Share $ (0.09) $ (0.00) $ (0.01) $ (0.00) 
Total Assets $ 6,236,076 $ 8,355,260 $ 8,351,021 $ 8,567,403 
Total Liabilities $ 200,156 $ 108,877 $ 118,741 $ 202,251 
 
 QUARTERS ENDED 
 Sept. 30, 2011* June 30, 2011* Mar. 31, 2011* Dec. 31, 2010* 
Total Revenue $ - $ - $ -  $ - 
Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Oper. Expenses $ 157,877 $ 90,443 $ 185,543 $ 76,382 
Net Income (Loss) $ (122,340) $ (87,514) $ (184,603) $ (83,738)  
(Loss) Per Share $  (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.01) $ 0.00 
Total Assets $ 8,481,353 $ 8,471,791 $ 8,359,295 $ 8,612,224 
Total Liabilities $ 213,990 $ 115,440 $ 113,431 $ 267,703 

* In accordance with IFRS 
 
Expenditure Comparison and Variances – Stina Administration Division: 
Increases: $36,502 in Accounting, audit and legal, partly as a result of BCSC examination in quarter three, $75,902 in Salaries 
and benefits; $42,726 in Share-based payments. 
Decreases: ($23,496) in Consulting fees; ($17,393) in Office and sundry; ($51,285) in Travel and promotion. 
 
Expenditure Comparison and Variances – Mineral Exploration Division: 
During the period between October 1, 2011 and September 30, 2012 Mineral Exploration Division expenditures totaling 
$621,747 were classified as exploration and evaluation assets. In addition, a charge of  $2,231,043 was classified as  an 
impairment to exploration and evaluation assets , for a total asset of $5,524,094 as of September 30, 2012. Of this amount, 
$197,603 was classified as acquisition costs. 
 
-See Note 7 of Financial Statements 
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Comparative mineral exploration and evaluation assets as follows: 
 
 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2012 2011

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nevada, USA
Acquisition costs:
   Balance, beginning of year 2,859,526$       2,859,526$       
     Staking and claim costs 453                   -                    
  Balance, end of year 2,859,979         2,859,526         

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 793,133            719,190            
     Economic study 39,349              
     Geological consulting 10,359              22,966              
     Claim fees and staking 3,026                6,147                
     Storage 6,030                5,481                
  Balance, end of year 812,548            793,133            

Impairment (1,962,257)        -                    
  Total Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 1,710,270$       3,652,659$       

Kodiak Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 512,675$          334,675$          
     Cash payment 37,500              100,000            
     200,000 shares at  $0.16 32,000              -                    
     200,000 shares at  $0.39 -                    78,000              
  Balance, end of year 582,175            512,675            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 379,149            301,772            
      Assaying 12,835              
      Geological consulting 188                   13,718              
      Geomagnetic -                    26,830              
      Helicopter rentals -                    8,704                
      Trenching -                    15,290              
  Balance, end of year 379,337            379,149            

  Total Kodiak Property 961,512$          891,824$          

(continues)
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Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

 
 

Year ended Year ended
September 30, September 30, 

2012 2011
Dime Property, Yukon, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year 648,000$          428,000$          
     Cash payment 54,650              100,000            
     300,000 shares at $0.19 57,000              -                    
     300,000 shares at $0.40 -                    120,000            
  Balance, end of year 759,650            648,000            

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year 1,940,906         480,095            
   Assaying 66,279              65,947              

    Camp accommodation 16,097              211,117            
    Drilling -                    402,118            
    Geological consulting 15,112              203,352            
    Geomagnetic -                    51,050              
    Helicopter rentals 6,890                327,871            
    Soil sampling 15,001              24,613              
    Salaries 32,375              70,625              
    Trenching -                    104,118            
  Balance, end of year 2,092,660         1,940,906         

  Total Dime Property 2,852,310$       2,588,906$       

Bandit Creek Property, British Columbia, Canada
Acquisition costs:  
   Balance, beginning of year -$                  -$                  
     Cash payment -                    -                    
     100,000 shares at $0.10 16,000              -                    
  Balance, end of year 16,000              -                    

Exploration expenditures:
   Balance, beginning of year -                    -                    
   Assaying 3,360                -                    

    Camp expenses 22,240              -                    
    Drilling 158,426            -                    
    Geological consulting 56,876              -                    
    Soil sampling 11,885              -                    
  Balance, end of year 252,787            -                    

Impairment (268,786)           
  Total Bandit Creek Property 1$                     -$                      

(continues)  
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Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

 
Year ended Year ended

September 30, September 30, 

2012 2011
Zeibright Property, California, USA
Acquisition costs:
   Balance, beginning of year -$                      1,402$              
Write down of property -                    (1,402)               
  Balance, end of year -$                      -$                      

Total Exploration and Evaluation Assets 5,524,093$       7,133,389$       

 
 
Bisoni McKay Budget 
A budget of between $50,000 and $137,000 has been set for further metallurgical testing and bulk sampling on material 
recovered from the Bisoni McKay property. 
 
Yukon Exploration Budget 
A budget of between $250,000 and $500,000 has been set for the Dime and Kodiak properties in 2013. (See Section 1.3 below) 
 
 
Liquidity and Solvency 
 
The company’s liquidity will depend upon its ability to raise financing for the continued development of the Bisoni McKay 
property, the Kodiak property and the Dime property. 
 
During the period ended September 30, 2012 cash resources (including short-term investments) decreased $606,537 from 
September 30, 2011 
 
As of September 30, 2012 the Company had working capital of $485,996 (September 30, 2011 – $1,106,996). 
 
 
Capital Resources 
 
The Company’s liquidity depends upon its ability to raise additional financing to meet exploration requirements and working 
capital obligations. The Company raised an additional $3.1 million in September and October 2010 through non-brokered 
private placements. The Company has cash for 2013 working capital, and is investigating raising capital for the 2013 
exploration programs. 
 

 
1.3 EXPLORATION, NEWS RELEASES & MATERIAL CHANGE REPORTS 

 
1) Kodiak Gold Property in the Yukon Territory 

In August 2009 the Company initiated a work program on the Kodiak property in the Dawson Mining District of the Yukon 
Territory. The Kodiak property claim block consists of 152 claims covering 30 square kilometers or 6400 acres and ties on to 
the southern side of Underworld White Gold Property. The Kodiak claim block also straddles Thistle creek which was the 
richest placer gold-producing creek in the area given up more than 63,000 ounces of placer gold since the turn of the century.  

Shawn Ryan of Ryanwood Exploration Inc (“REI”) was contracted by the Company to establish a grid 6 kilometers long by 2 
kilometers wide for acquiring approximately 1,925 soil samples along the anomaly at 50 metre intervals, along north-south 
lines 100 metres apart. With background gold of 2.5 parts per billion (ppb) over the sample grid, a large contiguous area on the 
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western side of the grid carries greater than four parts per billion gold with accompanying elevated values of arsenic and 
antimony. This anomalous area is 2,000 metres long and from 100 metres to 750 metres wide. Within this broad area, a cluster 
of higher gold grades range from 14 ppb to 99 ppb with arsenic from 40 to 676 parts per million and antimony from one part 
per million to 6.9 ppm. Another cluster of samples located just outside of the elevated gold area carries gold values ranging 
from 140 ppb to 308 ppb. This anomaly is unique in that there are no elevated arsenic values. Each of these higher-grade 
clusters covers an area of 250 by 250 metres.  

On the eastern side of the grid there is a group of more isolated pockets of elevated gold values also with accompanying 
arsenic and antimony. Elevated nickel values in soil also occur either with or in the proximity of the anomalous gold zones 
indicating underlying mafic or ultramafic rocks. Airborne and ground magnetic surveys also support the presence of these 
rocks on the Kodiak property as well as their existence about 15 kilometres north on the Underworld (Kinross) White gold 
property.  

In addition to the gold anomalies found, the soil survey results are significant for the element associations, the pattern of their 
distribution and for revealing geologic similarities on the Kodiak property with the Kinross (formerly Underworld) White gold 
deposits located about 15 km north.  

These include the following:  

• Arsenic and antimony are common associated elements with gold mineralization.  

• The anomalies form three northwest linear trends suggesting a structure control of mineralization on the Kodiak 
claims.  

• On the Underworld's (Kinross) Arc gold deposit, gold is accompanied by arsenic. Underworld's (Kinross) Golden 
Saddle deposit contains no arsenic. The contrasting arsenic contents are also evident in the anomalies on the Kodiak 
grid.  

• The Kodiak anomalies are at the end of a high magnetic trend that extends from the Underworld (Kinross) White 
property.  

• The soil anomalies at Kodiak are on or between magnetic anomalies that are interpreted as mafic rocks. The elevated 
nickel values also support this. Similarly, the higher-grade gold mineralization at Underworld's (Kinross) Golden 
Saddle deposit sits next to ultramafic units with strong magnetic signatures.  

• The potential for gold mineralization on the Kodiak block is further supported by historical placer gold production on 
Thistle Creek that bounds the north side of the claim block, and Kirkman Creek on the south side, and the anomalous 
silt (stream) sediment values on Kodiak from GSC surveys.  

Thus far The positive geochemical results of the soil survey on the Kodiak property fit very well into the anticipated Kinross 
(formerly Underworld) White model for mineralization potential.  

On February 28, 2012 the Company received an updated technical report on the Kodiak property 

2010 Work Program 
The 2010 Kodiak soil sample program included 2,037 samples for a total of 3,923 samples, covering approximately 60 per cent 
of the property. Results from the 2010 soil survey have extended the main 2009 northwest-trending soil anomaly (Main NW 
trend) to a strike length of four km and defined a second parallel 4 km long anomaly, with values up to 856.8 ppb gold (No. 2 
Northwest trend), approximately 1 km to the southwest.  Infill sampling on the Zipper trend in 2010 has outlined a gold 
anomalous zone at the junction of the northerly Zipper trend with the Main Northwest trend. A total of 383 m of trenching was 
completed in 3 trenches based on soil geochemical anomalies obtained in 2009.  
 
2011 Work Program 
The 2011 exploration consisted of an air magnetic fly-over survey. The survey further supported the belief that the Kodiak 
claim block ties onto the south side of the Kinross White Gold property.  
 
2012 Work Program 
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No significant work was conducted on the Kodiak property in 2012 
2013 Work Program 
The Company plans to incorporate new sampling technologies on the Kodiak in 2013. Included in this technology would is 
expected to be direct-push, deep soil sampling in place of trenching, as well as new RC drilling. These new technologies 
should help better pinpoint and establish new targets, and at a reduced cost.  
 
2) Dime Gold Property 

On July 23, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Explorations Inc. to acquire a 100% 
interest in 152 claims referred to as the Dime Property. 

On February 8, 2010 the Company announced results of 2009 exploration consisting of a 191-soil-sample program, 
collected on a grid covering about 37 hectares on the Dime property. The gold values in the survey reached as high as 
6,082 parts per billion or six grams per tonne gold and defined an easterly trend. 

The confirmation sampling program conducted in the fall of 2009 consisted of 191 soil samples (plus 10 duplicates) 
collected on a grid covering about 37 hectares. The confirmation grid is located over the central portion of the original 
Tech and Fjordland soil anomaly near the southwest boundary of the Dime claim block. The north-south sample lines are 
100 metres apart and were sampled at 25-metre intervals. All samples underwent ICP-MS multi-element analysis. The 
present grid includes only a small portion of the Dime claim block, most of which has yet to be evaluated. Earlier 
scattered recon soil sampling has revealed additional strong anomalies to the east and northeast of the current grid that 
have yet to be evaluated.  

The soil sample results delineated a prominent east-west belt of very high gold values with most samples ranging from 25 
parts per billion to 256 ppb across the 700-metre grid length. The width of this anomalous belt ranges from 100 to 150 
metres. The belt widens at the west edge of the grid with a contiguous line of low anomalous gold values from 15 to 25 
ppb extending to the north limit of the grid. The east and west ends, and parts of the north and southwest grid limits of the 
anomaly belt, remain open for further expansion of the anomaly. Additionally, south of the east-west anomaly another 
cluster of contiguous samples carrying a span of elevated gold values exceeding 15 ppb to 6,082 ppb, the highest value 
detected on the grid. This area is 300 metres wide and up to 300 metres long in the north-south direction. The west, east 
and south sides of this anomalous area are also open.  

Arsenic values in the soil typically rise and fall with gold values indicating that they belong to the gold mineralization 
event in the underlying bedrock. In the long stretches of background (1 to 15 ppb) gold values along any sample line, 
arsenic values usually remain below 30 parts per million. However, in samples exceeding 15 ppb gold, the levels of 
arsenic quickly rise to hundreds of parts per million. These increased arsenic levels indicate that even lower values of gold 
from 15 to 25 ppb are related to mineralization and should be considered anomalous for exploration purposes. The highest 
arsenic value of 765 ppm occurs with the highest gold value of 6,082 ppb. Several other elements such as copper, zinc, 
lead antimony, molybdenum and cobalt have weaker positive correlations with gold.  

The gold values in the survey range from one part per billion to 6,082 ppb, or six ppm. The percentages of the various 
ranges of gold values in the total sample population are as follows.  

• Gold values of one to 15 ppb -- 41 per cent of the population, background values;  

• Values of more than 15 to 25 ppb -- 24 per cent of the population, low anomalous values;  

• Values of more than 25 to 50 ppb -- 18 per cent of the population, moderately anomalous;  

• Values of more than 50 to 100 ppb -- 9 per cent of the population, good anomaly;  

• Values of more than 100 ppb -- 3 per cent of the population, very good anomaly.  

The soil collected on the grid is indigenous to the bedrock and is not from weathered, transported glacial till or outwash. 
Therefore, the gold in the soil is relatively close to its bedrock mineralization source. The east-west belt of gold appears to 
be largely independent of topographic influence and likely reflects a mineralized trend in the bedrock. 
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The geology of the Ten Mile Creek area, with its numerous gold anomalies and placer occurrences, comprises Jurassic or 
Cretaceous intrusive and volcanic rocks within Paleozoic metamorphic rocks. This geological terrain lithologic series is 
known as the Tintina Gold Province belt, that extends for hundreds of miles across the Yukon and Alaska, and contains 
numerous gold occurrences, including the Pogo deposit. Much of the gold mineralization appears to be directly or 
indirectly related to the presence of Mesozoic acid to intermediate intrusive-volcanic rocks. The Tintina Gold Province 
belt is currently one of the most important gold exploration areas in North America, and the Dime claim block, with its 
promising gold anomalies, is part of it.  
 

2010 Exploration 

On August 4, 2010 the Company announced that it had staked an additional 180 claims at the Dime property, to the east, 
north and west of the existing 128 claims, bringing the total Dime claims to 308, and increasing the property size from 
6,400 acres (25 square kilometers) to 15,400 acres (61 square kilometers).  

The 2010 soil survey collected a total of 3,401 soil samples covering a total of 13.2 square kilometers, or (1,322 hectares) 
or 3,268 acres (5.1 square miles) which represent 21% of the property sample so far. Three new gold soil anomalies were 
discovered. The soil anomalies were named as geographic locations relative to each other hence the names are, West 
anomaly, Central anomaly, and East anomaly. The three gold soil anomalies appear to be structurally controlled with the 
West soil anomaly running in an east west direction (following a slight east west magnetic anomaly), the Central Anomaly 
is center on a north south magnetic low structure and the Eastern soil anomaly appears to be related to separate north 
south magnetic low structure. Follow-up trenching (1,125 m in nine trenches) confirmed the soil results from anomalies 
with better results. 

Western anomaly:  First reported by Teck Corp., measures approximately 1.3 km long by 750 metres wide, has a general 
east-west trend and includes values up to 578 parts per million arsenic and 6,092 parts per billion gold; 

Central anomaly:  1.6 km long by 350 m wide area of anomalous gold (up to 147 ppb Au), arsenic (values up to 1,975 
ppm As) and weaker lead in soil values (up to 49 ppm Pb). This anomaly is offset to the north from the western and 
eastern anomalies; 

Eastern anomaly:  This anomaly measures 1.8 km long by up to 900 m wide and consists of an Au (values up to 894 ppb 
Au), As (values up to 1,070 ppm As) and Pb (values up to 167 ppm Pb) geochemical signature.  

These areas are related to a sinistral (left lateral) offset on a prominent northwest trending magnetic low and may indicate 
a major structure. 

Results from continuous five-metre chip samples on the Western zone anomaly included a 30 m zone of silicified 
metasedimentary rocks in Trench 2 returned 0.168 gm/t Au between five and 35m. A five hole drilling program included 
5 core drill holes totaling 657 metres from three separate drill pads. Two pads (2 holes each) were located on the western 
anomaly near the high soil sample, and one pad on the eastern anomaly. The program was successful in hitting 
mineralization in every hole, including 0.71 g/t over 32 m, and 4.15 g/t over 1.5m on holes 4 and 3 on the Western Zone.  
2011 Exploration 
During the 2011 season, the Company drilled an additional 14 core holes on the Western and Eastern zones (2,574 
metres). Holes DDH-11-6 to 11-8 were collared to follow up on drill results from 2010.  
 
Drilling on the western anomaly, DDH 11-06, DDH 11-07, and DDH 11-08 were drilled from the same drill pad as DDH 
10-04 and DDH 10-05. DDH 11-06 returned encouraging values including over 12 metres of 0.90 g/t au, 1.45 metres of 
8.32 g/t au, and 1.6 metres of 5.37 g/t au.  Holes DDH-11-07 and DDH-11-08 confirmed the presence of a steeply south 
dipping east-west trending structure with strong silicification, brecciation and pyrite-arsenopyrite sulphide mineralization. 
DDH-11-07 was drilled at azimuth 020o and an angle of -50o dip. The hole was drilled to 150.26 m (493 ft) depth. DDH-
11-08 was drilled at 020o azimuth and –78o dip. DDH 11-07 included a 10.65 metre interval of 1.07 g/t au. 
 
Drilling on the Eastern zone consisted of 2,014 metres in 11 core holes drilled primarily based on trench anomalies. A 
complex cupola zone of granite-intruding and brecciating metasedimentary rocks underlies the Eastern anomaly. Core was 
strongly silicified, brecciated and hosted disseminated pyrite and arsenopyrite over significant widths.  
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Other work completed during the 2011 season included an airborne magnetometer and Radiometric survey over the entire 
Dime and the Kodiak Property claim blocks. 854 additional auger soil samples were collected, mostly over the Western 
Anomaly as infill sampling. A 1500 meter trenching program was also completed on the Western Anomaly. 
 
Trench samples consisted of a representative 5-meter continuous chip sample of bedrock and colluviums, weighing on 
average 6 lb per sample. This method has proven to be very effective in identifying areas for additional surface work or 
drilling in the South Klondike/White Gold District. Prior to receipt of the 5-meter trench sample results collected by Stina, 
independent Qualified Person Jean Pautler, P.Geo conducted independent grab samples from the same trenches and 
reproduced anomalous gold values confirming the sampling completed by Stina.within anomalies 
 
The total field magnetic data from the airborne survey clearly shows two parallel, and very strong linear 7 km long NW-
SE trending magnetic low anomalies that are both offset a distance of 1 km along a left lateral zone trending 070 degrees. 
Total count radiometric has been provided, and that data also reflects the prominent NWSE structures obvious in the 
magnetic data. The significance of this structural trend NW-SE, along with second and third order structures E-W and 
NE-SW, are important in the South Klondike/white gold district. All major soil anomalies are located proximal to the 070 
degrees lateral offset of the NW-SE trending magnetic lows. 
 
2012 Exploration 
In 2012 the Company did some work on the Dime property, including a soil program on the central anomaly. Results were 
modest, but the Company believes that newer deeper sampling techniques will be more effective (see 2013 exploration 
below).  
 
On February 22, 2012 the Company received an updated technical report on the Dime property 
 
2013 Exploration 
As with the Kodiak property, the Company plans to incorporate new sampling technologies on the Dime property in 2013. 
Included in this technology would be direct-push, deep soil sampling in place of trenching, as well as new RC drilling. 
These new technologies should help better pinpoint and establish new targets, and at a reduced cost. In particular the 
Company expects to further develop the central and eastern anomalies, to better understand the overall system, and work 
towards developing a resource on the property 
 
3) Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in Nevada 
 
Exploration Events During Prior Periods 
In September 2005 the Company contracted Kettle Drilling of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho and drilled 1,024 feet of diamond core 
drilling on the Bisoni McKay property. Included was a fence of three holes on the north end of the property, immediately 
adjacent to Vanadium International’s second reverse circulation hole drilled in 2004, as well as adjacent to 1970s Hecla RC 
holes BMK 17, 18 and 19 respectively, each of which showed strong grades of V2O5 at various intervals. Holes were drilled at 
angles of 45 degrees, 57.5 degrees and 66 degrees to the northwest.  
 
A second fence of two diamond core holes was drilled on the southern end of the property adjacent to Vanadium 
International’s first reverse circulation hole, and also to Hecla’s RC holes BMK 6, 7 and 8 respectively. All four of these RC 
holes showed reasonable V2O5 grade at various intervals. This was the first diamond drilling ever conducted on the 
property. 
 
Results of this diamond drilling showed very encouraging results from the northern fence, including grads much higher than 
from any other drilling on the property. The results from the southern fence of diamond drilling were less encouraging. The 
Company encountered technical difficulties in drilling these two holes and eventually had to abandon the second hole of this 
fence. The angle of the holes was reduced to 35 degrees from the planned 57.5 degrees to attempt to overcome these 
difficulties. As a result, the Company believes that it may have overshot the zone of mineralization encountered the year before 
by Vanadium International in its reverse circulation drilling.  
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In November 2005, the Company contracted O’Keefe Drilling of Butte, MT to drill 10 RC holes at 45 degrees angles to the 
northwest at step out intervals of 210 feet from the two diamond drill fences; 3 holes to the north of the northern fence, 3 to the 
south of the northern fence, and three holes drilled to the north of the southern diamond drill fence. One RC hole was drilled 
vertically in Trench ASC50. Results from the three RC holes stepping out south of the northern diamond drill fence were 
released on November 29, 2005, and which were very encouraging to the Company. 
 
In April 2006 the Company contracted Hazen research of Colorado for the metallurgical and leach testing of vanadium from 
core and reverse circulation drilling on the Bisoni McKay property in the fall of 2005. Hazen carried out mineralogical 
characterization to determine the mode of occurrence of vanadium, followed by two sets of tests on samples from three zones: 
oxidized zone (mudstone), transition zone (mudstone to carbonaceous shale) and unoxidized zone (carbonaceous shale). 

 
The tests comprised of: 
(i) direct acid leaching with sulfuric acid, at two grinds and at two temperatures, for a total of 12 experiments; and  
(ii) roasting experiments, with at least four roasting conditions for samples from each zone, followed by appropriate 

leaching, either alkaline or acidic, i.e., a minimum of 12 roasting/leaching experiments. 
 
The tests were designed to define the steps and conditions needed to obtain reasonable vanadium extraction and examine the 
reagent consumptions in leaching and roasting, and thus develop the first stages of a process flowsheet.  The Company 
received final test results in January 2007, and a report on recovery of oxidized vanadium pentoxide using an acid pug/ leach 
recovery method, including some results as high as 95%. Test results on transition and carbonaceous material showed recovery 
as high as 70% and 75% of vanadium pentoxide using a roast/ leach recovery method. Hazen Research also recommended 
further metallurgical test work to continue the refinement of these processes, as well as explore other recovery options 
 
In May 2007, the Company contracted O’Keefe Drilling of Boise, ID to conduct reverse circulation (RC) drilling on Northern 
Section “A” of the Bisoni McKay property. A total of 12 RC holes were drilled according to schedule, for a total of 5,130 feet. 
This drilling campaign was comprised of step-out holes at 100 foot intervals directly north for 700 feet along strike length from 
core hole fence DDH-05-1/2/3. Additionally, drilling was conducted parallel to the immediate west by 100 feet and north by 
700 feet. The result of this campaign is a section approximately 700 feet long by 100 feet wide, with 100 foot intervals, 
immediately to the north of core hole fence DDH-05 and inclusive of RC holes BMK-05-04, BMK-05-05 and BMK-05-06 
drilled by the Company in 2005. 
 
The detailed drilling on the north half of Area A reveals a thick section of vanadiferous carbonaceous shale capped with 
mineralized weathered, oxidized shale. Vanadium-bearing rock begins essentially on or within a few feet of the surface and 
continues down-dip below 450 feet, the current depth limit of drilling into vanadium-bearing strata. From Area A-North, the 
vanadium trend continues south over 6,000 feet to Area B. The character of the mineralization in Area B appears similar to that 
drilled in Area A, but parts of the trend appear to have been narrowed and thinned by faulting, especially between Area A and 
Area B. Evidence that the vanadiferous trend continues south of Area B comes from two historic borings and trenching by 
Hecla Mining Company. The southernmost area of the projected strike of the vanadiferous trend in Area C and beyond is still 
unexplored.  
 
In the fall of 2007 the Company contracted Edward Ullmer, P. Geo, to produce an updated geological technical report based on 
the report presented to Stina by JA Mine in 2005, and updated in 2006. The report also included a resource estimate on a sub-
section of Northern Section “A” which extends 700 feet long by 100 feet wide, directly north of BMK DDH – 2005, and with 
100 foot interval RC drilling. The Company contracted Maptek Co. of Lakewood, CO to conduct the resource estimate. 
 
In February 2008 the Company received a further updated geological technical report from Ed Ullmer, P. Geo, and included a 
resources estimate, the first ever conducted on the Bisoni McKay property, and which was conducted by Maptek of Lakewood, 
CO. The report was amended in May 2012 and is available on the company website. 
 
A map of the Bisoni McKay drill locations can be found on the Company website. 
 
2011 Exploration 
In the spring of 2011 the Company contracted Lyntek Corp., of Lakewood, CO to conduct a Conceptual Study of the Bisoni 
McKay to better assess the potential economic viability of the property, the vanadium pentoxide and ferrovanadium markets, 



 Management Discussion & Analysis – Page 14 
 
and how the property fits into the world vanadium industry. On June 30, 2011, the Company announced that further 
metallurgical work was required to complete the Conceptual Study, and that it intended to do so. (see news release dated June 
30, 2011) 
 
2012 Exploration 
No significant work was conducted on the Bisoni McKay Property in 2012. 
 
2013 Exploration 
The Company intends to attempt to pair the property with a strategic market, preferably in the vanadium redox battery 
industry. It is expected that a suspension-based vanadium product would be required for such market, which may or may not 
be established in the future. Research in this marketing will continue in 2013. 
 
Impairment to Property 
Managements’ review for indications of impairment primarily considered that the acquisition costs of this property appeared 
non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition costs were primarily based on 3,245,000 common shares that were 
issued at an average cost of $0.78 per share. In today’s market, or specifically at September 30, 2012, the shares would be 
worth $0.18 per share. The Company has recorded an impairment charge of $1,962,257 in the current year to decrease the 
carrying value of the property based on market indicators. In addition, the Company has not conducted a significant work 
program in four years.  
 
 
4) Zeibright Property, California, USA  
 

See 1.2 (2) above. 
On February 18, 2011 the Company decided not to proceed with the option and has written down staking/ claim costs of 
$1,402. 
 
 
5) Searchlight Property, Nevada, USA 
 
See section 1.2 (5) above 
 
On September 28, 2012 the Company announced that it would not be proceeding with Memorandum of Understanding with 
Royal Mines. Inc. 
 
6) Bandit Property 
See section 1.2 (6) above 

2012 Exploration 
On November 23, 2012 Copper Creek received assay results from 15 percussion drill holes (1,402 meters) over part of a 
two-kilometer-by-five-kilometer copper, gold and molybdenum anomaly identified during mobile metal ion (MMI) 
sampling by Copper Creek in the summer of 2011. Although several values of anomalous copper, gold and silver were 
encountered, none of the holes reported values of economic importance. The Company Directors have had discussions 
and have decided not to proceed with the option agreement at this time. 
 
Impairment to Property 
With consideration to the impairment standards of recently adopted IFRS, the Company directors have determined there to be 
an impairment of the Bandit Property carrying value of $268,786. As exploration results received subsequent to year end 
suggested nominal mineralization, the Company is unlikely to carry on with the option. 
 
 
7) Bisoni McKay Technical Report Amendment 
 
On March 14, 2012 the Company received from the BCSC, notice of a Technical Disclosure Review on its January 2008 NI 
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43-101 Technical Report on the Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property. The review outlined a failure to file an NI 43-101 
compliant technical report, in particular non-compliant details regarding the mineral resources estimate presented by Maptek in 
2008 and metal content references in the Bisoni McKay technical report. Additionally, the review outlined filing issues with 
respect to Company promotional material relating to the resource estimate, and in news releases dated April 5, 2010 and 
January 19, 2011. 
 
On April 16, 2012 the Company issued a news release clarifying the non-compliant issues found in the technical report, and 
clarifying the resource estimate details, in particular cutoff grades of 0.3% and 0.2% were considered and (not 0.1% cutoff) 
that the resource measurements for these cutoff grades had not changed. 
 
On May 16, 2012 the Company issued a news release stating that the Company had filed an amended NI 43-101 report, 
accepted by the BCSC.   
 
8) Death of Sidney Mann, Director 
 
The Company regrets to advise that Company director and chief financial officer Sidney Mann passed away. He suffered a 
heart attack on June 15, in England. Mr. Mann was a cornerstone of the board of directors since 1996, and an integral part of 
the corporate governance of the company. He was instrumental in the adoption and introduction of new fiscal accounting 
measures for Stina in 2008, and worked closely in tandem with chief executive officer Jim Wall on the financial aspects of the 
company. He was a true professional in all aspects of the company's business, and a pillar of strength and insight.  Mr. Mann 
will be solemnly missed by the company board members and officers, who offer condolences to his family, including Sheila 
and Gavin Mann. A replacement in the company for Mr. Mann has not been considered at this time.  
 
Mr. Mann was the controlling officer of Medan Management Corporation, which was deemed an insider. Since Mr. Mann’s 
death, Medan has ceased to be registered as an insider. 
 
 
Recent News Releases 
 

-September 14, 2012 – TSX Venture Exchange Accepts Non-Brokered Financing for 2.1 M Flow Through Units 
 
-September 28, 2012 – Stina ends MOU with Royal Mines Inc. for Smith Lease and Piute Claims 
 
-September 28, 2012 – Stina Closes 2.1 M Flow Through Unit Financing 
 
-October 3, 2012 – Stina and Copper Creek End Bandit Exploration Program   
 
-November 23, 2012 – Stina and Copper Creek Receive Bandit Assays 

 
 
1.4  OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

The Company has no off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
 
1.5  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The Company entered into the following transactions with and had balances due to and from related parties as at 
September 30, 2012 and for the period then ended as follows (with comparative figures as at September 30, 2011 and 
for the period then ended.) 
 
 

 The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties: 

a) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $66,000 (2011 - $63,000) with a company 
owned by a director for consulting services. 
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b) The Company incurred consulting wages in the amount of $66,000 (2011 - $33,000) with a senior 
officer and director. 

c) The Company incurred consulting wages in the amount of $42,000 (2011 - $38,500) with a director. 

d) At September 30, 2012, prior advances totalling $48,356 (September 30, 2011 - $60,483) were due to 
a company controlled by a director. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no 
specific terms of repayment. 

e) At September 30, 2012, advances totalling $nil (September 30, 2011 - $1,163) were due from a 
director.  The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no specific terms of repayment. 

f) At September 30, 2012, advances totalling $nil (September 30, 2011 - $840) were due from a senior 
officer and director. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no specific terms of 
repayment. 

 
 

       Key management personnel compensation 

 Years ended September 30, 
   2012 2011 
Short-term employee benefits – management fees  $              -     $              -    
Short-term employee benefits - consulting fees           66,000            63,000  
Short-term employee benefits – salaries and 
wages         108,000            71,500  
Share-based payment         162,025                   -    

   $     336,025   $     134,500  
 

-See note 11 of Financial Statements 
 
 
1.6  PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS/COMMITMENTS  

The Company has engaged in no other proposed transactions or commitments outside of what has been outlined in this 
report at this time. 

 
 
1.7 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 
Use of Estimates: 

 
The company’s financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
form the basis for discussion and analysis of critical accounting policies and estimates.  Management is required to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the report amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.  Significant 
financial statement areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the determination of impairment of assets and 
resource property interests, and their useful lives for amortization, allocations between exploration projects, the fair value of 
investments and share-based compensation, asset retirement obligations and the recoverability of future income tax assets.  
Financial results as determined by actual events could differ from those estimates. 

 
Risk Management: 

The Company is engaged primarily in the mineral exploration field and manages related industry risk issues directly.  
Observed potential risks include those for environmental reclamation and fluctuations in commodity based market prices 
associated with resource property interests. Management is of the opinion that the Company addresses environmental risk and 
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compliance in accordance with industry standards and specific project environmental requirements. Company management 
acknowledges that there is no certainty that all environmental risks and contingencies have been addressed. 
 
Financial Risk Management:  
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  
 
Credit Risk: 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to 
incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is in its cash accounts and accounts receivables. Cash 
accounts are held with a major bank in Canada. This risk is managed through the use of major banks which are high credit 
quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies. 
 
 
Currency Risk:  
The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is moderate foreign exchange risk to the Company as one of 
its resource property interest are located in the United States.  Management monitors its foreign currency balances and makes 
adjustments based on anticipated need for currencies. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to reduce its 
foreign currency risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk:  
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash balances at variable rates. The 
fair value of the Company’s cash accounts is relatively unaffected by changes in short term interest rates. The income earned 
on certain bank accounts is subject to the movements in interest rates.  
 
Liquidity and Funding Risk: 
Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at any point in time. The 
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity 
requirements at any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily 
available capital in order to meet its liquidity requirements. 
 
The Company is not utilizing any other financial instruments other than cash at this time. 
Funding Risk is the risk that market conditions will impact the Company’s ability to raise capital through equity markets under 
acceptable market terms and conditions. 
Under current market conditions both liquidity and funding risks have been assessed as medium to high. 
 
 
Stock-based compensation: 

The Company follows the guidelines of the IFRS 2 –“Share Based Payment”, relating to stock-based compensation and other 
stock-based Payments.  The Company follows a fair-value method for all stock-based compensation and similar stock based 
awards to directors, employees and consultants.  Where the Company has issued options that vest over a period of expected 
service, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is estimated and charged to income over the respective vesting periods. 

 
1.8 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION 
 
Effective January 1, 2011, Canadian publicly listed entities were required to prepare their financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS. Due to the requirement to present comparative financial information, the effective transition 
date is October 1, 2010. 
 
As a result, the Company has prepared these audited annual financial statements for the year ended September 30, 
2012 in accordance with IFRS. IFRS represents standards and interpretations approved by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and are comprised of IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”), 
and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretation Committee (“IFRICs”) or the former Standing Interpretations 
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Committee (“SICs”). The Company disclosed its significant accounting policies as described in Note 2 of the 
Company’s audited annual financial statements as at and for the year ended September 30, 2012.  
 
The Company’s audited annual financial statements as at and for the year ended September 30, 2012 have been 
prepared in accordance with existing IFRS standards with restatements of comparative statements of financial 
position as at September  30, 2011 and October 1, 2010 and statements of comprehensive loss for the year ended 
September 30, 2011 as previously reported and prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  
 
Note 14 to the annual financial statements provide more detail on key Canadian GAAP to IFRS differences, 
accounting policy decisions and IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS 1”), optional exemptions for significant or potentially significant areas that have had an impact on the 
Company’s financial statements on transition to IFRS or may have an impact on future periods. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by the IASB or the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning after January 1, 2011, or later periods. Some updates that are not applicable or are not consequential to 
the Company may have been excluded from the list below. 
 

• New standard IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” - This new standard is a partial replacement of IAS 39 
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.  This new standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company has not early adopted these revised standards and is 
currently assessing the impact that these standards will have on the financial statements. 

 
• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is 

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an 
entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

 
• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a 

joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting 
whereas for a joint operation the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and 
expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate 
or equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and 
SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

 
• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests 

in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet 
vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional 
disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other 
entities. 

 
• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement - IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and 

disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. 
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Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific 
standards requiring fair value measurements and in many cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or 
consistent disclosures. 

• IFRS 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine - In IFRIC 20, the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee sets out principles for the recognition of production stripping costs in the balance sheet. The 
interpretation recognizes that some production stripping in surface mining activity will benefit production in 
future periods and sets out criteria for capitalizing such costs. While the Company is not yet in the 
production phase, the Company is currently assessing the future impact of this interpretation. 
 

• Amendments to other standards - In addition, there have been other amendments to existing standards, 
including IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 
IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated 
financial statements. IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the 
changes in IFRS 10 to IFRS 13. 

 
Each of the new standards, IFRS 10 to 13 and the amendments to other standards, is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of 
assessing the impact that the new and amended standards will have on its financial statements or whether to early 
adopt any of the new requirements. 
 
1.9  FINANCIAL AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS  
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, short term investments, accounts receivables, amounts due to and from 
related parties, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the 
Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency risks arising from financial instruments. The fair value of these 
financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term maturity or capacity of prompt liquidation. 
 
1.10 OTHER MD&A REQUIREMENTS 
 
Additional information relating to the Company’s operations and activities can be found by visiting the Company’s website 
www.stinaresources.com as well as numerous news releases and 43-101 reports filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com 

 
A. Authorized and Issued Share Capital as at September 30, 2012:  
 
Authorized: Unlimited common shares without par value 

Issued and outstanding: 28,737,499 common shares 

See Note 9 – Share Capital of the Financial Statements 

 

B. Options, Warrants & Convertible Securities Outstanding as at September 30, 2012:  
 

Stock options 
 
Under the Company’s Incentive Share Option Plan, the Company may grant options to employees, consultants and 
directors when the number of shares reserved does not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding share capital at the 
date of grant.  The exercise price of the options granted will be no less than the discounted market price of the 
Company’s shares and the maximum term of the options will be 5 years. 
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The following employee stock options are vested and exercisable:   

        Number Exercise price Expiry 
     of shares      - $ -       Date     
 

 375,000 0.30 November 3, 2014 
      825,000 0.46 August 5, 2015 
 250,000 0.33 March 16, 2016 
 800,000 0.15 July 3, 2017 
 2,250,000   

 
Escrow shares 
 

As of September 30, 2012 no shares were held in escrow 
 

Share purchase warrants 
 

As of September 30, 2012 the following share purchase warrants were outstanding: 
 

 No. of warrants Exercise price Expiry Date 
    
 729,826 $0.85 October 19, 2012  (Sub Exp) 
 2,100,000 0.45 September 3, 2013 
 2,829,826   

     
C. Subsequent Events  

On October 19, 2012, a total of 729,286 warrants exercisable at $0.85 expired unexercised. 

 
D. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

 
Based on our evaluation for the quarter ended September 30, 2012, and up to the date of this Management Discussion 
and Analysis, we have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are sufficiently effective to provide 
reasonable assurance that material information required to be disclosed in the Company’s interim and annual filings 
and other reports filed or submitted under Canadian securities laws are recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified by those laws and that the material information is accumulated and communicated to 
Management of the Company, including the President and CEO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure. 
 

 
 

E. Corporate Governance Disclosure 
 

The company has submitted to its members and shareholders details in the Information Circular dated May 21, 2011 
Corporate Governance Disclosure guidelines that have been presented to the Board of Directors for periodic review.  
Some of these guidelines are:  Outlining the Company’s business and implementation of appropriate systems to 
manage any associated risks, communications with investors and the financial community and the integrity of the 
Company’s internal control and management information systems.  The Management of the Company periodically 
updates directors with regulatory policy changes.  Management encourages and promotes a culture of ethical business 
conduct.  The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing 
corporate legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an 
individual director’s participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to 
ensure that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company. 
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Item 1: ANNUAL MD&A  

 

Forward-looking Information 

 

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) contains certain forward-looking statements and information relating to 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) that are based on the beliefs of its management as well as assumptions made by and 

information currently available to the Company. When used in this document, the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, 

“expect” and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company or its management, are intended to identify forward-looking 

statements. This MD&A contains forward-looking statements relating to, among other things, regulatory compliance, the 

sufficiency of current working capital, the estimated cost and availability of funding for the continued exploration and 

development of Company exploration properties. Such statements reflect the current views of the Company with respect to 

future events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many factors could cause the actual results, 

performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 

that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Aside from factors identified in the annual MD&A, 

additional important factors, if any, are identified here. 

 

NATURE OF BUSINESS: 

Stina Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of British Columbia and is engaged in the acquisition, 

exploration and development of resource properties. The Company’s current primary activity is the exploration of the Bisoni 

McKay Vanadium Property in northern Nevada, and future exploration of the KC Property in northern British Columbia. 

Additionally, the Company intends to seek further venture acquisitions that may increase shareholder value and generate 

revenues. 

  

The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol SQA. 

 

1.1 DATE  
 

The following discussion and analysis was approved by the Directors of the Company and should be read in conjunction with 

the audited financial statements for year ended September 30, 2014, and unaudited financial statements for the quarters ending, 

June 30, 2014, March 31, 2015, December 31, 2014, and the related notes thereto. All figures are in Canadian dollars unless 

otherwise noted.  

 
1.2 OPERATIONS DETAIL AND FINANCIAL CONDITIONS: 
 

(a) Acquisitions & Dispositions: 

See Note 6 – Exploration and Evaluation Assets of the Financial Statements 

 

1)  Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in Nevada 

 

In 2005 the company entered into an option agreement with Vanadium International Corp. (VIC) to acquire 50% of the rights to 

19 mining claims covering 392.6 acres, located in Nye County, Nevada, USA, called the Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property. In 

earning its interest, the Company made cash payments totaling $250,000, issued 1,250,000 shares to Vanadium, and funded 

$700,000 of exploration activities 

. 
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On July 3, 2008 the Company issued an additional 800,000 common shares to VIC in a shares for debt arrangement to complete 

the initial 50% acquisition, then issued an additional 1,995,600 shares at a deemed price of $1 (Canadian) per share to 

Vanadium as payment of the $2-million (U.S.) purchase price (based on a deemed exchange rate of $1 (Canadian):$1.0022 

(U.S.)) to VIC as option payment for the remaining 50% of the property. Stina now holds 100% of the rights to 37 mineral 

claims on the property. In January 2013 the Company Directors elected to impair the property value by $1,962,257 effective 

September 30, 2012. Managements’ review for indications of impairment primarily considered that the acquisition costs of this 

property appeared non-recoverable in the current market. The acquisition costs were primarily based on 3,245,000 common 

shares that were issued at an average cost of $0.78 per share. At September 30, 2012, the shares would have been worth $0.18 

per share. During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,962,257 to decrease the carrying value of the 

property based on market indicators  
 
Present Outlook 

The Company has contracted ED Ullmer, P. Geo to update the property’s NI-43-101 report and currently awaits a final copy. 

The company intends to further explore alternative recovery methods as per the incomplete Lyntek technical report, in addition 

to observing the developments in the oncoming year of other vanadium producers. By completing this report and exploring 

various vanadium outputs alternative to V2O5, the company believes it can better assess the future potential of the Bisoni 

McKay Property. 
 

 2) Kodiak Gold Property in the Yukon 

On June 18, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration Inc. (“REI”) to purchase a 100-

per-cent beneficial interest in 152 mining claims located in the Dawson mining district, Yukon Territory, generally known and 

described as the Kodiak Property, subject to a 2-per-cent net smelter interest in favour of REI.  

 Pursuant to the option agreement, to exercise the option the Company was required to:  

 Pay to REI:  

- $75,000 within five days after the approval date of the option agreement by the TSX-V (Paid);  

- $50,000 on or before June 15, 2010; (Paid) 

- $100,000 on or before June 15, 2011; (Paid) 

- reduced to $50,000 and extended to June 15, 2014 (unpaid) 

-  $50,000 on or before June 15, 2015 (unpaid) 

 Issue and deliver to REI:  

-  250,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval (issued) 

-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2010 (issued) 

-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2011 (issued) 

-  200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2012 (issued) 

-  250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 15, 2013 (issued) 

Incur expenditures:  

-  $100,000 on or before November 18, 2009 (incurred) 

-  $200,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred)  

-  $300,000 on or before November 18, 2011 (reduced to $100,000 and extended to on or before November 18, 2014; 

$100,000 on or before November 18, 2015, and $100,000 on or before November 18, 2016) (none incurred) 

 

The Company had the option to purchase one half of the NSR for a payment of $2,000,000. 

 

The Kodiak property claim block consists of 152 claims covering 30 square kilometers or 6400 acres and ties on to the southern 

side of Kinross Gold Corp white gold property. The Kodiak claim block also straddles Thistle creek which was the richest placer 

gold-producing creek in the area given up more than 63,000 ounces of placer gold since the turn of the century.  

REI is the property vendor for Kinross Gold Corps’ (formerly Underworld Resources Inc's) White Property and has re-evaluated 

the Geological Survey of Canada database for similar positive indicators for white-style mineralization. The GSC airborne 
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magnetic data indicate the Kodiak claims are sitting on the same regional north - south magnetic high anomaly that Kinross 

Gold Corp’s White Gold Property is now covering. The GSC silt survey of the Thistle area indicates a 90-per-cent percentile 

gold anomaly, a 98-per-cent percentile arsenic anomaly and up to 99-per-cent percentile silver anomaly all draining from the 

Kodiak property. Again, all positive indicator elements are in white-gold-style mineralization. The third piece of data that 

increases the Kodiak potential is the GSC geology map. The GSC geology map has noted a northwest and northeast trending 

regional structure and the same geological units were mapped by the GSC on both the white and Kodiak properties which 

consist of DMa amphibolites, DMogtorthogneiss, and DMps quartz mica schist.  

Results from the 2010 soil survey have extended the main 2009 northwest-trending soil anomaly (Main Northwest trend) to a 

strike length of four km and defined a second parallel four km long anomaly, with values up to 856.8 ppb gold (No. 2 Northwest 

trend), approximately one km to the southwest. The location that had a 856.8 ppb gold could not be trenched due to steep 

topography. Infill sampling on the Zipper trend in 2010 has outlined a gold anomalous zone at the junction of the northerly 

Zipper trend with the Main Northwest trend. 

On December 30, 2014 the Company elected to terminate the option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration for the Kodiak 

Property. The property was written off for a total impairment of $1,026,712 as of September 30, 2014. (See Section 6 of the 

Financial Statements)  

 

3)  Dime Gold Property in the Yukon 

On July 23, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration Inc. (“REI”) to acquire a 100 per-

cent beneficial interest in 128 mining claims located in the Dawson mining district, Yukon Territory, generally known and 

described as the Dime Property, subject to a 2-per-cent net smelter interest in favour of REI (the Company has the option to 

purchase one-half of the net smelter return royalty for a payment of $2-million) 

Pursuant to the option agreement, to exercise the option the Company must:  

Pay to REI:  

-  $125,000 within fifteen days of Exchange approval (paid) 

-  $125,000 on or before June 26, 2010 (paid) 

-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2011 (paid) 

-  $100,000 on or before June 26, 2012, extended to November 18, 2012 (paid) 

-  $  50,000 on or before December 31, 2013 (paid) 

-  $  50,000 on or before March 31, 2014 (unpaid) 

-  $  50,000 on or before July 31, 2014 (unpaid) 

Issue and deliver to REI: 

- 200,000 common shares of the Company within five days of Exchange approval (issued) 

- 200,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2010 (issued) 

- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2011 (issued) 

- 300,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2012 (issued) 

- 250,000 common shares of the Company on or before June 26, 2013 (issued) 

Exploration expenditures: 

-  in the amount of $100,000 on or before November 15, 2009 (incurred) 

-  an additional amount of $250,000 on or before November 15, 2010 (incurred) 

-  an additional amount of $500,000 on or before November 15, 2011 (incurred) 

-  a cumulative amount of $600,000 on or before November 15, 2012 (incurred) 

The Dime property is located 42 kilometers northwest of the Kinross (formerly Underworld’s) White Gold project and 

covers a well-known placer gold creek called Ten Mile. Ten Mile creek has produced coarse placer gold since the turn of 

the century and the placer deposits are believed to be locally derived. In 1998 Teck Corp. staked the ground surrounding 

two placer gold districts in the Dawson area. One was the area now covered by Kinross Gold Corp. Underworld's White 



“Amended” 

Page 4 
 

Gold property and the second one was a claim package in the Ten Mile Creek area. Teck worked on both properties for two 

or three seasons and successfully identified several promising targets. The company changed its focus in 2000 and dropped 

all their gold exploration efforts in the Dawson area, except claims in the 10 Mile area, which it optioned to Radius Gold. 

In early 2010, the Company announced results of 2009 exploration consisting of a 191-soil-sample program, collected on a grid 

covering about 37 hectares on the Dime property. The gold values in the survey reached as high as 6,082 parts per billion or six 

grams per ton gold and defined an easterly trend. The 2010 soil survey collected a total of 3401 soil samples covering a total of 

13.2 square kilometers, or (1,322 hectares) or 3268 acres (5.1 square miles) which represent 21% of the property sample so far. 

Three new gold soil anomalies were discovered. The soil anomalies were named as geographic locations relative to each other 

hence the names are, West anomaly, Central anomaly, and East anomaly. The three gold soil anomalies appear to be structurally 

controlled with the West soil anomaly running in an east west direction (following a slight east west magnetic anomaly), the 

Central Anomaly is center on a north south magnetic low structure and the Eastern soil anomaly appears to be related to separate 

north south magnetic low structure.  

On May 7, 2014, the Company decided not to proceed with its option to earn its interest in the property has recorded an 

impairment of $2,989,230 during fiscal 2014. 

 

4)  Bandit Blackwater Property, British Columbia 

On June 5, 2012 The Company entered into an option agreement with Copper Creek Gold Corp. to earn a 60-per-cent 

interest in the Bandit property, located in the Blackwater gold district of central British Columbia, approximately 137 

kilometres southwest of the city of Prince George, and more specifically in the Nechako plateau. The property consists of 

three contiguous claims, the Bandit, the Smokey, and the Burt, for a total of 8,732 hectares. Copper Creek Gold holds a 

100-per-cent interest in the three property claims.  

Pursuant to the option agreement, the company must issue a total of 400,000 common shares and expend $2-million on 

exploration as follows:  

1. Issue and deliver to Copper Creek:  

a. 100,000 common shares of the company within five days after the approval date of the option agreement 

by the TSX Venture Exchange (issued); 

b. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2013; (Not issued) 

c. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2014;  

d. 100,000 common shares of the company on or before June 15, 2015.  

2. Incur a total of $2-million in work cost expenditures as follows:  

a. In the amount of $100,000 on or before June 15, 2013 (incurred); 

b. In an additional amount of $650,000 on or before June 15, 2014;  

c. In an additional amount of $500,000 on or before June 15, 2015;  

d. In an additional amount of $750,000 on or before the fourth anniversary of TSX Venture Exchange 

approval. 

   See Section 1.3 (6) below for recent exploration information 

 

During fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $268,786 as exploration results suggested nominal 

mineralization.  The Company recorded an additional impairment charge of $18,998 during fiscal 2013 as it has decided not to 

carry on with the option. 

 

5)  KC Copper Property, British Columbia 
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On June 27, 2014, Stina Resources Ltd. entered into an option agreement with Kevin Cohen to earn a 100-per-cent interest in 

the KC property, located in the Kitimat-Stikine district of central British Columbia, approximately 60 kilometers southeast of 

the city of Stewart, B.C., and 100 kilometers north of Terrace, B.C. The 405-hectare property has had prior trenching and 

sampling work in the early 1990s. Pursuant to the option agreement, the company must issue a total of 400,000 common shares 

and pay $5,000 to Mr. Cohen as follows: 

1. 200,000 common shares of the company and a $5,000 cash payment within five days after the approval date of the 

option agreement by the TSX-V (issued); 

2. 200,000 common shares of the company on or before the first anniversary of TSX-V approval. (issued) 

 

The Company has received approval from the TSX Venture Exchange on August 28, 2014. Mr. Cohen has agreed to an 

indefinite deferment for payment of the $5,000. 

 

The 405-hectare KC Property is located in the Stewart district of central British Columbia, approximately 30 kilometers 

southeast of the city of Stewart, and just to the east of the Portland Canal, an area noted for historical copper exploration, 

including the Castle Resources' Granduc mine. Additionally, Avanti Mining's Kitsault molybdenum mine lies to the west. The 

KC property has easy access, with previous trenching and copper soil sampling conducted in the mid-1980s by Ron Crimeni. 

Stina intends to conduct an initial magnetic/spectrometer radiometric survey over of the property this summer, followed by soil 

sampling and trenching to identify and reaffirm copper anomalies.  

 

Selected Financial Information: 

The following table sets forth selected audited financial information of the Company for the last 3 completed financial years. 

 

 FISCAL YEARS ENDED 

 September 30, 2014 September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012 

Total Revenue $ - $ - $ - 

Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - 

Operating Expenses $ 298,393 $ 353,342 $ 569,247 

Net Income (Loss) $ (4,314,451) $ (347,521) $ (2,791,418) 

Loss Per Share $ (0.15) $ (0.01) $ (0.11) 

Total Assets $ 1,812,236 $ 5,833,565 $ 6,236,076 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table sets forth selected (unaudited) quarterly financial information for each of the last eight most recently 

completed quarters: 

 QUARTERS ENDED 

 June 30, 2015 Mar. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 Sept. 30, 2014 

Total Revenue $ - $ - $ - $ -  

Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - $ - 

Oper. Expenses $ 61,555 $ 148,496 $ 55,332 $ 52,112 

Net Income (Loss) $ (61,555) $ (148,496) $ (55,332) $ (1,078,823) 

Income (Loss) Per Share $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.04) 

Total Assets $ 1,811,525 $ 1,812,283 $ 1,808,518 $ 1,812,236 

Total Liabilities $ 170,616 $ 179,819 $ 312,902 $ 261,288 

 

 QUARTERS ENDED 

 June 30, 2014 Mar. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2013 Sept. 30, 2013 

Total Revenue $ - $ - $ - $ -  

Gross Profit $ - $ - $ - $ - 

Oper. Expenses $ 96,929 $ 84,230 $ 65,122 $ 74,881 

Net Income (Loss) $ (108,999) $ (3,061,623) $ (65,006) $ (51,004) 

(Loss) Per Share $ (0.00) $ (0.10) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) 

Total Assets $ 2,806,769 $ 2,814,031 $ 5,805,953 $ 5,833,565 

Total Liabilities $ 208,998 $ 107,261 $ 137,560 $ 100,166 
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Expenditure Comparison and Variances – Stina Administration Division (quarters ending June 30, 2015 and 2014) 

Increases:  $3,847 in Office and Sundry 

Decreases: ($21,686) in Accounting, audit and legal; ($5,100) in Consulting fees; ($5,376) in Regulatory fees and shareholder 

communications; ($6,978) in Salaries and benefits 

 

Expenditure Comparison and Variances – Mineral Exploration Division: 

During the period from October 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015 Mineral Exploration Division expenditures totaling $1,863 were 

classified as exploration and evaluation assets, for a total asset of $1,771,681 as of June 30, 2015. Of this amount, $ NIL was 

classified as acquisition costs, $1,863 as exploration costs, and $ NIL as impairment charges. 

 (See Note 6 of Financial Statements) 

 

Comparative mineral exploration and evaluation assets as follows: 

 

 

Nine months ended Year ended

June 30, September 30, 

2015 2014

Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property, Nevada, USA

Acquisition costs:

   Balance, beginning of period 897,722$         897,722$         

     Staking and claim costs -                    -                    

  Balance, end of period 897,722           897,722           

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of period 840,095           825,972           

     Geological consulting 455                   2,542                

     Claim fees and staking -                    6,128                

     Storage 1,408                5,453                

  Balance, end of period 841,958           840,095           

  Total Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property 1,739,680$     1,737,817$     

Kodiak Property, Yukon, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of period -$                  647,175$         

  Balance, end of period -                    647,175           

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of period -                    379,537           

  Balance, end of period -                    379,537           

Impairment -                    (1,026,712)      

  Total Kodiak Property -$                  -$                  

(continues)  
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Exploration and Evaluation Assets (cont’d) 

 

Nine months ended Year ended

June 30, September 30, 

2015 2014

Dime Property, Yukon, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of period -$                  827,150$         

  Balance, end of period -                    827,150           

Exploration expenditures:

   Balance, beginning of period -                    2,106,539        

    Geological consulting -                    8,451                

    Geomagnetic -                    26,678             

    Helicopter rentals -                    10,793             

    Camp expense -                    9,619                

  Balance, end of period -                    2,162,080        

Impairment -                    (2,989,230)      

  Total Dime Property -$                  -$                  

KC Property, British Columbia, Canada

Acquisition costs:  

   Balance, beginning of period 32,000$           -$                  

     400,000 shares at $0.08 -                    32,000             

  Balance, end of period 32,000$           32,000$           

Bandit Creek Property, British Columbia, Canada

  Total Bandit Creek Property 1$                     1$                     

Total Exploration and Evaluation Assets 1,771,681$     1,769,818$     
 

 

 

 

Bisoni McKay Budget 

A budget of approximately $50,000 has been set to complete phase I of the Bisoni McKay property Technical Report 

 

Liquidity and Solvency 

The company’s liquidity will depend upon its ability to raise financing for the continued development of the Bisoni McKay 

property, the KC Property, and other business ventures entered into, as well as the acquisition of revenue generating assets. 

 

During the period ended June 30, 2015 cash resources (including short-term investments) decreased ($2,513) from the balance 

at September 30, 2014 

 

As of June 30, 2015 the Company had a working capital deficiency of ($154,471) (September 30, 2014 – deficiency of 

($243,112)). 

 

Capital Resources 

The Company’s liquidity depends upon its ability to raise additional financing to meet exploration requirements and working 

capital obligations. The Company is securing cash for 2015 working capital, and is investigating raising capital for the 2015 

exploration programs. 
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1.3 EXPLORATION, NEWS RELEASES & MATERIAL CHANGE REPORTS 

 

1) Kodiak Gold Property in the Yukon Territory 

On December 30, 2014 the Company elected to terminate the option agreement with Ryanwood Exploration for the Kodiak 

Property. (See Section 7 of the Financial Statements) 

In August 2009 the Company initiated a work program on the Kodiak property in the Dawson Mining District of the Yukon 

Territory. The Kodiak property claim block consists of 152 claims covering 30 square kilometers or 6400 acres and ties on to 

the southern side of Underworld White Gold Property.  

On February 28, 2012 the Company received an updated technical report on the Kodiak property 

2010 Work Program 

The 2010 Kodiak soil sample program included 2,037 samples for a total of 3,923 samples, covering approximately 60 per cent 

of the property. Results from the 2010 soil survey have extended the main 2009 northwest-trending soil anomaly (Main NW 

trend) to a strike length of four km and defined a second parallel 4 km long anomaly, with values up to 856.8 ppb gold (No. 2 

Northwest trend), approximately 1 km to the southwest.  Infill sampling on the Zipper trend in 2010 has outlined a gold 

anomalous zone at the junction of the northerly Zipper trend with the Main Northwest trend. A total of 383 m of trenching was 

completed in 3 trenches based on soil geochemical anomalies obtained in 2009.  

 

2011 Work Program 

The 2011 exploration consisted of an air magnetic fly-over survey. The survey further supported the belief that the Kodiak claim 

block ties onto the south side of the Kinross White Gold property.  

 

2012/ 2013/2014 Work Program 

No significant work was conducted on the Kodiak property in 2012, 2013, or 2014 

 

On December 30, 2014 the Company formally terminated the option agreement for the Kodiak property. (See news release 

dated January 9, 2015) 

 

 

2) Dime Gold Property 

On May 9, 2014 the option agreement for the Dime property was terminated – (See Section 7 of the Financial Statements 

and news release dated May 9, 2014) 

On July 23, 2009 the Company entered into an option agreement with Ryanwood Explorations Inc. to acquire a 100% 

interest in 152 claims referred to as the Dime Property. 

On February 8, 2010 the Company announced results of 2009 exploration consisting of a 191-soil-sample program, 

collected on a grid covering about 37 hectares on the Dime property. The gold values in the survey reached as high as 

6,082 parts per billion or six grams per tonne gold and defined an easterly trend. 

2010 Exploration 

On August 4, 2010 the Company announced that it had staked an additional 180 claims at the Dime property, to the east, north 

and west of the existing 128 claims, bringing the total Dime claims to 308, and increasing the property size from 6,400 acres (25 

square kilometers) to 15,400 acres (61 square kilometers).  

The 2010 soil survey collected a total of 3,401 soil samples covering a total of 13.2 square kilometers, or (1,322 hectares) 

or 3,268 acres (5.1 square miles) which represent 21% of the property sample so far. Three new gold soil anomalies were 

discovered. The soil anomalies were named as geographic locations relative to each other hence the names are, West 



“Amended” 

Page 9 
 

anomaly, Central anomaly, and East anomaly. The three gold soil anomalies appeared to be structurally controlled with the 

West soil anomaly running in an east west direction (following a slight east west magnetic anomaly), the Central Anomaly 

is center on a north south magnetic low structure and the Eastern soil anomaly appears to be related to separate north south 

magnetic low structure. Follow-up trenching (1,125 m in nine trenches) confirmed the soil results from anomalies with 

better results. 

Western anomaly:  First reported by Teck Corp., measures approximately 1.3 km long by 750 metres wide, has a general 

east-west trend and includes values up to 578 parts per million arsenic and 6,092 parts per billion gold; 

Central anomaly:  1.6 km long by 350 m wide area of anomalous gold (up to 147 ppb Au), arsenic (values up to 1,975 ppm 

As) and weaker lead in soil values (up to 49 ppm Pb). This anomaly is offset to the north from the western and eastern 

anomalies; 

Eastern anomaly:  This anomaly measures 1.8 km long by up to 900 m wide and consists of an Au (values up to 894 ppb 

Au), As (values up to 1,070 ppm As) and Pb (values up to 167 ppm Pb) geochemical signature.  

These areas are related to a sinistral (left lateral) offset on a prominent northwest trending magnetic low and may indicate a 

major structure. 

Results from continuous five-metre chip samples on the Western zone anomaly included a 30 m zone of silicified 

metasedimentary rocks in Trench 2 returned 0.168 gm/t Au between five and 35m. A five hole drilling program included 5 

core drill holes totaling 657 metres from three separate drill pads. Two pads (2 holes each) were located on the western 

anomaly near the high soil sample, and one pad on the eastern anomaly. The program was successful in hitting 

mineralization in every hole, including 0.71 g/t over 32 m, and 4.15 g/t over 1.5m on holes 4 and 3 on the Western Zone.  

 

2011 Exploration 

During the 2011 season, the Company drilled an additional 14 core holes on the Western and Eastern zones (2,574 metres). 

Holes DDH-11-6 to 11-8 were collared to follow up on drill results from 2010.  

 

Drilling on the western anomaly, DDH 11-06, DDH 11-07, and DDH 11-08 were drilled from the same drill pad as DDH 

10-04 and DDH 10-05. DDH 11-06 returned encouraging values including over 12 metres of 0.90 g/t au, 1.45 metres of 

8.32 g/t au, and 1.6 metres of 5.37 g/t au.  Holes DDH-11-07 and DDH-11-08 confirmed the presence of a steeply south 

dipping east-west trending structure with strong silicification, brecciation and pyrite-arsenopyrite sulphide mineralization. 

DDH-11-07 was drilled at azimuth 020
o 
and an angle of -50

o 
dip. The hole was drilled to 150.26 m (493 ft) depth. DDH-

11-08 was drilled at 020
o 
azimuth and –78

o 
dip. DDH 11-07 included a 10.65 metre interval of 1.07 g/t au. 

 

 

2012 Exploration 

In 2012 the Company did limited work on the Dime property, including a soil program on the central anomaly. On 

February 22, 2012 the Company received an updated technical report on the Dime property 

 

2013 Exploration 

In November 2013 the Company completed a high-resolution IP (induced polarization) survey on the property. The West 

and East mineralized zones were both surveyed with the Supersting R84 IP/Resistivity system. Seven separate lines were 

surveyed for a total linear length of 2,940 metres. The 420-metre lines were completed over both the West (two) and East 

(five) zones on the Dime property. These zones had been previously tested using auger soil sampling surveys, mechanized 

trenching, airborne magnetics and radiometrics, and diamond drilling.  

 

2014 Exploration 

(See 2013 exploration above) No further significant work was conducted on the Dime Property. 

 

On May 9, 2014 the Company formally terminated the option agreement for the Dime property. At this time, and with 

respect to current economic and industry factors, the company believes the Dime property is not a viable resource in the 

short term. Furthermore, recent discussions between the Yukon government, local aboriginal leaders, the federal 

government, and industry representatives have added a new dimension of uncertainty to the Dime property project. A 
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recent litigation ruling challenged the legality of the grant of mineral titles in the Yukon in connection with Crown's 

obligation to consult with first nations on decisions affecting their aboriginal title and rights. This has abruptly changed the 

landscape for Stina and its investors with respect to the Dime property, and the company believes the best decision at this 

time is to exit the option agreement. Further, recent economic factors, particularly with respect to the Dime property's local 

region, have led Stina to re-evaluate the ultimate potential of the property in the short- to midterm future. As a result the 

property was fully impaired. (See news release dated May 9, 2014) 

 

3) Bisoni McKay Vanadium Property in Nevada 

 

Exploration Events During Prior Periods 

In September 2005 the Company contracted Kettle Drilling of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho and drilled 1,024 feet of diamond core 

drilling on the Bisoni McKay property. Included was a fence of three holes on the north end of the property, immediately 

adjacent to Vanadium International’s second reverse circulation hole drilled in 2004, as well as adjacent to 1970s Hecla RC 

holes BMK 17, 18 and 19 respectively, each of which showed strong grades of V2O5 at various intervals. Holes were 

drilled at angles of 45 degrees, 57.5 degrees and 66 degrees to the northwest.  

 

A second fence of two diamond core holes was drilled on the southern end of the property adjacent to Vanadium 

International’s first reverse circulation hole, and also to Hecla’s RC holes BMK 6, 7 and 8 respectively. All four of these 

RC holes showed reasonable V2O5 grade at various intervals. This was the first diamond drilling ever conducted on 

the property. 
Results of this diamond drilling showed very encouraging results from the northern fence, including grads much higher 

than from any other drilling on the property. The results from the southern fence of diamond drilling were less encouraging. 

The Company encountered technical difficulties in drilling these two holes and eventually had to abandon the second hole 

of this fence. The angle of the holes was reduced to 35 degrees from the planned 57.5 degrees to attempt to overcome these 

difficulties. As a result, the Company believes that it may have overshot the zone of mineralization encountered the year 

before by Vanadium International in its reverse circulation drilling.  

 

In November 2005, the Company contracted O’Keefe Drilling of Butte, MT to drill 10 RC holes at 45 degrees angles to the 

northwest at step out intervals of 210 feet from the two diamond drill fences; 3 holes to the north of the northern fence, 3 to 

the south of the northern fence, and three holes drilled to the north of the southern diamond drill fence. One RC hole was 

drilled vertically in Trench ASC50. Results from the three RC holes stepping out south of the northern diamond drill fence 

were released on November 29, 2005, and which were very encouraging to the Company. 

 

In April 2006 the Company contracted Hazen research of Colorado for the metallurgical and leach testing of vanadium 

from 

core and reverse circulation drilling on the Bisoni McKay property in the fall of 2005. Hazen carried out mineralogical 

characterization to determine the mode of occurrence of vanadium, followed by two sets of tests on samples from three 

zones: oxidized zone (mudstone), transition zone (mudstone to carbonaceous shale) and unoxidized zone (carbonaceous 

shale). 

 

The tests comprised of: 

(i) direct acid leaching with sulfuric acid, at two grinds and at two temperatures, for a total of 12 experiments; and  

(ii) roasting experiments, with at least four roasting conditions for samples from each zone, followed by appropriate 

leaching, either alkaline or acidic, i.e., a minimum of 12 roasting/leaching experiments. 

 

The tests were designed to define the steps and conditions needed to obtain reasonable vanadium extraction and examine 

the reagent consumptions in leaching and roasting, and thus develop the first stages of a process flowsheet.  The Company 

received final test results in January 2007, and a report on recovery of oxidized vanadium pentoxide using an acid pug/ 

leach recovery method, including some results as high as 95%. Test results on transition and carbonaceous material showed 

recovery as high as 70% and 75% of vanadium pentoxide using a roast/ leach recovery method. Hazen Research also 

recommended further metallurgical test work to continue the refinement of these processes, as well as explore other 

recovery options 
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In May 2007, the Company contracted O’Keefe Drilling of Boise, ID to conduct reverse circulation (RC) drilling on 

Northern Section “A” of the Bisoni McKay property. A total of 12 RC holes were drilled according to schedule, for a total 

of 5,130 feet. 

This drilling campaign was comprised of step-out holes at 100 foot intervals directly north for 700 feet along strike length 

from core hole fence DDH-05-1/2/3. Additionally, drilling was conducted parallel to the immediate west by 100 feet and 

north by 700 feet. The result of this campaign is a section approximately 700 feet long by 100 feet wide, with 100 foot 

intervals, immediately to the north of core hole fence DDH-05 and inclusive of RC holes BMK-05-04, BMK-05-05 and 

BMK-05-06 drilled by the Company in 2005. 

 

The detailed drilling on the north half of Area A reveals a thick section of vanadiferous carbonaceous shale capped with 

mineralized weathered, oxidized shale. Vanadium-bearing rock begins essentially on or within a few feet of the surface and 

continues down-dip below 450 feet, the current depth limit of drilling into vanadium-bearing strata. From Area A-North, 

the vanadium trend continues south over 6,000 feet to Area B. The character of the mineralization in Area B appears 

similar to that drilled in Area A, but parts of the trend appear to have been narrowed and thinned by faulting, especially 

between Area A and Area B. Evidence that the vanadiferous trend continues south of Area B comes from two historic 

borings and trenching by Hecla Mining Company. The southernmost area of the projected strike of the vanadiferous trend 

in Area C and beyond is still unexplored.  

 

In the fall of 2007 the Company contracted Edward Ullmer, P. Geo, to produce an updated geological technical report 

based on the report presented to Stina by JA Mine in 2005, and updated in 2006. The report also included a resource 

estimate on a sub-section of Northern Section “A” which extends 700 feet long by 100 feet wide, directly north of BMK 

DDH – 2005, and with 100 foot interval RC drilling. The Company contracted Maptek Co. of Lakewood, CO to conduct 

the resource estimate. 

 

In February 2008 the Company received a further updated geological technical report from Ed Ullmer, P. Geo, and 

included a resources estimate, the first ever conducted on the Bisoni McKay property, and which was conducted by Maptek 

of Lakewood, CO. The report was amended in May 2012 and is available on the company website. A map of the Bisoni 

McKay drill locations can be found on the Company website. 

 

2011 Exploration 

In the spring of 2011 the Company contracted Lyntek Corp., of Lakewood, CO to conduct a Conceptual Study of the 

Bisoni McKay to better assess the potential economic viability of the property, the vanadium pentoxide and ferrovanadium 

markets, and how the property fits into the world vanadium industry. On June 30, 2011, the Company announced that 

further metallurgical work was required to complete the Conceptual Study, and that it intended to do so.  

 

2012/ 2013/ 2014 Exploration 

No significant work was conducted on the Bisoni McKay Property in 2012, 2013 or 2014. The Company has recorded an 

impairment charge of $1,962,257 in 2012 to decrease the carrying value of the property, primarily considering the 

acquisition costs of it appeared non-recoverable under general market conditions. In addition, the Company had not 

conducted a significant work program in four years. However, another venture mineral exploration company is currently 

developing an adjacent vanadium property approximately 20 miles to the northwest, on the same geological vanadium belt. 

This company has announced plans for a vanadium recovery operation to be established on site over the next few years, and 

Stina believes these developments may further add validity and value to the Bisoni McKay property. 

 

2015 Exploration 

The Company intends to attempt to pair the property with a strategic market, preferably in the vanadium redox battery 

industry. It is expected that a suspension-based vanadium product would be required for such market, which may or may 

not be established in the future. The Company has contracted Ed Ullmer, P. Geo to update the NI 43-101 report on the 

Bisoni McKay. Subsequent to the date of this report, an updated report was received by Ullmer, refining the focus of the 

remaining work of Phase I. 
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4) Bandit Property 

See section 1.2 (6) above 

 

2012 Exploration 
On November 23, 2012 Copper Creek received assay results from 15 percussion drill holes (1,402 meters) over part of a 

two-kilometer-by-five-kilometer copper, gold and molybdenum anomaly identified during mobile metal ion (MMI) 

sampling by Copper Creek in the summer of 2011. Although several values of anomalous copper, gold and silver were 

encountered, none of the holes reported values of economic importance. The Company Directors have had discussions and 

have decided not to proceed with the option agreement at this time. 
 

Impairment to Property 

With consideration to the impairment standards of recently adopted IFRS, the Company directors have determined there to 

be an impairment of the Bandit Property carrying value of $268,786. As exploration results received suggested nominal 

mineralization, the Company is unlikely to carry on with the option.  

 

RECENT NEWS RELEASES 

 

- July 13, 2012 - Stina Resources closes $200,000 private placement 

  

-August 17, 2015 – Stina Resources Extends Warrants 

 

1.4  OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

The Company has no off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

1.5  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties: 

 

a) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $55,000 (2014 - $44,000) with a company owned by a 

director for consulting services.   

 

b) The Company incurred remuneration in the amount of $55,000 (2014 - $49,500) with a senior officer and 

director. 

 

c) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $nil (2014 - $31,700) with a director. 

 

d) The Company incurred consulting fees in the amount of $nil (2014 - $6,000) with a senior officer and director. 

 

e) At June 30, 2015, a director and senior officer advanced $nil (September 31, 2014 - $94,000) to the Company. 

The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and have no specific terms of repayment.   

 

At June 30, 2015, the Company owes $13,775 (2014 - $nil) to a senior officer and director for consulting fees. The 

Company also owes $5,000 (2014 - $nil) to a company owned by a senior officer and director for consulting services.  

The Company also owes $50,856 to an unrelated company owned by a shareholder. The amounts are unsecured, non-

interest bearing, and have no specific terms of repayment.   
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Key management personnel compensation 

2015 2014

Short-term employee benefits - consulting fees 55,000$          50,000$              

Short-term employee benefits – salaries and wages 55,000            81,200                

110,000$         131,200$            

Nine months ended June 30,

 
-See note 10 of Financial Statements 

 

 

1.6  PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS/CMMITMENTS  

The Company has engaged in no other proposed transactions or commitments outside of what has been outlined in this 

report at this time. 

 
1.7 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 
Use of Estimates: 

 

The company’s financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and 

form the basis for discussion and analysis of critical accounting policies and estimates.  Management is required to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the report amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 

the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.  Significant financial 

statement areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the determination of impairment of assets and resource 

property interests, and their useful lives for amortization, allocations between exploration projects, the fair value of investments 

and share-based compensation, asset retirement obligations and the recoverability of future income tax assets.  Financial results 

as determined by actual events could differ from those estimates. 

Risk Management: 

The Company is engaged primarily in the mineral exploration field and manages related industry risk issues directly.  Observed 

potential risks include those for environmental reclamation and fluctuations in commodity based market prices associated with 

resource property interests. Management is of the opinion that the Company addresses environmental risk and compliance in 

accordance with industry standards and specific project environmental requirements. Company management acknowledges that 

there is no certainty that all environmental risks and contingencies have been addressed. 

 

Financial Risk Management:  

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  

 

Credit Risk: 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to 

incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is in its cash accounts and accounts receivables. Cash 

accounts are held with a major bank in Canada. This risk is managed through the use of major banks which are high credit 

quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies. 

 

 

Currency Risk:  

The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  There is moderate foreign exchange risk to the Company as one of 

its resource property interest are located in the United States.  Management monitors its foreign currency balances and makes 

adjustments based on anticipated need for currencies. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to reduce its 

foreign currency risk. 
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Interest Rate Risk:  

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash balances at variable rates. The 

fair value of the Company’s cash accounts is relatively unaffected by changes in short term interest rates. The income earned on 

certain bank accounts is subject to the movements in interest rates.  

 

Liquidity and Funding Risk: 

Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at any point in time. The 

Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity 

requirements at any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available 

capital in order to meet its liquidity requirements. 

 

The Company is not utilizing any other financial instruments other than cash at this time. 

Funding Risk is the risk that market conditions will impact the Company’s ability to raise capital through equity markets under 

acceptable market terms and conditions. 

Under current market conditions both liquidity and funding risks have been assessed as medium to high. 

 

Stock-based compensation: 

The Company follows the guidelines of the IFRS 2 –“Share Based Payment”, relating to stock-based compensation and other 

stock-based Payments.  The Company follows a fair-value method for all stock-based compensation and similar stock based 

awards to directors, employees and consultants.  Where the Company has issued options that vest over a period of expected 

service, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is estimated and charged to income over the respective vesting periods. 

 

1.8 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION 

 

New accounting pronouncements 

 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been adopted by the Company as of the beginning of the current 

fiscal period.  The adoption of the following standards during the period did not have a material impact on the Company's 

financial statements. 

 
 

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - IAS 32 amendment provides clarification on the application of offsetting rules. 

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The adoption of this standard during the 

period did not have a significant impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Amendments to other standards - In addition, there have been other amendments to existing standards. The Company has not 
yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the new and amended standards will have on its financial statements or 
whether to early adopt any of the new requirements. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – IFRS 9 is a partial replacement of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”.  This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. 
 

 

1.9  FINANCIAL AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS  

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, short term investments, accounts receivables, amounts due to and from 

related parties, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the 

Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency risks arising from financial instruments. The fair value of these 

financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term maturity or capacity of prompt liquidation. 
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1.10 OTHER MD&A REQUIREMENTS 

 

Additional information relating to the Company’s operations and activities can be found by visiting the Company’s website 

www.stinaresources.com as well as numerous news releases and 43-101 reports filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com 

 

A. Authorized and Issued Share Capital as at June 30, 2015:  

 

Authorized: Unlimited common shares without par value 

Issued and outstanding: 34,537,499 common shares 

See Note 8 – Share Capital of the Financial Statements 

 

B. Options, Warrants & Convertible Securities Outstanding as at June 30, 2015:  

 

Stock options 

Under the Company’s Incentive Share Option Plan, the Company may grant options to employees, consultants and 

directors when the number of shares reserved does not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding share capital at the 

date of grant.  The exercise price of the options granted will be no less than the discounted market price of the 

Company’s shares and the maximum term of the options will be 5 years. 

 

The following employee stock options were vested and exercisable at June 30, 2015:   

        Number Exercise price Expiry 

     of shares      - $ -       Date     

    

      825,000 0.46 August 5, 2015 

 250,000 0.33 March 16, 2016 

 1,025,000 

 

0.05 January 9, 2020 

 

 2,100,000   

 

 

Escrow shares 

 

As of June 30, 2015 no shares were held in escrow. 

 

 

Share purchase warrants 

 

As of June 30, 2015 the following share purchase warrants were outstanding: 

 

 No. of warrants Exercise price  Expiry Date 

    

 2,100,000 0.45 September 19, 2015 

 400,000 

4,500,000 

0.50 

0.20 

January 30, 2016 

February 27,2017 

 7,000,000   

 

     

 

 

 

http://www.belmontresources.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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C. Subsequent Events 

  

On July 10, 2015 the Company issued 1,000,000 units at $0.20 for total proceeds of $200,000 ($70,000 received as 

of June 30, 2015) through the sale of one million units at $0.20 each. Each unit consists of one common share of 

the company and one share purchase warrant, wherein each share purchase warrant shall have a two-year term for 

the purchase of one further common share of the company at the exercise price of 0.40 per share. 

 

On August 5, 2015  825,000 employee options at 0.46 expired unexercised. 

 

On August 17, 2015 the Company received approval from the TSX-V to extend 2,100,000 warrants at $0.45 until 

September 19, 2017. 

 

  

D. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

 

Based on our evaluation for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, and up to the date of this Management Discussion and 

Analysis, we have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are sufficiently effective to provide reasonable 

assurance that material information required to be disclosed in the Company’s interim and annual filings and other 

reports filed or submitted under Canadian securities laws are recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the 

time periods specified by those laws and that the material information is accumulated and communicated to 

Management of the Company, including the President, and CEO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 

required disclosure. 

 

 

E. Corporate Governance Disclosure 

 

The company has submitted to its members and shareholders details in the Information Circular dated May 21, 2011 

Corporate Governance Disclosure guidelines that have been presented to the Board of Directors for periodic review.  

Some of these guidelines are:  Outlining the Company’s business and implementation of appropriate systems to manage 

any associated risks, communications with investors and the financial community and the integrity of the Company’s 

internal control and management information systems.  The Management of the Company periodically updates directors 

with regulatory policy changes.  Management encourages and promotes a culture of ethical business conduct.  The 

Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing corporate 

legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an individual 

director’s participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to ensure that 

the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company. 
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